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SUMMARY 

In 1870 the Synod of the Anglican Church in South 
Africa decided to found a see in the Transvaal. The 
pioneer of Anglican work there was Bishop T.E. Wilkin­
son of Zululand who during visits of 1873 and 1874 
organised the Church. In 1875 Wilkinson resigned his 
diocese over his involvement in the Transvaal. It was 
only after the annexation of the Transvaal by Britain 
1877 that a bishop was chosen. This was not Wilkinson 
whom the Transvaalers desired but was H.B. Bousfield, 
an excellent organiser though an egotistical man. 

From the time of his arrival in the diocese of Pretoria 
in 1879 Bousfield organised Anglican work at a diocesan 
level. Through his tireless travelling he got the 
congregations functioning. His episcopacy was plagued 
by financial worries. Little mission work was attempted. 

With the retrocession of the Transvaal to the Boers 
after the War of Independence Bousfield had to rebuild 
his diocese. 
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PREFACE 

Bede is considered to be ti1e Father of English Churcl1 History. In the preface to 

his A history of the English Church and people he explained how he had resaarched 

hi.s book and ended: "Should the: reader discover any inaccl!'r:-ic:ies in what I have 

written, I humbly beg that he will not impute them to~~. because as the laws of 

history require, I have laboured iionestly to transmit whatever I could ascertain 

from common report for the instruction of posterity."! This is what each historian 

desires after having done hls hC~t with the primary sourc~s available. 

Why is Bousfield of interest to a Church historian? Bousfield's epcscopacy, from 

1879 to 1902, covers impurtnnt even-ts in South African history. Ile i:~Js norninated 

as bishop of the new dioc~sc in the Transvaal soon after the anncxati0n of the 

Transvaal by Britain. He livFd through the War of Independence ( !SSu - 1881), th6 

retrocession of the Transvaa! to the Boers, the discovery of the Witwatersrand 

goldfield with the subsequent intlux 0f foreigners into the Transvaal, the economic 

depression caused by the t"indcrpest, the Jameson Raid and the_ !Joer \;er. ;Je died 

in 1902 so he was released from ag~in re-organising a diocese disru~ted by war. 

Bousfield was forceful and he stampe~ his ideas on the diocese of P~~Lori~. In 

spite of the difficult times of his episcopacyJ which he magnified, •he dirl not 

resign which shows his tenacity of pu~rose. In an obituary, Edwin F~rmer 3 

diocesan missionary, wrote: '' ... and I can bear testimony tl1at none ~ave borne 

the stress and struggle of pioneer life :1nder exceptionally difficult circumstances 

with braver front or more dogged perscrvarance than Henry Brougham B~usfiRld.'"2 

One af the problems in researching the chosPn topic 1s that there is a great deal 

of material but most of it is written by Bousfield himself. Bousfield believed 

that l1e was right in all matters which does not help if one is aiming at objectivity. 

Jr, &n attempt to balance this I have tried to use the few references from other 

sources I have discovered to portray Bnusfield as others saw him. 

Copies were kept of most of Bousfield's outgoing official letters but no incoming 

m.1il w,1s retained. By this one sees htiw the Bishop reacted but not ti1P. provocation. 

For example in 1881 the Bishop and 0n~ of -his clergy, C.M. Spratt, were involved 

in 3 disagreement but why Spratt acted as he did is not clear except [or a single 

lBede, A history of the English Church and people, trans. L. Sherley-Price, 
London: Penguin Books, 1_966, p. 35. 

2E. F[armer], Bishop Bousfield, Anglican, volume 1, number 4, 1904-02, p.81. 
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reference written by Spratt's friend, A. Roberts. The Society for the Propagation 

of the Gospel (S.P.G.) on the other hand kept all its incoming mail but the private 

outgoing mail has been destroyed. Here we have the correspondents justifying 

their actions to S.P.G. but not how S.P.G. really felt about them. 

I should like to acknowledge the aid of all people who guided me with my research 

in South Africa and in Britain or who helped with getting this dissertation ready 

for presentation. The financial assistance of the Human Sciences Research Council 

towards the publication of this work is hereby acknowledged. Opinions expressed 

in this work, or conclusions arrived at, are those of the author and are not to be 

regarded as those of the Human Sciences Research Council. 

Dates are given as year - month - day e.g. 1881-02-16 instead of 16th February, 

1881. 
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CHAPTER ONE 

THE FOUNDATION OF THE DIOCESE OF PRETORI,\ 

1.1 Historical backgroLlndl 

The movement known as the Great Trek, which originated from the 

Eastern Cape during the mid-1830's, reached the land to the 

north of the Vaal River in the middle decades of the nineteenth 

century. On 1852-~l-11 Britain and the Transvaal sis~~d the 

Sand River Converition by whi6h 

the sovereign indep~ndence of the Transvaal was ~ecognised. 

From September 18~3 this state became known a~ t~~ Z0id­

Afrikaansche Republiek. • 

Britain would not attempt any further expansion to the 

north of the vaal. 

Britain would not interfere in the affairs of the 

Transvaal. 

Gradually English speaking people drifted into the 'I'rc>.ns·,;:ial 

and by 1864 there were enot1gh Anglicans in Potchefs~ro·.:T to 

constitute a congregation.2 

In 1873 alluvial gold was dl.scovered in the Lydenburg district. 

The miners were mainly foreigne~s.3 

During the presidency of T.F. Burgers, Sekhukhune4, the chief 

of the Pedi people in the mountains near Lydenburg, ber,ame 

fractious and was able to arm himself and his tribe.5 In May 

1876 war broke out when the Boers sent commandos against him· 

1c.F.J. Muller, ed., Five hundred vears, 2nd ed, Pretoria : Acade~ica, 1977, 
p.252-264. 

2w. Richardson, "Letter 1881-11-20, '' Occasional paper of the dioc,~~e of Pretoria, 
numbe,: 3, 1881-01, p.47. 

3Muller, Five hundred years ... , p.260. 
4rhe spelling as used by M. Wilson and L. Thompson, ed., Oxford history of 

Sout:, Africa, vol 2, Oxford: O.U.P., 1975, has been followed. 

5Huller, Five hundred years ... , p.262. 
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and by the end of 1876 fekhukhune sued for peaca.5 The initial 

checks suffered by the ~oer 9 during this war were a factor in 

the annexation of the Transvaal.7 

The raising of taxes to pay (for example) the interest en the 

loan to build the Pretoria-Delagoa Bay railway (completed in 

1895 with a different financial backing) and the Sekhukhune ~ar. 

had caused the burghers, by the beginning of 1977, to wish for 

a new president to replace T.F. Burgers. An election was 

planned but was ~ever held.8 

Lord Carnarvon, the Secretary of State for the Colonies, needed 

to annex the Transva~l to carry out his plans for the federation 

of South Africa9 so he delegated Theophilus Shepsto~e, the 

Secretary for Native Affairs in Natal, to carry out lhe annez­

ation. On 1877-01-22 Shepstone, accompanied by 25 policemen and 

8 officials, arrived in Pretoria to discuss certain Transvaal 

issues with Burgers. Once he had started discussions with the 

Executive Council it was c!ear that he had come ta pave the way 

for annexation.IO At this time Sekhukhune s~ed for pe~c~. On 

1877-04-12 Sir Bartle F~ere, the British High Commissian8r, 

annexed the Transvaal aE a British territory. The a~nexation 

was celebrated by a service of thanksgiving held at A.J. Law in 

the Pretoria Anglican Churc~.11 "The Executive Council argued 

that the Transvaal's general economic and political position 

was such that it would be better temporarily to acquiesce, 

rather than start a war.•12 

Thus the Transvaal became a Bri:ish Colony. At this time 

Pretoria was the capital and the larger_ villages were Zeerust, 

Potchefstroom, Rustenburg, Heidelberg, Standerton and Middelburg 

with Lydenburg being the largest settlement of the Eastern 

Transvaal goldfields. 

61,:•oller, Five hundred years ... , p.253. 
7wilson and Thompson,· Oxford history of South Africa, vol.2, p.250. 

Si-1,Jllcr, Five hundred years ... , p. 263. • 

911,id., p.263. 
;o--- 64 •• Ib,d., p.2 . 

llc.F. Pascoe, Two hundred years of the c.P.G., London: SPG, 1901, 
p. 356. 

12Muller, Five hundred.years ... , p.264. 



- 17 -

1.2 The Anglican Church in the Transvaal 

Anglican work in the Transvaal began when Edward Twells, 1st 

Bishop of Bloemfontein, after his second visit to the Transvaal, 

ordained William Richardson as deacon on 1865-12-25 and sent 

him to Potchefstroom in January 1866 to begin work.13 Twells 

had previously received permission from Robert Gray, Metropolitan 

and Bishop of Capetown to have oversight of the English Church 

in the Transvaal until it became a separate diocese.14 

An erf was bought in Potchefstroom and a church building erected 

of which Twells laid the foundation stone.IS 

Bishop Gray of Capetown contacted the Society for the Propaga­

tion of the Gospel (S.P.G.) about the position of the Anglicans 

in the Transvaal even before the 1869 Synod of South African 

bishops.16 

1.3 The 1869 Episcopal Synod and the 1870 Provincial Synod 

1. 3 .1 The 1869 Episcopal Synod 

The Synod of Bishops held in 1869 recommended the 

formation of a new diocese in the Transvaa1.17 S.P.G. 

was informed of this resolution and the necessity of 

providing both an income and a bishop.18 Gray also 

wrote to S.P.G. about the insecure financial state of 

the endowments of the South African dioceses.19 This 

lack of money was a handicap to the expansion of the 

Anglican Church in the whole of South Africa, not 

only in the Transvaal. 

Twells had been forced to resign as bishop of Bloem­

fontein.20 Gray was concerned that when a new bishop 

13w. Crisp, Some account of the diocese of Bloemfontein in the Province of South 
Africa from 1863 to 1894, Oxford: Parker, 1895, p.13. 

l4E. Twells, "The Church in the Transvaal," Church News, number 12, 1867-06-25, 
p.97. 

15E. Twells, "Pastoral letter," Church News, number 9, 1867-03-25, p. 75. 
16s.P.G., Letter to W.W. Jones. 1875-08-06, CLS Collection. USPG Archives,_ Londo, 
17M.H.W. Wood, A father in God, London: MacMillan, 1913, p.75. 
18s.P.G., Letter to W.W. Jones. 1875-08-06, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, London 

Britain. 
19R. Gray, Letter to S.P.G., 1870-01-03, Collection of the Letterbooks of the 

·Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
20p_ Hinchliff, The Anglican Church in South Africa, London: Darton, Longman and 

Todd, 1963, p.80.· ' 
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of Bloemfontein was found he would also, as Twells 

had done, take charge of the Transvaal which really 

needed a bishop of its own.21 

The 1870 Provincial Synod 

At the Provincial Synod of February 1870 the subject 

of new bishoprics 

"That this Synod 

conviction that, 

was discussed. It was resolved: 

would further express its strong 

for the efficient maintenance of the 

present Mission work of the Church in South Africa, 

as well as for the extension of the Missions, it is 

necessary that the following Missionary Sees should 

be formed as soon as possible:- ... 2. A See in the 

Transvaal Republic, where there are many English 

beyond the reach of any means of grace, and large 

tribes of heathen."22 

S.P.G. was again pressed about the Transvaal when the 

above resolution was passed on to them.23 

The Easter Vestry of St Mary's, Potchefstroom passed 

a resolution agreeing that a see should be founded in 

the Transvaal: "III. That this meeting fully coin­

cides with that part of a resolution of the Provincial 

Synod, which expressed 'a strong conviction that 

there should be formed as soon as possible a See in 

the Transvaal Republic.' 

"That until that, or a definite connection with one or 

other of the Dioceses of the Province is effected, 

the efforts of individuals and congregations will be 

depressed; congregations will receive no great acces­

sions to their numbers and capacity for effort; order 

and uniformity of practice in the conduct of Divine 

Worship will not be promoted, and the bonds of disci-

pline will tend to become relaxed; while the 

status, and relations of Ministers 

personal 

being position, 

undefined are damaged, and their power and opportunity 

for usefulness are much restricted."24 

21R. Gray, Letter to the Bishop of Nassau, 1870-01-15, Collection of the Letter­
books of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Afric 

22 "The Provincial Synod," Church News, number 44, 1870-03-01, p.9. 
23s.P.G., Letter to W. W. Jones, 1875-08-06, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 

London, Britain. 
24The Church in the Transvaal," Church News, number 47, 1870-06-01, p.4. 



- 19 -

1.4 Further pleas for ~he foundation of a diocese in the Transvaal 

1. 4. 1 

1. 4. 2 

Diocese of Bloemfontein 

The Synod of the Diocese of Bloemfontein met in 

January 1872 to discuss its organisation and work. 

At a session held on Saturday 13th January, n • • • a 

resolution was unanimously adopted, recognising the 

existing connection between the Diocese [of Bloem­

fontein] and the Church in the Transvaal. The Rev. 

W. Richardson, of Mooi River Dorp, and Mr. Green, 

gave accounts of the parishes which they represented. 

The Bishop [A.B. Webb] stated that in addition to the 

authority given him in the first instance1 by the 

Metropolitan for administering the affairs of the 

Church in the Transvaal, he had lately received from 

the hands of the Bishops of the Province a special 

commission to the same effect.•25 

Bishop Webb's visit to the Transvaal in 1872 

During the winter of 1872 Bishop Webb went to the 

Transvaa1,26 and visited Potchefstroom, Pretoria and 

zeerust. He felt that Pretoria should be the centre 

of Anglican work in the Transvaal and that Anglican 

difficulties in South Africa were due to their being 

so late in the fiela.27 

With Webb's permission, Wills, missionary deacon of 

Pretoria, returned to Britain with a letter of intro-

auction to S.P.G. In this letter Webb expressed 

the case for an S.P.G. grant to the Transvaal. 

his hope that S.P.G. would help in providing a 

stipend or part of one for a "superintending 

clergyman or Archdeacon" stationed at Pretoria. 

his intention after a brief visit to Bloemfontein, 

of returning almost immediately to Pretoria to 

work there for 3 months while Wills was away.28 

25"The Church in the Free State," Church News, number 53, 1872-02-01, p.4. 
26"0penings in the African Diamond Fields and the Transvaal Republic," Mission 

Field, 1872-09-02, p.274. 
27 c. Lewis and G.E. Edwards, Historical records of the Church of the Province 

of South Africa, London: SPCK, 1934, p.413. 
Z8A.B. Webb, Letter to S.P.G., 1872-07-01, D Collection, USPG Archives, London, 

Britain. 
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Webb sent Henry Sadler to the Marice distr1ct. Ile 

was also worried about William Richardson, who was on 

sick leave and not likely to return. W0bb had con­

firmed a Dopper minister in Pretoria whom he described 

as "the present Government Secretary.•~Y 30 It was 

during this visit that Webb inttoduced his idea of an 

Archdeacon for Pretoria,31 a view he held for lhe 

next 31/2 years until the CPSA Synod refused it. 

In October 1372 Webb, who was suffering from overwork,32 

decided to usP. Pretoria and work as its parish priest 

as his rest-cure from anxiety and responsibility. He 

remained there three months whilst Wills, the Pretoria 

deacon; was in England.33 Wills' return ensured that 

there would continue to be an Anglican clergyman in 

Pretori3 even after Webb had gone back to Bloemfontein. 

Webb felt tha~ the~e was a need for missionary work 

in the Transvaal, . " 1n . , . 

mission work waits for the 

earnestly take in hand.•34 

the interior where a great 

Church to come forward and 

Webb felt tha•:. the steady, uphill work in· th,, Transvaal 

required the services of an Archdeacon rathF.~ than a 

Bishop. In a section marked private he wrote to 

S.P.G., "May I c0~fidently and privately ask you that 

nothing should be done in the way of any d2finite 

proposal as to the formation of a 

further consultation with me ... , 
separate S~e without 

or at least until 

after the Synod of Bishops or the Provincial Synod. 

There are grave reasons requiring caution in the 

matter which it would take too long to go into 

now.•35 

unnamed and it lS not clear who he was. 

Letter to S_.P.G., 1872--07-13, D Callee t ion, USPG Archives, London, 

Letter to S.P.G., 1872-08-12, D Callee t ion, USPG Archivi?s, London, 

32Lcwis and Edwards, Historical rer.nrds ... , p.413. 
33!bid., p.574. 

34A.B. Webb, Letter to S.P.G., 1872-11-16, D Collection, USPG Archives, London, 
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Webb claimed that Gray, just before his death, had 

suggested the idea of an Archdeacon for the Transvaa1.36 

When Webb filled in the S.P.G. returns for the diocese 
of Bloemfontein dated 1872-11-1537 he wrote under the 

Transvaal 

"Pretoria (without a clergyman at present) 
Potchefstroom 

Zeerust (Marico) 

Rustenburg" 

with a note that they did not receive a grant from 
S.P.G. or any ether Society. 

Bishop Gray 
Bishop Gray of Capetown, never forgot his desire for 

a new bishopric in the Transvaal and in fact his last 

letter to S.P.G. before his death in 1872 was concerned 

with the urgent need of a Transvaal diocese.38 

Colonial Bishoprics• Council 
In September 1872 the Second Declaration of the Council 

of the Colonial Bishoprics' Fund was signed at Lambeth 

Palace, but it was only issued in November. It con­
tained a request for donations and subscriptions to 
the C.B.F. and also for particular Bishoprics. One of 

the treasurers was Sir Bartle Frere who was to become 

a fund raiser for H.B. Bousfield and for the diocese 

of Pretor.ia. The Declaration stated: "Still the vast 

needs of the unconverted countries which God's pro­

vidence has connected with Great Britain, calls for 

fresh efforts. To name but the most pressing .... 

Africa (16) In the Transvaal Republic, there are not 
only multitudes of unconverted Baralongs and Matabele, 

but also a large number of English residents in the 
towns and settlements for whom a Bishop is required."39 

36A. B. Webb, Letter to S . P.G., 1872-11-16, D Collection, USPG Archives, London, 
Britain . 

37A. B. Webb, S.P.G. Returns for Diocese of . Bloemfontein, 1872-11-15, D Collection, 
USPG Archives, London, Britain. 

38s.P . G. , Letter to W.W. Jones, 1875-08-06, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, London, 
Britain . 

39"colonial Bishoprics' Fund," Church News, number 64, 1873-01-01, p.7-8. 
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Bishop Jones 

The 2nd Metropolitan and bishop of Capetown was 

William West Jones, who was also interested in the 

expansion of the Province and had contacted S.P.G. 
about the provision of an endowment for the proposed 

Bishopric of the Transvaa1.40 

When Webb arrived in Cape Town in 1875-04-04 he had a 
discussion with the Metropolitan about Basutoland, 

the proposed Transvaal Bishopric and the Provincial 

synod. 41 William west Jones expressed his view on 

the Transvaal by describing i.t as "of utmost impor­
tance 11 42 

Appeals for an endowment 
From 1873 appeals were issued in Britain through the 

missionary periodicals, Net and Mission Field for an 

endowment for the Transvaal. "The Transvaal ought to 

have a bishop of its own, but until an endowment has 

been raised, the Bishop of the Free State has hitherto 

included the country in his diocesan work. 11 43 

T.E. Wilkinson, 1st Bishop of Zululand, stated that 
i20 000 was needed at once to be divided between a 

Diocesan Endowment Fund and a Clergy Endowment 

Fund.44 In the same copy of Mission Field A.B. Webb 

wrote, "We require an endowment for the See, and some 

clergy Sustentation Fund, from which grants in aid . 
might be provided. And as far as the Transvaal is 

concerned, some fund for furnishing grants in aid for 

clergy and Mission works should be established first, 
and placed in the hands of myself and Bishop Wilkinson, 

in the Administration of which we shall be assisted 

by a local Finance Board, which is partially and 
provisionally established."45 

40wood, A father ,in God ... , p.75 . 
4lrbid., p. 83. 
42w.w. Jones, Letter to E. Cree, 1875-07-22, Collection of the Letterbooks 

of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
4311The day of intercession," Net, 1873-12-01, p.178. 
44T.E. Wilkinson, 11AmaSwaziland: The Transvaal : Zululand," Mission Field, 

1874-02-02, p.40. 
45A.B. Webb, 11Neglected English settlers," Mission Field, 1874-02-02, p.42. 
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1.5 Bishop T.E. Wilkinson of Zululand 

The person who did most towards the initial organisation of the 

Transvaal Church was T.E. Wilkinson, 1st Bishop of Zululand. 

Wilkinson wrote to Webb, the Bishop of Bloemfontein, about the 

time of Gray's death, stating that 

1. 5 .1 

1. 5. 2 

he planned to tour the Transvaal. 

he wished to organise the work there, but 

he did not wish to take over the episcopal work in the 

Transvaal assigned by the South African Church to the 

Bishop of Bloemfontein.46 

1872 visit 

In 1872 Wilkinson made his first visit to the Trans­

vaal, travelling to the eastern border populated by 

Whites living on sparsely scattered Dutch farms.47 

His visit was reported in Net, " ... Bishop Webb some 

time ago wrote to Bishop Wilkinson, to beg him to pay 

an episcopal visit to the Transvaal, which he has 

done, and he certainly bears out what Bishop weqb has 

said, 'Very much depends upon our putting our shoulder 

to the wheel at once.' n48 

1873 visit 

In 1873 Wilkinson made an extensive visit to the 

Transvaal. "He had already been in correspondence 

with Bishop Webb.with regard to taking over part of 

the work among Europeans, .,49 

Wilkinson described his agreement with Webb, "I had 

heard from Bishop Webb before leaving Zululand that 

he was pressed in his Transvaal work, not being able 

properly to work it with the Free State, his own 

diocese, on his hands, increased as that work now is 

by the Diamond Field population. . .. I [T.E.W.] only 

hold a commission from him [A.B.W.] to act episcopally 

and pastorally for him at my discretion."50 

46Hinchliff, The Anglican Church in South Africa ... , p.134. 
47 Lewis and Edwards, Historical records ... , p.574. 
48"The day of intercession," Net, 1873-12-01, p.178. 
49J.A.l. Agar-Hamilton, A Transvaal jubilee, London: SPCK, 1928, p.11. 
SOT.E. Wilkinson, 11 AmaSwazi-land: The Transvaal: Zululand, 11 Mission Field, 

1874-02-02; p.38. 
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FIGURE 2 

T.E. Wilkinson as an old man. 

(Source: Johannesburg Public Library) 
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The high cost of living in the Transvaal was to be a 

problem for years to come and Wilkinson estimated 

that a married man needed a minimum of i300 a year 

and a parsonage, and a single man £150 and a house. 

The clergymen would have to supplement their stipends 

from their congregations. "The great distance from a 

port makes everything very dear here; building, 

travelling, and everything is double Colonial prices."51 

With the discovery of gold in the Eastern Transvaal 
Webb noted that some of the diamond diggers were 

moving to the Transvaal. He felt that an endowment 

should be collected so that clergy could be sent to 
the Transvaal and especially "a devoted and prudent 

Priest for the new Goldfields." Webb was pleased at 

Wilkinson's interest in the Transvaal. In the same 
letter he observed "I [A.B.W.J am most thankful and 

rejoiced [sicJ at the prospect of his [T.E.W.J being 
able to . reside for a season in each year at Pretoria 

.. 52 

When Wilkinson reached Pretoria in 1873 he found two 
letters from Webb awaiting him. 

A formal commission to act as the deputy of the 
Bishop of Bloemfontein in the Transvaal. 

A request for Wilkinson to do what he could to 
help in the Transvaa1.53 

Wilkinson travelled throughout the Transvaal. "Every­

where I found the greatest possible spiritual need in 

the Transvaal. I cannot make a formal appeal to you 

[S.P.G.J in aid of this vast country, ... because at 

present all such formal applications must come through 

Bishop Webb. I only hold a commission from him to 

act episcopally and pastorally for him at my discre­
tion."54 

Sl 11rhe day of intercession," Net, 1873-12-01, p.179. 
52A.B. Webb, Letter to S.P.G.~873-11-06, D Collection, USPG Archives, London, 

Britain . 
53 11rhe day of intercession," Net, 1873-12-01, p. 178. 
54r .E. Wilkinson, "AmaSwaz.i-land: The Transvaal: Zululand," Mission Field, 

1874-02-02, p.38. 
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Webb described Wilkinson's duties in the Transvaal 

thus: "With Bishop Wilkinson to assist me in the 

charge of the Transvaal as Coadjutor-Bishop,55 I have 

every hope that all needful episcopal supervision and 

ministrations which will be required for some few 

years to come, will be fully supplied.•56 

Wilkinson believed that his 1873 visit to the Trans­

vaal aided in the foundation of the diocese of 

Pretoria.57 

In 1873 he bought a house in Proes Street58 which for 

many years was to be a cause of conflict between 

Wilkinson and H.B. Bousfield. This house was bought 

with Wilkinson's private money and he promised to 

live there for some months each year whilst he was 

helping Webb by serving in the Transvaa1.59 

Wilkinson carried out a survey of the Church of 

England work in the Transvaal. 

Pretoria was served by the deacon Sharley, who 

held church in a schoolroom. 

Potchefstroom had as their priest the elderly 

William Richardson and this place had a small 

church. 

Zeerust had ·as priest, Henry Sadler, and a fund 

to raise money to build their Church had been 

opened.60 

The Lydenburg Goldfields had a deacon, Cawhill­

Barker, sent there by Webb.61 

551870 Constitution and Canons of the CPSA had no canon on a Coadjutor Bishop. 
Canon 6 of the 1876 Constitution and Canons of the CPSA dealt with this subject. A 
Coadjutor Bishop had to be elected by the Metropolitan and all the CPSA bishops, to 
help a diocesan bishop and he had automatic succession to the see when it fell vacant. 

56A.B. Webb, "Neglected English settler," Mission Field, 1874-02-02, p.42. 
57Mrs. Wilkinson, A lady's life and travels in Zululand and the Transvaal during 

Cetewayo's reign, London: Hayes, 1882, p.181. 
58Agar-Hamilton, A Transvaal jubilee ... , p.12. 
59T.E. Wilkinson, "AmaSwazi-land: The Transvaal: Zululand," Mission Field, 

1874-02-02, p.40. 
60ibid., p.39. 
61T.E. Wilkinson, "The Eastern and Northern Transvaal", Mission Field, 1874-12-01, 

p.369. 
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In 1873 as a result of Wilkinson's appeal to S.P.G. 

for the Transvaal S.P.G. decided to support the 
clergymen at 

Pretoria (Sharley) from 1873. 

Potchefstroom (Will i am Richardson ) from 1874. 

Zeerust (Henry Sadler) from 1874. 

Lydenburg (John Thorne) from 1874.62 

Webb had remained in the Transvaal whilst on his 

rest-cure until February 1872. Towards the end of 

1873 Webb returned on a visitation to the Transvaal, 

confirming at both Potchefstroom and Pretoria. It 

should be noted that even with the help of Wilkinson, 

Webb did not neglect to exercise his episcopal duty 
there.63 

After his 1873 visitation Wilkinson drafted his plan64 
for the Transvaal. 

£20 000 needed to be raised: 
£10 000 for the Bishopric Endowment. 

tlO 000 for the Clergy Endowment. 

A staff of 6 men was needed. An archdeacon and 
2 priests for the north and south of the terri­

tory respectively, "and these must move about 

upon the Wesleyan system of itineration."65 

In each village there should be~ school and a 
schoolmaster who should maintain the services of 

the Church of England. Schools could be started 
with the aid of Government grants. 

In Pretoria a Diocesan High School should be 

started, run by a master in holy orders who 

could help the Bishop in the cure of Pretoria. 

Wilkinson ended his plan, "This is what it seems 

to me we must do, and do at once; and remember, 

6Zc. F . Pascoe, Two hundred years of the S. P.G., London : SPG, 1901 , p.355. 
63crisp , Some account of the diocese of Bloemfontein . .. , p . 28-29 . 
64T.E. Wilkinson, "AmaSwazi-land: The Transvaal : Zululand , " Mission Field, 

1874-02-02 , p.40. 
65rbid., p.40. 
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I have said nothing as yet about heathen work, 
... How can I speak of this till we have 

supplied the needs of our own countrymen, who 
cannot be expected to be, by their own lives, 
epistles of commendation to the heathen, if we 

leave them unsought and uncared for?"65 

In Net Wilkinson wrote: "However, I am of opinion 
that it is of the first importance that here in the 

Transvaal we provide first for the white people. I am 

sure it is wrong to neglect them for the heathen: we 

cannot expect a hlessing upon our native work if we 

leave the white population uncared for, and it is 

certain to breed amongst the latter a spirit of 

bitter jealousy and opposition towards work among the 

former. n67 Net noted tersely, 11 we do not see how 

Bishop Wilkinson, can, anymore than Bishop Webb, 

undertake the charge of the Transvaal as well as 

Zululand. But we would most gladly see this work 

undertaken by the Church."68 

1874 visit 

In 1874 T.E. Wilkinson was once more in the Transvaal. 

Net commented about this visit: "With all our heart 
we wish him God's blessing on his labours [in the 

Transvaal], and we shall hope to tell of the new work 

he has undertaken. But we cannot forget that the 

Memorial Bishopric was founded for Zululand, and that 

the South African Synod defined the limits of the 
Diocese. The Transvaal Republic is beyond these 

limits, and our funds were not given for it. But, as 

has already been intimated, we have opened a separate 

fund for the Transvaal, and shall gladly receive all 

contributions towards planting the Church there."69 

661.E. Wilkinson, "AmaSwazi-land : The Transvaal: Zululand," Mission Field, 
1874-02-02, p .40 . 

6711The day of intercession," Net, 1873-12-01, p. 180 . 
68rbid. p . 180. -
6911The Transvaal and Zululand," Net, 1874-04-01, p.49. 
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Wilkinson's plan to spend time in Pretoria upset the 

plans of Robert Robertson, the senior missionary in 

the Zululand diocese and he wrote to an English 

clergyman: 

be said to 

"With regard to our Mission work, it may 

be in a transition state, in two ways. 

When I returned here, it was with an idea of breaking 

new ground, but after two months, and when I was on 

the point of making a start, the Bishop resolved to 

remove from Kwamagwaza [in Zululand] to Pretoria, the 

capital of the Transvaal Republic. In consequence of 

this my old work will fall back into my hands.•70 

It was Wilkinson's interest in the Transvaal that 

caused S.P.G. to regain its interest in the Trans­

vaal. Bullock, Secretary of S.P.G. wrote to Wilkinson: 

"I think I have not yet thanked you for your last 

interesting letter. We published it in the Mission 

Field, and it has contributed to move the Society 

towards extending its work in AmaSwazi-land and in 

Pretoria. In the latter place it seems necessary to 

lose no time in following the advice of Bishop Gray, 

and to send out a Bishop who may relieve both you and 

Bishop Webb of what must be felt as an overwhelming 

addition to your own proper duties.•71 

S.P.G. informed Webb about its 1875 grant for the 

Transvaal. "The new grants for the. Transvaal {with 

the exception of the ilOO already assigned to Mr 

Sharley [deacon at Pretoria]) are reserved, i.e. we 

do not propose to spend any of them until we have had 

your advice on the subject. It is the wish of many 

men of the Committee that the plan of the late Bishop 

Gray should be carried out now, that a new bishop 

from England should be sent out, who might fix his 

see at Pretoria, and might relieve both you and 

Bishop Wilkinson of any care for the Transvaal. If 

you concur in this view and will say so, we could at 

70R. Robertson, Letter 1874-01-22, published in, "Waiting time 1n Zululand," Net, 
1874-07-01, p.100. 

71s.P.G., Letter to T.E. Wilkinson, 1874-07-04, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 
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once act on it. An episcopal income could be 

provided by j300 per annum from the Society and 

something from endowment which could be got in this 

country."72 

S.P.G. increased the sum allocated to the Transvaal 

by 5300 and as Bloemfontein had oversight of the 

Transvaal Wilkinson was told by S.P.G. to contact 

Webb about the wisest use of this money. Bullock 

feeling is that we ought wrote to Wilkinson: "My own 

to aim at getting some good man from England to go 

out to [the] Transvaal as bishop."73 

Wilkinson made further plans for his work in Pretoria. 

"E [dward] is building a house on our land opposite 

this house. It is to be used as a school."74 

Wilkinson went on 2 visitations of the Transvaal 

villages. One visitation was to the Western and 

Southern Transvaa1.75 At Potchefstroom he ordained 

on Trinity Sunday 1874 two deacons: James Pilkington 

Richardson, son of William Richardson of Potchef­

stroom, whom Wilkinson sent to Rustenburg; and John 

Thorne an ex-Wesleyan. Wilkinson felt that the South 

African born Thorne could begin Dutch and mission 

work at once and sent him to Lydenburg. 

In 1874 William Richardson felt that being elderly 

and in failing health he should retire. It was 

agreed that he receive a guaranteed pension and a 

parsonage. 

tenburg to 

His son, James, would travel from Rus­

Potchefstroom every 6 weeks for services.76 

The people of the Transvaal realised that they needed 

a bishop of their own and not one from another diocese. 

72s.P.G., Letter to A.B. Webb, 1874-07-04, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, London, 
Britain. 

73s.P.G., Letter to T.E. Wilkinson, 1874-08-05, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

74wilkinson, A lady's life and travels ... , p.246-247. 
75T.E. Wilkinson, "The Church in the Western and Southern Transvaal, 11 Mission 

Field, 1874-10-01, p.293-299. 
--76rbid., p.297-298. 
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Wilkinson wrote to S.P.G.: "All the townships are 

signing a memorial to the Coloi1ial Bishoprics• Council, 

your own venerable body, and the Society for Promoting 
Christian Knowledge, asking for a Bishvp and urging 
non-delay; so I do trust you will all be doing what 
you can to this end before I arrive i:, England, at 
the end of the year, to present these memorials, and 

to plead for the Transvaal as well as for my own 
mission work."77 

Wilkinson went on a second visitation in 1874, - this 
time to the Eastern and Northern parts of the T.rans­

vaa1.78 He said after his visitationo: "I h3v~ 
visited ~very townjhip in this Republic, and quite 

think that a foundation is laid everywhere for o:.1r 

Church to -~nter and be welcomed in each as !-~e Church 
of the place; and .this may be fully carried out in 
the course of the next two years if thos~ at home 

exert ~hernselves to get us a B~shopric Endo;..'iTI-=r..t 
Fund, and a Clergy Sustentation Fund, of at l~~~t 
$10,000 each."'' 

Wilkinson plendcd for an Endowment Fund ;.,rd~:!", would 
have to be collected in Britain. "Our gr~at need is 
a Clergy Sustent~tion Fund. We must m~ke this up to 
il0 ,000 and invest it-.. There is no fund con,1ected 

with our future work as important as this. ~a found a 
church in a country of this extent requires a great 

outlay, though thE pec~le are all doing according to 
their ability. How we have got so prosperously thus 

far I know not. We have been remarkably blessed and 

helped in all we have tried to do, and I feel that I 
have very much to be thankful for .. "80 

As well as confirming and ordaining Wilkin~on concerned 
himself with the problems of the Transvaal clergy. He 

77T.E. Wilkinson, "The Church in the Western and Southern Transvaal," Mission 
Field, 1874-10-01, p. 298. 
----Ye-;. E. Wilkinson, "The Eastern and Nor thcrn Transvaal", Mission Field, 1874-12-01, 
p.365-373. 

79Ibid., p.372. 

S01bid., p. 371. 



- 32 -

contacted S.P.G. about the fact that Sharley, sta­

tioned at Pretoria, was feeling unsettled and thinking 

of returning to England as it was too expensive to 

transport his wife and family to the Transvaal. 

Wilkinson did not want to lose the services of Sharley 

as he was impressed by his work in the Transvaal.Bl 

Wilkinson's enthusiasm for the establishment of a 

separate diocese in the Transvaal was not shared at 

this time by Webb. Wilkinson wrote to Webb: "You are 

evidently not in favo[u]r of the establishment of a 

Bishopric in the Transvaal, & you give your reasons. 

As one unprejudiced in the matter beyond feeling a 

very deep interest in the Republic (for it is my 

intention to return to my own work when I see the 

Transvaal safe), I must beg you to reconsider your 

view of this question. I have passed now 

throughout the whole country & on every side have 

formed but one feeling, viz, that the Transvaal must 

have a Bishop of its own. The people are everywhere 

determined to oppose & ignore any ecclesiastical 

connection with the Orange Free State, •82 

In an appeal to Cape Town for support, Wilkinson 

explained his motives in offering to spend six months 

of every year in the Transvaal. An extract was pub­

lished in the Church News: "I could not - indeed I 

dare not - stand by and see so sad and sore a need; 

nor could I close my ears to the repeated request 

made to me to go and do what I could amongst the 

inhabitants of the various wide districts; I, 

therefore, promised that I would go and spend six 

months in each year in the country, moving about the 

Republic, and doing my very best until aid arrives. 

This, of course, involves a great increase of work 

and continual travelling and watchfulness, that no 

opportunity be overlooked in any corner, however 

remote; but this I do not mind.•83 

Blr.E. Wilkinson, Letter to S.P.G., 1874-08-24, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

82r.E. Wilkinson, Letter to A.B. Webb, 1874-09-17, Copy enclosed, T.E. Wilkinson, 
Letter to S.P.G., 1874-09-17, D Collection, USPG Archives, London, Britain. 

83"The Church in the Transvaal," Church News, number 79, 1874-04-01, p.6. 
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Greenstock's tour 

In 1875 the Rev. William Greenstock visited the . 
Transvaal after a planned journey to Ma t abeleland had 
had to be abandoned,84 An account of his journey was 

serialist=:d in Mission Field85 which brought tile Trans­

vaal to the attention of those in Britain interest~d 

in Anglican missions . 

Greenstock w~nt to Pretori a where h~ conducted ser­

vices be::fo!."e travelling northwards to Eerstelling, a 

gold mining a:::-ca where Edward Button was the manager 

of the gold works. Button was an An~lican and had 

kept up 2 services on Sundays.86 Greenstock sc3ced 

that he w~nt to Eerstelling at "Bishop Wilkinson's 

urgent recomm~ndation."87 

Greenstoc~ found an antipathy towards mission wo rk in 

the Spe:-lonk. "Missions are decidedly r.ot popt·:l..!1· -

the grand pc.nacea for troubles with t·he -nativ~s, the 

only means of. doing any real good with the~, sce~s in 

the estimation of the Boers to be tt,~ 'ma!~i'n•J o ·f 

orphans' - killing off the adults and teathing the 

children. 11 88 

Even when a bi3t:op (i.e. H.B. Bousf.ield·) ·di,J c~me, 

little mission work was done in the Tr~nsvaaJ; the 

diocesan effort W?.3 aimed at the Whites. 

Greenstock also ~i 5 ited the Eastern Transvaal, staying 
at Lydenburg whe::e t:.he deacon, John Thorne, was sta­

tioned. Greenstock discus sed the difficulty of 

Thorne's salary with S.P.G. From August 1875 to 

February 1876, when Greenstock was writing ~is 

report, Thorne had not received a . salary from his 

congregation.89 A meeting was hel~ by the congregations 

with Greenstock as chairman, to discuss this rr.utter 

s.::."New work at Eerste lling," Missi(•n Field, 1875-11-01, p . 335. 
85Mission Field, 187 5-11-01 t o l.877-04-02. 
8611New work at Eers te ll ing ," Missior.. F·ie ld, 1875-11-01, p.336. 
87w. Greenstock, Letter to E. Cree, 1875-05-16, D Collection, USPG,Archives, 

Lond(ln, Britain. 
88w. Greenstock, "Mr Greens t ock's notes of travel: Eerstelling," 'Mission Field , 

1876-08-01, p.243-244. 

89w . Greens tock, "Mr Greenstock' s notes of travel: Needs of English diggers in 
the Gold Field !., " Mission Field, 1876-11-01, p.344. 
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and a subscription list was opened with all money 

collected bei:19 paid to Thorne. Although' not dis-., 
cussed'at the me~ting a private school was pla~ned 

for Lydenbu~g with Thorne as its first teacher.90 

Greenstcck felt that this would be'a qreat help as 

his salary would be guaranteed. Later, Bousfield 

used this deacon-schoolmaster system whereby the 

deacon ran the village school and u3ed the fees tc 

live on. Unfortunately this meanc that very little 

or no mission work could be done by the clergyman. 

Greeustock arrived back in Pretoria i.r. time for 

Easter. 1876 to fin_d that. Sharley had left at the end 

of the previous year.91 

Wilkinson lea~es South Africa 

Wilkinsun decided to visit Britain during 1875 and 

the family travelled from Pretoria to Zululand oofore 

proceeuing to England. 

Cape Town in 1875-01-14 

Wilkinson's ship doc~ed at 

and he was able to dis~uss 

with the Metropolitan, William west Jones, wor~ in 

Zululand and the Transvaa1.92 Jon~s gave a letter to 

Wilkinson authorising him to collect in Britain money 

for the Transvaal endowment in conjunction ~ith the 

Bishop of BloemfGntein, the S.P.G., the Colcnial 

Bishoprics' Fund ~nd the S.P.C.K. A sum oi il0 000 

was mentioned.93 "The voyage to England was under­

taken with a view to settle some difficulties con­

nected with the extension of the work in the diocese 

of Zululand, and to report 

matters in the Transvaal. 

upon the state of Church 

... The result of this 

visit was that the Transvaal bishopric was·founded.•94 

90w, Greenstock, "Mr Greenstock's notes of travel: Needs of English diggers ir.­
the Gold fields," Mission Field, 1876-11-01, p.345. 

91w. Greens tock, 11 Mr Greens tock: s notes of travel: Pretoria," Mission Field, 
1877-04-02, p.115. 

92wood, A father in God ... ,. p.75-76. 
93rbid., p.76. 

9,;Wilkinson, A lady's life and tra,,els ... , p. 253. 
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In a pamphlet dated May 1875 Wilkinson stated: "My 

reason for coming to England at this time is two-

fold " 

The first appeal was for Zululand. 

His next was for the Transvaal and for the Eng­

lish settlers "who are living amidst many 

hundreds of thousands of heathen.•95 

In 1875 S.P.G. issued a Quarterly Paper on the Trans­

vaal Bishopric96 which is not extant, but shows that 

the case of the Transvaal was being popularised. 

Webb wanted an archdeacon stationed in the Transvaal 

and not a bishop. This puzzled Bullock of S.P.G., 

who wrote: "I am very glad indeed to get your opinion 

about the proposed Transvaal Bishopric. I cannot 

understand the strong opposition of Bishop Webb to 

it. He is too good a man to oppose without reason, 

and when he arrives we shall have an opportunity of 

hearing all he can say. Thank you for your welcome 

suggestion of names, which I will at once inquire 

into. Bishop Webb seems to have an unfounded fear 

thab if we begin now to provide for the Bishop in 

[the] Transvaal we shall never help the endowment of 

his diocese; which we have already begun, and hope 

to go on with.•97 

In 1875 both Webb and Wilkinson were in Britain. 

H.W.A. Cooper, resident magistrate of Lydenburg and 

special magistrate of the Gold Fields in the South 

African Republic, used this opportunity to write to 

S.P.G. pleading for a bishop for the Transvaal and 

putting forward the claims of Wilkinson for the post. 

"During the time that the Bishop of Zululand was here 

the work assumed a vigour and life which was very 

gratifying and it was hoped that his Lordship would 

be permanently appointed to the charge of a work 

which he has so much as heart, and, so zealously, 

95T.E. Wilkinson, The Church in South Africa: The Diocese of Zululand and the 
proposed diocese of the Transvaal, p.l. 

96s.P.G., Letter to W.W. Jones, 1875-08-06, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

97s.P.G., Letter to W.W. Jones, 1875-02-15, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 
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initiated: indeed, had he not discouraged the move­

ment petitions would have been sent from all parts of 

the Transvaal praying for his appointment as our 

Bishop."98 It is not clear at what point Wilkinson 

was first suggested as bishop of the Transvaal but 

from this letter it appears to have been in 1874. 

Webb sent a letter dated 1875-07-03 to S.P.G. listing 

his objections to the establishment of a bishopric in 
the Transvaal:99 

Political changes might take place in the Trans­
vaal to alter its boundarie&. 

The Transvaal should be included in the diocese 
of Bloemfontein. 

This letter was sent by S.P.G. to H. Cotterill, Bishop 
of Edinburgh and a former bishop of Grahamstown, for 
his comments.100 He felt that 

since the 1869 Synod of Bishops, the Anglican 

Church in South Africa was in favour of the 

formation of a separate bishopric in the Trans­

vaal. 

even if political changes in the Transvaal caused 
alterations to its political boundaries, the 

Church could change the boundaries of the diocese. 

the diocese of Bloemfontein aiready had missionary 
areas within its boundaries ~hich created enough 

work without adding any more land. 

Cotterill could foresee the problems of incorporating 
the Transvaal into the diocese of Bloemfontein. "If 

the Bishop [Webb] has found much difficulty in main­

taining the missionary work in the heathen countries 

(the Basuto & Barolong) which properly belong to his 

diocese what would be the result if he were to be 

responsible to the Church also for the vast country 

98H.W.A. Cooper , Letter to S.P.G., 1875-05-25, D Collec t ion, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

99A.B. Webb, Letter to S. P:G., 1875-06-30 , D Collection, USPG Archives , London , 
Britain . 

lOOH. Cotterill, Letter to S.P .G., 1875-07-03 , D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 
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which he wishes to have annexed to his diocese."101 

Webb wrote to S.P.G. with an alternative suggestion. 

"I shall be quite willing to co-operate after obtaining 

the formal sanction of the Metropolitan in selecting 

a fit man for the proposed part. I mean that if I am 

not responsible in anyway for the taking of a premature 

step, as it appears to be to my mind very decidedly, 
' 

I shall be quite willing to assist in any way I can & 
work with the Society in securing the man that is 

thought desirable in this best possible way. 

"It may be more satisfactory that this matter, if it 
is really resolved upon, should be arranged before I 

go back to Africa. 

"I think that the Metropolitan - & Bishops of the 
Province would be quite willing to refer such a nomi­

nation or selection to some person or persons represen­

ting S.P.G. with Bishop Wilkinson & myself who would 

in any case have to confirm the nomination. 11 102 

Only by 1875 could S.P.G. inform Jones that the nucleus 
of an endowment had been raised. "The Society all 

that time (since 1869) was unable, through want of 

funds, to comply with the request. Now, however, I 

am happy to state that an income of £300 per annum 

and a sum of .fl,000 as a nucleus of endowment have 

been set apart. Doubtless whatever small addition 

may be necessary to raise this to the stipulated sum 

of ~400 per annum will be procured without difficulty. 11 10 

Jones was pleased by this offer and felt that an 
income of £400 p.a. for a bishop would be the minimum 

he could live on as the cost of living was high and 

travelling expensive.104 H.B. Bousfield spent the 

first years of his episcopacy complaining that his 
I 

income was inadequate to support himself and his family. 

!Ola. Cotterill, Letter co S. P. G. , 1875-07-03, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, 8ritain. 

102A.8. Webb, Letter to S. P.G., 1875-07-07, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, 8ritain . 

103s . P.G., Letter to W.W. Jones, 1875-08-06, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, 8ricain. 

104w.w. Jones, Letter to S.P . G., 1875-10-02, Collection of the Letterbooks of the 
Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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Wilkinson's resignation 

At this point Wilkinson resigned as Bishop of Zululand; 

one of the main reasons for his action was his interest 

in the Transvaal. "And this leads us in conclusion, 

to say that it is from the date of his visit to the 
• 

Transvaal that Bishop Wilkinson's first differences 
with friends at home, and thought of resigning his 

See, arose. When the Administrators (of the Mackenzie 

Memorial Mission Fund] justly remonstrated against 

the employment of money or property acquired expressly 

for Zululand in a very different field, the Bishop at 

once spoke of the necessity he should be under of 

resigning; and this feeling grew until he came home 

with this avowed intention, as declared in a Letter 
to the Guardian of March 17th, 1875. 

"And to this reason the Bishop reverts when, on 

August 17th, 1875, he announces to the Administrators 

that his resignation is about to be sent in to the 
Metropolitan. He says that, as the Administrators 

have not acceded to his proposition to take the com­

bined oversight of Zululand and the Transvaal, 'It 

.is, therefore, my intention to adhere to the plan 

proposed by the Bishop of Capetown and myself, which 

was published in the Guardian in March last, which 

was, you may remember, to relieve myself of the Diocese 

of Zululand. I take this opportunity of informing 

you (he is writing to his Commissary), and through 

you, your Co-Administrators, that I shall send in my 

resignation to the Metropolitan by the next mail, 
, .. 105 

When Wilkinson resigned his Zululand diocese in 1875 

Jones wrote to S.P.G. prior to the Provincial Synod 

of 1876 about Wilkinson's future in the south African 

Church. "Does this imply that he seeks after all to 

be made B[ishoJp of [the] Transvaal, and to unite 

with it the northern tribes to the E[ast} of it.? It 
seems to me that it does."106 

1051.T. Lovelace, E.D. Cree, J.H. Moore, J .E. Buller, A. Mackenzie, Reply of the 
Administrators of the Mackenzie Memorial Mission Fund to the Bishop of Capetown , 
1876-08-26, p.6. 

l06w.w. Jones , Private letter to S.P.G., 1875-11-22, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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Jones mentioned the possibility which did in fact 

arise, that Wilkinson might resign Zululand but 

another man be elected to the Transvaal Bishopric. 

Wilkinson's fund-raising in Britain for the endowment 

of the Transvaal diocese linked him in people's minds 

with the Transvaal. Robertson, senior missionary in 

Zululand, introduced a new idea and Jones quoted 

from his letter: " ... 'If B[isho]p W[ilkinso]n gives 

up (as I [Robertson] hear that he does) the idea of 

being B[isho]p of the Transvaal as well as of Zulu­

land, & go to the Limpopo, I do not see how he can 

possibly do it.' This seems to me [W.W. Jones] to 

complicate matters still more, & to leave one path 

only open if B[isho]p W[ilkinso]n is to remain a 

B[isho]p of this Prov[in]ce viz. to appoint him to 

the Transvaal ... But - w[oul]d B[isho]p W[ilkinso]n 

succeed in the T[rans]vaal anymore than in Zululand? 

& w[oul]d it be wise to transfer him to another see, 

when so far as one can judge, it is his own fault 

wh[ich] has compelled him to abandon the work for 

which he was consecrated? It is a very difficult 

matter, & I confess I do not see my way at all out of 
it.•107 

The Mack~nzie Memorial Mission printed their side of 

the story in Net; it appeared that Wilkinson's work 

in the Tiansvaal had a large share in the disagreement 

between them. "After two years and a half residence 

at Kwamagwaza [the main Zululand mission station], 

circumstances induced him (in 1873) to visit the 

Transvaal, where he was so impressed with the spiritual 

needs of the white settlers, and the necessity of 

doing something at once to meet them, that he deter­

mined, very shortly, to leave Kwamagwaza. He bought 

a house in Pretoria, which he hoped would become the 

property of the Mackenzie Mission, and he thought to 

divide his time between it and the northern part of 

·his Diocese. But we at home could not feel justified 

107w.w. Jones, Private letter to S.P.G., 1875-11-22, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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in diverting mon_ey that had been given to us for one 

special purpose and place, to another country. Pretoria 

is beyond the limits of Zululand, and neither our 

endowment nor our funds were given for it. 

"In the end of 1874, Bishop Wilkinson started for 

England. He has failed to convince us that we have 

any right or reason to relax in the work to which we 

have already pledged ourselves in Zululand. He has, 

therefore, come to the conclusion that it is best to 
resign the Diocese."108 

When Wilkinson wrote to Jones explaining his resigna­
tion of both Zululand and the rest of the area for 

which he was consecrated, Jones quoted him as stating, 

"I [Wilkinson] will still do my best to collect funds 

to establish the Ch(urch] in that Republic, 

"Transvaal I [W.W. Jones] do not feel at all inclined 
to accept B[isho)p Wilkinson's conditions, nor will 

the other B[isho]ps, I think."109 

One of these conditions was that he act as Archdeacon 
0£ the Transvaal for five years, and another was on 
how the money he had collected should be invested. 

Jones realised that Wilkinson would work better outside 

rather than in Zululand and suggested either 

the Transvaal 

or a mission to the tribes to the north of Zulu­
land to the Zambezi. 

Jones felt, from his meagre knowledge of Wilkinson, 

that he would be more useful in the Transvaal. He 

wrote to Miss Mackenzie: "But the presence together 

in England of both B[isho)ps Webb and Wilkinson will 

probably be the best means of enabling people in 

England to form a tolerably correct opinion of the 

state of things & a judgem[en]t as to the best course 

to be pursued in future. The division of [the] Zulu­

land B[isho]pric, or the appointm[en]t of B[isho]p 

l08 11Bishop Wilkinson's resignation of the Diocese of Zululand," Net, 1875-10-01, 
p.145. 

109w.w. Jones, Letter to S.P.G., 1876-01-14, Collection of the Letterbooks of the 
Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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Wilkinson to the Transvaal w[oul]d, I imagine, have 

necessarily to be sanctioned by the Prov[incia]l 

Synod of Bishops.•110 

Jones responded to Wilkinson's resignation by stating 

that according to Canon 8 he could not resign without 

the permission of the South African bishops and thus 

should return for the 1876 Provincial Synod of which 

he was a member (though Wilkinson questioned this). 

Jones also planned a Synod of Bishops before the 

Provincial Synod.lll 

1.6 1876 Provincial Synod 

1. 6. 1 Memoranda from the Transvaal 

The members of the Church of England congregations in 

the Transvaal sent memoranda to the Metropolitan and 

the Bishops of the Province assembled for the Provin­

cial Synod. 

Lydenburg dated 

Potchefstroom dated 

Pretoria dated 

Rustenburg dated 

The memoranda requested that 

1876-01-29 

1876-01 

1876 

1876-01-17 

a diocese be constituted in the Transvaal "without 

delay" 

the bishop of the new diocese be Thomas Edward 

Wilkinson, former bishop of Zululand.112 

From the copies it would appear that these memoranda 

were a collective effort by the Transvaal Anglicans. 

The Potchefstroom and Rustenburg ones were in fact 

written in the same hand. 

llDw.w. Jones, Letter to A. Mackenzie, 1875-09-15, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

111w.w. Jones, Letter to T.E. Wilkinson, 1875-10-08, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

112Memoranda from Lydenburg (1876-01-29), Potchefstroom (1876-01), Pretoria (1876) 
Rustenburg (1876-01-17), Collection of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, 
Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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Canons and Constitution 

At the Provincial Synod held in 1876 the name of the 
Province became the Church of the Province of South 
Africa or the CPSA. The most important business 

discussed was the Articles of the Constitution. After 
much discussion the canon on the election of bishops 
was passed: " ... and the clause having been first 
amended in committee, and then re-amended in Synod, 
stands finally thus:- 'The Elective Assembly may 
either elect a Bishop, in which case it may also at 
the same time nominate by fresh election, or by succes­
sively fresh elections, one or more persons in order 
that if that person first elected shall refuse to 
accept the office or his election by unconfirmed,· the 
first on the alternative list shall then be regarded 
as the elected person; and if he also refuse, or his 
election be unconfirmed, the next on the list shall 
be substituted, until the election of one is confirmed, 

or the list is exhausted: or it may delegate to any 
person, persons, or body (subject, however, to the 
subsequent approval of a majority of the Bishops of 

the Province), the power of choosing a Bishop, and 
the person so chosen shall then be in the same position 
as if he had [been] elected by the Assembly.' "113 

The Transvaal 
When S.P.G. inf9rmed Jones that the first part of an 
endowment fund for the Transvaal had been collected, 
Jones was asked to bring this before the 1876 Provincial 
Synod, " ... what has been done, and to obtain from 
the Synod an expression of its wish as to the next 
step which should be taken by the Society towards the 
settlement of a Bishop in the Transvaal."114 

Jones wrote to Wilkinson about the money he was collec­
ting for the Transvaal: " ... I would advise that the 
sums you have been good enough to collect should be 

paid into the S.P.G. special fund for (1) the Bishopric 
(2) the diocese of the Transvaal."115 

11311The Provincial Synod," Church News, number 101, 1876-03-04, p.1-2. 
114s.P.G., Letter co W.W. Jones, 1875-08-06, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 

London, Britain. 
ll5w.w. Jones, Letter to T. E. Wilkinson, 1876-02-23, Collection of the Letterbooks 

of the Archbishops of Cape To\lll, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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Some of this S.P.G. endowment came from Wilkinson's 

fund-raising and this was kept in mind in the dis­

cussion of Wilkinson's possible election to the new 
Transvaal diocese. 

The 1876 Provincial Synod decided to establish a 
separate diocese in the Transvaal with its own bishop, 

thus rejecting the suggestion that the Transvaal 
should become an Archdeaconry of Bloemfontein.116 

The boundary between the Transvaal and Zululand or 

Utrecht diocese should be the watershed of the 

Drakensberg.117 This was further discussed in Novem­

ber 1877 at an informal Synod of Bishops held in 

Natal, but it was then agreed to allow the boundary 
to remain as before.118 

The Bishops passed a resolution on the election of a 

bishop for the Transvaal Republic in which they 
nominated 3 people to choose a suitable man.119 

William West Jones, Bishop of Capetown and 
Metropolitan. 

Henry Cotterill, Bishop of Edinburgh and former 
Bishop of Grahamstown. 

W.T. Bullock, secretary of S.P.G. 

Jones noted to S.P.G. that 

The Bishop of Bloemfontein had been requested to 
continue his oversight of the Transvaal until 

their bishop had been elected and his election 

confirmed. 

"With regard to the Transvaal, our difficulty . 
will be mainly, I fear the insufficiency of the 

income at present provided, when one considers 

the extravagant cost of everything in that country 

& the large extent of country over which the Bishop 

ll6w.w. Jones, Private letter to S.P.G., 1876-02-28, Collection of the L~tterbooks 
of Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

117w.w. Jones, Letter to A. Mackenzie, 1876-03-01, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives , Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa. 

118wood, A father in God ... , p.112. 
ll9w .w. Jones, Letter co S.P.G., 1876-02-23, Collection of the Letterbooks of the 

Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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will have to move, & the heavy expenses such journies 
[sic] will involve."120 

The next problem to be considered was Wilkinson's 

resignation. He had refused to return to Cape Town 

for either the Synod of Bishops or the Provincial 

Synod. The Synod of Bishops passed a resolutionl21 

against Wilkinson, feeling that his stated reasons 

were insufficient cause for his drastic step, but 
accepting his resignation. When Jones informed 

Wilkinson of the resolution against him he also told 

him how the first bishop of the Transvaal was to be 
chosen.122 

1.7 The search for a bishop for the Tranvaal 

Jones wrote to S.P.G. about the Transvaal and its relationship 

to the CPSA. "It is determined that it is to be no Archdeaconry 
of Bloemfontein Diocese, but a separate Bishopric the Bishop of 

course to become a Bishop of the Province, to be admitted as 

such by the next Provincial Synod, which, by the way, is not 

until 1883, & to take the oath to the Metropolitan, & before 
consecration to sign the usual declaration of adhesion to the 
Constitution & Laws of the Province."123 

1.7.l Wilkinson is rejected 

In the same letter Jones wrote about the desire of 

the Transvaal churchmen for Wilkinson to be appointed 

as their bishop. Wilkinson had written to Jones on 

1875-i2-24 telling him that Webb had said that he 

(Wilkinson) should be offered the Transvaal, to which 

Wilkinson had replied that he would not accept it, 

but was still prepared to work as an Archdeacon of 

the Transvaal under the Bishop of Bloemfontein.124 

Even at this early stage Jones had reservations about 

offering him the post. "Of course if B[isho]p Wilkinson 

l20w.w. Jones, Letter to S.P.G., 1876-02-23, Collection of the Letterbooks of the 
Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesourg, South Africa. 

121The full text of the Resolution is to be found, W. W. Jones, Letter to T.E. 
Wilkinson, 1876-02-23, Collection of the Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

122Ibid. 
123w.w. Jones, Private letter to W.T. Bullock of S.P.G., 1876-02-28, Collection of 

the Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 

124Ibid. 
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need to be made aware of all the addresses in his 

favour, from the Transvaal, he might be willing to 

reconsider his resolution & to accept the Bishopric, 

if it should be offered to him .. . . But on the other 

hand it is to me a very grave question, whether having 
in mind B[isho]p Wilkinson's past career in these 

parts, he would be likely to stick firmly in spite of 
much discouragement to his end, ... One does not 

wish to make his case worse than it is - but it seems 

to be very like putting his hand to the plough & 

looking back. 

"My own feeling, as regards the Transvaal, is that it 

w[oul]d be a dangerous experiment to elect him; ... 

However I have not so far made up my mind, as to set 

my face against his election, supposing that you & 

the B[isho]p of Edinburgh should agree that it w[oul)d 
be wise, & for the advantage of the Church."125 

Jones also wrote to Cotterill informing him of the 

CPSA bishops' decision on the Transvaal and asking if 

he would be a delegate to find a suitable bishop for 
the Transvaal. Jones was conscious of the fact that 
being so far from Britain he would be of little use 

in the election of the Transvaal bishop, so he appoin­

ted Kenneth Macrorie, Bishop of Maritzburg, who was 
on his way to Britain, to act as his commissary.126 

Jones thanked Wilkinson for his fund-raising efforts 
for the Transvaal endowment. Jones was able to tell 

him of the S.P.G. grant of j300 p.a. for the bishop's 

salary and of the collection of 11 000 for an endow­

ment. "You have been most active in the matter [of 

fund-raising) & I must convey to you my hearty thanks 

for the exertions you have made. The sum you have 

collected is, I suppose partly for the endowment of 

the Bishopric & partly for the working of the Diocese 

Of course I do not know but I am afraid it will 

l25w.w. Jones, Private letter to W.T. Bullock of S.P.G . , 1876-02-28, Collection 
of the Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town , CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa . 

126w.w. Jones, Letter to H. Cotterill, 1876-02-24 , Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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be long ere the {30 000 you spoke of will be secured. 

But whether this be or not, of one thing, I am sure 

that the advocates of the Transvaal 1:$i s ltopric have 
very much to thank you for in the zeal with which you 

have thrown yourself into th~ somewhat ungrateful 
task of going hither & thither to beg for help towards 
this purpose. In answer to your postscript to the 
last letter I would advise that the sums you have 

been good enough to collect should be paid into the 

S.P.G. special fund for (1) the Bishopric (2) the 
Diocese of the Transvaal."127 

Jones had to tell Wilkinson that his offer cf oeing 
Archdeacon of the ~ransvaal under the Bishor ot 
Bloemfontein was unacceptable. "We are pl~dged by 
the resolutions of our Episcopal & Provincin! ~y~cds 
& by the action of .the S.P.G. & the Colonial Biahop­

ric's Fund, to make the district of the Transvaal a 

separate Bishopric while of course subje~t to Provin­
cial Organisation .... the conditions ~ou attac h to 

your acceptance of the Archdeaconry were ~t offered 

you would have been almost beyond all hope c.•f fulfil­
ment. 11128 

Thus was the scene set for much unpleasantr.ess. 

Wilkinson had resigned as Bi shop of Z.il.l u.:l and 
partly as a . result of his work in the Transvaal. 

The Transva~l Anglicans wanted Wilkinson, now 
that he was fr~e, to be their bishop. 

The CPSA bishops felt that Wilkinson's resigna­
tion showed his l~ck of perseverance, and so 

would not appoint him as Bishop of the Transvaal. 

The Bishop of the Transvaal, when apfointed, 
would have to work hard to persuade the Churchmen 

of the Tra~~vaal that he was as good and charming 
as Wilkinson . 

1Z7w.w. Jones, Letter to T.E . Wilkinson, 1876-02-23, Collection of the Lctterbookt 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archi\•es, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

l28Ibid. 
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When Wilkinson went to Britain he started collec­

ting funds for the Transvaal bishopric and people 

began to link him with the Transvaal and assumed 

that he would be its first bishop. 

Wilkinson's reply caus~d Jones to address a circular 
letter to the CPSA bishops, quoting Wilkinson as 

saying: " ... that he had accepted all the rules of 

the Adm[inistrato)rs {of the Mackenzie Memorial Mis­

sion Fund], & offered to take charge of the Transvaal 

along with Zululand spending 6 m[on]ths in each Dio­

cese, & that more than that he could not do. This 

letter was written in June {1875), after the failure 

of the meeting at the end of May; his resignation to 

me was dated the 30th of August. I cannot, I confess, 

easily, see how to reconcile the two accounts. If he 

had accepted all the rules of the Adm[inistrato)rs, 
how was it that his .resignation was grounded on his 

ability to accept them? And what had the Episcopal 

supervision of the Transvaal to do with the Adm[inis­

trato]rs? How c[oul]d they look upon their sanction 

to his proposal, had they given it, as giving him any 

right over a territory not included in his original 

commission, & to wh(ich] he had not received permission 

from the B[isho]ps of the Province?"l29 

At this time there were staff changes in the Transvaal. 
S.P.G. had sent Sharley to Pretoria to ·work under 

Webb. He resigned unexpectedly and despite Webb's 

efforts to keep him at Pretoria, left without telling 
him . 130 Wilkinson proposed to Arthur Law, a priest, 

that he should take Pretoria, subject to Webb's accep­

tance.131 This letter shows the interest Wilkinson 

had in the Transvaal and how the churchpeople there 

turned to him in times of trouble or for advice. 

Jones received a letter from Wilkinson dated 1876-04-01 

in defence of his resignation. His point 8 stated: 

129w.w. Jones, Letter to the Bishops of the Province of South Africa, 1876-05-27, 
Collection of the Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town , CPSA Archives, Wits, 
Johannesburg , South Africa. 

• 130A.B. Webb, Letter to S.P.G . , 1876-06-26, D Collection, USPG Archives , London, 
Britain . 

131T.E. Wilkinson, Letter to Russell, Churchwarden of Pretoria, undated but either 
1876-11 or 1876-12, D Collection, USPG Archives, London, Britain. 
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"That when Miss Mackenzie fo~nd that I was unwilling 
that the affu i rs of the diocese [of Zululandj should 

be ruled from home, she wr.ote a Le tter (in Dec., 

1873) to a friend of mine in England, i~ which she 

twice express~s her wish that I was in some field cf 

work other than Zululand, ... ~132 

The Mackenzie Memorial Mission Fund stated in th~ir 

answer "We give a few extracts frc~ the Bishop•~ 

corresponden~e, to show that this w~s really the c ase 

[that h~ wouJd in some other field of work than 

Zululand] . 

"Writ ing to Miss Mackenzie, May 29th, 1873, after 

saying_ that Bishop Webb had 'suggested the idea of 

his he!?ing him with his work in the Trcnsvjal,' he 

goes on, 'My opinion is that if the Memor.:..c.11' F~nd 

might be justly expended in the North Tr~nsvaal ~ ~s a 

district lying towards the Zambesi, I think I o~ght 

to help 3ishop Webb.' 

hOct 1st, 1873, 't have bought a house in Pretoria, 

and hope- to live ther~ for some poLt~on of every 

year. 

"Nov., 1873, 'l ~ave just made up my mihd to leave 

Kwamagwaza at tb-= end of March or beginhl°ilg of J\pril 

for Pretoria (a$ far as I can at prese.n.t) r,ct: _ to 

return. I shall ~ope to divide my time for ~h~ future 

between the Transv3al and my Mission work ~orth of 

Zululand, and of course, whenever I am wanted.he re to 

perform Episcopal ~~r.~tions, I shall journey down at 
set periods of time !or that purpose.' "133 

No wonder that differences between Wilkinson and the 

Mackenzie Memorial Mission escalated until ~-:ilkinson 

finally resigned! 

The delegates settled down to finding a bishop prepared 
to be elected to the Transvaal. Jones sent lists of 

the names of suitabie men to his co-delegates.134 

1321ovelace, Cr~e, Moore , Buller, Mackenzie, Reply of the Adminis t rators of the 
M.M_.M . F. to the Bishop of Capetown , p.;, . 

133rbid. p.5. 
134w.w. Jones, Letter to W.T. llull~ck of S.P.G., 1876-03-07. 

W.W. Jones, Letter. to H. Cotterill, 1876-03-13, Coll ec tion of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 



- 49 -

The main problem was whether or not to offer Wilkinson 

the bishopric. "Moreover, he himself [Wilkinson], in 

letters lately received by me, declines to accept the 

Bishopric, & only expresses himself as willing to 

accept an Archdeaconry under B[isho]p Webb, wh[ich] 

is not st all what either the Synod, or the S.P.G. or 

the Colonial B[isho]prics' Council contemplate."135 

The Transvaal Churchmen were upset by the three delegates 
choosing their bishop. A number of senior people 

wrote to the Metropolitan. V. Holmes-Lys felt that 

they should elect their own bishop and that in fact 

they wanted Wilkinson. Lys, far-sightedly, suggested 

that the Transvaal should have a Metropolitan as it 

would soon be populous enough for several bishops.136 

At a special vestry of St Alban 1 s, Pretoria, held to 
discuss Wilkinson's failure to be nominated, the 

following resolution was passed: "That this Meeting 

hears with regret that Bishop Wilkinson has declined 

to accept of the Bishoprick [sic] of the South African 

Republic - and would express a hope that any difficul­

ties in the way of such acceptance may yet be 
resolved. 11 137 

William Richardson wrote to Jones on a resolution 

passed at a vestry of St. Mary's, Potchefstroom, 

which stated that they had learnt with regret that 

Wilkinson had not been elected in spite of their 
memoria1.138 

In reply to Lys of Rustenburg, Jones explained why 
the Provincial Synod had not automatically elected 

Wilkinson as bishop of the Transvaal but had formed a 

committee of three delegates to choose a bishop. "The 

plan wh[ich] it is proposed to pursue in the case of 

the S[outh) African Republic is the same that has been 

135w.w. Jones, Letter to H. Cotterill, 1876-03-13, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

136v. Ho.lmes-Lys , Letter to W.W. Jones, 1876-04-12, Collection of the' Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

137vestry of St Alban's, Pretoria, Resolution to W.W. Jones, Metropolitan , 
1876-04-07, Collection of ~he Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, 
Johannesburg, South Africa . 

138w. Richardson, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1876-05-12, Collection of the Archbishops 
of Cape Town , CPSA Archives, Wits , Johannesburg , South Africa. 
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adopted elsewt,ere, e.g. in the Orange FreP. State, 

viz. that a Bishop sh[oul]d be chosen from ~ithout & 

sent forth to the newly formed Diocese, who, when he 

had become settled there can reduce everything con­

nected wlth the Church, into such order & system, 

that his .successor can be chos~n by the Clergy with 

the assent cf the representative t~ity of the Diocese . 

... For mys~lf I may add that I shall most glad ly 

give every c•.,nsideraion to the name of any well 

qualified clergyman that may be suggested to me by 

any large number of Churchmen in the Transvaal."139 

Jones wrot~ t.o Bullock of S.P.G. about this situc1tior.i: 

"I still set communications from them expre~sing 

regret at B(i ~ho]p Wilkinson's refusal to b~come 

their Bishop or a hope that even yet he n:ay becoa1€ 

so. I was somewhat-dispirited to hear from Mr L~w 

that B[isho]p W[ilkinson] had told him sho~tly b£fore 

he left that he expected shortly to be c~ming co the 

Transvaal, while on the other hand· r!{isho)p ~ '[ilr.:i.n­

son] in the lost letter I had from ~im da t €d Ap[ril] 

1 ... expressed his willingness 

take work in my diocese, ... "140 

to c'::>mf-1 cu.t & 

Jones waited for the replies of the C?SA bishops to 

his circular letter dated 1876-05- 27, before informing 

Wilkinson of them. "These points have mad~ •me· feel 

much doubt as to w!teth,er it w[oul)d be rig'ht & wise 
to consent to y(c~Jr nomination for the Transvaal 

B[isho) p [ri]c, si:[oul] d it be proposed by Mr Bu1lock 

or by the Bfisho]p of Edinburgh. I have not heard for 

several m[on ]ths from aither of them, so that I do 

not know what movement is being made in the way of 

nomination. 11 141 

In Britain Bishop Macrorie was acting as Jones' Com­
missary. He lik~d the idea of electing Wilkinson 

139w . w. Jones, Letter to V. Lys , 1876-05-05, Collection of the Lettcrbooks of t hP. 
Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, J~hannesburg, South Africa. 

lllOw.w. Jones, Letter to W.T. BuU.ock o.f S.P .G·. , 1876-05-15, Collection of the 
Letterbooks of t he Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Arc~ives, Wits~ Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 

lltlw.w. Jones, Letter· to T.E. Wilkim;on, 1876-10-17, Co,llection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Arcl:ives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
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to the new bishopric. Wilkinson wrote to Law: "I 

can tell you nothing definite as to our plans yet. 

At the advice of the Bishop of Maritzburg, who is now 

in England, I have withdrawn my objection to being 

nominated for the Transvaal in consequence partly of 

the memorials from that Country. Whether such with­

drawal comes too late, or will be otherwise imperative; 

I cannot say, any how, you may be sure that we shall 

always continue to feel a very deep interest in you & 

in all that concerns the Transvaal towards which our 
hearts feel very warmly."142 

The Metropolitan was against Macrorie's view and 
wrote to tell him so. "As to his [Wilkinson] going 

to the Transvaal, I must say though with much respect 

that I must differ from you. You say ~I do not hesi­

tate to say that I wish very much that you [Jones) 

c[oul]d see your way to nominating him to the Trans­

vaal.' Now my feeling is this. He has not succeeded 

in the choice of 'his first love,' he has shown an 

utter want of stability of purpose, & of trustworthi­

ness of memory in important matters of fact. 

he told me, before he left Africa [in January 1875) 
that he certainly w[oul]d not accept (the] Transvaal, 
if it were offered him, ... 11 143 

Wilkinson still kept his interest in the Transvaal. 

By October 1876 he had given up fund-raising for the 
Zululand diocese and instead concentrated on the 

Transvaal. Anyone who had given to the Zululand work 
was sent a circular asking if their contribution 

could be transferred to the Transvaal " ... for 

settler and mission work. 111 44 Wilkinson contacted 

S.P.G. in December 1876 mentioning each of the Transvaal 

clergy by name.145 Quite correctly, S.P.G. referred 
the pecuniary problems of Law and Thorne, raised 

142T .E. Wilkinson, Letter to A.J . Law, 1876-08-01, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wi ts, J ohannesburg, South Africa . 

143w.w. Jones, Letter to W.K. Macrorie , 1876-11-01, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

144T.E . Wilkinson, Manuscript of circular, 1876-10-12, sent to S.P.G., D Collec­
tion, USPG Archives, London, Britain. 

145T.E. Wilkinson, Letter to S.P.G. , 1876-12-27, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 
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in this letter, to Webb, Bishop of Bloemfontein.146 

As 1876 came to an end without any success in finding 
a bishop, the political situation in the Transvaal 

worsened. "It seems to me that the delay that has 
arisen in the appointment of a Bishop is not entirely 

a disadvantage - that a new Bishop arriving in the 

midst of the present disorder & confusion w[oul)d 

certainly find his work hampered & crippled in every 

direction, & from a variety of causes, & that person­
ally he would proba[b]ly meet with opposition, & 

perhaps continually from the large anti English body 
now in power."147 

Jones stated the same view to Bullock of S.P.G., also 

saying that the income of the bishop should be increa­
sed to f 600 .148 

When no one seemed willing to accept the post Jones 
lost heart and suggested to Bullock and Cotterill 

that Wilkinson might after all be suitable.149 Jones 

felt that although he was against Wilkinson, if the 

other two delegates were for him then he, Jones, 

would acquiesce. Wilkinson was better than nobody. 

"I [Jones] still much doubt his judgm[en]t & his 

steadfastness & certainly I distrust his financial 

discression [sic). As you [Bullock] have found so 

good a man as Mr Bousfield is, accord[in)g to y[ou]r 

report of ·him & as I have heard him to be, another 

reason in B[isho)p W[ilkinson] 's favo{u]r is gone, 

viz. the apparent difficulty in finding a thoroughly 

good man for the work. My strong inclination now is 

to nominate Mr Bousfield, & to run the chance of 

anyth[in]g that may be said as to one passing over 

the man who has been raising the endowm[en]t. After 

all he was never authorised to lead the people to 

146s.P.G., Letter to A.B . Webb, 1877-03-28, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

147w .w. Jones, Letter to Sir P. Douglas, 1876-12-23, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

l48w.w. Jones, Letter to W.T. Bullock of S.P.G., 1876-12-12, Collection of the 
Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA ~rchives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 

149w.w. Jones, Private letter to W.T. Bullock of S. P.G., 1877-03-09, Collection 
of the Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 
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suppose, as he has lead them, that he w{oul]d be 
probabl~ app{oin]t[e)d Bfisho]p, ... "150 

H.B. Bousfield is selected 

Jones wrote to Cotteri11151 informing him that Bullock 
had found a likely man who was prepared to accept 

nominations, viz. Henry Brougham Bousfield, Vicar of 

Andover. Jones excuses his suggestion of Wilkinson 

as bishop to Bullock, whose attitude was that if 

Jones and Cotterill both wished to nominate Wilkinson 

then he, Bullock, would resign. " ... only that the 

discovery of Mr Bousfield makes me even less inclined 

to fall back on Bishop Wilkinson."152 

As some of the CPSA bishops seemed to be inclining 

towards Wilkinson, Jones sent them a circular letter 

dated 1877-03-09. "I have sent a circular letter to 

all the B[isho]ps, in wh[ich) I have quoted to them 

passages from y[ou]r letter & Mr Bullock's, & have 

pointed out to them distinctly that there is apparently 

no prospect of anyone of the 3 delegates proposing to 

nominate B[isho]p W(ilkinsonJ & that therefore, if in 
the view of the fresh light thrown recently on his 
conduct, they desire his nomination, the only way 
will be for them to accept our resignation."153 

Jones realised that the new bishop would have to win 
over the Transvaal Churchmen. He wrote privately to 

Bullock, "I sh[oul]d hope from y[ou]r acc[oun)t that 

Mr B[ousfield] w[oul]d very soon by his vigour, tact, 

& geniality, win over all who might be disposed to 

grumble that their wishes were not complied with."154 

On the same day Jones wrote to Cotterill "I feel now 

much as I felt then, only that the discovery of Mr 

Bousfield makes me even less inclined to fall back on 

l50w .w. Jones, Private letter to W.T . Bullock of S.P.G . , 1877-03-09, Collection 
of the Letcerbooks of the Archbishops of Cape To"°, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 

l5lw.w. Jones, Letter to H. Cotcerill, 1877-03-09, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town , CPSA Archives, Wies, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

l52Ibid. • 
l53rbid. 

l54w.W.· Jones, Private letter to W.T. Bullock of S.P.G., 1877-03-09, Collection 
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Bishop Wilkinson. On the whole I am inclined to 
think that Mr B[ousfield] 's nomination would be the 
best course to be taken."155 

Jones awaited the replies to his circular letter. 
N.J. Merriman, Bishop of Grahamstown, bluntly stated, 

"I am getting fairly sick of it [the Wilkinson corres­

pondence]. Our resolution need not stand in the way 

of his appointment to the Transvaal where he seems to 
be highly appreciated."156 

By the end of that month, on Merriman's return to his 

diocese from a trip to England, he was prepared to 

accept H.B. Bousfield as bishop of the Transvaal. He 
had supported Wilkinson's nomination feeling that 

Wilkinson was better than a vacant diocese.157 A.B . 

. Webb, Bishop of Bloemfontein, was delighted at H.B. 

Bousfield's name being put forward, as Bousfield was 

an efficient member of the Bloemfontein Committee. 

Webb had doubted that Bousfield could accept as he 
had few private means and a large family.158 Jones 

told Webb of the first answers from the CPSA bishops. 

"You will have rec[eive]d my letter relative to 

B[isho]p[ri]c. The B[isho)p[s] of Maritzburg, s. 
Helena, & Grahamstown, are all half inclined to advo­

cate B[isho)p W[ilkinson]!s nomination."159 

In May 1877 Jones wrote to Bullock, his co-delegate: 
"With r~spect to the Transvaal I can-not at present 

send you complete information as to the wishes of the 

Bishops. But with the exception of the Bishop of 

Maritzburg I have heard from all. None of them will 

hear of our resigning our office as delegates and all 
are ready to accept Mr Bousfield, ... 11 160 

155w.w. Jones, Letter co H. Coccerill, 1877-03-09 , Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

l56N . J. Merriman, Letter co W.W. Jones, 1877-03-12, Collection of the Archbishops 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

l57N.J. Merriman, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1877-03-27, Collection of the Archbishops 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

l58A.B. Webb , Letter to W.W. Jones, 1877-03-22, Collection of the Archbishops 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

159w. w. Jones, Letter to A.B. Webb, 1877-03-23, Collection of the Letterbooks of 
the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

160w.u. Jones, Letter to W.T. Bullock of S.P.G., 1877-05-01, Collection of the 
Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
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The formal annexation of the Transvaal had just taken 

place 'which would help the Church of Engl~nd there. 

•what effect the annexation of the Trans vaal will 

have upon the co ndition of our Church, one can- not as 

yet fore-5ec, but I shall be much disappointed if: it 

does net give a strong impetus to our Church, and 

make us in the eyes of the people a f~r more influ~n­
tial body than before."161 

Macrori~'s reply arrived. 

done a great deal for the 

feel he was the right man. 

Bousfield by name.162 

Allhough Wilkinson had 

Transvaal Macrorie did not 

Macrorie did not mention 

In his letter to Bullock summing up the res~onse to 
circulilr lette..r Jones stated that he now had the 

informE.tl assent of all the Bishops of -th~ C?S'A to 

Bousfield, except Callaway who had not wentioned hira. 

Jones felt that Cotterill and Bullock should formally 

nominate H.B. Bousfield as bishop of the .T!:ansvai!·l.163 

Jones believed that Bousfield was be~ter Silltcd for 

the Transvaal post than Wilkinson. One of the reasons 

for the visit 0! Webb and Jones to the ~ransvaal in 

late 1877 was to pave the way for B•.)usf i t:ld. " and 

for his cordial .-~-;ceptance by the peopl~ [of tr,e 
Transvaal] ."164 

The vestry of St ~2ry's, Potchefstroorn passed a reso­

lution which ended" ... and lastly that this meeting 

would most respect:~lly suggest that whomsoever, they 

in their wisdom may ~lect, may be consecrated in 

England which they believe would tend to unite them 

more closely to the mother church. 11 165 

"'1 
,.;J W.W . Jones, Letter to W.T. Bulicck of S.P.G., 1877-05-01, Collc\::tion of the 
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l61w.K. Macrorie, Let t er to W.W. Jene~, 1877-04-21, Macrorie Collect i on, Macrorie 
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It seems as if the delegation committee told interested 

bishops that E.B. Bousfield was to be nomin~ted for 

the Transvaal as Webb wr ote to Jones: ~lb seems 

strange thai ~e·d6 not hear anything.further about Mr 

Bousfield or the election of a Bishop but I suppose 

they are wait ing in _ ____ doubtful suspense what 

the is s ue of the nomination and its ratification 
[ w i 11 he ] . " l 6 6 

There seems to have been talk i n the Transvaal of 

uzing part of the ~oney raised by Wilkinson to enlarge 

the temporary church in Pretoria aft~r the annexation. 

S.P.G. replied that the Pretorians should pay f or 

their 9wn Church b~ilding. "I think you are h~rdly 

aware that the money rai sed here by nistcp Wilkinson 

was speciall y .for Endowment: the principc:.l c an~ot be 

touched nor invested in buildings but must ~~main ·in 

Governm~nt securities. The inte rest i~ availab ~e 

partly for payment of a bishop, partly for ?~ymer.t of. 

Cl e rgy. 11 167 S.P.G. suggested to Law that .t h~y s~nd 

an application to the S.P.C.K. fo r 2 grant f;r buildings 

Now that the 'l'ransvaal had a nominat~d bi sh·o~) .. Jones 
wondered how the new diocese should be estahlLshed . 

"I am not clear whether the Transvaal must be treated, 

till organized, as a Missionary Diocesc, ... 11 168 

In spite of t he endo•.-.,ment for the Transvaal ·~.•-~ing 

inadequate S.P.G. decided to send out a bisho~ and 

subsequently to rai se the e ndowment. "And now I have 

to tell you the geed news that the obstacles to the 

appointment of a bisi1op for [the ] Transvaal are now, 

I hope, removed: and I hope to be ~ble in a very 

short time to let you know that a _good and able man 

is corning to you. We have had some difficulty in 

providing even a mode rate income for their .bi5hop. 

The full endowment must come hereafter, as i n t.he 
case of Bloemfontein."169 

165A.B. Webb, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1877-07-04, Collection AB876/Ab5.2, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Afr~ca. 

167s.P.G., Lette r to A. Law, 1877-06- 16, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, London , 
Bri t11 in. 

i 68w.w . Jones, Letter to W.K. Hacrorie, 1877-07-26, Col lection of the Le ttcrbooks 
of the Archbishop of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

169s .P.G., Letter to A. Law, 1877-06-16, CLS Co llection, USPC Archives, London, 
Britain. 
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The sources 0f the small income for the dicc~sel70 

came from 

S.P.G. 

a grant ~rom,S.P.C.K. 

a grant from the Colonial Bishoprics' Council. 

T.E. Wilkinson's fund-raising. 

Jones, as a member of the selection c0mmittee, altnough 

so far away, knew that H.B. Bousfield had accepted 

the dioces~ ('lf the Transvaal. He wr0te· to Macror ie: 

"I have just heard that Mr Bousfield has expressed 

his ,-,illingness to go to the 'l'ransvaal. I am :-ejoiced. 

I expe~t the nomination of him by B[isho]p C~tterill 

& Mr Eullock by {the] next mail. I cha!l t~en at 

once commence ~ith all my comprovincic1ls."l71 
. 

H.B. eousf.ield's selection required fofma l notice 

from Bullock and Cotterill. Then hi3 na~e woula be 

sent to the Senior Priest (Canonical) fer notificutio~, 

after which ther~ would be a court of coni.:irmation of 

the bishops of the C.P.S.A.172 In a lett~~ J~tcd 

1877-07-03 Cotterill and Bullock wrote to . Jone~, the 

third member 0f· their selection co~mittee, officially 

nominating H.B. £ousf ield as the first bi~h0p of the 

Transvaal.173 Jones replied: "I must thank you, in 

the name of my Breth,:en , for the kindness ·,.,. i tl: wh [ ich] 

you & Mr Bullock h~ve undertaken the somew hat anxious 

& difficult task 0: finding a suitable man to act as 

Bishop over the Tr~r.svaal. I do not know Mr Bousfield 

personally, but I have often heard of him, & Archdeacon 

Badnall now told me that he was once high up on B(isho)~ 

Gray's list of persons to whom he wished the Archdeacon 

of George to be offered, ... "174 

------------------------------------------
170••Transvaal : The British Annexatio:1, Church extension, desire for a bishop,,; 

Mission Field, 1877-10-01, p.458. 
lllw.w. Jones, Letter to W.K . Macrcric, i877-07-26, Collection or th~ Lettcrbooks 

of th~ Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, Sou th Africa. 
172w.w. Jones, Letter to W.T . Buliock of S.P.G., 1877-05- 01, Collection of the 

Lctt:cr.books of the Archbishops of Cape 'fown, CPSA Archives, Wits, Joha::nesburg, 
Socth Africa. 

173H. Cotterill and W.T. Bullock, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1877-07-03, CLS Collection 
USPG Archives, London , Britain. 

174w.w. Jones , Letter . to H. Cotterill, 1877-08- 17, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cope Town, CPSA Archives, Wit s, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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1.8 Jones' and Webb's visit of 1877 to the Transvaal 

Jones and Webb travelled to the Transvaal during 1877. Jones 

was quite open that this visit was to pave the way for Bous­

field's arrival as bishop.1 75 He asked S.P.G. to finance his 

trip to the Transvaal from the sum set aside for the Transvaal 
Bishopric but they refused.176 

Bishop Webb of Bloemfontein had first broached the subject of 

Jones accompanying him to the Transvaa1177 in April. Jones 

agreed and a month later Webb plaintively wrote: "Please tell 

me~ I may expect you that I may make proper arrangements 
with the Transvaal clergy.178 

Once Bousfield had accepted the post Webb felt their journey to 

be even more important. "Such reconciliation to the idea of 

not having Bishop Wilkinson as may be required will be best 

effected by our personal influence and the firm action of the 
new Bishop sent to them from Englana.nl79 

Webb had intended visiting the Transvaal in July but decided to 

delay until October so that Jones, his Metropolitan could accom­
pany him.180 

On their journey the two bishops visited Potchefstroom and 

Pretoria. At Pretoria it was decided that a ·church should be 

erected as the future Cathedral of the new diocese.18l·Jones 

found the cost of living high in the Transvaal, a constant ., 
refrain of Bousfield when he got there. In a letter to Net 

Jones described the Transvaal as an Aladdin's cave of natural 

175w.w. Jones, Letter to A.C. Tait, Archbishop of Canterbury, 1877-11-19, Collectic 
of the Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 

176s . P.G., Letter to W.W. Jones, 1877-11-07, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

177A.B. Webb, Letter to W.W. Jones, undated but probably 1877-04-26, Collection 
AB867, ABS.2, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

178A.B. Webb, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1877-05-24, Collection AB867, Ab5.2, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

179A.B. Webb, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1877-08-09 , Collection AB867, Ab5.2, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

l80A.B. Webb, Letter to S.P.G., 1877-08-02, D Collection, USPG Archives, London, 
Britain. 

l8l11The Bishop of Capetown," Church News, number 122, 1877-12-01, p. 8. 
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resources as well as h-::-.ving a healthy climate, cheap labour (i( 
the Africans worked) and high wages for artisans.182 

In Pretoria the church people were fir~t told that H.B. Bousfield 
was to be their new bjshop.183 They wP-re pleased with the 

announcement that he was to be -consecrated in England.184 Prom 

Pretoria the party proceeded to Pietermaritzbur£ which was 
reached on 1877-11-06.185 

. Jones was pleaseo by the success of his visit. .,Our visit to 
the Transvaal has, I am sure, done much good. The people have 

been pleased and arc l:)oking forward to welcome· cordially their 
new Bishop. 11 186 . 

In Pietermaritzburg a Synod of bishops was held.187 

Once the Transvaal church people had been told of the ele~tion 
of their bishop his nc.me was made known throug.h Mission Field. --·. 
"Since we last wrote respecting Church affairs in tl,ls ter~itory, 

the Rev. H.B. Bousfiel~, M.A., Vicar of Andove::: ar.d R• .. 1~8.l-. Dean, 
has accepted the episccpal charge of this newly-for~ed ~iocese. 
We trust the Divine blessing will rest upon his end~avours to 
build up a church in the wilderness.nl88 

182110n the road to Pretoria, 11 NE:t, 1878-05-01, p.67-68 . . 

loJJ. Kotze, Biographical memo~ ~nd reminiscences, Cape Town: M~skew Miller, 
[s.a.J. p.516. 

l84w.w. Jones, Letter to A.C. Tait, Archbishop of Canterbury, 1877-11-19, 
Ccllcction of the Letterbooks of the A~ch~ishops of Cape Town, CPSA A~chives, Wits, 
Johan!tesburg, South Africa. 

l':35•1The Bishop of Capetown," Church News, number 122, 1877-12-01, p.8. 
l~6

11
Transvaal: Consecration of the Bishop: The Visitation by the :-tctropolitan: 

Bishop Bousfield's plans: The Endo..,,n~nt of the Bishopric: Report fr~m the Rev. A.J. 
Law,'' Mission Field, 1878-04-01, p . 183. 

1~7 Wood, A father in God ... , p.112. 

lS811Transvaal: Consequences of the Annexation: New church at Lydenburg: 
Rev . Ar-thur Lav's report: Church matters at Rustenburg," Mission Field, 1878-01-01, 
p.41. 
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CHAP.'l'ER TWO 

H.B. BOUSFIEJ..D: BACKGROUND TO IHS ARRIVAL 
IN TH~ TRANSVAAL 

2.1 Early life and education 

Henry Brougham Bo12sfieJd was born in J.ondon o:i 1832-03-271 and 

baptised on 1832-04-28 in the Bridewell Chapel, New Bridge 

Street, Blackfri~rs. 2 His father, William Cheek Bousfield, was 
a barrister-at-law3 who seems to have given Henry a l~f~-long 
interest in the legal correc·tness of documents. His r:ioth~r was 

Rebekah nee Richings and the family lived in Gray•~ rnn Roaa.4 

Henry attended ~he Merchant Taylors' School frc~ 1840 to 1845~ 

and he always resardee it with affection. "Secondly, ! rejoice 

greatly in havin:; an old Merchant Taylor. to aid me, f~r tho' I 
left school in the 4th at 13 only, I have reg~rd~d it with 
love, & have beer. proud of association with it 11 6 

In 1841, while he was 
father died.7 

-.. C'.\.. the Merchant Taylors' Hf!nry's 

At some stage he was a pupil cf ~orchester School, Oxf0rdshire,8 
It is not clear whether th~s WdS before or after his yeacs at 
the Merchant Taylors' School but was probably before. 

• On 1851-06-25 H.B. Bousfield enrolled at Caius College, Cambridge, 

where he obtained his B.A. in 1855 and M.A. in 1858. 9 In additi•::m 

1A.M. Davey, Bousfield, Henry Brougham, ~outh African Standard Encyclopedia, 
vol.2, 1970, p.465. 

2 H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1877-10-06, D Collection, USPC Archives, 
London, Britain. 

JLetter received from W.H. Thorni¼3, ~cting Headmaster, Merchant Taylors' 
Schooj, Middlesex, 1981-09-29. 

41bid. 
5rbid. 
6H.8. Bousfield, Letter to H.R. Jennings, 1881-01-10, Bousfield ~cllection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, Sout~ Africa. 
7Bousfield family Bible, kept by the family. 
8H.B. Bousficld, Illi viro venerando Ccorgio Hudsonis, MS, Coll~ction 890/B1, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

9J.A. Venn, comp., Alumni Cantnbrir,ic1:s~~. part 2 1752-1900, vol.l, Cambridge: 
CUP, 1940, p.335. 
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be later received two honorary degrees. The U~iversity of Cap~ 

Town awarded him an ad eundemlO degr:ee of M.A. ii} 1879.11 In 

1878 the University of Cambridgel2 honoured him with a D.D. 
(jur dig) .13 

In a l e tter dated 1877-10-19 Bousfield wrote to Bullock of 

S.P.G. about a proposed B.D. or D.D. degree from Cambridse: 

"Let me first remind you that this is a matter for the Univer­

sity, not for the South African Bishops. The statutes of the 

power give D.D. degree to an 'Episcopus Designatus' as the Vice 
Chancellor says. 

taking a degree on 
.•• th~ African B[isho]ps are annoyed at my 

the assumption of Confirmation."14 

2.2 Clerical work 

In 1855 Henry Brougham Bousfield was ordained deacon ~y t~e 

Bishop of Winche 3ter · and was priestedl5 a year lr.t~r. Bousfie!d 

spent 1855 as cerate of Braiihfield, Hampshire and the ne~t 

year was transferred to Winchester ·as rector ~t St Maurice with 

St Mary Kalendre where he worked until 1~61. In 136! he waa 

appointed chaplain to the Royal Country Hospi t~l anc, ir. 1870 

was made vicar of Andovl:'r, only resigning thir:·. post· t~ g._-- to 

the Transvaal. In 1872 he was appointed Rural Oeu~ ~n the 

diocese of Winchester k~eping it until his resignat~on.1 5 

In 1886 the S.P.C.K. publish~d Six years in t~e T~an~v~~l by 
H.B. Bousfield which was written to collect funds for ch~ diocese 

of Pretoria. In his book Bo11sfi•.::ld endeavoured to show that he 

was the man chosen by God to be its bishop, giving as one piece 
of evidence his longstandin~ i !,terest in mission work. 

lCA.J. Blis s , A dictionary of foreign words and phrases in current English, Londor. 
Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1966. 

ad cundem Latin ' to the same (de~rce)' (the admission of a graduat~ of one 
University) to the same degree of anocher without examination. 

11crockford's Clerical Directory i902, p.1100 . 
12Ibid . 

Dsliss, A dictionary of foreign wo::ds . ... 
ju~e dignita ti s (a degree awarded) ~y right of distinc tion, to one ~ho has achiev~ 

a di~tinguished position in public l ife. 
i,; H.JL Bousficld , Letter to Bullock of S.P.G .. , 1877-10-19, USPG Archives , Londor:, 

Bd tain . 

l5crockforrl's Clerical Directory 1902, p.1100 . . , . 
i

0 venn, Alumni C_antabrigicnses .. . , p. 335. 



- 63 -

Bousfield claimed that his enthusiasm for the missionary. 

cause had been fired as a young boy. The clergyman who 

prepared him for confirmation encouraged him and lent him 

Wilberforce's History of the American Church which awoke 
his interest in the Colonial Church.17 

Bousfield stated that he planned to go to St Augustine's, 
Canterbury and later to a Theological College founded by a 

Colonial Bishop. Both these plans fell through and he 
gave no reasons for his change of mind.18 

At the close of his time at Caius he was proposed as tutor 
to a Missionary College but he did not get the post.19 

"I did not marry until foreign work seemed quite unlikely, 
and then I stipulated with my bride to go to the earth's 
end if called."20 

Bousfield was also branch secretary of the South American Mis­
sionary Society: "I am sorry that I cannot render you assistance 

in your contemplated efforts for the South American Missionary 

society .... It was only on the failure of all efforts to find 

a Secretary, that I promised to recruit subscriptions tho' 

expressly declining further assistance."21 

Later he was on a committee for the Bloemfontein Diocese but 

was not able to enthuse others with his desire for missions. "I 

was for years on the Bloemfonteine [sic) Committee & when a 
meeting was called even with the Bishop in the chair two, or 

three, members only would be present."22 

2.3 Marriage 

On 1861-11-12 he married the 20 year old Charlotte Elizabeth 

Higginson, an artistic delicate woman, who bore him eight 
children. 

17H.B. Bousfield, Six years in the Transvaal, London: SPCK, {1886), p.5. 
18Ib id . , p. 5 . 
l9Ibid., p.6. 
20rbid., p.6. 

2ltt.B . Bousfield, Letter to W. Seay, 1864-03-01, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

22H.B. Bousfield, Letter to E.F. Randolph, 1880-01-14, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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Henry Richings born 1863-05-03 
Frances Rebekah born 1864-09-08 
Hugh Moberly born 1866-04-14 
Mary Isabel born 1869-05-16 
Ruth Hilda born 1870-09-15 
Catherine Ethel born 1871-09-29 
Naomi Constance born 1874-03-26 
Esther Beatrice . born 1877-04-25 

One of baby Esther's sponsors was Ellen Lamb who accompanied 
the Bousfield family to the Transvaal.23 

Whilst in the Transvaal he constantly remarked that he never 

should have brought his wife and family to South Africa as the 

life was too hard for them. After the 1st Boer War a fund was 

started to remove Mrs Bousfield and her children from the 

Transvaa1.24 Bousfield was criticised for accepting the bishopric 

of the Transvaal with such a large family.25 Charlotte Elizabeth 

Bousfield died in April 1886 in Pretoria. 

2.4 As a clergyman 

2.4.1 Catechising 

In 1872 S.P.C.K., under the direction of the Tract 

Committee, published H.B. Bousfield's Notes for the 

public catechising, chiefly on the Church Catechism. 

Bousfield stressed the importance of catechising 

Christians, whether children or adults; he enjoyed 

doing it and was apparently successful. 

He expressed his own attitude in a letter thanking 

Espin for sending him a copy of his paper on public 

catechising: " ... & expressing my great pleasure in 

seeing the attention of your diocese directly to it 
[public catechising], by one to whose office such 

direction so particularly belongs, do not count me 

egotistical if I add that my opinion is the result of 

nearly 20 years constant catechising, on catechism, 

23Bousfield family Bible, kept by the family. 
2411Bishop Bousfield," Guardian, 1881-11-02, p.1570. 
25H. Tucker of S.P.G. , Private letter to Davidson, private secretary to Tait, 

1881-07-25, Tait Collection, Lambeth Palace Library, London, Britain. 
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in Church, with a short service, therefore I can 

cordially support your views I will add that I 

catechise every sunday (sic] here in the little Cathe­

dral, and on my journies [sic) when I can find chil­
dren." 26 

Catechising helped to build up a knowledgeable Church. 
"In the afternoon I had intended catechising the 

children [of Pilgrim's Rest] after the Litany, but a 

storm kept all but two away - several adults came; so 
instead of catechising, I invited them to catechise 

me, and the afternoon passed in considering several 

questions, among them the fourth Commandment, and the 

Inspiration of the Scriptures. I have long wished I 

could establish real, free and open conferences, when 
matters, talked about and thought over by people, 

might be considered with the clergy, I cannot but 

think that many misunderstandings and much ignorance 

would be removed by them, and that the clergy would 

be stimulated in their own studies and enquiries. 11 27 

Bousfield also helped his clergy with their catechising. 

"I enclose a Syllabus of instruction on Confirmation, 
on the lines of which I have prepared my own Candidates 
for 26 years."28 

Organiser 

Bousfield was an exceptional organiser. Alfred Roberts, 

who went to the Transvaal with Bous~ield described 

him as, " ... a man noted for his eloquence and powers 
of organisation."29 

Bousfield was a capable man and the Colonial Church 

needed capable clergy. It was thus inevitable that he 

should eventually be offered a Colonial bishopric. As 

Tucker of S.P.G. wrote to Davidson, the private secre­

tary to the Archbishop of Canterbury: "He {Bousfield] 

26H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Espin, 1880-02-19, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

27H.B. Bousfield, "To the Gold Fields," Occasional paper of the diocese of 
Pretoria, number 8, 1884-04, p.6. 

28a.B. Bousfield, Letter to F. Dexter, 1884-05-16, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

29A. Roberts, "Tran~vaaL: Notes compiled in 1906 on only visit to England 1906, '' 
TS, Roberts Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa, p.11. 
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ought never to have gone Pretoria• with :J C_hildren, 
but he was determined to be a Bishop. & this weakness 
was generally known."3O 

Approaches to him about a Colonial Bishopric 
In 1873 Bousfield was approached abouL a Colonial 

bishopric and in a confidential repi 1 he stated: "e·or 

the Bishopric the case stands thus. Since God put 
aside twice my offer of myself for mission work in my 
youth, and guided my steps i~to the Ministry at home 

I have never had any other wish thar. to be an English 

Parish Priest, but I have never been able to lQ7 

aside the idea tha~ I might be no leGs fitced for a 
rough Colonisl Diocese, and that I slrould dt~r!y like 
the work. It always has seemed to me the only thir.g 
I was as w~ll fitted for was Vicar of Andover & R[ural) 
D[ean], wher~ I feel thoroughly in place & am v~ry 
Happy. 

"This being so if those who have the fill [of] such 
posts, able and conscientious judges, knowing ~y 

faults as weLi. as powers thought me fit !o:: that 

office, & prop0sed to me a Diocese ~hict I could 
accept, I would look at it as a call from· heav~n, 

which it was my d~ty without a question to o~ey. 

"My greatest defic1en~y would be in learning ... 

"I say 'could acc-=:pt. ' because I have 6. little children 
and I could not in ~uty with them go where I could 
not bring them up ~5 Christians. My wife has always 

shared my readiness to go abroad and would shrink 
from nothing, so would be first rate for such a post, 

but I should not think it right to expose her to 
heavy hardships. We shall have about (5,000 of 
private income one day but that is all. 

"The upshot being that I have long felt that the only 
Colonial Bishopric I could take would be on€ of the 
better ones, and that for such an one bett~r men . 
could be founa. 11 31 

JOH. W. Tucker, Private l e tter to R. Davidson, secretary to the Ar~hbishop of 
Canterbury, 1881-07-25, Tait Collectiun, Larabeth Palace Li~rary, London, Britain. 

31n.B. Bousfield , Confidential le t ter to L.W. Owen, 1873-11-03, Bousfield 
Collection , CPS~ Archives, Wi ts, Johannc~bu!g, South Africn. 
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The letter has been quoted extensively as it shows 

Bousfield's attitude towards his acceptance of a 
Colonial diocese. 

In Six years in the Transvaal Bousfield said: "I was 
often pressed to let my willingness to go abroad be 
known, as I should then be made a Bishop: My oft 

repeated answer was, 'I would bite out my tongue 

before I spoke the word that would bring such respon­
siblity upon me.' To one, once, I departed from this 

resolution, having been urged to do so on the ground 
that willing men were wanted."32 

In 1876 Bousfield's name was suggested for the vacant 

bishopric of Melbourne by L.W. Owen in a letter to 

A.C. Tait, Archbishop of Canterbury. His letter is 

quoted in full as it gives a clear assessment of 

Bousf ield' s chara·cter: "I hear that your Lordship is 

looking about for a fit man to succeed the Bishop of 

Melbourne and I doubt not there are many names already 

suggested. May I venture to add one more? The vicar 

of Andover - named Bousfield? I have no private 

reasons whatever for [suggesting?) him, but I have 

watched him very closely the last six years and have 
been continually working with him in Diocesan matters, 

and have been strongly impressed with the belief that 

he ought to be sent out as a Colonial B{isho]p for 

these among many reasons. He is a man of untiring 

zeal - a perfect marvel for work and system - as 

clearheaded as a man well can be - a very ready and 

convincing speaker & preacher - and physically strong. 

He had taken an immense interest in S.P.G. work in 

which I have been concerned as organising Secretary 

for our Society. He has been our Diocesan Represen­

tative - & as well known by Mr Bullock & the S.P.G. 

staff. B[isho]p Wilberforce made him a R[ural] Dean, 

and took him up warmly. He is a moderately High 

Churchman, married, with, I think, four children, age 

44 - or 45 - I fear he has but small private means 

- &, as I feel bound to mention what I also know 

32Bousfield, Six years .. . , p.6. 



- 69 -

against him, he is perhaps too egotistical but I am 
sure we have not his equal in this Country for 

resolute hard work - & for clearness of head in 
matters of business - I believe he will never seek 
promotion, but if he is ever called to take his place 
at the head of missionary work he will obey - and now 

- my dear Lord - let me beg to his forgiveness if I 
have stepped out of my place in suggesting that he is 
worth thinking of - of course our good Bishop would 
be consulted if there were any serious thought of 
considering Mr B[ousfield] 's qualifications - and he 
will speak out freely whether it be in his favour or 
other wise, for he knows him thoroughly, or is not 
blind to his faults."33 

In 1876 Bousfield refused the diocese of Calcutta. "I 
never thought myself fit for Calcutta, nor do I now. 
It is too grand a work, & one for which I should like 

to see an abler man in many points selected, but on 
the other hand, that is, I fear, useless."34 The 

reasons he gave were his family and the salary 
offered. From the above extract it would appear that 
Calcutta was never formally offered to him. 

2.4.3.l 1876 the Transvaal 

In the summer of 1876 Bullock of S.P.G. asked 
Bousfield if he would consider accepting the 
diocese to be established in the Transvaa13S but 
Bousfield declined after discussions with 
Bullock36 and later with cotterill, Bishop of 
Edinburgh.37 His reasons were 

The Transvaal was not ruled by Britain. 

His wife and family.38 

33L.W. Owen, Letter to "My dear Lord", 1876-04-24, Tait Collection, Lambeth Palace 
Library, London, Britain. 

34H.B. Bousfield, Letter to L.W. Owen, 1876-07-24, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

3SH.B. Bousfield, "Statements and appeals," Occasional paper of the diocese of 
Pretoria, number 7, 1883-11, p.41. 

36oocumentary evidence of this first offer has not survived at the USPG Archives 
or in the Bousfield letterbooks. 

l 7sousfield, Six years .. . , p.6 . 
38Ibid., p.7. 
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He felt that the post was for a committed 
man or at least one without a family.39 

Salary does not seem to have been discussed as 
he did not give an inadequate salary as a reason.40 

1877 the Transvaal 
A year later Bullock again wrote 41 to Bousfield 
about the Transvaal diocese. Bousfield, after a 
discussion with Bullock, agreed42 to be nominated 
for the following reasons: 

A salary at i600 and a house were guaranteed. 

The Transvaal was now no longer a Dutch 
Republic but part of the British Empire. 

This change of government would make the 
Transvaal safer for his children. 

Net also linked the episcopal organisation of 
the Anglican Church in t~e Transvaal with the 

annexation of that country: "[The Transvaal] 
has the claim of being the most recent addition 
to British Dominions, and we cannot but think it 
a matter for thankfulness that no sooner was it 

annexed to our possessions in South Africa, than 
it had a Bishop of its own. So that the Church 

will begin its work here with due organisation 
and supervision."43 

One of the recurrent refrains of Bousfield•s 
episcopacy was his lack of salary. In his book, 
Six years in the Transvaal, published in 1886 to 
raise money for his diocese, he said: " I 
went to town to see him[Bullock), and after him 

saw others within the next few weeks - the great 
question being whether the income was sufficient 
for me to do the work. 11 44 

39H.B. Bousfield , Letter to the ~ditor of the Guardian, 1883-06-13, Bousfield 
Collec tion, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa. 

40cf . P. Hinchliff , "The history of the Anglican Church in South Africa," Thesis. 
University of Ox ford (1961], p.136. 

41This letter has not survived at USPG Archives , London, Britian. 
42Bousfield, Six years ... , p.7. 
43110n the road to Pretoria,•• Net, 1878-05-01, p. 65 . 
44 f" 1 • -7 -Bous 1e d, SLx years . .. , p .. 
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In Six years in the Transvaal he says he investi­

gated the salary offered and found that senior 

Transvaal officials were paid approximately 1600 

p.a. so his proposed salary seemed satisfactory.45 
As Vicar of Andover his stipend was £700 p.a., 

so he was taking a drop in salary.46 Bousfield 
discussed the situation of the Transvaal Anglicans 
with Greenstock, who was in Britain at this 
time. Greenstock explained that with the high 
cost of living in the Transvaal £600 would be 
equivalent to i300 in Britain47 so Bousfield was 

aware before his acceptance that his stipend 
would be inadequate. "To sum up all, so far as 
this information went I dare not say 'yes' to 

your call, unless the money mountain seem much 
less to you than to me, & yet money mountains in 
Church matters do not generally daunt me. Yet 
on the other hand I dare not say 'no' without 
more sufficient cause than Mr Greenstock's 
report. 0 48 

After deliberation Bousfield wrote to Bullock 
accepting the post on condition that his insurance 
company did not raise his premium so as to make 
going financially impossible.49 On 1877-06-20 

Bousfield wrote to Bullock: "I have today heard 

from the Assurance society ... so I am now at 
your disposal and your cof-]electing Bishops."50 

How did Bousfield see his task? "In Bishop 
Bousfield's own words, 'Here are English people 
to be cared for, wanderers from other fields to 
be gathered, the Church to be represented in her 
Scriptural and Catholic simplicity, and her Lord 
in all the glory of His work and Person to be 
lifted up before masses of heathen."51 

45sousfield, Six years ... , p.7. 
46H.B. Bousfield, "First year's report," Pretoria Diocesan Fund, First year's 

report and accounts, p.11. 
47H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.T. Bullock of S.P.G., 1877-06-06, Bousfield 

Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
48rbid. 
49Bousfield, Six years ... , p.8. 
SOH.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.T. Bullock of S.P.G., 1877-06-20, D Collection, 

USPG Archives, London, Britain. 
51110n the road to Pretoria," Net, 1878-05-01, p.65. 
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"My only doubt about Pretoria is from anxiety for 
Andover.«52 

2.5 As Bishop elect 

Bousfield knew nothing about the Transvaal but 
he received plenty of information. One writer 

told him that the climate was so bad that 11 1 

should 'go mad first' & die very shortly."!53 

In spite of this type of alarmism Bousfield was 
able to get a fairly accurate picture of the 

Transvaal and its people. 

At the end of 1876 a Mr R. Green of Pretoria 
asked to consult with Bullock of S.P.G.54 In 

June 1877 Bousfield suggested a meeting with 

Green at S.P.G. in Delahay Street so that Green 
could get a favourable impression of him.55 

Three days later he again wrote to Bullock sug­

gesting a definite meeting with Green.56 

In the earliest surviving letter of Jones to Bousfield the 
Metropolitan discussed a number of subjects.57 

Bousfield was advised to buy Wilkinson's house in Pretoria. 

It was suggested that Bousfield should be consecrated in 
England by the Archbishop of Canterbury. 

The boundary between the dioceses of the Transvaal and 
Zululand was to be the watershed of the Drakensberg. 

Jones was pleased that after so many years a suitable bishop 

had been found for the Transvaal. "It is the best thing possible 

52H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Warden, 1877-11-15, Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archive: 
Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

53H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Kewley, 1878-01-04, Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archive: 
Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

54r.E. Wilkinson, Letter to Russell, churchwarden of Pretoria, 1876-(11 or 12], 
D Collection, USPG Archives, London, Britain. 

55H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1877-06-06, Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archive~ 
Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. i 

56H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S. P.G., 1877-06-09, D Collection, USPG Archives, Londo 
Britain. 

57w.w. Jones, Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1877-11-23, Collection of . the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
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for us to have the prospect of so good a man .... Here is a 
man ... who seems in every way admirably adapted for the post."58 

Once Bousfield had accepted the bishopric of the Transvaal he 
was able to have regular meetings with Bullock of S.P.G. to 

discuss problems as they arose.59 

Bousfield asked S.P.G. not to announce that he was to be tne 

new Bishop of the Transvaal as" ... there may arise some diffi­
culty from friends of B[isho]p Wilkinson & this makes me think 

it would be wisest to say nothing to him until it is impossible 

for me to stir up any opposition by letters etc."60 

Bousfield knew that the work would be difficult. "[Bousfield's] 

task is not an easy one. The country is as large as France, 

and the distances immeasurably increased, almost more than we 

easily realize, from the want of railroads and all our modern 
ways of locomotion. The English population is small, somewhere 

about 5,000, the Dutch 40,000 or 50,000, and there are some 

half million or more native Basuto Kafirs. At present there 

are but five clergy in the country, and the Churches are of the 
humblest character."61 

After Bousfield had agreed to his name being forwarded to the 

·south African bishops as bishop of the new diocese of the ·Trans­

vaal, his appointment· had to be confirmed. 

2.5.l Confirmation of his election 

Canon 3 Section II of the Constitution and Canons of 

the CPSA (1876) stated: "As soon as the Metropolitan 

receives such notification, and is also certified 

that the person elected is willing to accept, he 

shall summon the Bishops of the several Dioceses of 

the Province to appear ... at the Cathedral Church 
of the vacant See, or at such other convenient place 

as the Metropolitan may appoint ... not later than 

SSw •. w. Jones, Letter to W.T. Bullock of S.P .G., 1877-05-10, Collection of the 
Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa . 

59H.B . Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1877-09-17 , D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

60n.B. Bousfield , Letter to S.P.G., 1877-07-02, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

6l 11The Balan~e Sheet," Net, 1878-03-01, p. 36 . 
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sixty days after the issue of his Citation, and then 

and there to hold their court of confirmation .... 

"III. Upon the day and at the time appointed, the 
Bishops shall sit in open Court, and examine and 

determine upon the following documents to be presen­
ted by the Bishop-elect:-

Certificate or other proof of his Baptism. 

His letters of Orders. 

Letters commendatory or dimissory from the Bishop 
of his Diocese or Metropolitan of his Province, 

and if these be found sufficient ... the Court shall 
confirm the election; "62 

Bousfield thought that the confirmation of his election 
woul4 be swift. He accepted the nomination in a 

letter dated 1877-06-20 and in letters of 1877-06-26 
and 1877-06-29 he expressed a desire to know where he 

stood so that he could make arrangements with a Curate 

about Andover.63 Nearly four months later he was 

annoyed that his confirmation had been delayed by a 
request for documents which could have been asked for 

earlier. This delay was holding up his preparations 
for travelling to his new diocese.64 

Once the Transvaal diocese had a bishop the Metropoli­

tan had to decide on his title. Jones felt that a 

bishopric should be called after a town, not a country. 

For this reason Bousfield should be Bishop of Pretoria 

and not Bishop of the Transvaa1.6S 

By July 1877 the formal nomination of H.B. Bousfield 
as bishop of Pretoria had still not been received 

from Jones• co-delegates.66 

62church of the Province of South Africa, The constitutions and canons of the 
CPSA as revised, amended and confirmed by the Provincial Synod held at Capetown 
A.D.1876 with other acts of the Provincial Synods 1870 and 1876, Capetown: William 
Foster , 1876 , p .24 . 

63H.B. Bousfield , Letters to S.P.G., 1877-06-20, 1877-06-26, 1877-06-29, D 
Collection, USPG Archives, London, Britain. 

64H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P .G. , 1877-10-19, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

65w.w. Jones, Letter to A.B. Webb, 1877-07-27, Collection of the Letterbooks of 
the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

66rbid. 
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The Canons of the CPSA made Bousfield's confirmation 
difficult. Jones felt that the best solution to the 

problem would be to get the written consent of all 

the CPSA bishops,67 and this was done. Jones also 

wrote to Macrorie about this problem.68 Henry Callaway, 

Bishop of St John's, set out clearly his view on the 

confirmation question: "I consider that, as Canon! 
applies to organised Dioceses of the Province, & not 

to new Dioceses erected outside its present Boundaries, 

it would be unnecessary, as it would be impossible, 

to carry out its provisions in reference to the Trans­

vaal: and that there need not be any formal court 

for confirmation of the appointment of the Rev. H.B. 
Bousfield, but that a notification on the part of 

each Bishop of the Province that he approves of the 
appointment, will suffice."69 

The one section of Canon 4 which could be implemented 
was that concerned with documents, so Jones asked 

Bullock to send out to Cape Town on Bousfield's 
behalf70 

his certificate of Baptism. 

a copy of his letters of Orders. 

testimonials from his Bishop. 

The place of consecration? 
On 1877-08-16, Jones addressed a circular letter to 

the Bishops of the CPSA71 stating that the three 

delegates had nominated H.B. Bousfield to be bishop 

of the new diocese of Pretoria and he wished to know 

where they would like the consecration. Jones was 

67w.w. Jones, Letter to A. B. Webb, 1877-07-27 , Collection of the Letterbooks of 
the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

68w.w. Jones, Letter to W.K. Macrorie, 1877-07-26 , Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Afr i ca. 

69a. Callaway, Letter co W.W. Jones, 1877-08-06, Collection of the Archbishops 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa . 

70w. w. Jones, Letter to W.T. Bullock of S.P.G., 1877-09-01, Collection of the 
Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 

71w.w. Jones, Circular letter to the CPSA bishops, 1877-08-16, Collection of the 
Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , 
South Africa. 
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in favour of this taking place in Britain. He felt 

that " ... from the petitions we received fr.om the 

Transvaal, that it w[oul]d give Churchmen there pleasure 

& would tend to reconcile them to our refusal to 

accept their nomination to us of B[isho]p Wilkinson. 11 72 

The consecration question had disturbed Jones even 

before Bousfield had accepted the post. "The question 

of the consecration will have to be also settled, but 

of course we must get the nomination in due form, and 
the election confirmed, before we ask Mr Bousfield to 
leave England."73 

By July Jones was thinking in terms of the consecration 
taking place in Britain. "As some of us are likely 

to be in England next year, it might save much expense 

& loss of. time if the consecration were to be there. 

This too would please the Transvaal people, whom it 

is desirable, as we have rejected their candidate, to 
conciliate."74 

Jones like the idea of a consecration in Britain if 

the Archbishop of Canterbury would perform it. Jones 

realised that Tait might refuse because 

the Transvaal Church had not accepted H.B. Bousfiel< 
as their bishop. 

Tait would be unwilling to act under commission 

from the Metropolitan of the CPSA. 

Jones asked Bullock to find out Tait's views on the 

subject before he was formally approachea.75 There 

had been problems over the oath of obedience when 
T.E. Wilkinson was consecrated in Britain as Bishop 

of Zululand by Thomson, Archbishop of York.76 

72w .w. Jones , Circular letter to the CPSA bishops, 1877-08-16, Collection of the 
Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , 
South Africa. 

73w.w . Jones, Letter to W.T. Bullock of S. P.G., 1877-05-01, Collection of the 
Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa . 

74w.w . Jones , Letter to W. K. Macrorie, 1877-07-26, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

75w.w. Jones, Letter to W.T. Bullock of S.P.G., 1877-08-17, Collection of the 
Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 

76P . B. Hinchliff , The Anglican Church in South Africa, London: Darton, Longman 
& Todd, 1963, p . 131-132. 
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Jones was able to report to Bullock in October 1877 
that the bishops who had replied to his circular 
letter of 1877-08-17 had accepted H.B. Bousfield as 

Bishop of Pretoria, that the place of consecration 
should be Britain and he had therefore written formally 
to the Archbishop of Canterbury.77 Of the CPSA bishops, 
Callaway was the only one who felt that the consecra­
tion should take place in Capetown but he was prepared 
to go with the majority.78 

2.5.2.1 In England 
Once Bousfield 1 s post had been formally confirmed79 
Jones wrote and reported their progress to him 

and said that if the Archbishop of Canterbury 
consented to the consecration but refused to 
administer the oath of obedience to Jones as 
Metropolitan of the CPSA, . the oath, togeher with 

his assent to the constitution and canons of the 
CPSA would be taken prior to the service.80 

Jones wrote formally to the Archbishop of Canterbur~ 
asking him to consecrate Bousfield in Britain81 
and informing him that 

by Lord Blachford's Act the Archbishop of 
Canterbury could dispense with the oath of 
obedience to himself at the time of conse­

cration. 

a British consecration would please the 
Transvaal Churchmen. 

a consecration in Capetown would involve 
the great expense of the bishops travelling 
to the service. 

77w.w. Jones, Letter to W.T. Bullock of S.P.G., 1877-10-08, Collection of the 
Leccerbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town , CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 

78H. Callaway, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1877-09-06, Collection of the Archbishops 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

79w.w. Jones, Letter to S.P.G., 1877-10-20, D Collection, USPG Archives, London, 
Britain. 

80w.w. Jones, Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1877-10-06, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

81w.w. Jones, Letter to A.C. Tait, Archbishop of Canterbury, 1877-10-06, Collectio 
of the Lette rbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 
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Jones asked Tait to invite Cotterill, Bishop of 

Edinburgh and N.J. Merriman, Bishop of Grahamstown, 

to take part in the consecration and also for 

one or other of them to administer the oath if 
Tait would not. 

Jones then wrote to Cotteri11B2 giving him the 

same information and asking him to ensure that 

the necessary documents were sent to Capetown 
after the consecration: 

The certificate of the oath of obedience. 

The declaration of assent to the constitution 
and canons of the CPSA. 

Cotterill had an interview with Tait about Bous­
field 1 s consecration and reported to Jones that83 

Tait would consecrate Bousfield and administer 
the oath of obedience. 

before the service Tait wanted a formal 
assurance that the CPSA bishops would accept 

Bousfield as a comprovincial. 

During the Synod of Bishops held in Pietermaritz­
burg on 1877-11-0884 Jones obtained the signatures 

to the required assurance and he promised to 

send it on to Tait together with extracts of 

letters on the subject from those bishops not at 
Synod.BS 

In mid-November Tait wrote to Jones86 in reply 

to his request to consecrate Bousfield in Britain. 

Tait had consulted his legal advisor, J.R. Lee, 
as had Bullock of S.P.G. Tait would consecrate 

82w.w. Jones, Letter to H. Cotterill, 1877-10-06,. Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

83w.w. Jones, Letter to A.C. Tait, Archbishop of Canterbury, 1877-11-19, Collectio 
of the Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa . 

84w.w. Jones, Letter to S.P.G., 1877-09-01, Collection of the Letterbooks of the 
Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

85w.w. Jones, Letter to A.C. Tait , 1877-11-19, Collection of the Letterbooks of 
the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

86A .. C. Tait, Letter to W.W. Jones , 1877-11-14, Tait Collection, Lambeth Palace 
Library, London, Britain. 
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Bousfield on condition that the Queen would 
issue her Mandate to allow the Archbishop of 

Canterbury to perform the consecration. Tait 

said that Jones was incorrect in stating that 

he, Tait, could act under a Commission from the 

Metropolitan of the CPSA. "But I shall be quite 

ready as requested and as empowered in the recent 

Act87 to administer to Mr Bousfield the oath of 

canonical obedience to you as Metropolitan in 
the course of the Consecration service."88 

Wilkinson and the Transvaal churchmen 

In spite of Bousfield being the official bishop-elect 

of Pretoria, Wilkinson was still in touch with the 

Transvaal Anglicans and in difficulties they turned 

to him rather than to Bousfield. Wilkinson wrote to 

Claughton89 to ask that, at the next meeting of the 
Standing Committee of S.P.G., a grant of 

!400 from the ~7 000 collected by Wilkinson and an 

additional j200 from the S.P.G. general fund might be 

given to Lydenburg which had suffered during the 1876 

Sekhukhune campaign. Wilkinson excused his involve­

ment: "If it be objected that such application should 
come from Lydenburg to the Bishop elect I must explain 

that I am the only Bishop known to Mr Thorne [deacon 

at Lydenburg] , ... It is but natural therefore that 

he should apply to me, ... "90 

Claughton handed this letter to S.P.G. for filing. 
The whole situation of the Transvaal Church turning 

to Wilkinson rather than Bousfield must have caused 

disquiet at S.P.G. 

Bousfield as fund-raiser 

Originally Bousfield had stated that he would• not 

solicit funds for his new diocese before he left 

England but this proved unrealistic. He tried to 

87Lord Blachford's Acc. 
88A.C. Tait, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1877-11-14, Tait Collection, Lambeth Palace 

Library, London, Britain . 
89r.E. Wilkinson, Letter co Claughton, 1877-12-29, D Collection, USPG Archives, 

London, Britain. 
90rbid. 
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get his begging done b~fore his consecration but this 

was not successful as people were only interested in 

a bishop not a bishop elect.91 Bousfield was con­

cerned about the Endowment Fund. He asked S.P.G.: 

"Will you let me have in writing the figures you gave 

me as to the present state of the Endowment Fund. I 
hope it will not be necessary for me to stump the 

Country to raise it. This is the part of the recent 

work of 'Colonials' with which I have no sympathy, 
for which I am most unfit, & which I believe to be a 
mistake."92 

Little did Bousfield realise that this very problem 
of fund-raising was to occupy him for many years. 

2.6 As consecrated Bishop 

Canon 5 of the ~PSA stated "I. The Bishops shall proceed at 

the earliest convenient season from the date of the confirmation 

to consecrate ... the person elected and confirmed according to 

the foregoing provisions. The Metropolitan and two other Bishops 

of the Province, or if the Metropolitan be unable to act, three 

Bishops of the Province under a commission of the Metropolitan, 
shall be required for a consecration: Provided· that, with the 
concurrence of the Metropolitan, the consecration of a Bishop 

for this Province take place in England or elsewhere by, or 

under commission of, the Archbishop of Canterbury, .. . 

"II. The Bishop-elect shall before his consecration ... subscribe 
a declaration, pledging himself to acknowledge the constitution 

of this Church, to give due obedience to the decisions of its 

Synods, and to govern his Diocese in conformity with the Consti-
tution, Laws and Canons of this Church. n93 

2.6.l His consecration service 
The consecration of H.B. Bousfield as Bishop of 

Pretoria was carried out on Saturday 1878-02-02, the 

Feast of the Purification of the Blessed Virgin Mary, 

in St Paul's Cathedral by A.C. Tait, Archbishop 

91Bousfield, Six years .. . , p . 8 . 
92H,B. Bousfield , Letter to S.P .G. , 1877-07-06, D Collection, USPG Archives, 

London, Britain. 
93cPSA, The constitutions and canons . . . 1876 .. . , p.25-26. 
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of Canterbury, assisted by the Bishop of London.94 
Bousfield decided to allow his wife, five of the 
children and the Transvaal mission party to attend 

the service. He travelled to London on 1st February, 
followed by his party on the day ttself.95 According 
to the CPSA Canon 5 three CPSA bishops had to be 
present at a British consecration. Those present at 
Bousfield 1 s consecration were 

N.J. Merriman, Bishop of Grahamstown 
H. Cotterill, former Bishop of Grahamstown 
P. Claughton, former Bishop of St Helena.96 

The Bishops of winchester and Salisbury were also at 
the consecration.97 

Just before the service Bousfield signed his assent 
to the Constitution and Canons of the CPSA.98 

The rubric in the order for Consecration of Bishops 
st~tes: "Then shall the Archbishop demand the Queen's 
Mandate for the Consecration, and cause it to be 
read. And then shall be ministered unto them the 
Oath of due obedience to the Archbishop, ... 0 99 

The Mandate from Victoria to consecrate Bousfield is 
recorded in Archbishop Tait's Register, giving the 
royal permission, 11 

••• to consecrate our wellbeloved 
Henry Brougham Bousfield Master of Arts to be a Bishop 
to the intent that he should exercise his functions 
in Our Possessions abroad"l00 

In 1881 after the Boer war a Colonial Office official 
wrote to Lord Kimberley, Secretary for the Colonies, 
about the Queen's Mandate to Bousfield: "We have 

94order of ceremonial of the consecration of the Rev. Henry Brougham Bousfield 
as bisho of Pretoria in S. Paul's Cathedral, Purification of S . Ma 
1878-02-02, s.l . ]: [s.n.J, (1878. 

95H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S .P.G., 1878-01-25, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

96H. B. Bousfield, Acta Book, MSS, Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, 
Johannesburg, South Afric~. 

97rbid . 
98H.B. Bousfield , Letter to W.W. Jones, 1878-02-06, Collection of the Archbishops 

of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

99The Book of Common Prayer to the use of the Church of England, Chap.27 The form 
and manner of making, ordaining and consecrating of bishops, priests and deacons. 

lOOA.C. Tait, Archbishop Tait's Register, Tait Collection, Lambeth Palace Library, 
London, Britain. 



- 82 -

always a most unfortunate appearance of being mixed 

up in these appointments as at a certain period in 

the Consecration service the Archbishop or one of his 

officers (a Mr Lee) is required by the Prayer Book to 

produce the Queen's Mandate and we do issue these 

mandates at the request of the Ecclesiastical Autho­

rities so as to prevent any irregularity, but we only 

act ministerially and know nothing about the expediency 
of appointing him."101 

2.6.1.1 The oath of canonical obedience 

The order of ceremonial stipulates that: "The 

Archbishop will then demand the Queen's Mandate 

for the Consecration and cause it t9 be read. 

The Bishop Designate will then proceed to his 

seat on the South side of the Sacrarium."102 

Bousfield commented: "At my consecration it was 

proposed to the Archbishop (Tait), that the oath 

of Canonical obedience to Cape rown should be 

ministered to me before the service, by the 

Metropolitan's Commissioner: His Grace elected 

to administer it at the appointed place in the 
service 11 103 

Dean Green of Maritzburg objected to the consecra­

tion oath being administered by the Archbishop 

of Canterbury. Even before the service Green · 

wrote to Bousfield foretelling problems about 

the consecration.104 Bousfield in his reply to 

Green said that there was no slight to the CPSA 

in his being consecrated in England; it had 

been arranged between the Metropolitan of the 

CPSA and the Archbishop of Canterbury and he was 
looking forward to a peaceful service.105 

lOlcolonial Office. Minute to Lord Kimberley, Secretary for Colonies, undated, 
Colonial Office Collection, Transvaal Papers, C0291/14, Public Record Office, Kew, 
London, Britain. 

102order of ceremonial of the consecration of the ~ev. H.B. Bousfield as bishop 
of Pretoria .... 

103eousfield, Six years ... , p . 8. 
104u.B. Bousfield, Letter to S. P.G . , 1878-01-25, D Collection, USPG Archives, 

London, Britain . 
lOSu.B. Bousfield, Letter to Dean Green of Haritzburg, 1878-01-25, Bousfield 

Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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Nearly two years later Green was apparently 
reported as saying that Bousfield took an oath 

of canonical obedience to Canterbury and not to 

Capetown. Jones asked Macrorie, Bishop of Maritz­
burg, to check the truth of this rumour and if 
proved, to make Green correct it.106 Jones felt 
that Green's objection to Bousfield's consecration 
oath was "entirely illegal & absurd."107 

As a bishop without Letters Patent 
Bousfield was a bishop without Letters Patent, which 
he felt were irrelevant, even useless. "If he had 
them, he should feel inclined to put the parchment 
document into the fire and cut off the seal as a 
plaything for his children. He nevertheless looked 
on his Consecration by the Archbishop of Canterbury 

at the request of the Metropolitan as a link to bind 
the Daughter Church to the Mother Church in England."108 

The CPSA realised that" ... the appointment and conse­
cration of Bishops under Letters Patent must be con­
sidered a thing of the past. 11 109 

His later views on Colonial Bishops' consecration 
in Britain 
By 1884 Bousfield had changed his views on the conse­

cration of overseas bishops in Britain. "Had it 
rested with me, my own did not rest . with me, the 
consecration of all Bishops of the Province should 
take place in the province, and in their own Cathedral 

Church if such existed .... I am grieved at the new 
Metropolitan of Sydney taking the oath of obedience -
canonical it is not, there is no canon - to Canterbury; 
to my mind it is rank popery. 11 110 

106w.w. Jones, Letter to W.K . Hacrorie, 1879-11-05, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

107w.w. Jones , Letter to W.K. Hacrorie, 1880-01-16, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

108"The arrival of the Bishops of Maritzburg and Pretoria etc . ," Church News , 
number 132, 1878-10, p.5. 

l09w.w. Jones, Letter to A.C. Tait, 1882-08-10, Tait Collection , Lambeth Palace 
Library, London, Britain. 

llOH.B . Bousfield, Letter to Father Douglas, 1884-02-29, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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Archdeacon Croghan of Bloemfontein felt that as far 

as the place of consecration of the 3rd bishop of 

Bloemfontein in 1886 was concerned, the people would 

prefer a service in England but would accept, without 
demur, a South African consecration. If Benson, the 

then Archbishop of Canterbury, did not wish to follow 

Tait's precedent for Pretoria the Bloemfontein people 

would accept a South African consecration.111 

Bousfield as fund-raiser 
It was apparent soon after the consecration that it 

would be inadvisable for the Bishop to travel imme­

diately to his new diocese. He was needed in Britain 

to raise funds both for his new diocesell2 and for 

the journey of the mission party from Britain to the 

Transvaa1.113 "The Bishop of Pretoria (Dr. Bous­

field) said that when in England he had talked sixteen 

to the dozen - preaching as he had done five to ten 

times a week for the last twenty weeks before he 
left, "114 ... 
The Bishop travelled throughout England seeking money . 
for his new diocese. The Bishop of Bedford remembered 

Bousfield visiting him with one of his catechists and 
his enthusiasm for his new position.115 Net described 

his travels thus: "We have watched the Bishop's 

progress with some interest, and have found him most 
ubiquitous: London, Bristol, Oxford, Cambridge,. 

Bath, the Welsh borders, and the Southern coast. If 

his diocese finds him as active and locomotive, it 

will soon feel the force of its Bishop, whatever that 
force may be worth. 

lllcroghan, Letter to W.W . Jones, 1884-05-12, Collection AB867, Ab5.3, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

112w.w. Jones, Letter to [Law], 1878-03-18, Collection of the Letterbooks of the 
Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

11311
00 the road to Pretoria," Net, 1878-05-01, p . 67 . 

11411rhe arrival of the Bishops~ Maritzburg and Pretoria etc," Church News, 
number 132, 1878-10, p.4. 

11511The Transvaal Mission," Occasional Paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 7, 
1883-11, p.31-32. 
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"We hope soon to see some account of his receipts, but 

from various hints in local reports which have reached 

us, we suppose, as things go, he has done well, though 

alas! how far short of what such a work demands. A 

friend informs us that he contents himself with jlOO 
a week to his diocese when on the tramp, and ~200 if 

the district be wealthy."116 

Wilkinson's Pretoria house 

This money was additional to the sum collected by 

T.E. Wilkinson and handed over to S.P.G. Wilkinson's 

house in Pretoria was to be a source of friction 

between the two men. There seem to have been two 

houses in Pretoria, Wilkinson's and another. In a 

letter to Law, Wilkinson advised: "Let me know what 

you have done about the House, would it not be well 

to go into another house pro temi whilst the al~era­
tions are being made & then give it another trial at 

the beginning of another wet season, retaining the 

other house to fall back upon in case the remedies 

suggested should fail."117 This letter suggests that 

Wilkinson's house was being used by the Pretoria 
Church. 

Wilkinson's house worried Jones: "With regard to 

B[isho]p W[ilkinson] 's proposal as to the disposal of 

the £7 000 he has collected for [the] Transv[aal], I 
entirely agree with him & think he sh[oul]d be paid 

for he [sic] house in Pretoria such a sum as either 

(1) he paid for it, or, if he prefers it (2) what it 

sh[oul]d be valued by now. Whether it is worth more 

or less than ,jl 500, I have not the slightest notion, 

having never seen it nor had a description of it. It 

is a g[rea]t thing that the income sh{oul]d be thus 

made up to &600 a y[ea]r, & certainly we owe a debt 
of gratitude to B[isho]p W[ilkinson] for his unwearied 
efforts."118 

116110n tramp for Pretoria," Net, 1878-08-01, p.113 . 
117T. E. Wilkinson, Letter to-;;:J. Law, 1877-03-05, Bousfield Collection , CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
118w.w. Jones, Private letter to w.T. Bullock of S.P.G., 1877-03-09, Collection 

of the Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town , CPSA Archives, Wi t s, Johannesburg, 
South Africa . 
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In July 1877 Bousfield contacted S.P.G. about Wilkin­

son's house: " ... and get the house purchased & 

conveyed. On this point two questions occur to me. 

{l) What is its state of repair? 

(2) How has it be(en] cared for from the time of 
Wilkinson's conveyance.«119 

Within a week he again wrote to S.P.G.: "I should 

like to get the house business settled with Wilkinson 
as soon as possible."120 

By October 1877 relations between Bousfield and Wil­
kinson had deteriorated. "Wilkinson & House I return 

B[isho]p Wilkinson's letter, which confirms my dealing 

with him. The house will be full small for my party. 
I would beg you to give him, as early as possible, 

'timely & formal notice• to transfer. ••121 

The size of Wilkinson's house worried Bousfield because 
of the size of his family. Bousfield and Wilkinson 

met at Wilkinson's home in Newton Abbot, on Friday 

1877-10-12 and Bousfield reported their discussions 

to Bullock. "(1) In the first place. He revived(?) 

all the anxieties of June. i600 only= 5300, & the 
house will not give a place for such a family as mine 

to lay their poor little heads. If any confidence is 

to be placed on him, it ' is almost certain that you 

have m~de a mistake including a man with 8 children, 

& no private means available for his work in Africa. 

He ought to have at least another i600 a year of his 

own. 

(2) If I did not feel that my hand was put to the 

plough, & afraid to look back, I should have returned 

from Newton & written to you that after all I dare 

not go, not from any fears for myself, but as a simple 

matter of duty as a husband, and a father. All my 

worst misgivings were revived by his communications & 

the only relief from them left me was the old one of 

119H. B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1877-07-02, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

120H,B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1877-07-06, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

121H . B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1877-10-06, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 
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the irremediatle[?J contradictions of the witnes ses. 

B[ishop] & Mr3 W[ilkinson] differ in the proportions 

of length to breadth in the size of a room, the first 

making them b~rely s ufficient to hold us, the latter 

so hopelessly insufficient, that I must add one ~ew 

house to my outfit, or build as soon as we get ther~? 

(3) On thia house matter, Wilkinson, told me that 

his price for the house is 11 460 (! am not sure oi 

the ode surn) s. that he had paid in to S.P.G. on this 

accou~t ll 15~:10:2 thus fulfilling his proposal of 

about. ~f l 200 being raised by himself; & that you were 

to find the balance from other monies of th~ Diocese. 

It ooz€d out also that there were 4 ervP.n b~ug~t for 

~1 460 & he then afterwards spoke of keeping _ _ ___ _ 

of these for the ~eceipt of his future work in the 

Tran!::;vaal. 

(4) You will see the importance of these su~s of 
money _____ _____ ( you told me t~e had pa ic 

in ~9GO or thereaboutsi; the purchaze n;or•: eyr i1 for 

what lots, sc.t.:tJ.ed; the whole busines·s corr.:;.l~i:ed 

without delay. He is not unlikely J fe ar to t3k e 

offence, if nut will 

negotiation fail then. 

& bound . cc · to let the 

(5l Besides this he says he has pa i d an am~~nt of 

close upon j7 000. This was (he says) always contem­

plated, as for a Dishopric & Clergy Endowment ?und. 

Have you thi s money? & if so to what amount? and 

what relation sha1l ! bear to it, & its distribution? 

(6) Again he says 5322:7:4 has been collected for a 

Cathedral Fund. 

"Lastly he wished me at once to communicate with two 

or three person5 3s to going out & work in the Trans­

vaal. This your note makes one hesitate to do, for 

if the African B[i -sho)ps are annoyed at my taking a 

degree on the assumption of Confirmation, what will 

they be at my holding a meeting, or negotiating with 
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a Clergyman or putting forth an appeal? to say nothing 
of what I cannot even now help people speaking of me, 
and treating me, a~ a Bishop in "1 22 

Both -Bousfield and Wilkinson were ·strong-willed men 
and this meetlng and subsequent corre;pondence shows 
that they regarded Wilkinson's property in the Trans­
vaal from different view-points. 

After Jones' and Webb's visit to thP. Transvaal Jones 
advis~d Bousfield to buy Wilkinson's property for 
~l 500 and described the house.123 

Jones also wrote about this to S.P.G.: "Ei~hoo ~ilkin­
son's house in Pre~oria. Recommending the p~r~hase 
of it, if the whole property c[oul]d ~e ha~ for il 500 

or :t 1 600 speaking of the scare ity of ho1:sE-r-, & ~ta ting 
that it would be well sold at a futur~ time, if a new 

house~~ built on the site chosen or. the higher 
ground.,: 124 

.. 
A.J. Law, prie6t at Pretoria, wrot~ ~o s.~.G. on 
1878-01-20 about the property owned by th~ parish. 
"At the comme:1cem-ent of last year, our chu:::ch in 

Pretoria was il 20 in debt. Every h:1lfp_e:rny of th is 
has been paid off. The church property Has net pro­

perly conveyed lo th~ Church of the prdvfn~e fsic] of 
South Africa. It ts properly conveyed and legally 
secured, with the ~xc~ption of the two houses of 

Bishop Wilkinson, the title deeds of which are not in 
our hands. We h~ve the present church and erf on 

which it stands; two erven near Government house, on 
which the foundations of our new church h~ll a!e 

already built ... also a piece of·ground lately pre­

sented to the church by Mr George Pyott Moodie .... 
between one and two acres - ..... 125 

122H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.T. Eullock of S.P.G., 1877-10-19, u Collection, 
USPG Archives, London, Britain. 

123w.w. Jones, Letter to H.B. Bousfisid, 1877-11-23, Collection of the Letterbook. 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

124w.w. Jones, Letter to S.P.G., 1877-11-19, Collection of the Lettcfbooks of the 
Arcl:~,ishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

12511rransvaal, 11 Mission Field, 1878-04-01, p.184. 



- 89 -

"This shows the impression of the Metropolitan. 

That the four erven form one property. 

That &l 500 would be a reasonable price for the 
four."126 

Before the end of 1877 Bousfield, with his interest 

in legal matters, had consulted a London lawyer. He 

then wrote to Wilkinson: "This authority confirms my 

own view, viz, that it will be -necessary for you to 
I 

sell and transfer formally by deed the house etc. to 

me & the Bishop of Capetown, and then to execute a 
power of Attorney authoriz~ng your Representatives to 

surrender it to me, and to do all things necessary to 

secure to me legal possession. 

"This involves the antecedent settlement of two points, 
the land to be conveyed & the price to be paid. 

"On the first, you will remember our conversation as 
to four erven; your power of Attorney refers to two 

only; but I hope you will decide to part with all 

four. They may be of great importance to the Church 

in Pretoria which has already learnt to account one 
its own. 

11 2ndly As to pr ice: if you part with the whole your 

proposal by letter to Mr Bullock was to sell for what 

you gave (~l 400 & some odd) which you undertook to 

raise. If you only sell two erven, I should suppose 

£1 000 an ample price. But on both points [I) would 
desire to know your mind. 11 127 

By the beginning of 1878 it had apparently been decided 
to buy another house in Pretoria. Bousfield questioned 

S.P.G. on it: "Have you found the 1300 yet to buy 

the house, that begging will be to you more than the 

¼500 for the B(isho]ps {Jones and Webb] promises to 
Pretoria. 11 128 

126H.B. Bousfield, Letter to T.E. Wilkinson, 1878-02-02, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

127H.B. Bousfield, Letter to T.E. Wilkinson, 1877-12-29 , Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

128H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1878-01-25, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London,Britain. 
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Bousfield himself still wished to buy Wilkinson's 

property in Pretoria. He wrote to Wilkinson on the 

subject. "There is nothing now that can be done but 

for me to undertake to pay~l 456 for the larger 
house, & its two erven of land on your conveying it 

to myself & B[ishoJp Jones for the _____ the 

arrival in this Country of the issue that your 

Attorney, has delivered ______ up to mine. Will 

you instruct your Solicitor to prepare the necessary 

deed of transfer & power of Attorney, or shall I 

mine? Please let no further delay, that we can help, 

arise as my departure from England depends now on 
this business."129 

By the same post Bousfield wrote to S.P.G.: "I quite 

agree with you that it · is no good to press B[isho)p 
Wilkinson any more, and I cannot consent to a loss of 

income, j600 & a house, - reported by Mr Green to 

contain ten [?] rooms - you promised me when I accepted 

the Transvaal Bishopric, & ~600 and a house, into 

which we can get somehow, I must have secure, before 
I leave my present home. 

"I do not think it would be at all wise to buy the 
other property for the £500 B[isho]p W[ilkinson] 

asks: the less so as he seems to me bound in honour,. 

to Law & the Pretorians as to the house itself. 

"So I see no alternative but to carry on the negotiation 
for the house & two erven for fl 456: and you must 

get me somehow ~300 to complete the purchase .... I 

hate to seem haggling for money but I must see my way 
in this most important particular.wl30 

It seems that Bousfield's letter was of some use as 
Wilkinson asked him to instruct a Solicitor: "It 
seems to me those who act for S.P.G. will be better 
than any in these parts. Will you therefore instruct 
them for me to prepare the deeds & powers of Attorney, 

129H.B. Bousfield, Letter to T. E. Wilkinson, 1878-01-14, Bousfield Collection , 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

l)OH.B . Bousfield, Letter to S. P.G., 1878-01-21, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
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for which I enclose particulars & ask them to do it 
quickly & to send me the drafts."131 

In a series of four letters written between Bousfield 
and Wilkinson on the Pretoria house, copies of which 

were sent to S.P.G., Wilkinson wanted ~l 456 before 

transfer, whereas Bousfield wanted a guarantee of 

price. By February 1878 Wilkinson had ceased to 

collect money for the Transvaa1.132 Bousfield denied 

that he had offered to pay ~l 456 but said that this 

is what he was being asked to pay. Tactlessly, Bous­

field called Wilkinson's honour into account.133 

Wilkinson explained that he had pa id~ 1 456 for the 

house so could not go lower, and was upset that his 

honour was being questioned.134 In a letter which 

shows Bousfield's conduct in a disagreement, he wrote: 

"Conscious as I am of the inconvenience of the pressure 

upon myself, as I have already said, I have no wish 
to press you, still less to enter on mere personalities, 

but as I have a very clear & strong opinion as to 

what is the only honourable course in this matter I 

trust you will forgive me for placing before you that 

opinion & leaving it for your consideration - quantum 
valeat. "13 5 

The diocese still wished to buy Wilkinson's second 
house. "On poor Law's head hangs another load. You 

see how he speaks of the little house of Wilkinson's 

as yielding 5% per month. How it will affect Church­

men in Pretoria when they find this house taken from 

them, I cannot think .... Let the Fund buy the House 

for ~500, as Wilkinson asked, & 60% per annum would 
be good interest. ••136 

Bousfield, Letter to S. P .G., 1878-01-21, Bousfield Collect i on , CPSA 
Archives, Wies , Johannesburg, South Africa. 

132r .E. Wilkinson, Letter to H.B. Bousfie ld, 1878-02-13 , D Collection, USPG 
Archives, London, Britain. 

133H.B. Bousfield, Letter to T.E. Wilkinson, 1878-02-.14 , D Collec cion , USPG 
Archives, London, Britain. 

134r.E. Wilkinson, Letter to H.B. Bousfie ld, 1878-02-16, D Collect ion, USPG 
Archives, London, Britain. 

135H. B. Bousfield, Letter to T .E. Wilkinson, 1878-02-18, D Collection , USPG 
Archives, London, Britain. 

136u.B. Bousfield, Letter to S. P .G . , 1878-03-06 , Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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From a letter written eighteen months later by Jones 

to Wilkinson it seems that this sale did not go 
through.137 

Land in Pretoria 

Bousfield sent notes on the proposed transfer deeds 

of the Pretoria See House to a legal firm, Nicholl, 

Mawby and Michell, - evidence of his legal training. 

The seller is Wilkinson and the erven bought were erf 

142 and erf 143. Bousfield had had a plan of the 
house drawn by a builder in Pretoria.138 This seems 

to have been the house that Bousfield later called 
Bishop's Cote. 

On 1877-09-07 erf 489 (later erf 560) on Schoeman 
Street was transferred by a power of Attorney to J.C. 

Preller by A.J. Law, Rector of the parish of St Alban, 

Pretoria, on behalf of A.B. Webb, D.D., bishop in 
charge of the Transvaa1.139 This was the site on 

which the new Cathedral was to be erected. 

Finance 

The Balance Sheet for 1877 of contributions received 

and acknowledged through Netl40 appeared in the March 
1878 issue. 

Against Credit for the Mackenzie Memorial Fund 

paid to S.P.G. - Subscriptions received for 

Transvaal Bishopric Fund - is the sum of J. 930 
18s 2d. 

In the summary attached to the balance sheet it 
is noted: "We confess it would have looked 

better if we had had a full thousand pounds to 

hand over, but this is a deficiency that can be 

rectified as quickly as our frie_nds please. We 

are glad to think that the NET has had a share 

l37w.w. Jones, Letter to T.E. Wilkinson, 1879-11-07, ~ollection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

138H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Nicholl, Mawby and Michell, 1878-06-14, 8.ousfield 
Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

139Title deed to Erf 560 Schoeman Str_eet Pretoria, P 10, Pretoria Diocesan Office, 
Pretoria, South Africa. 

14011The Balance Sheet," Net, 1878-03-01, p.34-35 . 
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in beginning this Bishopric, and we hope that it 

may please God to give its first Bishop a long 

career of work and usefulness."141 

Bousfield was anxious about the smallness of the 
Endowment Fund. Within a month of accepting the 

bishopric he wrote to S.P.G.: "And I would in the 

meantime suggest that you should do all that can be 

done to raise the Endowment."142 

He came to realise that if the Endowment was to be 

increased he would have to raise lt himself. A week 

after his previous letter he requested a written 

statement of the Endowment Fund.: "I hope it will not 
., 

be necessary for me to stump the country to raise 
it."143 

The Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge (S.P.C.K.) 
informed S.P.G. in July 1877144 that they would grant 

t1 000 to meet i9 000 for the Transvaal Endowment 
Fund to be payable in three instalments 

£500 to meet 
~250 more to meet 
!250 more to meet 

t4 500 
£2 250 more 
~2 250 more 

Bousfield wrote to S.P.G. to find out how much Wilkin­

son had actually paid into them.145 After Jones' and 

Webb's visit to the Transvaal, Bousfield found out 
that Jones had pledged the new bishop to give ~500 

for the building of a new Church in Pretoria. Bous­

field complained to S.P.C.K.: "These good Bishops may 

have done what was wise, & necessary, & it is not for 
me, at a distance to doubt it: but I maybe permitted 

to hope they have left the Colony without any more 
such liberal offers."146 

141 11rhe Balance Sheet," Net, 1878-03-01, p.35. 
142H.B. Bousfield, Lette;---;o S.P.G., 1877-07-02, D Collection, USPG Archives, 

London, Britain. 
143H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G . , 1877-07-06, D Collection, USPG Archives, 

London, Britain. 
144swabey, Secretary of S.P.C.K., Letter to S.P.G., 1877-07-07, D Collection, 

USPG Archives, London, Britain. 
145n.B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1877-10-19, D Collection, USPG Archives, 

London, Britain. 
146H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P . C.K., 1877-12-04, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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In 1872 S.P.C.K. had granted !200 towards t~e Church 

in Pretoria which had not been claimed by 1877, so 

Bousfield asked if it could be revived and u~ed for 

the new Pretoria building.147 

The Tr ansvaal people _did try to rais~ money. Law, 

priest at Pr~toria, told of raising S.27 by a · conc~!t 

and a sale of work s ent out from Englnnd.148 These 

sales of wor k were to be a regular source of income 

to the ~io~es~ of Pretoria for the next few years. 

The Bi s hop wa~ worried about the premise of !SOO for 

the r-retoria Church which he did not have. "I do 

wish some plan could be devised for the present utili­

zation of Wil kinson's collection. Why sh0u id it not 

be used like Queen Anne's Bounty Fund; 

loans o n good securi ty? 11 149 

f'1r tu ilcing 

The Bisho~ was grateful ~or the help of S.P .G. and 

aware of the work they did. "~ou fS.P.G.J may rely 

on my doi ng my utmos t from the first to impresa upor. 

those around me the duty o f supporting the Society 

and i ts missions t o the heathen."150 

In early 1878 S .?.C.K. made a fur ther gr a ~t to the 

diocese of Pre~o~ia. Thi s was £500 for school buildings 

and was to meet J4 000 from other s0urce a , p~yable in 

instalments of il2~ f or each ll ooo.151 Th~ officia l 

S.P.C.K. history states that when the diocese of 

Preto ria was fou~ue o 1n 1878 S.P.C.K. wa s asked to 

help towards financing Church buildings in t~e Trans­

vaal. Initially a block grant of £ 750 was votea.152 

Transfer of Church lan<l to Diocesan Trustees 

In preparation fer the arrival of ·the bishop ir. the 

Transvaal Law told s.P.G. how Church prope r ty was 

1471i.B. Bousfield , Letter to S.P.C.K . . , 1877-12- 04, Bousficld Colle.::ion, CPSA 
Archiv•~s , Wits, Johannesburg, South Afr ica. 

14S"Transvaal," Mission Field, 1878-01- 01, p.42 . 
149H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S. P.G., 1~78-03-06, Bousficld Collection, CPSA 

Archivr.s, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
l50H.B. Bousfie ld, Letter to S.P. G., 1879-06-10, D Collection, USPG Archives, 

Lomi~,n, Britain . 
l51H.B. Bousfi c ld, Letter to W~H. Greve, 1883-10-22, Bousfield Collect ion , CPSA 

Archives, Wit s, J ohannesburg, South Airir.a . 
152w. o .B. Allen and E. McClure, Two hundred years, London: SPCK, 1898, p.355. 
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being transferred to Trustees. "It has taken some 
time to get all our papers straight - I mean those 

referring to church property - everything hitherto 
has been in the hands of clergymen and churchwardens; 
now we are getting all property transferred to the 
trustees appointed by the Bishop. 11 153 

Bishop's cote 

The Bishop was waiting for news of a house in Pretoria 
before leaving for the Transvaal. Net reported: " ... 
and the Bishop waits to start, until he can be more 

sure than he was when we had the pleasure of seeing 
him, that there will be some roof in Pretoria under 
which they can put their heads. There is a house of 
brick and thatch, the purchase of which is being 
negotiated, but a further sum, to that already in 
hand, of ~350, is required to complete the purchase, 
and there have been, besides, some lawyer's and other 

vexatious delays in the way of finishing the matter. 
This house, if bought, will hardly take in so large a 
party. The Bishop would be thankful to make some 
additions to it. 11 154 

The Bishop was worried about the house. As he wrote 
to Kemp: "Can't you get some more (money] out of 
B[isho]p W[ilkinson] from his collections since July 
last. It is too bad for me to accept a se~ with a 

house and then to raise ,j250 for its repair & enlarge­
ment 11 155 

By June 1878 the Bishop had sent the draft title 
deeds to the attorney Michell, hoping that his remarks 
would not delay the title deeds.156 The Bishop wrote 

to Pretoria that he was quite agreeable to allowing 
the tenants to remain in the Pretoria See House until 
the end of September 1878 after whi~h the house could 
be made ready for the Bousfield family.157 

153••rran~vaal, 11 Mission Field, 1878-01-01, p.42. 
154110n the road to Pretoria, 11 Net, 1878-0.5-01, p.65-66. 
155H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Kemp, 1878-05-29, Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archives, 

Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

156H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Kemp, 1878-06-14, Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archives, 
Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

157H.B . Bousfield, Letter to [Law?], 1878-05-29, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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A statement of accounts from the Pretoria Diocesan 
Fund 

"Before leaving England the Bishop thinks it right to 

publish the amounts received by him, and to announce 

to the Subscribers and other friends of his Diocese 

the financial arrangements he had made for the support 
of his work in in England."158 

The Pretoria Diocesan Fund published a statement of 
accounts to 1878-07-31159 

Wilkinson and Sir Percy Douglas had collected 
t423 19s 0d for the Cathedral Fund. 

The total amount received by the P.O.F. was 
5.2 686 2s lld. 

The Bishop's House had cost i120 ls 5d. 

The balance in the bank was #2- 085 8s lld. 

The Transvaal Prayer Union 

The Transvaal Prayer Union was started by the Bishop 

to pray for the Diocese of Pretoria and keep alive 

its memory in Britain.160 A Manual of Prayers for 

the use of the Transvaal Prayer Union was printed in 

1878 and each member was issued with a copy.161 The 
Bishop even 

Canterbury. 

outside the 

sent a copy to Tait, the Archbishop of 

The T.P.U. was intended for friends 

Diocese. 

2.7 The mission party 

2.7.1 Spratt and Roberts 
Bousfield needed to find staff for his diocese: "The 

Bishop appealed everywhere for volunteers for the 

work .... Not one ordained clergyman in England was 

thus to be found. On the recommendation of the 

S.P.G., two students of s. Aug[ustine's) Coll[ege], 

(Canterbury] volunteered out of several that were 

asked. These with three ladies, personal friends 

158Pretoria Diocesan Fund, Statement of Account to 1878-07-31, p. 3. 
159Pretoria Diocesan Fund, Balance Sheet to 1878-07-31. 
160110n tramp for Pretoria," Net, 1878-08-01, p. 113. 
161A manual of ra ers for t~use of the Transvaal Pra er Union with the rules 

of the Union, s.1. : s.n. , 1878. 
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of the Bishop, and two young male parishioners of the 
Bishop in Andover, were the sole volunteers."162 

The two St Augustine"s students were Alfred Roberts 
and Charles Spratt. Fifty years later Roberts des­

cribed how the two friends volunteered for work in 
the Transvaal: "Funds did not allow me to enter 

Oxford University, for which I had been preparing, so 

at 21 I went to the missionary College of St Augustine's 
Canterbury for three years. After a successful course, 
and ready for ordination I offered myself for Zululand, 
but owing to the pending Zulu war they could not 

accept me. Even the resident missionaries were being. 
withdrawn in the crisis. The S.P.G. Committee who 
were well acquainted with my career made me an excep­
tional offer for India, but I felt that my life call 

was to South Africa, so in Dec, 1877 they introduced 
me to the Bishop designate of Pretoria, at their 

Offices. I determined to accept, and persuaded my 
dear friend and colleague C.M. Spratt to join me. we 
joined him early in the next year, ... "163 

Roberts was interested in mission work: "When I 
first joined the first Bishop in England as his first 
volunteer in 1878, I had stipulated that I should 

devote myself solely to native work in the new Dio­
cese, but wh~n w·e arrived in Pretoria the Bishop 
announced to me that it could not be done, as owing 
to his meagre staff he required me for white work, 

ul64 

Bousfield met Charles Muskett Spratt at S.P.G. in 
London and was impressed: " ... he had a pleasant, 
gentlemanly bearing which seemed to commend him for 
Colonial Service, where I believe that [sic] is a 
justly assumed jealously of being put off with inferior 

162A. Roberts , The genesis of the diocese of Pretoria , South Africa, MSS, f.17, 
Alfred Roberts Papers, CPSA Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa. 

163A. Roberts, "Sermon to commemorate 50 years jubilee of ordination," TS, p.3, 
Alfred Roberts Papers, CPSA Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa. 

164A. Roberts, "The foundation of the Native Mission in Pretoria," TS, p.l., 
Alfred Roberts Pape rs, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, Sou t h Africa. 
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workers, & men of rough & coarse manners. I took 
to Spratt, & hope I shall have him, the bitter herb 
of a Colonial Bishop's lot in candidates failing at 
last, has entered largely into mine already."165 

Bousfield wanted both Spratt and Roberts to continue 
their education and advised Spratt to take various 
textbooks with him to the Transvaa1.l66 

Bousfield invited Spratt to live in the house in 
Andover from the Monday after his consecration: "My 
desire would be that you should have time for reading 
& some 2 or 4 hours daily of parish work if you could 
do it; my aim being to secure you some insight into 
what I regard as the true way of working a parish."167 

To Roberts Bousfield wrote: "My own consecration is 
to be on S. Paul's Day ... after which if there be no 
legal or other hindrance, I might be able to make 
arrangements for ord~ining you, if first you would 
arrange either to come & see a little English Parish 
work with me, or elsewhere.ttl68 

Bousfield received a favourable testimonial on Roberts 
from the Rev O.M. Fielden. " ... in the meantime I 
should like either to have him here under my own eye, 
or if not able to accomplish this to know that he was 

working well under some other Clergyman .... Could 
you, & his other friends, in any way assist him for a 
time by clothing, or pocket money etc. Every little 
would help."169 Bousfield asked S.P.G. for financial 

help in supporting his two Augustinian students until 
they sailed or could get someone to help them.170 
This was to be one of the first of many pleas for 
financial aid from S.P.G. 

165H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Kewley, 1878-01-04, Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archive 
Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

166H.B. Bousfield, Letter to C.M. Spratt, 1878-01-08, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

167H.B. Bousfield, Letter to C.M. Spratt, 1878-01-22, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

l68H.B. Bousfield, Letter to A. Roberts, 1878-01-04, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

l69H.B. Bousfield, Letter to O. M. Fielden, 1878-01-22, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

l]OH.B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1878-01-21, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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On Trinity Sunday, 1878-06-16, the Bishop ordained 

C.M. Spratt and A. Roberts as deacons in the Parish 

Church of Andover.1 71 On the second page of his new 

Acta book Bousfield inscribed that Alfred Roberts and 
Charles Muskett Spratt . had on Saturday 1878-06-15 

taken their oath of canonical obedience to Henry 

Brougham Bousfield, signed a written declaration and 
that on Sunday 1878-06-16 he had ordained them 
deacon.172 

Even before his consecration Bousfield had formulated 
a plan of using itinerating clergymen in the Transvaal 

rural districts. "I should propose to take him [Spratt] 

with me, for the present, on what I shall consider my 

personal staff, & for a name call Chaplains . i.e. as 

one of a body of Clergy who will be at my disposal 
for the present until permanent posts are provided 

for them probably at h~adquarters in Pretoria, doing 

[?) our first duty on Sunday etc or on the [Eastern 
Transvaal] Gold Fields."173 

Educational work 
The Bishop also had to find suitable staff for his 
proposed ecclesiastical - educational work. In a 

letter to a prospective clergyman he said he would be 

able to offer 1200 - ~300 p.a. for a period to work 

during the week in the Boys' schoolroom, building it 

up to a Diocesan School . On Sundays he would be 

expected to do clerical duty and also continue the 

services in Pretoria when the bishop was absent.174 

The Bishop also wished to start a better class girls' 
school. "There are three ladies well competent to 

give sound education to young gentlewomen in England, 

and therefore to a better class of Colonists abroad, 
as well as to any others."175 

171110n tramp for Pretoria," Net, 1878-08-01, p.114. 
172tt .B. Bousfield, Acta Book~SS, Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits , 

Johannesburg, South Africa . 
173H . B. Bous field, Letter to Kemp, 1878-01-04, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
174H. B. Bousfield, Letter to D. Hackey, 1878-04-18 (Good Friday), Bousfield 

Collec tion, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
1751100 tramp for Pretoria," Net, 1878-08-01, p. 114. 
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The Bishop appears to have thought d0e~ly about how 

he was to run his diocese. His lack of staff was a 
handicap, but it seems ether people were interested 
in working under him. "A student of s·t. John•~ College, 
Cambridge, is to follow, after taking his degree at 

Christmag, and negotiations are now going on with a 

Priest of some three years' standing, and with a 
beneficed clergyman also, as to going with them. 

These last would indeed be a ~trength. Men of Univer­

sity education, and a few years' Engli s h experience, 
would be to the young Church the greatest possible 
treasur-e. 0 176 

Not one of. these men materialised. After money, the 
lack of good, educatec staff was to be the Bishop's 
greatest p~obiem. 

Members 

The mission party finally consisted of 

H.B. Bousf1eld, his wife and 3 Children 
The Thu rgcods - their servants 

Emma Hayw~rd - the children's ~anny 
Elizabeth Dowling - school teacher 
Ellen Lamb - school teacher 
Alfred Roberts - deacon 
Charles Spratt - deacon 

Frank Dowling - an ordination candidate 
Henry Adams - an ordination ca.ndidate. 

Reasons for the del_!Y 

In an article in Netl77 the Bishop wrote that his 
departure had been delayed in order to 

collect money 

assemble staff 

arrange for 3 house in Pretoria for hi3· family. 
By the time the article was published in Net 

negotiations for the purchase of a house were in 
progress. The Oishop saw the Bishop's Palace as 
being the spirit~al centre of the diocese. 

176110n tramp for Prctorie," Net, 137d-0S-Ol , p. l14 . 
177110n the road to Pretoria," Net, 1878-05-01, p.65-66 . 



The Transvaal Mission Party taken at Andover July 1878 

Back row: H. Adams, C.H. Spratt, F. Dowling 
Seated: E. Lamb, E. Dowling, Mrs Bousfield, the Bishop 
On ground: Hugh Bousfield, Harry Bousfield, A. Roberts 
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Bous£ield refused to rs~ign his Andover post and sc 

lose the house until the problem~ over th2 conveyance 
of their Pretoria' house had been solved.178 

The Bishop found out unexpectedly in J~ne 1878 that they 
would have to travel on 1878-08-08. However he would 

not change his plans until he had ret~~ned to Andover 
and had spoken to his wife on Saturda~ 30th. June.179 

"Danube " 

The Uninn St~am Ship Company•~ Stearner, "Danube" set 

sail f=om Southampton on 1878-08-08. Its passenger 

list h~d an "odour .of sanctity". As w~ll as the 
Bishop of Pretoria, Macrori~, Bishop of M?.rit~~urg: 
Green, Dean of Maritzburg and their parties and J.W. 

Alington who was to head the Zulu missior. from 
Utrecht, w~re ~n board.180 Bousfield had d~cided to 

travel by the Union St~amers as their direct ro•Jte tc 
Durban was more convenient for his larg~ party or 

adults and children.181 The r9utc through 9elagoa 
Bay, the other way ·to the Transvaal, was consi1cr~d 
impracticable.182 

The Bishop claimed that he went to the Tra.r.E 11aa-l 

without sufficient money (i.e. iS 000 in~lead of the 

planned £10 000) or trained staff for schc01 or hospit~l 
work because advisors felt that the uns·ett.:.~J 3tate 

of South Africa, especially through ~he Zu!u War, 
required a bi she;? in t:he Transvaal. Typically, BousfieHi 
blamed others. ",\iy judgement was, however, again 

surrendered to those who seemed entitled to guide 
me."183 

Bousfield realised that once his family sailed for 

Africa it would be many years before they returned to 
Britain so for three weeks before they left they went 

178s f" ld s· 8 ous 1e , 1x years ... , p .. 
l7~H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Collier, 1878-07-01, Bousfield Collec~ion, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
lS~union Steam Ship Company, List c,; p-1sscngcrs per Royal Hail Steamer. "Danube" 

1678-~8-06, Southampton: A. Dyer, 18 73, Bousfield Collection, Stat~ Library, 
Pre t~ria . 

t81H.B. Bousfield, Letter to D. Curri~, 1878-02-07, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Atr.i.ca. 

182110n the road to Pr.etoria, 11 Net, 1878-05-01, p.66. 
183sousfield, Six years ... , F-~ 
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to see the sights in and near London~l84 On Wedne~day 

1878-08-07 Bousfield ministered for the last time at 

Andover.and , the next day sailed for his new diocese.185 

Every parish Bousfield had worked in sent some members 
to bid farewell to them.186 

Before leaving Britain the Bishop's eyesight beg~n to 

fail, due h~ felt, to overuse undP.r actificial light. 

He decided that, once aboard the D~nube, he would 

read as much as possible during the day and after the 

light had gone he would walk an1 talk on the deck. 

He spent time in intercessory prayer :~or the parishes 

in which he had worked.187 Church services we-re 

held, ·with daily Morning and Evening Prayer in the 

saloon.188 Holy Communion was celebrated on Su:1days. 

The child~en and young men continued with thei: educa­
tion. Bousf:ield attended to his boys and the males 

of the party: ff when I was on deck, [!] was able 
to make some little pickings a.t Dutch or. Sr.:ch=.1ana 

while k~~ping my b6ys & young men to £OffiE mea3ure of 

work."189 The Bousfield girls wer~ taught by Miss 
Dowling and their mother.190 

The Danube callea at Cape St Vincen·t i~ the Cape 

Verde Islands on Sunday 1878-08-18 tc bunk~r.191 

After leaving the C~pe Verde Islands the Danube was 

at sea for nearly three weeks before calling at Port 

Elizabeth. Bousfield and the other clerical passen­

gers disembarked on the Saturday and preached at the 

Port Elizabeth Churche3.192 Macrorie preached at St 

Mary's on Sunday morning and Bousfield in the evening. 

At Trinity Dean Green preached in the morning and 

184F.R. Bousficld, "Diary describin£ voyage on the Danube out to South Africa 
1318," TS, p.l, Bousfield Collection, State Library, Pretoria, South Africa. 

185sousficld, Six Years ... , p.~. 
!.8611En route for Pretoria," Net, 1878-12-01, p.190 
187 f ' 1 • -11 Bous ~e d, S1x years ... , p .. 
l881bid. , p. 11. 

iB9H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1878-09-20, D Collection, U5?G Archives, 
Lo:iJon, Britain. 

190r.R. Bousfield, "Diary ... ," TS, p.l. 
191 .d 2 Ib1 . , p. . 
l92rbid., p.2. 
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Macror ie in the evening. At St Pau,l • s Al ing ton 

preached in the morning and Dean GrP.en in the evening. 
At the fourth Port Elizabeth Church, St Peter'~. 

Bousfield preached.in the morning ~nd-Alington in the 
evening. Of this feast of ser:nons the Chµrch Ne~·:s 

wrote: "The whole of . the services were attended by 
large congregations."193 

In the preface to a printed sermon preached on 

1874-11-08 Bousfield gave his attitude to written 

sermon~. ffThe writer 'dislikes writt~n sermons because 
he dislikes eJ<tempore sermons.' 11 194 which is meaning­
less as extempore means without prep~ration 0r without 

notes. The ~hurch News gives us an outline of a 

sermor. preache.d by Bousfield. As he usual!y preached 
extempc,re, • and this report is the only o:--:e •.?>:tent 
from the period covered by this resea!'.'ch, it is given 

in full. "The choral service at S. Mary's was hGartily 
rendered by choir and people, and the Bishcp t0ok as 
his text '.l\n<:l he took the mantle of Elijah wi!l.-.::h fell 
from him and ~rr.ote the waters and said, where Ls the 

Lord God of Elijah?' He viewed Elisha's suo~~ssion 

to. his great p:eoecessor's office a~ typic~l cf the 
Apostles receiving power from on high to rule a~d 

govern Christ's Church in His name when He h~d ascen­
ded into heaven. !n faith Elisha grasped th~ mantle 

of Elijah which i'~.U from him and wrought n1ir .. 3cles 

even as he had ao~e. so upon Christ's Church at the 
Day of Pentecost fell our Saviour's mantle with power 

and authority to carry on His work by preaching His 
Gospel to all nations until the world's king1oms 
became the kingdom of our Lord and of His Christ. 

The Bishop eloquently set forth th~ grand historic 

position of the English Church spreading ov~r empires 
through her daugpte~ Churches the faith of Christ. 

He then briefly e!luded to his future work in the 
Transvaal trusting ~hat he should be sustained by the 
prayers and sympaLhy of all who realised thP.ir vast 

responsibilities as Christians in South Af~ica. He 

l9l"Thc arrival of th.e Bishops of Marit:,:burg and Pretoria etc., 11• Church News, 
number ll2, 1878-10, p.3. 

l94H.B. Bousfield, Zion's builders, London: Simpkin & Marshall, (s.a.}, p.4. 
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forcibly expressed his conviction that mission work 
in South Africa, to be successful, must be carried on 

by the prayers and alms of the Church of this Province, 

and that our portion of the responsibility to our 

heathen neighbours can only be adequately grasped by 
ourselves."195 

Charles Spratt also disembarked at Port Elizabeth and 

was sent inland, " ... where his ministry was very 
acceptable, I heard."196 

A public meeting was held in the Port Elizabeth Town 
Hall on Monday evening, 1878-09-09, to welcome the 

two Bishops and clergymen from the Danube. Bousfield 

as a newcomer to South Africa was especially welcomed. 

or. Wirgman, in his talk, explained that mission was 

the duty of the South African Church and should not 

be supported solely from the English Church. In an 

address read by Wirgman the Port Elizabeth clergy 

made it quite clear that they realised the arduousness 

of Bousfield's work in the Transvaal and his duty to 

undertake mission work: "Our mission work in this 

province is a cause near to the heart of our Metro­

politan and Bishops, and we trust and hope that our 

direct missionary efforts may be blessed with increase 

in every Diocese. Your Lordship will recognise the 

fact that South Africa must be Christianized through 

the prayers and alms of our people, and that it is . 
therefore of.primary necessity that the Clergy through­

out the province should rouse their flocks to a sense 

of this, their duty. A wise and beneficent class 

legislation, that would judiciously wean our native 

neighbours from their heathenish customs and practices, 

and teach them a loyal obedie~ce to the laws of England, 
would solve our native question in the Christianity 

and gradual civilization of the heathen around us. 

Our people must be taught the responsibilities of our 

race in this country as guardians in our maturity of 

a race in its infancy of developement (sic]"l97 

19511The arrival of the Bishops of Haritzburg and Pretoria etc.," Church News, 
number 132, 1878-10, p . 3. 

19611Pretoria (Transvaal)," Mission Field, 1878-12-02, p.573. 
19711The arrival of the Bishops of Haritzburg and Pretoria etc . , .. Church News, 

number 132, 1878-10, p.4. 
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Bousfield in his address explained why in spite of 
problems such as a lack of money and an excess of 

children, he had accepted the see: "He was glad that 

he had done so, for the first thing that had struck 

him on landing was the heathendom on the beach. we, 
as Englishmen, had taught aborigines to labour, to 

trade, but alas! we had also taught them to curse 

and swear. Yes: he saw souls labouring for England 

and for Englishmen, but had England laboured for 

them? Now what a blessed work it would be to train 
these natives for Christ."198 

In spite of these noble words little mission work was 

attempted for a number of years in the Transvaal: "A 

Churchman who heard me told me some time afterwards 

in Pretoria, that his heart sank as he heard me, and 

that he went home sorrowful, feeling how thoroughly 

my life, and the lives of all belonging to me, were 
being thrown away. 11 199 

2.8.2.l At Durban 

The Danube reached Durban on 1878-09-12 and in 

spite of a bad swell the majority of passengers, 

including Bousfield and the Captain, landed. The 
next day the swell worsened to such an extent 

that neither the Captain nor Bousfield could get 

back on board and there was even talk of taking 

the Danube, with the mission party on board, out 

to sea again but this did not happen. On Saturday 

14th September the party disembarked.200 

Luggage 
The landing of the luggage caused problems as it 

could only be taken off the Danube on two days of the 

week. Some of the luggage was offloaded but someone 
had to be at the Point to sort through it all and 

remove what belonged to the Pretoria Mission Party. 

Finally everything possible was discharged and the 

19811The arrival of the Bishops of Maritzburg and Pretoria etc., 11
' Church News, 

number 132, 1878-10, p.4-5. 

199sousfield , Six years . . . , p.11. 
200 f ' ld 110 · " 2 ., F.R. Bous 1e , 1ary ... , p. -J. 
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Danube left with the rest of the luggage, including 

unfortunately most of the things needed for the wagon 

journey into the interior.201 "Any one who has had 

very much trouble.in getting luggage through a 
Customs-house in England, if he will multiply his 

utmost trouble by the number of miles from Southamp­

ton to Durban, may conceive some idea of getting the 

luggage of nineteen people over 'the Point' at Durban 
in that marvellously exceptional time, as Natalians 
tell us, September and October, 1878.«202 

After a month's delay, most of their luggage was 
retrieved from the Danube on her return to Durban. 

Cato, their agent, arranged for the storage of the 

boxes until the wagons could return to collect them.203 

The author of Rosmarine,204 the history of St Ethel­

dreda's School, had access to a diary, possibly kept 

by Ellen Lamb. Against the entry for 1879-08-25, a 

year later, it is noted that the remainder of their 

luggage had arrived, some pieces had gone on to 

Australia and others returned to England before 

reaching them . 205 Even in March 1879 the Bishop was 

having trouble with the luggage; Cato, his Durban 

agent, claimed he had not paid for the freight from 

the Point to Cato's store. The Bishop was upset ~s 
he disliked bad debts and had paid Cato's employee.206 

Even on the overland route luggage was lost: Spratt's 
luggage went missing between Howick and Estcourt.207 

On the first Sunday in Durban the Bishop followed an 
energetic programme similar to that at Port Elizabeth. 

In the morning he celebrated Communion at St Cyprian's 
before going to the Umgeni where Gordon had a small 

201 11En Route for Pretoria , 11 Net , 1878-12-01 , p.190-191. 
202H. B. Bousfield, "En route~ Pretoria , " Mis.sion Field, 1878-06-02, p. 260. 
203Bousfield, Six years ... , p.12-13. 
20~sister Juliana, . Rosmarine , London: Mowbray, 1913 . 
2051bid . , p.204. 
206H. B. Bousfield , Letter to G. Cato, 1879-03-22, Bousfie ld Collec tion, CPSA 

Archive s , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
207H.B. Bousfield, Letter to G. Cato, 1879-03-24, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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church. At the 11 c1.m. service he " . . . read the 

lessons &nd preached from the first {Lesson] 2 ~ings 
v.15 - according to one of my heare~s, 'sending ev~ry 
one home with a fitting cap,' which they seem, however, 
to have.worn with pleasure, and I hope it may prove, 
profit. 11 208 

He pre~ched through an interpreter at the Zulu chapel 
at 4 p.m. and again at St Cyprian's at Evening Prayer. 

2.9 The journey to ~Ji~ Transvaal 

2.9.l 

2.9.2 

Plannir:.9 

The Bi~hop,. es a talented organiser, had obtain~d 

advice from the knowledgeable before le~ving B:itain 
on ox-wagon tr~vel in South Africa. ~Befcr~ leaving 
London, the Bisho~ had taken such coun5e! ~~ h~ cculd 
obtain, and m~de the best provision thc1t he could f0r 

the lon; land journey in·bullock-~aggor.s - some 400 

miles - from Durban to Pretoria. Sundry stor~-lanterns, 
supposed to ~urn steadily however mllch tha win-.! raight 
blow, and wat".!rproof sheets ·for those who - had to 

sleep upon th~ ground, were duly provided ~~d c~re-
fully packed in a case clearly markeJ 'Fe~ the Journey,' 
wherein also wer~ blankets for the young w.~r. of the 

party. But alas for human foresight! Whe~ ~~ arrived 

in Natal, after long delays and much unrom~~:ic trouble 
to secure the ba~g~ge, ... the ship could wait no 

longer! ... So she left with much luggage undischarged, 
and amongst others th~ said cases 'for the journey' 
of our Mission party!"209 

To Howick 

The easiest part of the journey was the train ride to 

Pinetown. There they met up with the wagons and oxen 
which were to t~k~ them the 350 miles to Pr~toria.210 
The imminence of the Zulu War and drought had pushed 

up the price of wagons and oxen. Law, pri~~t at 
Pretoria, had es timated that the journey ~~ould cost 

l700 but Bousfield exceeded this estimate. The wagons 

20811 Prctoria (Transvaal)." M1· s s 1'on F1·e1_ .... 1878 12 02 573 • 'J, - - ' p. . 
209sousfield, Six years ... , p.78-79. 

210F . R. Bousfield, "Diary . .. ," p . J. 
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cost 3.120 instead of ciBO and oxen $.11 i nstec:1d of iS. 

Oxen w~t~h died were replaced at an even higher 
pr ice. 211 ,lli /1.·883\ reminiscing, the . Bishop ~aid that 

the journey e~entually cost him f2 600 but this figure 
may be ~xuggerated.212 

The trek began on Saturday 1878-09-2!.213 Sundays 
were usually kept as days of rest with the services 

for the party being attended by the English speaki•~g 
people of the neighbourhood.213 A portable altar was 

used for Cornm,rnion, with a flagon and paten given by 
11 a kind clei: ical neighbour at .~ndover for colonial 
use. n215 

Macror ie had travelled up to Pieterma·r. i tzburg lm:11e­
diately after 1eaving the Danube at Durban ~ He met 

the Pretor1a party on the outskirts of Pietermaritz~urg 
and took one of th~ children and Miss Dowling bcick.216 

When they r~ached the city in the evening of 1878-09-25, 

the wagons were out.spanned in an empty ec·f a~ the 
Bishop could not afford hotel bills. -;:.17 "1:he p.3rt:y 

remained in Pietermar itzburg for tfro:ee wP.e)c;. 2H3 On 

the first Monday in Pietermaritzburg Spratt and Roberts 
left the party and walked to Estcourt and· Ladysmith 
respectively wne>:-e· they had been invi led to learn 
Colonial ways.219 

Sir Bartle Frere ~;;,.:ls in Pietermaritzburg at this time 
and the Bishop and hi$ wife were invited to dinner 

' one night.220 A friendship was struck up between the 

two men and Sir Bart!e did his best for the Pretoria 
diocese for the rP.st of his life. In December 1880 

Sir Bartle spoke at a meeting held in the Schoolroom 

~11H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., i878-ll-08, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

212 .. The Church in the Transvaal," Occasional paper of the diocese :of P!"etoria , 
ncmber 6, 1883-05, p.53. 

2DF.R. Bousficld, "Diary . . . ," p.J. 
21411En route for Pretoria," Net, 167$-'!2-0l, p . 191-192. 
215eousficld, Six years ... , p.81. 
216lbid., p.83. ~,· -- . 
_; .. ?uEn route tor Pretoria," Net, 1878-1:-01, p.192. 
218Bousfield, Six years ... , p.84-85. 
21911En route for Pretoria," Net, 1878-12-')1, p.192. 
220F.R. Bousficld, "Diary .. ~ p.4. 
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at St James lte Less, WestminRter, and described his 

first meetings with the Bishop: "It was a few days 
after he la~ded that I met him, and I found him 

between two waggo11s which conta-ined his baggage, 
• I 

etc., together with his children and·thqse whv went 

to assist him. They were all pitched in the open 

plain in a s1nall space within view of Pieter-maritzburg, 
and the Bishop was adjusting the co?er of the waggons 
with hi1S· own hands. After a detention cau·sed by want 

of oxe~, he pcoceeded on his journey, and it would be , 
very difficult for you to imagine what hard work it 
was for the Dishop to get his waggon out of Pi~t~r­
maritzburg and on to the high mountains which l~ad 
towards the Transvaal. I was able to follow him in a 
few days, ar.d ! found him surmounting ii hi} . .l ·i',2C-{) 

feet high, wh~re he was obliged to put on what are 

called do~ble spans, twelve oxen to ~ach waggon to 
trek th~m to the top of the hill."221 

The Pi:eto.r .i.a Missio•n party had to le~ve P iet~ ::mar i tzburg 

as there was r.o food for the oxen. Shears, the clergy­
man at Howick. told th~m there was grass ano water 
there which d~cided them to move.222 The drought 
caused them many weeks'delay. Alington ·~escribcd to 

Jones the effect of th2 drought on i~atal wh~:~ he saw 

it on his way from D~rban to Utrecht. "You cio~btless 
know how Natal & ~ululand & I believe some of the 
Transvaal are suffering from drought the usual rains 
are delayed as durir~ several years only with a more 

severe effect. The hills all round Maritzburg look 
as dry & brown as ploughed fields. There h~s been a 
little rain - thundershowers, but .no downpour such as 

we saw at Port Elizabeth. It is a matter oE more 
serious difficulty to the B[isho]p of PretoriQ with 

his large party. They are most of them still here, & 
he has already lost 5 of his oxen."223 

221 11Sir Bartle Frere on the Transv:ial," Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretc.ri 
number 1, 1881-01, p . 17. 

:22sousfield, Six years ... , p.85. 

223J.W. Alington, Letter to W.W. Jcnes, 1878-10-12, Collection of -the Archbishops 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Afri_ca .. 
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The Bishop was forced to use borrowed oxen to move 
the wagons up to Howick and even there the oxen con­
tinued to die.224 The first wagon went up on Friday 
18th October and the second on Monday 21st. Alington 
called in at the Bousfield camp. "Poor B[isho]p of 

Pretoria & Party. I saw all of them on my way down 
[to Pietermaritzburg). His wagons are not further 
than Howick, 12 miles beyond P[ieter]m(aritz]b[ur]g! 
I heard he was very depressed but found him ab[ou]t 
as cheerful as ever."225 

Because of the problems caused by the drought in 
Natal, a day of humiliation and intercession for rain 
was proclaimed on 1878-11-06. "From that day rain 
fell every day for a month. Grass soon began to 
appear, ... n226 

In a letter to S.P.G. Law says that when he received 
a letter from the Bishop telling him that they had 
come to a halt at Howick he wrote suggesting that the 
Bishop send up a clerical replacement to Pretoria for 
him so that he could come to help the party: "I don't 

pretend to be thoroughly up in ox ~aggon travelling 
- But my two years experience would I think be a help 
to him - You little know at home - the discomforts he 
has to put up with~ And let me tell you that every­

one I have met who has travelled much says that this 
is without exception the worst country to travel in. 
Till you know the ways & means & dodges."227 

Law's suggestion was not taken up, possibly because 
the Bishop had no spare clergyman as his only two 

deacons were in Estcourt and Ladysmith. The Bishop 
did consider leaving the party: "My mind has been 
much exercised as to leaving my party on the road, & 

pushing on to Pretoria alone, but as the expense 
would be very great, & they could not travel on alone 
without head and guide, and once in the Transvaal 

224H.B . Bousfield, "En route to Pretoria," Mission Field, 1879-06-02, p.260. 
225J.W. Alington, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1878-12-03, Collection of the Archbishops 

of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
226s • J 1 • • R • 9 1ster u 1ana, osmar1ne . . . , p .. 
227A.J. Law. Letter to S.P .G., 1878-11-14, D Collection, USPG Archives, London, 

Britain. 
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all our difficulties are said to be at an end, I 
shall perhaps now be able to manage without it, ... "228 

The people of Pretoria, realizing that the drought 
had increased the cost of the journey, sent £ 57 10s 
and an address of welcome.229 

From Howick to Pretoria 

When at last the grass grew and the oxen fattened the 

Pretoria Mission Party set off from Howick on 
1878-12-03230 231Luckily the Bishop met Tom Hodgson, 

a transport driver, who was taking light wagons up 

country and he undertook to get them safely to 
Pretoria.232 

Along the way the party was met by Lieut. Flack with 
a message from Macrorie, asking if Spratt could be 

allowed to take care of Estcourt whilst Smith, their 
clergyman, was Chaplain to the troops.233 Spratt was 

accordingly left behind in N·atal. 

The party was joined by a Mrs Jacob, a young widow 

from Durban with teaching experience. Mrs Bousfield 

says that she joined them by prior arrangement as 

they passed through Estcourt: " ... so we had to part 
with him [Spratt] once more and on we trekked looking 

for another now to join us viz. Mrs Jacob, before 

meeting her we had to pass the Moorde Spruit ... 

shortly after this Mrs Jacob rode up and very glad . we 
were to have her."234 

Roberts was collected as they passed through Ladysmith. 
Christmas Day was spent at Coldstream River and 

Hotel.235 The next day, St Stephen's Day, they 
entered the Transvaal and the Bishop sent a short 

228H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G . , 1878-11-08, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

229rbid . 
230c.E. Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield's narrative of a journey from Pietennaritzburg 

to Pretoria, 11 TS . , p . 2 , Bousfield Collection, State Library, Pretoria, South Africa . 
231Bousfield , Six years . .. , p.14, says they left on Tuesday 1878-12-10 but this 

is incorrect. 
232aousfield, Six years . .. , p.14. 
233c.E. Bousfield, "Narrative ... ," p.2 . 
234Ibid., p.3 . 
235H .B. Bousfield, "En route to Pretoria," Mission Field, 1879-06-02, p.265. 
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pastoral letter to the several congregations and 

clergymen in his diocese.236 Once in the Transvaal 

Hodgson took them off the main road on to what he 

felt was a shorter and easier route.237 Travelling 

off the beaten track presented problems in obtaining 

fresh food. The Bishop wrote to a friend in Andover: 

"You would have been amused to see Miss Lamb (who has 

been our housekeeper -.cats eyes we call her - and 
therefore always had her eyes open to see a farm 

where we might get milk or bread) ... "238 

Journey's end 

By Monday 1879-01-06 they were nearing Pretoria. 

Coming across a German Mission Station, they entered 

and the school children sang a song for them.239 They 

approached Pretoria fro~ the east through Silverton. 
At their last campsite Law, Wyon and Lagden came to 

meet them. Lagden in his laconic diary noted: 

"Tuesday Jan[uary] 7 (1879) Went out with Law and 

Wyon to meet the Bishop. Helped him unload etc."240 

Nearer Pretoria several other people joined them 
including Advocate Cooper, Judge Kotze and Rider 

Haggard. Rider Haggard remembered the scene years 

later: " in the company of sundry of the inhabi-

tants of the town I rode out to assist at the presen­

tation of an address of welcome to the travel-stained 

party, then arriiing after their long trek from Natal, 

which in those days took more than a month to accom­
plish. If my memory serves me right, especially did 

we admire one of them, Miss Lamb, who, we were informed, 

had walked all the way from Maritzburg, a distance of 
several hundred miles."241 

Judge Kotze also·recalled the meeting. Bousfield 

introduced his wife as the Archbishop which Kotze 

236r have not been able to trace chis. 
237H.B . Bousfield, "En route co Pretoria," Miss ion Field , 1879-06-02, p . 266. 
238H.B. Bous field, Letter co A. Clarke , 1879-01-06, in private ownership, 

R. Keel, Horsham, Surrey, Britain. 
239c t· ld "N • " 12 . E. Bous Le , arr at Lve ... , p. . 
240G.Y. Lagden, Diary 1878, MS, Lagden Papers, MSS Af.s 143, Rhodes House 

Library, Oxford, Britain. 
241s · 1 - • • • • 1ster Ju Lana, Rosmar1ne .. . , p . v111 . 
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found facetious. He described the Bf~hc~ as of" ... 

fresh, handson,e and dignified appearun ce , full of 

assurance and self-sufficiency."242 

As there was about an hour to spare whjie the l adies 
of the committz e prepared lunch, Cooper suggested 

that they drive the Bishop and hi s wif~ into Pretoria 

and arouncl the town to orientate them. The y crossed 

the Aapies Aiver at the present Lion Bridge. "As we 

crossed the river at Meintj ez Drift 1 observed: 'Bishop, 

you are now within the town.' In answ~r to my remark 

the Bisnop exclaimed: 'Pretor ic:, henceforth thou art 

a cityr for I &mi~ thee!' Cooper nudged my knee and 

flicke ..l the horses, while I was highly a!'nnsec, and 

satisfied that - I had correctly sized up ou~ new friend. 

The ab0ve episcopal remark is a good index to the 

character of Dr. so·usf ield, both as a bi ~~ hop a:1c. =1 

man. And yet, as time rcilled by, we bec~me v~ry good 

friends, for I liked the Bishop, becaus~ of the hu~,a;1 

side of him."243 The Dishop describ~1 Pr~to ri ~ as a 

very large viJ l c39e trying too hard to be a ·t~•"·n. 2-! 4 

Their journey ~a3 wryly described by the Bi~r.~p: 

"All agree that cur experiences of South Africa are 
·exceptionally sevtre, and the season al~ogeth~r unpre­

cedented. I can o~ly say i hope no one may ever have 

the same to endure. Ne mother and cHi.ldren ought to 

have such to go t~rough."245 

Mrs Bousfield , aft.er her drenching time in ttie wagons 

descr ibed Bi s hop's Cote thus: "It is clean and dry 

overhead, more I cannot say; ... " 246 In her story of 

the journey she wrote of their home i n Proe~ Street: 

"Our house though much out of repa~ r is fairly commo­

dious & has a nice garden or rathe r will have ~hen it 

is put in a l ittl e order." 247 

24~J. Kotze, Biographical memoirs and ~eminiscences, Cape Town: :!askew Hiller , 
[ s . a. ! , p. 554. 

24Jrbid., p.556. 

7.44H.B. Bousfie ld, Letter to A. Clarke, 1878- 01-12, in private own~rship, 
R. K~el , Horsham, Surrey, Britain. 

24511Pretoria (Transvaal)," Mi ssion Fi.z lcl, 1879-03-01, p.120. 

246"rirst im pressions of P~etoria," N~t: 1879-04-01, p. 60. 
247c . E. Bousfield, " Narrat ive .. >•, p~·!.3. 
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The Bishop was more severe: "It is a long, low 
cottage, with rose hedge all round the garden, and a 

verandah along about half the front, standing amidst 

gum-trees and willows. It wants much repair and some 

addition before it will hold the Bishop's family, and 
the garden is a wilderness at present, ... 11 248 

On Thursday, 1879-01-09, a day of thanksgiving was 

set aside for the safe arrival of the Bishop and his 

party. Many people joined them249 at the service at 

St Alban's. The Sunday morning service was so crowded 

with the curious that people were forced to stand for 
the whole time. In his sermon the Oishop invited all 

to "make use, abundant use, of the privileges he had 
come to head." 250 

After being scrutinised by Pretoria at the Thursday 

and Sunday Services, Mrs Bousfield awaited the visits 

of the ladies of the parish. The arrival of the 

Bishop and his family was a topic of gossip and the 

people were anxious to know, "What are they like?" 

This is a typical example of an answer to this ques­
tion: " ... the Bishop & party has arrived. I have 

not seen them yet but if fine this afternoon I mean 

to call, a very nice lunch was prepared & set out in 

their own house by the ladies of the Congregation. 

It has been raining nearly ever since they came. 

Perhaps they wish themselves back in their comfor­

table home in England only he would not then be a 

Bishop. 

"Friday Mor[nin]g 10th. Well I called to see (the] 
Bishop & family. I like Mrs Bousfield very much. She 

is a Lady of winning manners with 5 sweet little 
girls."251 

The Pretoria laity soon knew that their energetic 
Bishop had arrived. "On arriving in Pretoria I 

248H.B. Bousfield, "En route co Pretoria , 11 Mis s ion Field, 1879-06-02, p.267. 
249c E B f • ld "N • 11 12 .. ous 1e , arrat1ve . . . , p .. 
2SO"First impressions of Pretoria," Net, 1879-04-01, p.60. 
2S1Mrs McCorkendale, Lette r to K. Forbes , 1879-01-09, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
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made immediate arrangements for daily services, at 

6.15 a.m. and 5.15 p.m.; for the singing of the 

Litany, with celebration only once a fortnight at 

9 . 15; for public catechising at the 5 p.m. service 
on Sundays; and for a celebration on all Holy Days 

at 9. I cannot report good attendance at these services, 

but there is a small steady attendance at the two 

most novel, and most important in my judgment - the 

weekly Communion at 9, and the catechising at 5."252 

2.10 Diocesan staff 

What was the state of the Diocese of Pretoria when its Bishop 
first arrived? 

Congregation 

Pretoria 

Potchefstroom 

Rustenburg 

Zeerust 

Lydenburg 

In the party were: 

H.B. Bousfield 
A. Roberts 

C.M. Spratt 

F. Dowling 

H. Adams 

Clergyman 

A.J. Law 
priest 

William 
Richardson 
priest 

J.P. Richardson 
deacon 

H. Sadler 
priest 

J. Thorne 
deacon 

bish?P 
deacon 
deacon 

Buildings 

Church 
Law lived in own 

house. 
Wilkinson's house 

but he had the 
title deeds. 

Church and 
Parsonage 

Church 

Church 

Parsonage Church 
in building253 

layman - training for deacon's orders 

layman - training for deacon's orders 

There were three women to start educational work: 
E. Lamb E. Dowling Mrs Jacob 

At the head of these people Bousfield set out to organise his 
diocese on a sound legal and ecclesiastical footing. 

252H.B. Bousfield, "En route to Pretoria," Mission Field, 1879,06-02, p. 267. 
253H.B. Bousfield, S.P.C. returns, 1878-12-14, D Collection, USPG Archives, 

London, Britain. 
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CHAPTER THREE 

THE DIOCESE OF PRETORIA UNTIL THE WAR OF 
INDEPENDENCE: INITIAL ORGANISATION 

3.1 The arrival of their Bishop 

Thorne of Lydenburg wrote of Bousfield: "The reports which 

have reached us from Pretoria of his earnest and plain-spoken 

discourses give us the assurance th~t at length we have a chief 

pastor who will be blessed of God as an instrument in the revival 

of His work. It is a new thing in the Transvaal to have a 

preacher who unites ~old and unflinching truth-speaking with 

ecclesiastical position and authority. The Bishop will not 

gain immediate popularity by the course he is adopting among a 

people who have long been used to walk as they list, but, under 

God, he may help greaily towards the salvation of the country."l 

Bousfield had already planned the organisation of his diocese. 
He intended to: 

Build a cathedral in Pretoria. 

Establish two schools, to be called St Birinus' for boys 

and St Etheldreda's for girls. 

Organise the services at Pretoria. 

Spend much of his time travelling from settlement to settle­

ment organising the congregations. 

Use deacon-schoolmasters to try and make the work self­
supporting. This meant that the clergy would be teaching 

school in preference to mission work. 

Use itinerant clergymen to scattered communities too small 

to warrant a resident priest. 

Attempt mission work only if men could be released from 
other work. This meant that work among Whites and financial 

self-sufficiency would have preference over mission work. 

l 11En route to Pretoria," Mission Field, 1879-06-02, p. 269. 
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Life in Pretoria was much harder than in Britain. The women 
did work done by servants in Britain, which horrified Sir Garnet 
Wolseley, the High Commissioner for South East Africa. "Poor 

devils, these women are nothing more than household servants 
here, ... The Colonial women who in other towns could always 
obtain a few rough naked Kaffirs to do their very hardest work 
for them feel the hardness of their position here acutely, but 
only fancy what the woman brought up as a lady in England must 
undergo here. I pity her with all my heart."2 

Mrs Bousfield, who had Emma Hayward to help with the children, 
as well as the Thurgoods, still had to do some housework. 

3 .1.1 The state of the diocese 

What was the state of the diocese when the Bishop 
arrived? "How stood matters then? The Diocese con­
tained four churches and a school chapel, all save 
one in heavy debt, one building standing still for 
the money I [Bousfield] was to bring. The Church 

perhaps rather one of her Clergy, owned one school; 
her one cemetery shares with others a desolation 

disgraceful to the common civilization of the land. 
The Clergy numbered three priests and two Deacons in 
the Diocese, and two Deacons with me." 3 

The clergy were anxious to meet their Bishop. Henry 
Sadler of Zeerust went to Pretoria to meet Bousfield 
and found him a sympathetic listener. "I returned to 

my parish, after laying difficulties before his Lord­
ship at Pretoria, with a lighter heart - indeed under 
a sense of relief, as from a burden that had long 
rested with crushing weight on my spirit, whilst 

feebly endeavouring to run manfully in the race set 
before me. ,.4 

James Richardson of Rustenburg described the relief 
of having a bishop. "But through the kind Providence 

of the Great Head, the organisation of the Church 

2A . Preston, ed . , The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley 1879 - 1880, 
Cape Town, A.A. Balkema, 1973, p.129-130. 

3H.B. Bousfield, "A charge delivered co the Synod of the Diocese of Pretoria, 
November 16th 1884," Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 10, 
1885-04., p.7. 

41110 the Transvaal," Mission Field, 1879-12-01, p.553. 
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has now been brought a great way on towards completion 

by the arrival of the Bishop of Pretoria, which encou­

rages the faithful few to hope that many of the disad­

vantages under which we have for so many years laboured 
will be speedily remedied."5 

3.2 Settling in at Pretoria 

3.2.l 

3.2.2 

Bishop's Cote 

The Bishop had expressly told Law to get Bishop's 

Cote ready for occupation without incurring any extra 

expenses.6 The sum of £500 had been collected for 

the house 7 but it was in such bad condition that the 
Bishop had to pay the rest out of "his own exhausted 
pocket. 0 8 

St Alban•s Church 

At the beginning of 1879 the old St Alban•s Church 
was "a small ill-built, thatched barn-like erection, 

the pointed windows, cross on the top, and bell hanging 

by, proclaimed its sacred character."9 

It could seat 100 people and was built of red brick 
and thatch.lo The old church was in Church Street 
westll whereas the new church was being built on erf 

560 (formerly erf 489) in Schoeman Street. When the 

Bishop first arrived the walls were about eight to 

nine feet high.12 When Bishop Jones had visited the 

Transvaal ·in October 1877 he had promised ~500 to 

meet the people's !500 for the new church. Bousfield 

inherited this promise but had no funds to meet it.13 

Wilkinson had collected ~400 for a Cathedral and 

following a meeting called by Bousfield to put the 

511Pretoria," Mission Field, 1879-09-01, p .407. 
6H. B. Bousfield, Letter to Law, undated, Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archives, 

Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
7Pretoria Diocesan Fund, First year' s r e port and accounts, p.10-11. 
8Ibid., p . ll. 
9H. B. Bousfield , Six years in the Transvaal, London: SPCK, [1886), p . 18 . 

lO"The day of small th i ngs," Net, 1880-02-01, p.28. 
llJ . Kotze, Biographical memo~ and reminiscences, Cape Town: Haskew Miller, 

[s.a .) , p.556 . 
12eousfield, Six years ... , p.19. 
131bid., p.20. 
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financial position to the subscribers, it was decided 

that this fund should be used for the new Pretoria 

Church. The Church would become a Cathedral with the 

Curate of Pretoria as a Canon. The offertories would 
be at the disposal of the Bishop or the Dean and 

Chapter. The Bishop was forced to charge pew rents, 

" ... but I could not without discord make all seats 
free."14 

The Bishop managed to pay off his'! 500 debt before 
the end of 1879. "I have paid over now the !500 

promised by the Bishops of Capetown and Bloemfonteine, 

[sic) and mostly collected by Bishop Wilkinson, and 

we have agreed to account it our Cathedral as well as 

parish Church. This arrangement is just now occa­

sioning some difficulty about assigning seats to some 

who still have the old English notions on the matter. 
I should like all seats free, but those who wish 

otherwise are treating the question in so good a 

spirit, that we shall no doubt be able to settle some 

plan by which harmony may be preserved, and a common 
love and zeal for our little church, and the spiritual 

fabric also, may be secured."15 

When Sir Garnet Wolseley saw the old church in September 

1879 he dismissed it with the remark: "Went to the 

Bishop's Church; a tawdry barn with every desire t9 
be popish but without the means."16 

By May-June 1879 i21 had been collected by the volun­
teer organist towards an organ. The bishop appealed 

through Net for 2 dozen surplices for the choir.17 

The Bishop also played his part in the secular life 

of Pretoria: "The Bishop was a social acquisition to 

the life of our little capital and he took an interest 

in the welfare of the people and also joined the 

committee of our little local library."18 

14eousfi~ld, Six years . . . , p.20. 
15P.D.F., First year's report ... , p.4-5. 
16Preston, The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley ... , p.125. 
1711church wants in Pretoria," Net, 1879-10-01, p.147 . 
18Kotze, Biographical memoirs.~ p.556. 
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Church going 

Until the arrival of A.J. Law the clergymen stationed 

there had not been of the highest calibre. Law's 

institution of regular worship had resulted in a 

stable congregation. The Bishop wished to hold many 

services in order to cultivate the habit of church 

going. "Daily attendance at services has difficulties 

in England, and much greater here, so much greater 

that it will be long before it is well used; but I 
know I rightly judged that early hours would have 

given health of mind and body, and that nothing would 

have told so well in Pretoria as the Bishop and his 

little band .of clergy, students, and ladies, thus in 
early hours uniting for their morning prayer."19 

Some of the Bishop•s innovations were 

daily services at 6.15 a.m. and 5.15 p.m. 

the singing of the Litany. 

Holy Communion every Sunday at 9.00 a.m. • instead 
of fortnightly at 9.15 a.m. 

public catechising at the 5 p.m. service on 
Sundays. 

Holy Communion celebrated on all Holy days at 9 
a.m.20 

Attendance at this plethora of services was low. The 

Bishop explained: "I cannot report good attendance 

at these services, but there is a small steady atten­

dance at the two most novel, and most important in my 

judgment - the weekly Communion at 9, and the cate­
chising at S."21 

The Bishop believed in fasting before communion and 
the communicants could attend the 9 a.m. service 
without strain.22 

l9sousfield, Six years .. . , p.27. 
20H.B. Bousfield, "En· route to Pretoria," Mission Field, 1879-06-02, p.267 . 
2lrbid, p.267. 
22Bousfield, Six years ... , p.28. 
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Catechising the children waz at either. 4 p.m. or 5 

p.m. depending on the season. To the Bishop catechising 
was a way of raising the standards of the Church. Sir 

Owen Lanyon, Administrator of the Transvaal, often 
attended them" ... to show, as I suggested to him, 
that a !nan might be present at the children's service 
without loss of dignity."23 

Evensong was in the early evening. ~odfrey Yeatman 
Lagden, secretary to the Governor, get into the habit 
of dining with the Bousfields on Sundays and accom­
panying them to this service.24 

During. LP.n~ 1979 t~e Bishop added an extra Simday 

service in the Court House at 3.30 p.m. " ... cunsis­
ting of hymns,.Scripture and expositicn, with a 
confession · and pr~yers, hoping to draw ttoz~ whv did 

not come to church;- but it has been a complete failure 
as also .1 short sermon and Litany service 1 . .:-n Wednesday 
and Friday e•,enings in church. ,,25 

During 1879 Spratt, Roberts and two ~ther ~en, proba~ly 
Adams and Dowling, lived in a six roomed ~ouHe 0n the 

outskirts of Pretoria, about a mile fro11! th~ oJ.d St 
Alban's.26 Ths ~eekday services wer~ so b~dly attended 
that the clergy ~~ually had them to themselv~s.~7 The 

dawn service, at 5.lS a.m. had to be changed ~~d the 

Bishop blamed the young clergy.28 Roberts had a 

different story. In his copy of Bousfield's Stx 
years in the Tran::;v;B.,. he underlined" ... my young 

---- "l ·•· ·. 
clergy." and wrote in the margin "only I. ~ut I had 

to walk a mile, & sit up late at night to write my 
sermons after school all day [,) two nights a week 

night school & two choir practices. The B[isho]p was 
very thoughtless cf us. He used to retire to bed 

himself at 9 p.m. I know I worked far hard~r than he 

23nousfield, Six years ... , p.28. 
24G.Y. Lagden, Diaries 1879, 1860, MSS, Lagden Papers, MSS Af.s l~)/144, Rhodes 

House Library, Oxford, Britain. 
2SH.B. Bousfield, "En route to Pretoria," Mission Field, 1879-06-:n, p.267. 
26"the day of small things, 11 Net, 1880- 02-01, p.28. 
27 -•Ibid, p.28. 
28nousfield, Six years .. . , p.28. 
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did and did most of the work in his absence without 
grumbling, & very little appreciation from him."29 

"But all this was due to me alone, in carrying out 
daily services. Mr Law was only there a year & did 

chaplain's work. He rarely attended daily services, 

whilst the B[ishop]p was so often away & I was alone, 
& never failed."30 

One Sunday evening, during a packed service, a fire 

in the vestry got out of control. Luckly Law came in 

as the flames ran up the thatch towards the Church 

roof and was able to beat them out with his hands, 

which were burnt. This incident was kept quiet but 

" ... [we] quietly thanked God for averting a cata­
strophe ... "31 

The Bishop had a reputation as a good preacher and 
when he preached, usually in the evening, the church 

was crowded, with people often standing outside.32 

Roberts, on the other hand, was an inexperienced 

preacher and the Bishop had little faith in him: " ... 

with only Roberts to help me, who is woefully deficient 

in all public gifts, ... "33 

C.M. Spratt arrived in Pretoria from Natal on 
1879-04-02.34 His duties during 1879 were35 

to take his turn at the daily services. 

to take his share in the Sunday duties. 

to be away for a fortnight every month. He went 

by post cart to take church services in Standerton 

and Heidelberg. 

The post cart contractor allowed one free return 
passage each month for a clergyman to Standerton. In 

this way expenses were reduced. 

29A. Roberts, annotated copy of Bousfield, Six years ... , p.27 , Alfred Roberts 
Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

J01bid., p.28. 
31A. Roberts, The genesis of the diocese of Pretoria, MSS, p.22, Alfred Roberts 

Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
32rbid., p.22. 
33H.B. Bousfield, Letter to E.F. Randolph, 1879-12-16, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
34,.The day of small things,"~. 1880-02-01, p.28. 
351bid., p. 28-29. 
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When the Bishop arrived in the Transvaal he found 

reader$ licensed by the Bishop of Bloemfontein. On 

meeting these men he was dissatisfied" ... because 

when I came hither three persons holdings Reader's 

Licences from the Bishop of Bloemfonteine [sic], had 

become more or less habitual drinkers ... ,"36 

The manual of the Transvaal Prayer Onion was used 
every Wednesday at the 5 p.m. Evening Prayer and at 

the Litany on Friday evenings. The Bishop allowed a 
few young men to join and hoped for others: "The 

Service is a comfort and a link to those far away, 

who we know help us and our work by using the prayers 
earnestly and regularly."37 

The T.P.U. continued in Britain, and the Bishop occa­

sionally wrote to them.3~ A register of members was 
kept by the Bishop and his Commissary in Britain.39 

When Randolph resigned as commissary Giveen took over 

the Prayer Union. Bousfield used the T.P.O. to keep 

alive the work of the Pretoria diocese in Britain. 

"And I can only say may He by you [Giveen] stir up 

interest in England to help me, or my work must 
fail. 11 40 

In his report to S.P.G. A.J. Law described the work 
in Pretoria: "We are now putting in the foundations 

of the future work in Pretoria and though at present 

we do not make much show of progress, I hope our work 

may develop in time both substantially and success­
fully. 11 41 

3.2.4 war 
On their arrival in South Africa, the Bousfields had 

met one of the country's problems - drought. In January 
1879 they were introduced to another - war, when news 

36H.B. Bousfield, Letter to C. Page-Wood, 1882-12-10, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa . 

3711Church wants in Pretoria," Net, 1879-10-01, p.146. 
38H.B. Bousfield, Letter to the Transvaal Prayer Union, 1880-02 and 1880-07, 

Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
39H.B. Bousfield, Letter to R.L. Giveen, 1880-10-05, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
4Drbid. 
41111n the Transvaal," Mission Field, 1879-12-01, p.551. 
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arrived of the massacre of British troops at Isand­

hlwana on 1879-01-22 during the Zulu War.42 

Soon after there was a Zulu scare which forced the 
Pretorians to prepare to go into Laager. The Bishop 
over-reacted on hearing this rumour, and went to see 

the Acting-Governor, Osborne. His family, after 

dismantling their home, spent the night prepared for 

flight. As a father Bousfield was anxious for the 

safety of his family and party.43 Roberts later 

wrote of this scare: "I went to see the B[isho]p & 

was amused to see how scared he was. But he was 

physically a great coward as I had already discovered 

on the road. There was really no great reason for 

the scare. It was raining very badly, & whilst Adams 

& Dowling joined the guard in the Dutch Church, I 

went home & to bed & slept the sleep of the just. Our 

Shangaan servant whom I consulted laughed at the 
scare."44 

"I reckoned it out, & felt it impossible for the Zulus 

to get up so far, so I went to bed tranquilly. But 
the B[isho]p was in great fright & quite angry with 
me for my incredulity."45 

Later in 1879 there was another scare, this time from 

the Boers, who were not happy about the annexation 

and resultant British rule in the Transvaal. A Boer 

meeting held near Pretoria was sufficiently threatening 

for preparations to be made to protect Pretoria's 

inhabitants, by going into Laager but the attack did 

not materialise. Mrs Bousfield refused to leave her 
home as the previous scare had come to nought.46 

The Bishop's salary 
The Bishop soon realised that because of the high 

cost of living in the Transvial his salary was inade­

quate. In Six years in the Transvaal he explained 

this: "But there was one sad lesson of those early 

42Kotze, Biographical ~emoirs . .. , p.556-557. 
43Bousfield, Six years ... , p.30. 
44Roberts annotated copy of Bousfield, Six years ... , p.30. 
4Srbid., p.31 . 
46Bousfield, Six years . .. , p . 32. 
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days, too early learnt, too deeply realised since 

then. It was not long before I fou~d how great was 

the mistake made in taking the bishopric of Pretoria 
with l600 a year, ~nd I should say in founding it. I 
took it as a mission sphere, expecting roughing and 

discomfort in a place remote and small. I found an 

aspiring and gay little capital, 'the Paris of South 
Africa,' in which a Bishop grooming his horse, and 

digging his garden, and building his house, from 

necessity, would be as little suitable as in England 

or London itself. I took it as supposing the salaries 

of the Bishop's equals were ~600 or ~800; I found 

them doubled, and more. I took it understanding 

living would be cheap and simple, and ~600 equal to 

1600 elsewhere. I found all this was wrong or changed. 

I was told upon arriving it was the most expensive 
place in the world, and I hope it is."47 

Bousfield had agreed to the salary guaranteed by 

S.P.G. but continued to complain about its inadequacy. 

"Our sixth want is really more pressing than any 

other, because upon his work all now turns, and that 

is, an increase in the Bishop's income. This was 
fixed, upon the best information obtainable at the 

time, at S600 a year, and made up by interest on 

capital invested, £220, and S.P.G. grant, i380. But 

. when it is borne in mind, as before stated, that tl 
in the Transvaal equals only, at the outside, 13s 4d 

in England, which makes this i°600 equivalent to ~400 

only; and remembered that the Bishop must travel, 

and keep horses to travel with; and noted that the 

simple necessaries of life must be done without, and 

his children stinted even in food and milk-bread and 

meat so dear as to swallow up the whole income, leaving 

nothing for clothing, - it must be apparent that the 

income must be raised, or a Bishop found with courage 

to face the labours and difficulties of the present, 
and an income given him to live on, when the present 

Bishop has been overwhelmed."48 

47sousfield, six years ... , p.33. 
48P.D.F., First year's report ... , p.9-10 . 
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Already there were oblique references to resignation 

and an.over-dramatising of the situation. Just before 

Bousfield's arrival in the Transvaal Law had written 

to S.P.G. about the inadequate salary assigned to the 

bishop of the Transvaa149 so S.P.G. knew that the 

salary they had guaranteed would be insufficient for 
his needs. 

Help to S.P.G. 
The Bishop was aware that his diocese should help 

S.P.G. yet the financial situation was such that the 

diocese needed the funds for its own development. He 

wrote to William Richardson of Potchefstroom: "I 

shall indeed be gla? when we can do something in 

every Church in the Diocese for the S.P.G. but in the 

present state of your parish, not having yet done 

anything, I would recommend you to delay it for a 

little until all your present money matters are 

settled. Perhaps at some future visit of mine, when 

the people are better disposed I might be able to 
gather the first offering for it."50 

Ecclesiastical donations 

Once settled in, the Bishop was able to open one of 

the boxes he had brought over with him. He thanked 

the Kilburn Sisters for their gifts: "At last after 

long wanderings & many trials we are sufficiently 

near an approach to settlement to have opened the 
case of work you have so kindly given to us thro' 

Miss Wigtam, and I write at once to thank you very 

much for each & all of the gifts in it. My only 

regret is that I have not a Church in the Diocese fit 

to receive them, no one with any altar plate, or font 

(save Pretoria). I am obliged to enjoin51 common 

brass basins from the stores to stand on wooden pede­

stals! There is stone in the land but no one capable 
of working it."52 

49A.J . Law, Letter to S. P.G . , 1878-11-14, D Collection, USPG Archives, London, 
Britain. 

50H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W. Richardson, 1879-06-30, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

5lenjoin COD command. 
52H.B. Bousfield, Letter to the Sisters of the Church Extension Kilburn, 1879-08-lf 

Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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The font in St Alban's, Pretoria had been donated by 
the parish of Plympton St Mary through Wilkinson in 

1877. He described the occasion: "I was at a meeting 
at Plympton near Plymouth not long since. The people 
expressed a wish to give a font to the future Cathedral 

at Pretoria of oevonsh(ire] Marble. It is being made 
at Newton of pink-black marble & granite base. I 
will send it out when finished."53 

Also part of the furnishing was the beautiful bishop's 
throne. "There was one thing, however, of which he 
was very proud, and that was the Bishop's throne, 

which was made from wood obtained from Winchester 
Cathedral. When he left Winchester, he expressed a 
desire to have something old in the Transvaal besides 
the hills, and that something was a Bishop's throne. 

He then, after some trouble, succeeded in obtaining a 
quantity of wood from the old Norman roof, which had 
been in the roof of Winchester Cathedral for 800 
years, and of this his Bishop's throne had been construc­

ted. He had also obtained some wood from the College 

wherewith to make himself a pastoral staff, and he 
trusted that the work of Christianity at Pretoria 
might prove as firm and lasting as the wood of which 
that throne and that staff had b~en formed."54 55 

3.3 The Pretoria schools 
Before the Bishop came to the Transvaal he had planned the 
opening of two diocesan schools. 

3.3.1 St Etheldreda 
He had brought out two teachers from England for the 
girls' school, Elizabeth Dowling who was to be head­
mistress, and Ellen Lamb. A third teacher, Mrs Jacob, 
had joined the party in Natal. 

The school was to be known as St Etheldreda's after 
the only female saint in the Calendar56 (feast day 

53T.E. Wilkinson, Letter to A.J. Law, 1877-04-06, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

.S411The Church in the Transvaal," Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, 
number 6, 1883-05, p.54. 

55The throne is at St Alban's Cathedral, Pretoria but the font is not . 
5611Church wants in Pretoria," Net, 1879-10-01, p.146. 
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17th October). St Etheldreda is buried in the Cathe­

dral at Ely,5 7 the diocese which included Cambridge, 
Bousfield's university.58 

In Pretoria there was already a Catholic school run 
by the Loreto Sisters, started on 1878-06-07.59 Bous­

field commented: "As we came up country many were 

the expressions of desire for a school which should 

free the parents from the almost necessity of sending 
their children to the Convent school."60 

Within two weeks of the party settling in their Proes 
Street house, th~ Bishop advertised for pupils.61 The 

school was initially held in Bishop's Cote but soon 

moved to a house the Bishop had rented for it on the 

corner of Andries and Vermeulen Streets.62 rn mid-1879 

St Etheldreda's moved to a house in Koch Street,63 

for which the Bishop paid a rent of fl2 per month. 

The school fees were ~20 p.a. paid quarterly in ad­

vance.64 In November 1879 the Bishop decided to 

apply for a Government grant. He wrote to the Super­

intendent-General of Education: "I enclose an appli­
cation for Government assistance towards St. Etheldreda 

(Ladies) School, Pretoria, and shall feel obliged if 

you will give it your early consideration as also 

that sent in some time ago of St. Alban•s Elementary 
School, Pretoria."65 

The Bishop had woken up to the financial realities of 
education. If pupils did not pay their fees he wrote 

to the parents asking for them.66 

57For a biography of Etheldreda of Ely vide Sister Juliana, Rosmarine, London: 
Mowbray, 1913, p.128-143. 

58H.B. Bousfield, Illi viro venerando Georgio Hudsonis, MSS, Collection AB 890/Bl, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

59Loreto in South Africa 1878 - 1978, [S. l.): • Institute of the Blessed Virgin 
Mary Loreto Sisters, (s.a.J, p.10. 

60Bousfield, Six years ... , p.29. 
61 rbid., p.29. 
62B. Addison, Daughters of the King, Pretoria·: Gov. Body of 'St. Mary's DSG, 

1979, p.4 . 
63 b'd 4 I l. . , p. . 

64H.B. Bousfield, "En route to Pretoria," Mission Field, 1879-06-02, p.268. 
65H.B . Bousfield, Letter to H. Bosman, 1879-11-06, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
66H.B. Bousfield, Letter to J.J. Meintjies, 1879-12-26, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
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At the end of 1879 the departure of Mrs Jacob to 

marry Alfred Roberts caused staffing problems. The 
Bishop advertised for three teachers: " ... gentle­
women. One immediately to teach music and drawing in 
our girls' school in Pretoria; two more for educational 
work would be valuable indeed."67 

The school buildings needed money spent on them. In 
the Balance Sheet from 1879-09-29 to 1880-09-29 an 
amount of i711 2s 0d was spent on the school buildings 
and ~44 2s 6d on their repair.68 "The purchase and 
repair of the buildings for the Girls' School has 
mainly occasioned the heavy deficit."69 However St 
Etheldreda's only ran at a loss of il 15s 0d.70 

St Etheldreda's attempted to give its pupils an 
education based on British girls schools: " one 
designed to be a superior school of girls of the 

better class, ... our first attentio~ is given to the 
thorough grounding of our pupils in reading, writing, 
and arithmetic, in addition to which instruction is 
given in history, geography, music, drawing, the 
modern languages, and plain and ornamental needle­
work. 11 71 

The girls were examined at Easter, 1880. "One examiner 
states that 'the knowledge of universal history and 

English history displayed by the pupils reflects much 
credit on their training.' Others that the knowledge 
of English grammar is 'very good,' French translation 
and grammar 'creditable,' and that English reading 
and dictation displays 'great accuracy.' Altogether, 
the examination proved the thorough solidness of the 
education given and the steady progress of the pupils." 7~ 

67P.D .F . , First year's report ... , p. 9 . 
68u.B. Bousfield, "Diocese of Pretoria report for Quarter ending 1880-09-29," 

Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 1, 1881-01, p.12. 
69rbid. , p. 8. 
70Ibid., p.12. 
71£. Lamb, "Miss Lamb's report to the Education Department," Occasional paper 

of the diocese of Pretoria , number 1, 1881-01, p.27 . 
72D~ocese of Pretoria Transvaal , Report for April, May and June 1880, p.7. 
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The Bishop described the true situation: "We have a 
few more pupils and if our rooms were better might do 
but the Romans have just had a tremendous shine! 

theatricals, prizes, performances eno' to dazzle 
Pretoria utterly, and the Dutch have good rooms, & 

boarding arrangements."73 

To the great relief of the Bishop the Government 
Grant was given to him on 1880-09-11 " ... for the 
Ecclesiastical and Educational purposes of the English 
Church, including the Girls' School and mistresses' 
residence."74 

In 1880 . the teachers were joined by a Miss Lorentz. 
At this time the school had no boarders.75 

St Birinus 
The second school was for boys and called after St 
Birinus. Bousfield's mother, Rebekah Richings, had 

come from Warborough in Oxfordshire, within walking 
distance of Dorchester, the centre of Birinus' 

., 
missionary work " ... (I] would fain, follow the 
example and perpetuate the memory of one now unknown 
by many here but honoured there, 'where the saints of 
all ages in harmony meet.' n76 

The Bishop had no trained schoolmaster and he asked 
Alfred Roberts to take on the task of organising st 
Birinus. "At the same time the B[isho]p wanted a 
boys school. l had come out to undertake native 
mission work, but the B(isho]p could not spare me, & 
with reluctance I took up the boys school, in addi-

tion to the Cathedral & parish work."'' It was 
apparently only in March that Roberts was approached 
about the school. The Bishop wrote to or Lyle, Inspec­
tor of Education: "Since seeing you yesterday I have 

spoken to Mr Roberts, my Deacon, who is willing, at 
my request, to give an hour a day from 11 - 12, to 
the education of your sons, & Mr Swartz's if he wish 

73H.B . Bousfield, Letter to A.J. Law, 1880-07-10, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

74sister Juliana, Rosmarine .. . , p.127. 
75rbid. , p. 27. 
76H. B. Bousfield, Illi viro venerando Georgio Hudsonio, MSS, Collection AB890/Bl, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
77Roberts, Genesis ... , p.25 . 
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it, & any others appointed by me .... the boys can 

go to him on Monday next. The preparation of Lessons 

must be at home. I hope this may prove the commence­

ment of a good school for boys. In this view I should 
propose to charge 2 g[ui]n[e)as a month for the present, 

for each pupil, to be paid ... in advance."78 

The school opened with three pupils, the two sons of 

Or Lyle and the youngest. son of Mr Swartz. The numbers 
quickly increased so a house was hired to accommodate 

St Birinus•. In the middle of 1880 a school was 

built for the boys and they moved there in November 
1880.79 

St Birinus did fulfil a need. Mrs Bousfield told how 
on trek her husband met a man on the road. "He gave 

us his name and your Father gave his.card and address 
as our friend said he would come and see us in Pre­

toria. He wanted his boy to go to school. He was a 
pleasant man, Cape born and educated, so not an enemy 
to law or order."80 

St Birinus', in the year between 187i-09-29 and 
1880-02-29, sustained a loss of £67 3s 8d, incurred 

through having to pay rent. The Bishop wrote: "If 

the Boys' . School is to be continued at all, it must 

be provided with a good schoolroom, and I have there­

fore most reluctantly commenced the building at an 
estimated cost of 3250. n81 

On visitation in Standerton the Bishop was given a 
donation of fl00 for St Birinus'; the donor was 

allowed to nominate two boys to attend the school at 
slightly reduced fees.82 

After eighteen months of patient work Roberts was 

able to report: "Nevertheless, the boys have all 

78if.B . Bousfield, Letter to Dr Lyle, 1879-03-19, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

• 79 b • 25 Ro erts, GenesLs . . . , p .. 
80c.E . Bousfield, "Journals of Mrs Bousfield," Letter to her children, 1879-10-20, 

p.4, TS, Bousfield ~ollection, State Library, Pretoria, South Africa. 
81niocese of Pretoria, "Report for quarter ending 1880-02-29," Occasional paper 

of the diocese of Pretoria, number 1, 1881-01, p.8. • 
82H. B. Bousfield , "Five weeks on trek," Mission Field, 1880-03-01, p. 94. 
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made rapid strides. The examiners last year all 

reported well of the boys, particularly in mathematics 
and English grammar. I have had under my charge 
during this last year and a half nearly forty boys, 
but the migratory habits of the people have compelled 
many to withdraw the children when leaving the country."· 

The Bishop was worried about the school's inadequate 
accommodation which consisted of a single room, 12 ft 
by 20 ft in a 7 roomed cottage on the outskirts of 
Pretoria, at the high rent of t9 per month. St Birinus 
needed a more central position and a larger school­

room.84 The Bishop explained his needs to Law who 
was in England: "I cannot say how much I should be 
cheered by i. 500 to pay off the school debt for bu il-

ding and ~500 to build a school room for Roberts on 

the empty erf by the Church, and if money for buildings 
is not sen~ my school work must break down before the 
Romans. They are building still, I understand a 

school and college for boys and while such men as 
Ford, & Judge Kotze send children to them 'because 
they make the better show' ( ___ dly), I have no 
chance if not.»85 The new school was built. "Just 
before our troubles I completed a boy's school room 
at a cost of ,f400 ... "86 

On 1880-09-16 a deputation of Deecker, Ford, Swartz 
and Dyer went to see the Governor about the High 

SchooI,87 probably to discuss the Government Educa­
tional Grant. 

The elementary school 
A co-educational elementary school was started "giving 
a lower class of education."88 

In a letter dated the end of May, 1879 Mrs Bousfield 
explained why they wished to open an elementary school. 

83oiocese of Pretoria Transvaal, Report for April, May and June 1880, p.6. 
84Ibid. , p. 7. 
85H.8. Bousfield, Letter to A.J. Law, 1880-10-07, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
86H.8. Bousfield, Letter to W.H. Grove, 1881-04-08, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
87G.Y. Lagden, Diary 1880, 1880-09-16, MSS, Lagden Papers, MSS Afr.s 145, 

Rhodes House Library, Oxford, Britain. 
88P.D.F., First year's report ... , p.5. 
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"Our next aim is to start a school for the working 

classes, white people, whose children are quite unpro­

vided for, and grow up with the idea that work is a 

disgrace; the hope is to get the little ones, under 
twelve years of age, and, after a time, choose from 

these some to whom we can give industrial training. I 

cannot enter more into this subject now, but if the 

Church does not come forward to rescue the little 
ones, and seek help the parents out of their torpor, 

they and their children will be as degraded as the 
heathen around."89 

Rosmarine, the history of St Etheldreda's, calls this 
institution "The School of the Good Shepherd",90 but 

in a letter to Dr Bosman the Bishop refers to it as 

"St Alban's Elementary School."91 The school was 

housed near Bishop's Cote. One of its teachers was 

Ellen Lamb who taught at St Etheldreda's as well. 

The loss on the Elementary School . from 1879-09-29 to 
1880-09-29 was ;t"11 13s 9a92 " ... from the necessity 

of supplying a free education for various short periods 

of time to families in temporary distress."93 

In 1880 a new Dutch school, which opened in Pretoria, 
affected the numbers at the Ang! ican schools. "Our 

Elementary School is very fairly successful, but both 

the upper class schools have received a check from 
the opening of a Dutch Chu·rch School with good buildings 

& fittings, & 4 fresh teachers from Holland. rt may 

prove but a brief check, & I hope will but it has 

been a severe threat to us yet."94 

"In the elementary school there has been this quarter 
a decided change for the better. The opening of the 

new Dutch school took away from us most of our Dutch 

pupils of the lower grade; but these, I am glad to 

8911church wants in Pretoria," Net, 1879-10-01, p . 144 . 
90sister Juliana, Rosmarine ... :-;.23. 
91H . B. Bousfield, Letter to H. Bosman , 1879-11-06, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
92oiocese of Pretoria, "Report for quarter ending 1880-09-29," Occasional paper 

of the diocese of Pretoria, number l, 1881-01, p.12. 
93rbid., p .8. 
94H. B. Bousfield, Letter to W.H . Grove, 1880-04-02, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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say, have been replaced by a better class of English 

children, so that the whole tone of the school is 

raised, and a higher standard of education given. The 
two mistresses, who speak both Dutch and English, are 

painstaking and persevering, and the progress of the 

children under their care is most satisfactory."95 

The night school 
One other school opened, night school run by Roberts, 

two nights a week,96 for law students, surveyors, 
etc.97 

Problems 
In spite of the problems the Bishop kept the schools 

functioning. The girl's school tried to solve its 

problems when a site was offered to St Etheldreda's 

in the absence of the Bishop. "The school was badly 

wanted, the offer seemed opportune, and included that 

of a small house close by, in Skinner Street, at 

right angles to the proposed school. The rent of the 

small house would pay the interest on the purchas~­

price till the amount could be raised. The small 

house is humorously spoken of as "Lawless Lodge," in 

which Mr Law was living, and of which he paid the 

rent. so, in consultation with others he undertook 

the purchase on beha~f of the Bishop. Of course there 

was difficulty in raising this money, but upon his 

return the Bishop took on himself the responsibility 

of the purchase."98 

The Bishop told a different story: "During this 
journey (to the Western Transvaal] and in my absence, 

arrangements were made without me for the purchase of 

a house for a school. My first thought when I heard 

of them was to repudiate the whole; but to save the 

author [Law) from the trouble my so doing would have 

caused, I accepted the arrangement, never supposing 

95oiocese of Pretoria Transvaal, Report for April, May and June 1880, p . 7-8. 
96Roberts annotated copy of Bousfield, Six years ... , p . 27. 
97A. Roberts, "Sermon to commemorate 50 years jubilee of ordination," TS, 

Alfred Robert s Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
98sister Juiiana, Rosmarine ... , p.18 . 
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how great an error had been made. It has been the 

source of never-ceasing regret and trouble since.99 

The contrast between Catholic and Anglican schools 
was also a problem. "Rome is struggling to get hold 

of the young, & succeeding, because I have not funds 

to build showy schools as theirs, and many places are 

neglected because I have not men to fill them. 11 100 

Bousfield's attitude to the teaching of children was 
modern. In 1875 he wrote to his son Hugh's school­

master: " ... and if you find it necessary to use the 
cane, I cannot say don't do so but I must ask you to 

be sparing rather than frequent in the use of it as I 
know how tender and excitable the child is, and how 

utterly severity would break his spirit and destroy 

his zeal .... and I cannot help sugg~sting that the 
Book of History is too dry, & that the portions he 

has to get up as a night's work are too long for a 

child of his age to do thoroughly with other work. 

So too in Geography ... 11 101 

With such humane, child-centred views on education it 

is not surprising that in spite of the problems the 

schools continued. 

3.4 Medical work 

Within the period under review medical work remained a dream, 

even though the Bishop tried to keep it before his supporters 

in Britain. 

At the end of his first year in the Transvaal Bousfield appealed 

for additional staff: "And if two skilled in nursing could be 

found, who would nurse the sick in their houses and take charge 

of a small hospital, the funds for its erection and maintenance 

could be raised on the spot. 11 102 

99nousfield, Six years ... , p.41. 
lOOH.B. Bousfield, Letter to Kenney, 1880-10-06, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
lOlH.B. Bousfield, Letter to A.O. Cope, 1875-11-13, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
102 ' I 9 P.O.~., First years report ... , p . . 
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During the Sekhukhune campaign the Pretoria ladies held work 
meetings for more than a year to send comforts and necessaries 
for the sick and wounded. After the campaign the work produced 
was sold for Church purposes, with 10% being given to the 
poor.103 

Towards the end of 1880 the Bishop once more raised the subject 
of medical work. He wrote to A.B. Webb, Bishop of Bloemfontein, 
about his hospital: "Will you send me as soon as possible, 

an¥, , all possible particulars of your Hospital, & Home, their 
f~un4at t on, , expenses. 11 104 

The Bishop had an idea of offering accommodation in a house in 
Pretoria to teachers and nurses. "As to ladies, The work 
I want to provide for is that of my first class girls school, & 

my elementary School ... and if I can the qualifications & will 

for nursing the sick. There is a hospital now being started 
here and ladies, or others, qualified to nurse, & especially 
bringing any certificates of qualification would be almost 
certainly secured for. The best plan would be for the ladies 

to live together (I have a house for them) at the expense of my 
funds, & to now [sic] from me in addition, if they needed it, a 
stipend for personal expenses as you might fix with each, 
~25 - ~50 per an[nu]m. This would secure, economy, & comfort 
in helping each other, where servants are not. 11 105 

3.4.1 Hospital visits 
The Bishop undertook hospital visits himself. Henry 
Sadler was taken on one such visit: "I must add that 
the Bishop most kindly and patiently put me through 
my pacings in the matter of whatever I had to do; 
taking me with him first to the camp hospital, for 
instance, and showing me how the work was to be done 
by doing it himself, I being present, and then giving 
me counsel and directions. 11 106 

103uThe day of small things," Net, 1880-02-01, p.28. 

l04H. B. Bousfield, Letter to A7- Webb, 1880-09-27, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

l05H .B. Bousfield, Letter to E. Durnford, 1880-10-23, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa. 

l0611 rtinerent work in the Transvaal," Mission Field, 1881-03-01, p.124 . 
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How did the soldiers react to the Bishop's visits? 

This was the scene witnessed by Father J.N. Meyer, 

who was also visiting: "[The sick soldiers] knew 

that the best tonic for the sick was cheerfulness & 
this tonic I administered freely .... I remember one 

day, as the hilarity was at its highest, a sudden 

hush fell upon the whole ward. Those who, a moment 

before, were convulsed with laughter, had suddenly 

fallen asleep. Some even snored. This was very 

strange&, as I looked about in utter amazement, one 

of the invalids told me that a great somebody was to 

make his appearance. An orderly had spied the Angli­

can bishop, the Right Reverend or. Bousfield, making 

his way towards the hospital & very charitably 

announced his arrival to give the boys a chance, as 

he said. They took the chance & hence this universal 

fit of sleeping sickness, I had barely time to recover 

from my astonishment when I beheld his Lordship sur­

veying the whole ward with a most pleasant smile. He 

must have been very edified to find everybody so well 

behaved but, as there was no sign of life besides the 

heavy breathing & snoring ~f the sleepers, his Lordship 
made his way towards me & the little row of invalids 

about me. He walked on tiptoe, very lightly not to 

disturb the sleepers, keeping meanwhile a sharp eye 

on the double row of beds. He had hardly reached the 
middle of the ward when he turned round sharply & 
caught the eye of one of the unfortunate sleepers 

before its owner had time to close it again. The 

Bishop thereupon approached the bed and treated the 

unfortunate man to a long string of prayers with 

three or four chapters of St. John into the bargain. 

A titter ran round the ward as I was confidentially 

informed that poor Jack Wilson [had] caught it. I 

understood the expression now but could not possibly 

join in the general pity in favour of poor Jack who 

had stopped snoring a trifle too soon, as I could not 

approve of the mean way the poor Bishop was being 
treated by his own people .... Meanwhile Dr Bousfield 

who had more than one trick up his sleeve and was a 
perfect match for the dodgers [,] went on rolling off 

chapters of St John in his beautiful sonorous voice 
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which could be heard all over the ward. He stopped 

at times to comment on a particular verse which he 

judged to be particularly refreshing, looking about 

him meanwhile in search of fresh victims. At the end 

of the last chapter, when poor Jack had really fallen 

asleep, his Lordship closed the Bible & disappeared 

on tiptoe as mysteriously as he had come, not however 

without casting a few backward glances on the ward, 

but the men were not to be caught. They went on 

sleeping until the charitable orderly came to announce 

that the coast was clear. Then there was a general 

laugh in which I had to laugh much against my will as 

the incident was a little too comical. In my very 

heart of hearts I could not blame the poor soldiers 

for the innocent trick they had played; his Lordship 

should have understood that no good comes out of 

stuffing a reluctant, defenceless patient with whole 

chapters of St John. Syrup is all right when thinly 
spread on a slice of bread, but taken in jarfuls it 

is too much of a good thing."107 

This long extract reinforces Judge Kotze's opinion of 
the Bishop: "He lacked the tact that is born of 
common sense."108 

3.5 Travelling 

3.5.l Reasons 

A noticeable feature of the episcopacy of H.B. Baus­

field was his tireless travelling throughout the 

Transvaal, visiting his scattered flock in villages 

and on farms. "If the work of the Bishop is to be 

done on the low view of one visit to each settled 

congregation in a year, he must travel 3,000 miles. 
What this means in a land like the Transvaal, Trans­
vaal travellers only know."109 

William Richardson was at Potchefstroom. His son, 

James P. Richardson was stationed at Rustenburg. 

107J . N. Meyer, "Reminiscences of thirty years missionary work in South Africa," 
TS, p.25-26, R.C. Archdiocesan Archives, Durban, South Africa. 

108Kotze, Biographical memoirs . .. , p.555. 
109sousfield, Six years .. . , p.33 . 
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Zeerust had Henry Sadler. In the Eastern Transvaal 

the only clergyman was John Thorne of Lydenburg. 

Pretoria had Arthur J. Law. 

Heidelberg during February 1879 
Before Lent 1879 the Bishop authorised two young 

cqmmunicants to hold Sunday services at Heidelberg,110 

and the first journey he made was to Heidelberg, from 

1879-02-14 to -02-21, to take the Sunday services. He 
visited a few English speaking families, including 

non-Anglicans, who might be interested in building a 

church.111 T.E. Wilkinson had secured a site and 

another erf had been added by the time of Bousfield's 
first visit.112 

The Bishop decided to send a clergyman to Heidelberg 

every month, with a visit every three months by himself 

or Law to celebrate Holy Communion. The young men 

were to continue with their work, as well as running 

the Sunday Schoo1.113 Heidelberg had an army camp 

and Captain Spurgeon of the 21st Fusilliers held 

services for the troops and any interested civilians.114 

To farms 
In the beginning the Bishop was without his own trans­

port so one of the readers in Heidelberg travelled to 

Pretoria to fetch hirn.115 This problem of transport 

led him to buy a supposedly "salted" mare, Nelly, who 

contracted horsesickness within a few months but 

survived. For his next journey the bishop was able 

to travel on horseback with his goods in saddlebags. 

With this greater mobility he was able to reach 

Anglicans on farms for communion and confirmation.116 

To the western Transvaal during May 1879 
For his third journey the Bishop accompanied Judge 

Kotze in May 1879 on circuit to the Western Transvaal, 

11011En route to Pretoria," Mission Field, 1879-06-02, p.267. 
lllrbid., p.267. 

112sousfield, Six years ... , p.35. 
113"En route co Pre toria , " Mission Field , 1879-06-02, p.267. 
114Bousfiel d, Six years .. . , p.36. 
l l5rbid . , p.35-36. 
ll61bid . , p.37. 
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visiting Potchefstroom, Zeerust and Rustenburg. The 

Bishop was also able to get to Klerksdorp.117 

Having only recently arrived from Britain, the Bishop 
had not absorbed the racial attitudes of the Trans­
valers. At Potchefstroom he had to reprimand the 

congregation for refusing to enter the Church again 

after the Bishop had arranged for some Africans who 

wanted a teacher, to meet him in the Church.118 "I 

had told the natives who applied to me that they must 

build for themselves a school room, & had appointed 

them to meet me twice in the Church, when the people 

sent me a message that if the Blacks entered the 

Church they would never do so again, & their message 

was couched in such terms that I introduced my reply 

by saying no Christian B[isho)p could hesitate what 

to say in answer thus to act, in face of them all I 
should have held the service, but (as I had half 

expected) the blacks themselves shrunk from my test 
and all came to nothing."119 

The white congregation did not carry out their threats 

but animosity remained between them and the Bishop.120 

At the end of 1879 he described them thus: "[Potchef­
stroom] has the inevitable distinction in my mind, 

and must have in this report, of being the one place 

in the Diocese which has treated me badly. The good 

people seem to have made up their mind to do so before 
I went there, did it to perfection, and did not repent 

and amend before I left, nor since."121 

The only consistent mission work in the diocese sanc­

tioned by the Bishop was to the oeel Kraal congregation, 

near Potchefstroom. Their leader, Jacob Tabane, had 
taught them what little Christianity he knew. On this 

visit Jacob Tabane met the Bishop to explain the 

situation. His people wanted a farm where they might 

11 7Bousfield, Six years ... , p.37-38. 
118 • 38 lb 1.d. , p. . 

1198.B. Bousfield, Letter to H. Bevan, 1879-07-01, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

120Bousfield, Six years .. . , p.38. 
121P.D.F . , First year's report . .. , p.6. 
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live together, but unfortunately the Bishop was unable 

to allocate money for this in the period researched.122 
It is not clear when this congregation started: ·n 

a small body of independent native Christians •- remnant 
apparently of other religions - approached [the Bishop 
of Pretoria} for union with the Church. These, in 

the town of Potchefstroom, and another at Deel i~raal, ... ' 

Alfred Roberts described it slightly differently: 
"About this time al~o began our real native Mission 
Work. In 1879 a party of natives from some unknow~ 
sect, being left without a teacher approached Mr 

Richardson & the Bishop to be received. They were 
accepted. 11 124 

The Bishop was up~et about the anti-mission feeling 
of the Colonists: "Lastly, the Church has duties to 

the heathen: and ~las! such prejudice exists against 
them among the Colonists that it is hopeless to think 
of their aiding Missions."125 

When the Bishop returnee to Pretoria he wrote to. 
William Richardson about th~ mission work in Potchef­
stroorn. "Native work. I shall be glad if you are 
~ble to effect any good thro' M~ Shubart's means & 

arrangements, but it will be ~ccessary to make sure 

c~nd for the Church not to tea:.:h on approval by the 
six Kaffir Trustees 11 126 

The Potchefstroom chur9h mortg~ge was transferred to 
the Bishop and he obtained financial help for the 
elderly William Richardson. The Bishop estimated 

that the number of nomin~l Churchmen in the congre­
gation was about JOo.127 

The Circuit Court sat in Fotch~fstroom for four to 
five days so the Bishop ~1sed this opportunity t_o 

visit Klerksdorp.128 Here he found one Anglican family 
----------------------------------------

122tt.B. Bousficld, Six years ... , p.39. 
~13c.F. Pascoe, Two hundred ye~rs of the s.r.G., London: SPG, 1901, p.358b. 
1.,4 • 'Roberts, Genesis ... , p.37. 
125P.D.F., First year's report ... , p.10. 
12£-H.8. Bcus!:icld, Letter to W. Richardson .- 1879-06-JO, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wies, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
127pnf ·~· t t., t 6 .u ..• , ! tr.& year ., rcpor ... , p .. 
l28Kotze, ~io&r~phic~l memoir~· ··• p.631. 
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and another ~eady to join. It was at ~ler~sdorp that 

he encountered the abysmally low stand~rd of Transvn~l 
school~ng.129. 

At Zeerust Bousfield inspected the work of Sadler who 
at least had a church building even if it was in 

debt.lJO He was able to relieve the congregation of 
the debt.131 There was friction betw0en Sadler and 

his co~gre~ation and the Bishop was able to reunite 

them.132 Bousfield guaranteed Sadl~r an income of 
1150 p.a. made up of tso from s.P.G., 150 from the 
congr~gation and £50 from the diocese.133 

Rustenhurg was the last town visited by the Circuit 
court. Her€ the Bishop was impre5sed hy the work of 
J.P. nichardsonl34 who had a congregation ~ade up of 
barely twe.nty Anglicans and about the sa:r.e !'lumt-:er of 

other dcnominations.133 J.P. RichardGon also rnn ~ 

school. "A schoolroom-chapel, with two r.ooms atta~hed 
for his lodging, had been built, ~md in it ~e ·.•.•a~ 
doing g?cd and solid, if elementary, work."13C 

While travellirig during May and Jur.c, both col~ mor.ths, 
the Bishop had slept in a tent. Kotze summ~d up the 
journey" ... and on getting home we all Egread that 
we had had a woat enjoyable trip. Althcu~h it had 

been a novel experience to the Bishop; he ad~pted 

himself very well to the conditions of the A:~ican 
veld, and proved hiraself an excellent travelling 

companion."137 Kot:?~ rP.membered and recorded a conver­
sation between Bcusfield and Henry Cloete, a member 

of the local bar, whilst on the journey: " ... I 
listened to the following colloguy between ~he Bishop 
and Cloete. 

"The Bishop, as w~s at times his wdnt, adopted the 
episcopal 'we', and led off by observing to Cloete, 

129Bousfield, Six years ... , p.39. 
lJ0 'd 40 Ib1 ., p .. 
·3•--
J ~P.D.F. • First year's re port ... , 
l3'> b . d 7 -I l . , p. . 

133tbid., p. 7. 

134Bousfield, Six years ... , p .41. 
135p D F F . .. ·, t . . . , 1rsL year s repor ... , 
l36nousfield, Six years ... , p.41. 
l37Kotze, Biog;;;hical mamoirs ... , 

p. 7. 

p.7 . 

p.635. 
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'We, if we had been of your profession of the law, 
would have been on the woolsack by now.• 

"Cloete: 'No, I do not think you would have done as 
Lord Chancellor.• 

"The Bishop: 'Perhaps you are right; a victorious 
general at the head of our conquering army would have 
suited us better.• 

"Cloete: 'I do not think you would have been good at 
that either.' 

"The Bishop: 'Well then, what do you think would have 
suited us?' 

"Cloete: •You, Bishop, I think, would have made a 
splendid Shakespearian actor.' 

"The Bishop was silent for a minute, and then changed 
the conversation Whether the Bishop suspected 
there might be a slight dig at him in which Cloete 
had said, I do not know, but r took Cloete to be 

quite frank and serious in giving his opinion."138 

Church equipment needed 
After this journey the Bishop wrote a report for Net. 
In the Pretoria church and the three he had visited 
there were no Communion vessels, fonts, altar linen, 
or kneelers for either the clergy or communicants, 

and the local Church had no money for these. The 
Bishop felt that without them" ... the idea of worship 
can be but poorly and indifferently before them. 
Help now, to enable each Church to begin by having 
all things decently and in order, would greatly streng­
then the Bishop's hands. 11 139 

At Pretoria the Communion Plate was on loan and the 
owners had asked for its return. The Bishop was thus 
forced to use his own portable set of Communion ves­
sels which were too small. Net issued an appeal for 
jl5 to buy a set in silver large enough for the 
increasing Pretoria congregation.140 

138Kotze, Biographical memoirs ... , p.630 . 
13911church wants in Pretoria," Net, 1879-10-01, p.145. 
140rbid., p.145. 



3.5.6 

- 146 -

Sent out in boxes from Britain were 

3 sets of altar linen 
2 crimson covers 
4 surplices 
4 alms boxes.141 

In Net of December 1879, under the title "Communion 
Plate for the church at Pretoria," it was announced 
that sufficient money had been received for a Chalice, 
with a little over for a Paten.142 In the February 
1880 issue Net was able to report that the Communion 
Plate for the Pretoria Cathedral "of good size and of 
silver" had been chosen and was to be sen~.143 It 
arrived just before the siege of Pretoria and was 
kept until Easter 1881.144 

To vaal Bank during July 1879 
At the beginning of July 1879 the Bishop made an 
eight day trip to the farming area of Vaal Bank {Hek­

poort)l45 where he was able to examine, then confirm, 
a number of people from the surrounding farms. This 
group became the congregation of Thorndale. Nooitge­
dacht was a farm in this area. "Bishop Bousfield 
arranged a Confirmation service at Nooitgedacht home 
during May 1879. This was the first confirmation in 

the parish. The candidates were James and Sarah 

Jennings, parents of William, with .their daug~ters 
Alice and Ada, also Augusta their granddaughter, {the 
last mentioned was my mother.) I have amongst my 
cherished possessions Augusta's confirmation card, 
signed by the Bishop. It is unlike the very plain 
one of today, in contrast there is much colour, and 
it is attractively decorated. There is a 'daily 

prayer' printed on the front and the back of the 
card ... "146 

It would appear from this extract that from 1879 
Confirmation certificates were available. However 

141 "Church wants in Pretoria," Net, 1879-10-01, p.145. 
142"communion Plate for the Church at Pretoria," Net, 1879-12-01, p.192. 
14311The day of small things," Net, 1880-02-01, p.30. 
14411oiocese of Pretoria," Net,"""'is81-08-0l, p.120. 
145 111n the Transvaal," His~n Field, 1879-12-01, p . 539-545. 
146H.H. Sanders, Glimpses of the past, [s.l.]: [s.n.], [s.a.). 
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it is clear that the diocese did not have registers 
as the Bishop told Spratt that he would have to send 

to Capetown for them.147 

In the report he wrote after this visit Bousfield 
pleaded for more staff: "I cannot but think our 

pr~sent troubles over, this land shall receive, and 

it will readily support , an abundant and prosperous 

community. Only I pray for men of energy, early 

risers, small smokers: or the sloth-breeding beauties 
of this land, will bring them down."148 

To Standerton and Heidelberg 
Standerton had asked for a clergyman, so the Bishop 

visited it. After discussions it was arranged that 

the congregation would pay il30 p.a. towards the 

stipend to which the diocese promised to add !70 to 

make it up to.,f200 p.a. Later the congregation's 

contribution would rise to ilS0 and that of the diocese 

decrease to jSo.149 Bousfield had personal reserva­

tions about allowing them a clergyman but he gave in. 

He could ill spare a man for so small a village but 
he did not want to put a damper on their enthusiasm.150 

The money had to be paid into the Diocesan Fund at 

Pretoria then the Bishop could guarantee the stipend 

for the year. This was to be Bousfield 1 s usual plan 

for parochial self-sufficiency: "The plan I was 

earnest to secure, as putting myself beyond the possi­

bilities of failing guarantees, and the clergyman of 

failing or changing popularity and leading, I hope, 

to a sound financial basis for the diocese hereafter. 

The pinch is with the first i1so. Then the offertories 

are to accumulate for another year's stipend, and so 

I hope Standerton, and other places after its example, 
may be kept in advance of their pecuniary responsi­

bilities, and not always struggling to make up 
deficiencies."151 

147H. B. Bousfield, Letter to C.H. Spratt, 1880-02-06, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

148111n the Transvaal," Mission Field, 1879-12-01, p.544 . 
149Bousfield, Six years ... , p.41-42. 
lSOP.D.F., First year's report . .. , p.7. 
151°1n the Transvaal," Mission Field, 1879-12-01, p.549. 
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The Bishop as he generally did had thought out this 

plan carefully before implementing it. The Bishop 

promised the Standerton congregation the services of 

C.M. Spratt from January 1880. In 1886, he wrote 

with hindsight of this arrangement: " ... though I 

pointed out the difficulty they would find in both 

arrangements, being well satisfied they would not do 

all they undertake nor he [to] fulfil their expec­
tations. 11 152 

On the Saturday afternoon and evening at Standerton 
the Bishop examined some candidates for confirmation; 

he passed six and these were confirmed the next day 

between Matins and Holy Communion" ... thus allowing 

them to seal their vows with Eucharistic bread and 

cup the first fruits of our little Church in Stan­
detton. 11 153 

The Bishop promised Rix his license as Reader.154 A 
Church Committee of five was appointed 

to collect the money for the clergyman 

to manage all other local Church matters in 
conjunction with the Bishop, 

" which may be the basis of the parochial organi-
sation of the future. 11 155 

Bousfield planned that Heidelberg and Standerton, 
being geographically linked on the road to Natal, 

should be worked together with fortnightly services 

along the road at Anglican homes or farms.156 

The Bishop and his youngest son Hugh had travelled 
d9wn on horseback but the return journey was by a 

different method. The Bishop had been given a horse 
so he bought "the ruins 

hoped to repair and use 

in could be bought.157 

of a Cape cart", which he 

until a wagonette for sleeping 

Once he had bought a second 

horse he was able to drive back to Pretoria via 

152Bousfield, Six years .. . , p .42 . 
l53"In the Transvaal," Mission Fie ld, 1879-12-01, p.549. 
154Ibid . • p. 549. 
1551bid., p.549-550 . 
156aousfield, Six years . .. , p.42. 
l57"In the Transvaal," Mission Field, 1879-12-01, p.550 . 
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Heidelberg.158 Here he examined confirmation candi­
dates, but only passed o ne,159 evidence that he was 

trying to raise the standards of Churchpeople. 

To the Eastern Transvaal 

For his first Visitation to the Eastern Transvaal the 

Bishop travelled by postcart which was accompanied by 

a military escort for part of the way because of the 

Sekhukhune War.160 "On the way I found more than one 

English speaking resident who expressed satisfaction 
with my plans for itineratio n."161 The freel62 post 

cart journey with its rigid timetable and r oute, 

convinced the Bishop that he needed a mode of travel 

which would give him greater control over his time 

and route.16 3 The postcart allowed him only a few 

hours at Middelburg unless he waited for the next 

post cart the following week but he used this time to 

trace about six Anglicans although he had been told 
there was only one.164 

At Lydenburg he was impressed by their debt ridden 

church and parsonage. Thorne had been left with the 

debt by the church's planners. "And the care of all 
this, with many other troubles he has had to bear, 
have broken him down so much, that my pleasure in his 

work was almost too much for him."165 As usual he 

examined confirmation candidates, confirmed them and 

catechised the children. The offer.tor ies were used 

to pay off a little of the J750 debt on the church. 

On the Monday evening, a meeting was held to discuss 

this debt and other Church matters. That morning when 
he had been through the accounts, he had found a bill 

for £125 signed by five people. In his usual ruthless 

way the Bishop visited each in turn to secure" ... 

their co-operation in collecting the money before the 
bill should become due. 11 166 

l58sousfield, Six years .. . , p.42. 
l5911 rn the Transvaal," Mission Field , 1879-12-01, p.551. 

160Bousfield, Six years .. . , p . 42. 
16lrbid . , p .42-43 . 

l6211The day of small things," Net , 1880-02-01 , p.29 . 
163sousfie ld, Six years ... , p.43. 
164Ibid . , p .43. 
16511The day of small things,"~. 1880-02-01, p . 29. 
166rb i d., p . .30. 



- 150 -

This showed how much he disliked debt and people who 

promised money but did not pay it over. 

At the evening meeting enough money was raised to pay 
off the debt for the site of the Church.167 Bousfield 

appealed through Net for help in paying off the debt 

on the Lydenburg Church. The diocese could afford 

the last fl00 so £250 was still needed.168 In Net of 

1880-06-01 under the heading "Lydenburg Church," it 

was announced that a "kind friend" had donated the 
f i na 1 ! 2 5 o . 16 9 

Thorne had lived in Lydenburg since 1874 with all the 

stress of being in the major mining settlement and 

the largest town in the region of the Sekhukhune 

wars. It was obvious to the Bishop that Thorne 

needed to rest so he promised that he would relieve 

him during part of 1880. The Bishop did arrange for 

Roberts to be sent there for six weeks so that Thorne 

could get to Pretoria for his ordination as priest,170 

but circumstances prevented him relieving Thorne 

during 1880. 

On 1879-09-21 Bousfield ordained Thorne priest in 
Pretoria.171 Many years later Roberts recounted an 

anecdote about his time in Lydenburg which showed the 

tension under which Thorne had had to live since his 

arrival there in 1874. Firstly no one would lend him 

a horse as it could get killed. "A week later thirty 

natives invaded the townlands of Lydenburg and swept 

off Mr Thorne's cows in broad daylight, despite the 

fact that the town was occupied by a garrison of 

soldiers and mounted volunteers. I was bathing alone 

about a hundred yards from these cows, but providen­
tially the high banks concealed me and we were both 

unconscious of each others presence, and I only dis­
covered my escape when I returned to town ... 171 

167 11The day of small things," Net, 1880-02-01, p.30. 
168Ibid., p.30. -
16911Lydenburg Church," Net, 1880-06-01, p.95. 
170Bousfield, Six years~, p.44. 
171A. Roberts, "Early memories of Pilgrim's Rest Parish," TS, p.2, Alfred Roberts 

Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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To Wakkerstroom during September 1879 

On the 1879-09-26172 the Bishop left for Wakkerstroom 
taking with him his wife as she had ~long been very 

unwell."173 In his report to S.P.G. h~ elaborated on 
his reasons for taking his wife: "She had been so 

long ur.well, shattered in every nerve by the long ~nd 
heavy trial time that we have had to pass, tha~ a 

change was the only, and abs~lutely necessary remedy. 
To me it se~m~d a case of kill or cure, and I started 
with no small anxiety, knowing too much of the risks 
that lay before us."174 

Utrecht and Wakkerstroom were politically w~tl:in the 
Transv~al but ecclesiastically part of tho diccese of 
Zululc?nd. This upset Bousfield who f~lt tt:at t.t:ey 

should fal~ within the diocese of Pre tor:. 3 r.1nd there­
fore planned to vi~it Alington, Vicar General of the 
Zulu Mis~ion, at Utrecht.to discuss the boundary 

question. Net explained the s~tuation: " ... the 
South African Bishops decided, when they ffiet i~ M~ritz­

burg, in November, 1877r that the ~ame of the Bishopric 
[of Zululand) $hould be changed. Jt will b~ b~tter 
perhaps to recall the Metropolitan's ow .. wOi'd~ on the 
subject. "The b,:iundary of the Diocese is left as 

agreed by the S:tnod of 1876: the Ora!<e;t~bl'.'=r~; ·Watershed 
is to be boundary between Pretoria Diocese~~~ Utrecht, 
the name we prop~s~ shall be given to the Bishopric 

of Zululand. The advice is based on the ground of 
the absolute neces~ity of a civilized basis for 

operations, a basis :,.;here the Bishop can be absolutely 
independent of the [Zulu] King, and where, i~ case of 
persecution, Christians may retre~t."175 

Bousfield saw the r>roblem from a d~fferent angle: "The 
boundaries of the Transvaal are not at preser.t the 
boundaries of th~ diocese of Pretoria, the Provincial 

171c.E. Bousfield, "Journals from l-i::s Bousfield, 11 Letter to her cnildren, 
1879--09-28, p . l, TS, State Library, Pret oria, South Africa. 

ll31LB. Bousficld, The Bishop' s account of the months October to ~ecember 1879, 
Lonrlon: R Clay & Taylor, 1880, p.l. 

• 174n.B. Bousfield, 11Fivc weeks on the trek/' Mission Field, 1880-03-:01, p.90. 
17511zululand," ~. 1879-11-01, p.161. 
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Synod having thought it wise, in one part, to prefer 

as a boundary the watershed of the Drakensberg range. 

Therefore I had been requested by the Metropolitan to 

settle with Mr Alington what was the boundary line 

between us; and to this point one day on shipboard 
we directed our minds: but with so ill success, that 

we decided to refer the question to the Bishops them­

selves; and until their decision, that if episcopal 

services were needed in any place within the Transvaal 

limits, I should perform them: so that should the 

boundary be hereafter altered, the people might have 

what episcopal associations they had with the Bishop 
of Pretoria. 11 176 

In reality Bousfield had enough work within the boun­

daries of his demarcated diocese without adding to 

it. To him the diocese of Pretoria meant the political 
entity of the Transvaal and he meant to gain control 

of that section which lay outside his diocese but 
within the Transvaal. 

Sir Owen Lanyon was Resident in Pretoria and Adminis­
trator of the Transvaai.177 During 1879 there was 

unrest from the Pedi under Sekhukhune and from the 

Boers who had never accepted the annexation. Sir 

Garnet Wolseley, as High Commissioner, was sent to 

the Transvaal to sort out the problems. In his diary 

entry for the day he arrived he noted: "How Lanyon 

can live here on his salary I know not, for everything 
costs large sums. 11 178 

This was to be one of the few subjects on which Sir 
Garnet and the Bishop agreed. Bousfield and his wife 

en route for Utrecht met Wolseley with his Dragoons 

at their afternoon outspan on their way to Pretoria. 

The Bishop went over to greet Sir Garnet.179 Wolseley 

wrote down his feelings about this meeting: "I met 

Bishop Bonsefield [sic], the English Bishop of the 

Transvaal, a most loquacious individual who was never 

176H.B. Bousfield, "Five weeks on the trek," Mission Field, 1880-03-01, p. 89. 
177Preston, The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley ... , p.324, notell4.9 . 
178Ibid., p.124. 
179c .E. Bousfield , "Journals ... , " Letter to her children, 1879-09-28, p.2. 
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tired of tal~in9 of himself, of his wife & of his 8 
children. He is on his WdY [to) Utr~cht to meet some 

parson there for the purpose of discussing the Boun­
daries of his Diocese. He tulked what·seemed to me a 
great deal of nonsense, but as I have never y~t realised 

what it is that Bishops have to do that any curate 
might not carry out if given an extru 50 a . ye~r, I 
may not possibly be a good judge on such a matter."180 

On their way to Wakkerstroom the Bous fields passed 
throu9h Heidelberg and Standerton where the Bishop 
was able to hold services. He was al~o able to 

baptise and hold services on farms and at h0us~s 

along the route. At Wakkerstroom where Ransom, of 
the Zµlu Mission, was stationed, news was received 
from utrecht that Al ington was ill. P.anf:o:n went 

there and a f0w days l~ter wrote to t~ll of Alington's 
death from typhoid.181 Xt seems stran;£ that Booofield 

was unable Lo travel to Utrec h~ for Alington's funeral 
when they had sailed to South Africa togethe r en the 
Danube. 

The Bishop continued the services at Wakk~rs ~room and 
his wife was forced to make a mitre for ~im out of 
cambric and br')w:1 paperl82 for the camp.service. At 
the Confirmation he h~d eight candidates. W6K~erstroom 
had a large army camp so the Bishop visited ~he camp 

hospital where h~ was able to _talk to the patients as 
well as read to and p1·Qy for them.183 

The Bishop travelled over to Utrecht on Tuesday 
1879-10-14184 returning the next evening with Ran­

som.185 After the death of Alington the Bishop of 

Maritzburg resumed the oversight of the Zululand 
Mission until a s~ccessor was appointed.186 

l80preston, The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley ... , ~.124. 
l8!.c,E. Bousfield, "Journals . .. ," letter to her children, 1879-10-ll, p. 6. , ~,. 
- ·Ibid., Lette'r, 1679-10-11, p. 6. 
1~1Ibid., Letter, 1879-10-11 , p . 8. 

1841bid., Letter, 1879-10-20 , p . l. 
l851bid., Letter, 1879-10-20, p.3. 
iS6"New ground for the Mackenzie l1~morial Missi~n," Net, 1880-02-01, p.17. 
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The Bousfields returned to Pretoria by the same route 
with services being held where possible. At Heidelberg 

the Bishop had a successful catechizing session which 

his wife described: "In the afternoon some children 

came for catechizing which followed the Litany. After 

this was over your Father asked all those who were 

present (all soldiers and an Officer or two) if they 

had any question to ask or if in the catechizing of 

the children anything had struck them which they had 
not thought of before. They did all ask questions and 

your Father answered them fully and they were encouraged 

to continue. very interesting and instructive it was, 

I assure you."187 Heidelberg had the services of a 

clergyman on the last Sunday of each month. The 

Bishop arranged with Capt. Spurgeon for the continuation 

of the ·sun~ay services which other denominations 
could attend.188 

They arrived home in Pretoria to find the alterations 
to the Bishop's Cote verandah buildings completed.189 

"Mrs Bousfield [was) all the better for her journey, 
and there I stayed, in my usual home employments, 

until Tuesday, November 11, when again we packed the 
old cape cart and started for Middleburgh."190 

To Middelburg accompanied by H. Adams 
The Bishop felt that his first visit to Middelburg 

had been unsatisfactory so he went there a second 

time taking Henry Adams with him. This time they 

went in the diocesan Cape cart reaching Middelburg on 

1879-11-14.191 A meeting was held to discuss Church 
matters. The Bishop suggested that he should appoint 

a lay reader but this was unacceptable to the congre­

gation. The Bishop promised them a monthly serv_ice 

held by either himself or Arthur Law.192 A subscription 

list was opened for a Church building and by the next 
day i 117 16s had been collected .193 

187 C. E. Bous field, 11 Journals ... , 11 Letter, 1879-10-27, p . l. 
188 rbid . , Letter, 1879-10-27, p. l. 
189rbid., Letter, 1879-10-27, p.3. 
190eousfield, The Bishop's account of the months October to December 1879 .. . , p.4 . 
l9lrb·d 4 1 • 1 P· • 
192sousfield, Six years ... , p.46-47. 
193eousfield, The Bishop's account of the months October to December 1879 ... , p.4. 
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FIGURE 7 

Bishop's Cote May 1879 by Mrs Bousfield 
(Source: State Library, Pretoria) 
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Bousfield de5cribed a visit to a suc cessful mission 

station: "On Monday we rode over the Botshabelo Mr 

Merensky's Minsion-station; a real treat becaus~ {it 

was) an unassailable proof that Missions do succeed, 
and do r eal good, when God i:>lesses man's sensible 
schernea."194 

Survey of dio~ese at the end of 1879 

The BiRhop returned to Pretoria on Friday 1879-11-21 
and was forc~o to remain there.195 It was the time 

of the Sekhukhune Campaign and as Arthur Law had been 
asked to act QS chaplain to the troops the Bishop had 
to act as th~ Pretoria parish priest.196 In his first 

year in th~ Transvaal the new Bishop had visited each 
village within his diocese except for the Woodbcsh 
and the Spelcnk in the northern Transvaa] .!97 Why 

did the Sisho~ tra~el ~o much? "A small sca~tered 
populc:tion - three English or Afr icanc ~ .. c ho:.Jsehol d !=: 
only, aPd these small, in a space of fifty miles, 

separated from e3ch other by rivers or small ~l:rea;ns -

boggy bottoms - ~nd mo!.lntain ranges, ~hich !11c\k\? tra­
velling so difficult and uncertain, th~t ye~ c ~n 
scarcely reckcn what time each stage may t~~~ you. 

At present, and for years to come, our work ~ust be 

to look for Chriat's sheep scattered abroad indeed: 

and the case of 01?r l i t:tle towns is not much more 
inviting - a smoll kr.ot of people, some three or four 
perhaps real Churchmen, others trained in one sect or 

another; several Scotch Presbyterians who, at a dis­
tance from any ministrations of their own, gladly 
welcome the Church's services. Of such material are 

our little congregations formed, who meet in a store, 

or court-house, or a private house for the Sunday, 
and, if I can gather them, for daily worship. I hlve 
now visited ev~ry place where any hope of congregations 
could be found, ~nd many a lonely farm besides.ul98 

l94Bousfield, The Bishop's account o~ the months October t o Decemuer 1879 ... , p.~ . 
l9Srbid . , p. 5. 
l96rbid., p.6. 

~97~field, Six years ... , p.47. 
l98H.B. llousfield, "Five weeks on the trek," Mission Field, 1880-03-01, p. 97 . 
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How did the Bishop see his task? " [I had] very 

clear ideas of what [the Diocese] needed. Every town 

would have welcomed, and in the main supported, a 
schoolmaster, who as a deacon, might hold services on 

Sunday; and all would have welcomed also the itinerant 
priest, who came to celebrate the Holy Eucharist, and 

keep school and schoolmaster alive and well up to •the 

mark. For six years I have striven hard to carry out 
my plan, ... nl99 

When he looked over the evidence of the carrying out 
of his plan he found _200 

The diocese had clergy stationed at Pretoria, 

Potchefstroom, Rustenburg, zeerust and Lydenburg. 

Four other places, Heidelberg, Wakkerstroom, 
Standerton and Middelburg wished for the services 

of the Church and were making efforts towards 

the building of churches. 

There were also two circuits of farms which 
wanted clergy. 

There were isolated farms which needed the services 
of the Church. 

By December 1879 the Bishop had formulated a plan for 
an itinerant clergyman working from Pretoria to visit 

lonely farms and new districts.201 This was to develop 

into the Pretoria cathedral Mission District. 

Once in the Transvaal the bishop realised that people 
in Britain would remember, the work only if they were 

kept informed about it. The bishop must have spent 

hours writing, for long reports appeared in magazines 
such· as Mission Field and Net. The Pretoria Diocesan 

Fund also published a report for 1879 and three quar­

terly reports but these were discontinued when the 

Diocese of Pretoria's Occasional Papers began to be 

printed. 

The Bishop said that the Diocese needed202 

199Bousfield, Six years ... , p.47. 
200p D F • • 7 8 ... , First years report ... , p. - . 
2011bid., p.8. 
202-- • • 8 P.O.F., First years report ... , p. -10. 
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Clergymen. 

Money. The Transvaal Churchpeople could supply 

.;j.300 p.a. but ;!l 000 was needed from outside 

sources for many years. 

Women teachers. 

Money for school buildings. 

An increase to the Bishop's salary. 

Mission work. 

The Sekhukhune Campaign was successfully compl e ted 
soon after. Thorne poignantly summed up its end: 

"After nearly four years of unrest caused by Secoceni's 

[sic] inroads, it was for some weeks difficult to 

realise that the roads were safe to travel, that 

farmers could return to their homesteads, gold~diggers 

to their claims and that the district was once more -

and now as it had never been before - open to enter­
prise and development. 11 203 At the end of four years 

of war Thorne described his situation: "One man, and 

he with broken health, cannot overtake the work. 11 204 

Law's resignation 
When Law returned from the Sekhukhune Campaign he 
left hurriedly for Britain on 1aao-01-05205 as his 

mother was ill. In spite of being so ~seful to the 
Bishop Law had wanted to leave Pretoria since March 

1879. Bou sf ield wrote of Law: "... and the good 

spirit he has always shown me. He wanted to go home 

in March, and his health would seem to demand it, but 

he had consented to stay another year, so as not to 

desert me when so short-handed as we are. He is now 

at the front acting Chaplain to the troops, and since 

he left news has arrived of his mother's death. This 

may call him home to England but at present I know not 

definitely his plans. I can only say the loss of him 

at any time would be very great, and his loss just now, 

20311Pretoria, 11 Mission Field, 1880-06-01, p. 187. 
2041bid., p. 187. 
205ereston , The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley .. . , p.202. 
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without anottif:r man to take his place, .s•~ems ut tee ly 

irreparable."206 When L~w left •Godfrey Lagden packed 

up his possessions and after consultir.1 the ei5hop 
and Miss Lamb sent them to Preller's sale.207 Evi­

dently there seemed little chance of Law returning. 
The Bishop was upset at the thought of losing Law, 
and described his going in 1880 to Borton as" 
losing my on~ decent University man with any go."208 

To Law the Bishop wrote in an attempt to keep him in 
the Transvaal: "First you are the only gentleman, of 
University Education and good repute, the only repre­

sentative of the ordinary stamp of English Cle:gyman, 
in the Diocese. Whatever may be the value cf other 

men, it must b~ ruination to the tone of the Churc~ 
in this Diocese if all her clergy are of the ir,ferior 

class. Another man of your own stamp here, and a 
third at Potchcfstroom seems to me i~peratively neces­
sary if tha Church is to hold her ow~; and whet 

shall s~e do, if instead of gaining two, sh~ l~S€5 
her only one. ••209 

It was not clear whether Law would return to his 
) 

post, althougi1 he had not officially resigned: "I 

enclose your testimonials, and if you. decide never to 
return send me a for~al resignati6n."210 !n Eritain 
Law became a fund-raiser for the diocese of Fretoria.211 
Towards the end 0f 1or.o, after Law had resignea,212 

the Bishop denigrat0d him to the Metropolitan: "And 
so with Law, I hope he will yet do something, as he 

206P.D.F., First year's repqrt .. . , p.5 . 
207c.Y. Lagden, Diary 1879, 1880-01-06 3nd -07, MSS, Lagden Papers, MSS Af.s 143, 

ru,odes House Library, Oxford, Britain . 
208u.B. Bousfield, Letter to Bo;con, 1879-05-12, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Arc~ives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
2Q9H.B. Bousfield, Letter to A.J. Law, 1879-05-01, Bousfield Coll~c~icn, CPSA 

Archiv~s, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

ZlOn.B. Bousfield, Letter to A. J. Law,. 1880-04-23, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archi~~s, Wits, Johannesburg, South A[r~ca. 

111H. B. Bousfield, Letter to Warreu, 1880-07-16, Bousfield Collec~ion, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

7.l2H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Swinn:'!y [W.W. Jones), 1880-07-08, Bousfield Collec­
tion, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, Socth Africa. 
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caused m-? my one great mi3take & emba rrassment h~re, 

thro' his buying a house (for St Eth~ldreda] without 

my authority, but I am almost afraid of his advocacy 
' I 

he suffered so much here, partly thro• · his own fault, 

& tho' having excellent qualities, & some for which I 
would have be~n glad · to retain him, he was not the 
man for Prctoria."213 

During 1880 the Bishop seldom left Pretoria as he had 
no one •:o lea.ve in charge of the pa::- ish as he wrote: 
" •.. I had the help of Mr Roberts only, who was in 

charge of the school, and to whose e~forts to assist 
me in these years I gladly hear witness. I~ my a hsen­
ces - not many - he did it all, and woL1 lc not be 
induced to discontinue any one of the services.,: 214 

Rober ts, i!l ht's annotated copy of Six ~i.r s in the 
Transyila!., un-lerlir,ed 'not many' and wrote "too many 
AR"215 

To the WP.stern Transvaal during the wi.nte~ of :aeo 
During the winter of 1880 the Bishop w~nt 011 VJ.sitatior, 

to the \\esterll Transvaal towns of .P.ustenb:.ag , zeerust, 
Jacobsdal, Lichtenburg, and Potchefstroom2J~ ~ccom­

panied by Saciler.217 This journey of 400 miles tool-: 
22 days and they travelled in the little w~gon the 
Bishop had bought. ~rom September 1879· he hc::d been 

exploring the p0ssibilities of a wagonette f o r sleepi~g 

in.218 He had finaily bought from MacHattie the 
wagon in which Sir Garnet Wolseley had travelled to 
the Transvaal. The Bishop drove the wagonette with 
three horses, unicorn219 fashion.220 

At Rustenburg J.P. Richardson had continued his work 
and was in the .process of building a new schoolroom. 

213H. B. Bousfield , Letter to L. Giveen, 1880-10-25, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Arcnives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Afric~. 

2l 4Bousfield, Six years ... , p.50. 
215Roberts , annotated copy of Bous f ield , Six years .. . , p.50 . 
216H. B. Bousfield, Pretoria diocese: report for April, May and June 1880, 

[s.l . !: (s . o.), 1880, p.3. 

2l7sousfield, Six yea rs ... , p.51. 

218H.B. Bousfield, Le tter to Scott Bros , 1879-09-05, Bousfield Collec tion, CPSA 
Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa. 

2l9unicorn COD pair oI horses i·:ith third horse in front . 
220H.B . Bousfield, Letter to A.J. Law, 1880-05-19, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, .Johannesburg , South Africa. 
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The Richardsons also needed to add to their house so 

the Bishop promised to give them the last.}. 50 for the 

extensions and to beg for a further ~100 if all the 
wor k together was finished without debt.221 

The Bishop visited Potchefstroom where he felt that 
the animosity of the previous visit had dissipated. 

George Reid of London had promised the diocese il50 

which Bousfield used for the Potchefstroom church 

debt and he made the diocese responsible for the 

balance of the debt, hoping to get the money from 

Britain.222 The Bishop felt that the Potchefstroom 

people were co-operating fully and ~200 had been 

promised towards the stipend of a new clergyman.223 

The Potchefstroom congregation decided to raise£300 
for a clergyman's salary, to which the diocese would 

add ;}100, and they would also give £50 for a pension 

for their elderly clergyman, William Richardson. "He 
has done good work in his day; but the good man•s 

work is done."224 

The parsonage needed to be repaired as we11.225 

To the Magaliesburg 
The Bishop's luggage on his journeys included his 

robes, a portable font, chalice, paten and some 

books.226 Visitations were busy; in a report he 

wrote: "Abroad on two occasions: starting from home 

on Monday and journeying till Saturday among the 

farms in the Maghabisberg [Magaliesberg] hills, tra­

velling about 120 miles each week."227 

To Miss Barber he wrote that he found these "hasty 

visitations" trying and unsatisfactory.228 

22 1Bousfield, Report for April, May and June 1880 ... , p.3. 
222 b"d 4 I 1 . , p. . 

223H.B. Bousfield, "Diocese of Pretoria report for quarter ending 1880-09-20," 
Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 1, 1881-01, p . 10. 

224Bousfield, Report for April, May and June 1880 . . . , p.4. 
225rbid . , p. 4 . 
226H.B. Bousfield, "Five weeks on trek , " Mission Field, 1880-03-01, p. 90 . 
227H.B. Bousfield, "Diocese of Pretoria report for quarter ending 1880-09-20 , " 

Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 1, 1881-01 , p . 10 . 
228H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Miss Barber, 1880-07-22, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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To Potchefstroom during September 1880 
Immediately after his return from the second short 

trip Bousfield went to Potchefstroom for a week to 

examine and prepare J.P. Richardson and Alexander 

Temple before he ordained them priest on Sunday 
1880-09-19.229 

Alexander Temple had completed his training at St 

Augustine's, Canterbury in 1870 and was deaconed in 

1873 by the Bishop of St Helena to work in the diocese 

of Capetown. He was working in the diocese of Graham­

stown in 1879 when he applied to Bousfield for employ­

ment in his diocese.230 On his submitting satisfactory 

testimonia1s231 Bousfield assig~ed him to help William 

Richardson in Potchefstroom and to ao mission work.232 

From the first there was trouble over Temple's attitude 

to the choir and his laziness in not helping William 

Richardson.233 Bousfield refused to listen to any 
complaints against Temple unless they came through 

William Richardson.234 He also wrote to Richardson 

that he would not act ~nless he (Richardson) endorsed 

any of the complaints, for example, Temple's lazi­

ness.235 When Temple came to the Transvaal the diocese 
guaranteed him a salary of tl00 p.a. from the S.P.G. 

grant.236 over the period of Christmas 1879 - New 

¥ear 1880 Temple left the diocese. Bousfield wrote 

to W. Richardson: "Do I .understand .from your letter 

that Mr Temple left you altogether, or as I supposed 
gone to the Colony to marry [?] & return?«237 

229H.B. Bousfield, "Diocese of Pretoria report for quarter ending 1880-09-20," 
Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 1, 1881-01, p.10. 

230oiocese of Pretoria, Diocesan Calendar 1898 , [Pretoria): [s.n . ), (1898) . 
231w. Rossiter, W. Steabler, N.J. Merriman, Letters testimonial of A. Temple, 

1879-05, Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa. 
232A. Temple, "Report," Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number l, 

1881-01, p.21-24. 
Z33This letter has not survived. 
234tt . B. Bousfield, Letter to A. Allen, 1879-08-13, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
235H. B. Bousfield, Letter to W. Richardson, 1879-08-13 , Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
236H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W. Richardson, 1880-01-12, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
237H. B. Bousfield, Letter to W. Richardson, 1880-01-02, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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Temple did return to continue his mission work and 
the Bishop promised to ordain him ·priest if he studied 

and Richardson would nominate him.238 In June 1880 

Temple accepted Bousfield's suggestion that he move 
to zeerust, which had been vacant since Sadler left, 

and the Bishop decided to nominate him as priest 

himself.239 Whether Richardson refused to nominate 

Temple or his age made him forgetful is not clear. 

After his ordination Temple took his oath of canonical 

obedience to Bousfield240 and was licensed to assist 

at Potchefstroom.241 Temple remained at Potchefstroom 

until the War when he left the diocese. 

James Richardson had been appointed to Rustenburg in 
1874. He kept his work solvent with the fees from 

his school. 242 He was a carpenter. and when the Bishop 

gave him a grant from· S.P.C.K. for the church furniture 

he made the seats for the Chapel himself.243 Richard­

son did not wish to be a schoolmaster; he would have 

liked to give this up and occupy his time in mission 

work. However the Bishop was against this for finan­

cial reasons: "Nothing would give me more comfort & 
thankfulness, than that you should do some work among 
the natives as well as the white population, but with 

your school, your ministerial work in Rustenburg, 

your ministrations at the Gaol, your possible employ­

ment among troops, I cannot as a 'Father in God'. 
recommend a zealous son to attempt more, and as Bishop 

in the present low state of Diocesan Funds I cannot 

offer to set you free from the school work, to commence 

it. Therefore I would say, if a little service within 

your powers & strength, be open to, and possible for, 

you, do it, and so keep the door open, ... "244 

238H.B. Bousfield, Letter to A. Temple, 1880-03-11, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

239H.B. Bousfield, Letter to A. Temple, 1880-07-27, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

240H.B. Bousfield, Acta Book 1878-1899, HSS,Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archives, 
Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa, p.7. 

241 Ib .d 3 1 . • p. . 
242p.o.F., First year's report ... , p. 7. 
243H . B. Bousfield, "Rustenburg as it was and is," Occasional· paper of the diocese 

of Pretoria, number 5, 1883-01, p.40. 
244H.B. Bousfield, Letter to J.P. Richardson, 1880-01-09, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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Along with T0mple, Richardson was ordajned priest by 

Bousfield245 and took his oath of canonical obedience 
to him as bishop of Pretoria.246 

To Capetown for the Episcopal Synod cf December 1880 

The last journey of the Bishop in 1880 was to Cape 

Town for an Episcopal Synod to confirm the election 
of Douglas McKenzie as Bishop of Zululand.247 Bousfield 

had already accepted McKenzie for th~ post. He wrote 

to Jone~: "I should indeed be glad to come to Capetown 
for a Synod, for his [D. McK~nzie's] confirmation & 
consecration, if only I can find the money for so 

expensive a journey, and provide for Pretoria, d~ring 
my absence. But I shall make every eifcrt to be 
present, as I am most anxious to conf~r with the 

Bishops of. the Province on the boundar~• c.:ue~tion, b 

if necess~ry also on the question of the i~vestment 
of the endowment of this.see which I shculd like co 
have invested one half in the Gape C~lony, & one half 
up he!:e."248 

Eventually Bo~sfield decided to go because or t~e 
investment of the endowment of the see.249 !r. a 

. letter which shows his attention to detail he asked 
Jones which rc~e3 he should take for the c0nsecration: 
" •.. and I am mo~t reedy as to such subjecc~ to con­
form to custom, so only desire to knew your ~ishes 

and I will be as scarlet as the Sc[arle)t Lad7 herself, 
or as black as S[isho;p Hooper, or ready for either, 

or both, saving only respect for post cart restric­
tions."2SO 

Meanwhile in the Transvaal there were rumours of 

unrest. The Bishop did not believe that the Boers 

would fight and felt that conversations wit~ people 
upheld this view. "But I never remember one man before 

24511Pretoria," Mission Field, 1881-09-01, p.330-331. 
l46H.B. Bousfield, Acta Book 1878-1899·, MSS, Bousfield Collection, CPSA • 

Archi~~s, Wits, Johannesburg, South Afr~ca, p.7. 
247sousfield, Six years ... , p.54. 
248tt.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jones ., 1880-07-27, Bousfield Coflection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
249u . B. Bousfield, Letter to W. W. Jon~s, 1880-09-27, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
2SOH.B. Bousfield, Letter co W.W. Jones, 1880-08-21, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa, 
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the war exprecs the idea that the Boec5 would fight. 

If then, when I first went to the Cape, I expressed a 

like incredulity, I spoke the language uf all with 
whom I had cbme ~J.nto contact. n 251 

Roberts disa1reed, writing ir. the margin of his =opy 
of the Bishop's memoirs: ttThis was not my experience . . 

Country people assured me of it. But the E·ngl ish 

townsfolk djd not believe it, neith~r did I. AR 11 252 

The Bi~hop l€ft for Cape Town on 1880-11-17253 by 

post cart and then by train from Be~ufort West. He 

estimated the cost of the round trip as about 

iioo.254 When he returned to the Transvaal the Boers 

were in revoll and the country was in a stace of war. 

3.6 Bousfield and the British Administration 

When the Bishop had been in ihe Transvaal for two mon~hs, he 

wrote to Sir Michael Uicks-Beach who had succeeded carnarvon as . 
Colonial Secretary in 1878-0J.255 "You kindly exprcasea a wish 

[?) to hear fro~ rue when I reached my new horn~ in ttis remote 

colony."256 In his report he stressed the ne~d fer a railway 

to help lower the cost .:,f 1 iv ing, the lack of education, the 

need for skilled labour ancl ind us trial tr.aining f~= - the Africans. 
He also asked Sir Michael for a grant of land: ~The hope you 

kindly held out to me of 1ecei~ing a grant of land to ~yself 

and my children, I would re;oind you of it, and vent .. ,r~ to 

press the claim on private and public grounds.••257 

The grant was not forthcoming from the British Administration 

but Bousfield did buy land in Heidelberg: flI will gladly take 

the whole four erven at i. 7. 10. - each, I paying transfer 

151Bousfield Six years ...• p.53-54. 
252Roberts annotated copy of Bousffold, ~ix years ... , p.54. 
Z53G.Y. Lagden, Diary 1880, 1880-H-17, MSS, Ladgen Papers, MSS Af. s 144, 

Rhode~ House Library, Oxford, Britain. 
254H.B. Bousfield, "Letter to E.H. Bousfield, 1880-12-01," Occasional paper of 

the <liocese of Pretoria, number 1, 1881-01, p.31. 
--ii5Preston, The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley ...• p.313, 32.33 . 

25lH.B. Bousfield, Letter to N. Hicks-Beach, 1879-03-13, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

257rbid. 
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expenses. Will you have them all duly conveyed to 'Henry 

Brougham Bousfield, o.o. Bishop of Pretoria, his heirs, execu­
tors, administrators or assigns.' Please be particular as to 

this as I shall purchase for myself, this land, and not for the 

see."258 surely, if this was so, the" ... o.o. Bishop of Pre­
toria ... ,"was irrelevant? 

3.7 Pretoria Parochial Organisation 

In spite of his constant travels during 1879 the Bishop did not 

neglect his episcopal duties in Pretoria. Seventeen candidates 

were confirmed at St Alban's on 1879-04-25 and a month later 

one woman was confirmed.259 The Bishop described his work in 

Pretoria during 1879 as: "At home, writing, teaching, accounts."26 

3.7.1 The new St Alban's Church 

The Bishop was involved in getting the new church in 

Pretoria completed261 but by the end of August the 
new Church had run into problems.262 

Timber could not be ob~ained. 

Labour was very scarce and expensive. 

The Zulu War had taken nearly all the transport, 
so rates for carriage were high. 

The grass was so poor that the oxen were dying 
along the way and this had also raised transport 

costs. 

The Bishop began his year with Advent, the liturgical 
new year.263 He wished to get the Pretoria congregation 

moved from the old church to the larger new one264 by 

Advent Sunday, 1879-11-30. To the Bishop, accustomed 

to his large Victorian Church at Andover, the new 

258H . B. Bousfield, Letter to E.N. Noyce, 1879-05-01, Bousfield Collection, CPS~ 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

259"Church wants in Pretoria," Net, 1879-10-01, p.146. 
260H.B. Bousfield, "Diocese of Pretoria report for quarter ending 1880-09-29," 

Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 1, 1881-01 , p. 10 . 
261H.B. Bousfield, Letter to B. H. Dewey, 1880-04-24, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, J9hannesburg, South Africa. 
26211 1n the Transvaal," Mission Field , 1879-12-01, p.551-552. 
263Bousfield, Six years . .. , p.48. 
264Bousfield, The Bishop's account of the months October to December 1879 . . . , p.5. 
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Pretoria church did not look as he felt a church 

should from the outside but it had been made to look 
a little ecclesiastical on the inside.265 

On the Sunday before Adv~nt the Bishop let it be 
known that he wished the Advent Sunday services to be 

held in the new church so the following week was a 

flurry of activity as the floor still had to be 

levelled and the furniture moved. By the Wednesday 

it seemed to the Bishop that he had been unrealistic 

in his estimation as workmen could not be found and 
the Government refused to allow convicts to be used 

for sectarian work. However with the help of an 

engineering officer, Major Yeatman Biggs, a fatigue266 

party was sent on the Thursday. Even the Bishop 

helped and the work was completed down to the bell 

being hung outside.267 Roberts in his annotated copy 

of Six years in the Transvaal wrote: "Don't leave me 

out. I worked my best, much harder than the B[isho]p, 

who chiefly did the talking. AR"268 

Godfrey Lagden noted in his diary that the Bishop 
returned from a trip on Friday 1879-11-21269 so he 
actually had only nine days in Pretoria before the 

opening of the new church. Lagden himself helped to 

get the church ready on Saturday 29th November.270 

The fittings of the old church had to be transferred 

to the new St Alban's and also the marble. font sent 

to the Cathedral by the Devonshire parish of Plymton 

St Mary's.271 "These arrangements, with such lamps 

and carpet for the choir as the stores of the little 

city could provide, and matting to our still mud 

floor, made the plain hut building look more church­

like, ... The one old thing in it is my humble throne, 

made, after the model of the stalls in Winchester 

265P.D.F., First years report ...• p.4-5. 
266fatigue COD soldiers' non-military duty 
267aous f ieid, Six years ... ·, p.49 . 
268Roberts annotated copy o f Bousfield, Six years . .. , p. 49. 
269G.Y . Lagden, Diary 1879, 1879-11-21, MSS , Lagden Papers, MSS af. s 143, 

Rhodes House Library, Oxf ord, Britain. 
' 270rbid ., 1879-11-29. 

271vide p.128. 
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Cathedral, of old wood given me by the Dean and 

Chapter, some of which was supporting the roof from 

the days of William of walkelyn, the Norman Bishop, 

full 800 years. I need not add how highly I prize 

this, our chief treasure. May my work bear fruit as 
long!"272 

The move went off well, apart from" some difficul-

ties about assigning seats to some who still have the 

old English notions on the matter, I should have all 
seats free, but those who wish otherwise are treating 

the question in so good a spirit, that we shall no 

doubt be able to settle some plan by which harmony 

may be preserved, and a common love and zeal for our 

little church, and the spiritual fabric also, may be 
secured." 27 3 

The Bishop felt that he had to be in control of the 

Cathedral services: • *The Cathedral being Parish 

Church, or rather parish Church being by desire of 

the people, adopted by me as Cathedral, I felt bound 

to stipulate that its ritual & services should be 

under my control, to avoid such scenes as S(outh] 
Africa has elsewhere seen, to keep myself from a 

Cathedral which would be a hindrance instead of help, 

therein I had all the people with me. I plainly said 

I could do without a Cathedral, but I could not be a 
show, or dummy, in it 11 274 

The services at St Alban's had continued. During 

Advent 1879 the Bishop had given readings on Wednesdays 

and Fridays from the Book of Revelation followed by a 

metrical Litany and collects. This was in addition 

to the usual services.275 On 1879-12-21 Roberts and 

Spratt had been ordained priest by Bousfield. Roberts 
continued with his schoolteaching and Spratt was sent 

to Standerton.276 

272Bou~field, The Bishop's account of t~e months October to December 1879 .. . , p . 5. 
273P.D.F . , First year's report ... , p.4-5. 
274H.B. Bousfield, Letter to A. Wood, 1880-07-28, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
275H.B. Bousfield, The Bishop's account of the months October to December 1879 .. . , 

p . 6. 
276rbid., p.6. 
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The move to the new Church resulted in increased 

congregations and doubled offertories.277 The army 

orderly assigned to the Bishop as acting Chaplain 

cared for the Church.278 The Bishop had further 
plans for St Alban•s279 but the war put a stop to 

them. 

The Bishop called St Alban's his pro-Cathedral, which 
the c.o.o. defines as a substitute for a Cathedral. 

Sir Garnet Wolseley found this title pretentious: 

"Went to church with the troops in what Bishop Bons­

field - or Bouncifield as he is appropriately called 

in Natal - styles his 'pro-Cathedral'. He had a 

parson or an 'acolyte' to carry his crosier in front 

of him. The tawdry attempt to give this protestant 

place of worship the appearance of a Roman Catholic 

church was very painful to see."280 In his report to 

the Pretoria Diocesan Fund at the end of 1879 the 

Bishop explained his plans for a Cathedral complex: 

"I must not forget to add that we have secured the 
land eastward of the present church, whereby our 

present building may be regarded as a pro Cathedral 

no longer, but what is will be able to be used as 

long as it will last: and additions can be made to 

it to almost any extent ever likely to be required, 

as we have now a considerable plot lying together in 

a square block, and two smaller plots close at hand, 

on which I hope in time to see our schools erected, 

and a house or houses for our clergy."281 

curing Lent 1880 there were the usual daily services 
with one addition. At 8 p.m. a musical Litany was 

held and a sermon preached. The Lent services were 
better attended in 1880 than they had been in 1879.282 

277H.B. Bousfield, The Bishop's account of the months October to December 1879 . .. , 
p.6 . 

278H.8. Bousfield, Letter to Colonel Gildea, 1880-06-19, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

279H . 8. Bousfield, Letter to E. Durnford, 1880-08-12, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa. 

280Preston, The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley ... , p.246. 
281H.B. Bousfield, The Bishop's report for the months January to March 1880 ... , 

p.4 . 
282rbid., p.4. 
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Since Bousfield was forced to remain in Pr~tocia he 
turned hin orga~ising ability to the completion of 

the new Cathedral and to the cemetery. ~s a result 

of his persi s tence the Church was improved. Before 
this, on 1880-02-29, the chJrch had bc~n flooded and 
servict"?S had tad to be cancelled. 283 rn April the 

Church was plastered. Dousfield wro~e to Law of t:ie 
improvements: "The plasterers are in the Church at 

last, the roof is finished, the crosses at. each en~, 
the wincow.s .:ill ready to go in when the plasterers 
came out."284 New seats were put i~ and a chancel 
added ~ith seats on platforms for th~ choir an1 clergy, 

and accommndetion for the priest with assistYnt and 
Gospeller.285 

The Bishop pre~ched frequently. Sir Garna~ was areatly 
upset by a sermon on 1 Corinthians 7: "Wt:nt to 
evening s~rvice & heard this horrid Bish8p preach on 
that incecerit chapter on marriage in· Corinthians. It 

was a filthy set!Tlon that no girl should have listened 
to: indeed th~ chapter from which t i 1e tex~ ;.~s ~::?ken 
should never ~e read in church."26~ rn · spite of 

disagreeing wi t~ the sermon the next Su~d~y evening 
saw Sir Garnet and more in church: " ... .. I went to 
evening service to the Church here which was well 
conducted & the Bishop did not preach a· prJ~i€nt287 
sermon."288 

Sir Garnet was n stern critic of sermons. The previous 
year he had been t~ the old St Alban's when ~ither 
Rober ts or Law had preached: "Went to the Bis hop's 
church: The fellow who preached tried to prove 

there was an intermediary heaven, _a purgatory in fact: 

he called it all sorts of names, Hades, Purgatory, 
. . 

etc. etc. but he had not the courage to call it purga-
tory: a wolf in sheep's clothing was he, & a ccward 

2P.3Preston, The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley ... , p.243. 
~8' . 
• ➔H.B. Bousfield, Lett~r to A.J. L~~. 1880-04-23 , Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, Sou~h Africa. 
28511Pretoria," Mission Field, HsS0-09-01 , p.317. 
~86Preston, The South Afr i can jour~al of Sir Garnet Wolseley ... , p.254. 
287prurient COD given to or aris ing f r om indulgence of lewd ide~s 
288Preston, The South African journa_l cif Sir Garnet Wol"seley .. . , p.258 . 
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withal. How I longed to apply my boot to his stern!"289 

The Bishop did not have a high opinion of Roberts' 
preaching either, and complained that he was" ... 
assisted only by Mr Roberts (of s. Augustines) who is 

Master of the Boys School, and so bad a preacher and 

public officiant that the people will not go to Church 

if they know he is going to preach. It was a really 

great [?] trial to me to ordain him priest, but 

necessity compelled and tho' I cannot excuse, I cannot 

but sympathize with the people He seems unable to 

comprehend the idea of preaching decently ..... 290 so 

Sir Garnet had probably heard Roberts. 

The Cemetery 
The cemetery also engaged the Bishop's attention. Law 

had tried to get this enclosed by holding public 

meetings and a Committee had been formed. However 

because of legal problems nothing had happened and 

the Committee had been dissolved. Law advised the 

Bishop to allow the legal questions to settle them­

selves and had given him the money collected, approxi­

mately jJo.291 The Bishop used the offertory collec­
tion at St Albans from 1880-01-01 to -09-31, a sum of 
£292 16s 2d, to pay Church expenses and the stipends 

of Law and an assistant for the Bishop (both sums 

ceased on 1880-07-01). £100 was spent on enclosing 

the cemetery.292 

The Bis~op accepted Henshall's tender for the work: 
11 1 hereby accept the tender you have made to me for 

enclosing the four erven of ground appropriated to 

the English Church, and shall [be] obliged by your 

proceeding with the work immediately."293 

2B9Preston, The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley ... , p.125. 
290H .B. Bousfield, Letter to Miss Barber, 1880-07-22, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
29laousfield, Six years . .. , p .51. 
292H.B. Bousfield, "Report for quarter ending 1880-09-29," Occasional paper of 

the diocese of Pretoria, number 1, 1881-01 , p.9. 
293H.B. Bousfield, Letter to J . W. Henshall, 1880-02-13, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa. 
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The work was completed within three months. The 

Bishop told Law of its progress: "The posts & wires 

are all round our Burial Ground, the gate is to be 

put up at once, and then I hope to get a hedge planted, 
a large cross erected on the mound, and a bier made 

for funerals."294 

Once the enclosure was complete the Bishop wrote to 

the Governor, Sir Owen Lanyon: "I am happy now to 

report the almost finished enclosure of the Church's 

portion of the Burial Ground, and am anxious to make 

sure of the indefeasibility of her title to it before 

moving further. Will you kindly find out for me, 

what her strict title is, and if there be any possi­

bility of her disturbance in the use and regulation 

of her portion: and should there be any such danger, 

put me in the way of securing a Legislative; or some 

unquestionable Government title, that would secure 

its use as a Cemetery to the Church for ever."295 

It is not clear whether he was ever given this title 
but on 1880-06-04 there was a discussion in the Legis­

lative Assembly on his action of enclosing this 

land.296 The Bishop asked for elucidation on these 
questions and then discovered that his actions at the 

cemetery were at fault and he was charged with enclo~ 

sing and appropriating public ground. The Bishop was 

able to show off his legal knowledge in the ensuing 
discussion: "I pleaded common decency 1 s requirements 

as my justification, but knowing how little they 

would stand before legal quibbles, at once deferred a 

journey to examine the legal status. This I soon . 

found very satisfactory; the ground has been appro­

priated to sepulture297 by the Volksraad before the 

annexation, and intrusted to the charge of a Committee, 

whose rules determined to assign portions to the several 

294H.B. Bousfield, Letter to A.J . Law, 1880-04-23 , Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

295H.B. Bousfie ld , Lette r to Sir Owen Lanyon, 1880-05-12, Bousfie ld Collection , 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa. 

296H.B. Bousfield, Lette r to Sir Owen Lanyon, 1880-06-05, Bousfie ld Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa. 

297sepulture COD burying , putting in a grave 
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congregations in Pretoria, ... My justification was 

complete ... "298 The Bishop was pleased with the ~nd 
results. The cemetery " ... which has been hitherto 
a disgrace to our race and civilisation and Chris­
tianity, is now decently enclosed, and I hope soon to 
see hedges planted and dedicated to its holy use, if, 
as I fear, the laws of the colony, in their confusion, 
stand in the way of the consecration of a freehold."299 

As acting Military Chaplain 
When Law left the Transvaal in January 1880 Bousfield 
had been forced to remain in Pretoria as its parish 

priest and had taken over Law's duties as military 
chaplain.JOO At first the Bishop had ridden up to 
the barracks for service but this increased his work 

load so the troops used to come down for service at 8 
a.m.: " the service fell in well with my plans, 
enabling me to comply with that old Canon of the 

English Church, so commonly and conveniently ignored 
by many who profess great regard for the ancient and 
'correct', which forbids a priest to celebrate until 
he have said Matins. 11 301 Bousfield found the work 
" a most pleasant labour. The great number of sick 
and funerals has made the trial; the eight o'clock 

I 
congregation, which makes the service a reality, has 

caused its gre~test pleasure, though of course an 
increase of labour - but, thank God, that is pleasure; 
and the number of soldiers who attend at the other 
services shows that they 

their acting chaplain to 
the kingdom of God."302 

appreciate the efforts of 
speak plainly the things of 

The Bishop always preached 
at the 8 a.m. service.303 Sir Garnet Wolseley attended 
some of these military church parades.304 

298Bousfield, Six years ... , p.51-52. 
29911Pretoria," Mission Field, 1880-09-01, p. 317. 
300sousfield, Six years ... , p.49. 
30lrbid., p.49-50. 
302sousfield, The Bishop's report for the months January to March .. . , p.3-4. 
303"Pretoria," Mission Field, 1880-09-01, p.310. 
304e.g. Preston, The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley ... , p . 204. 
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William Russell was a war correspondent of the Daily 

Telegraph with the British troops on the Sekhukhune 

Campaign. On 1879-11-21 the Daily Telegraph p•Jblished 
a report dated 1879-10-10 written by Hussell from 

Pretori~, in which he accused the trocps of u~disci­
plined behaviour towards the citizen!:. of the Tr ar,svaa] 

i.e. Boers bnd Africans: He then accu~ed the militacy 
chiefs i.e. Wolseley, of allowing t~ese conditions to 

occur.305 ~- Preston, the ~ditor of Wolseley's diaries, 
writes of this incident: "[Wolseley] therefore tried 
to make out that Russell's evidence w~s ill-founded 

and his motives wrongheaded. But Herrison fa member 
of Wolseley's staff], always an indepePdent critic, 

comments upon the prevalence of slack di£C;?line, 
largely at-tributi~g it to a combination nf _prolon9ed 

boredom, uncertain.and indecisive lea=ership an~ the 
defused tenEions which come automatically to soldiers 

long primed for a great battle.which did not eventu~te. 

Wolsele~! .. seems to have attributed Rt;::;::;ell's - .i!'!de~d 
any civilians' - abuse of the military t;o _petty personal 
mot iv es : . . . !• 3 0 6 

The Bishop, without checking the charges wit~ Wolseley, 
preached a sermon on the allegations. Wolscl~y noted 
in his diary: "The Bishop who had evid•entl~• been 

reading Billy Russ~ll's letter of abuse of cur sol­
diers, pitched i~to them roundly for their 'violence'. 
I have therefore determined upon sending a copy of my 

letter in answer to these charges to the newspapers 
in this Colonies. The W[ar) O[ffice] cannot there-

fore avoid publishing it in England. Billy Russell 
dislikes me already, & now I shall have him as a 

violent enemy for lifa - I cannot ~elp it - I despJse· 
him as a mis·erable coward & slanderer of brave men, 

the meanest of whcm he would not dare to face in any 
fair fight. 11 307 

J05w. Russell, "The British Army in the Transvaal, u Daily Telegraph, 1879-11-21, 
British Library Newspaper section, Cclindale, London. 

306Prcston, The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley ... , p.329, 
note 199.16. 

307Ibid., p.212 
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One wonders how the soldiers felt about the sermon if 

this is how their Commanding Officer felt. Sir 

Garnet also did not like the Bishop: "The Bishop, 

Lanyon & Billy Russell dined here [at Government 

House]. The last named goes home tomorrow, the first 

named is full of bumptiousness & ready to argue on 

any subject, no matter what it may be, and although 

it may be one regarding which he has no means of 

knowing anything. How [a]like Bishops are to one 

another in their bigotry, their prejudices & the 
narrowness of their view."308 

As well as conducting the military services the 

Bishop also309 

visited soldiers in the hospital. 

held Bible Classes among the army families when 

they reached Pretoria. 

visited army camps when on his travels. 

The Bishop, being chronically short of money, found 

the military salary of ~130 p.a. useful for his 
stable expenses.310 In January 1880 the bishop wrote 

to the Colonel Commanding, Pretoria, suggesting that 
as a result of his work among the troops in the Trans­

vaal, both in Pretoria and on his travels, he should 

be appointed" ... a Chaplain General in the Transvaal, 

so as to allow of my controlling the camp (as well as 

parochial) ministrations of the Clergy, mostly I 

regret to say, young inexperienced men of inferior 

stamp, and visiting occasionally stations without 

Clergy, without being accounted to neglect the duties 

of acting Chaplain here."311 Nothing seems to have 

come of this and the Bishop remained as acting Chap­

lain in Pretoria. 

Visiting 
As Pretoria parish priest during 1880 Bousfield 
worked, as always, to a plan and for a specific aim: 

308Preston, The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley ... , p.193. 
309Bousfield, Six years ... , p.50 . 
JlOrbid., p .50-51. 
311H.B. Bousfield, Letter to the Colonel Commanding, Pretoria, 1880-01-13, 

Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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"I have done my utmost also to visit the people in 

their houses, and so make way for what I desire in 

the next curate of Pretoria 'the house-going parson', 

who shall make 'a Churchgoing people'. I may report 

favourably of our increased congregations and communi­

cants, and offertories. 11 312 

Pretoria clergy 
The Bishop felt let down by his diocesan clergy, and 

grumbled in an article for Mission Field" ... the old 
adage, 'If you want a thing done, do it yourself', is 

ten times more true than usual in this diocese."313 

Not the sort of remark to make publicly about one's 
staff in a widely-read magazine. 

3.8 Diocesan organisation 

3.8.1 Staff 
3.8.1.1 H. Adams 

3.8.1.2 

Henry Adams seems to have remained in Pretoria 

until he was sent to Middelburg in May 1880. He 

accompanied the Bishop on one of his journeys to 

Middelburg during November 1879 for ten days.314 

In Pretoria Adams kept up his studies and on 

1880-05-25 he was ordained deacon by the Bishop, 
who licensed him to preach in Middelburg.315 

H. Sadler 
Sadler was sent ·first to Middelburg to start the 

school and institute regular services; then 

Adams was sent316 as deacon-schoolmaster. The 

Bishop felt that the fees from the school could 

supplement the income of the deacon.317 

When the Bishop arrived in the Transvaal Sadler 
had been stationed at Zeerust for a number of 

312"Pretoria," Mission Field, 1880-09-01, p . 316. 
313Ibid., p.317. 
314sousfield, The Bishop's account of the months October to December 1879 . .. , p.4 . 
315H.B. Bousfield, Acta Book 1878-1899, MSS, p .3-4, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives , Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa. 
316H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Kirsten, 1880-04-26, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
317Bousfield, The Bishop's account of the months October to December 1879 ... , 

p. 2-3. 
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years. On his first visit to Zeerust the Bishop 
sensed a division between the laity and their 

priest but thought he had been able to heal the 

breach.318 Roberts described Sadler thus: "The 
meekness & patience which he displayed marks him 
to my mind with Mr (William] Richardson, as one 

of our greatest Christian heroes in the Trans-
vaal. The Church (in zeerust) is his monument."319 

As well as caring for zeerust Sadler itinerated 
to Lichtenburg.320 

On 1880-04-13321 Sadler left zeerust after trouble 
with the congregation. Unfortunately the Bishop 
had no clergyman to replace him322 but felt he 

should remove Sadler rather than send him back: 

"I cannot find blame attaching to him, so shall 
try to find him work elsewhere; but he is too 
much the worse for South Africa to be easily 
well placed."323 

The Bishop wrote to the zeerust congregation 
through Rutherford: "Your reference to Mr Sadler's 
leaving, and his account of it (who arrived here 
yesterday) are equally painful, and demand from 
me every effort to know the whole truth con-

cerning it, which I do trust the people of zeerust 
will cordially & sincerely state to me, on my 
approaching vislt."324 

Sadler reached Pretoria on 21st April, remaining 
there a week and helping his Bishop.325 On 27th 

April he was sent to Middelburg to start the 

318Bousfield, First year's report . .. , p . 7. 
319R b G • 14 o erts, enes1s .. . , p .. 
320H.B . Bousfield, Letter t~ H. Sadler, 1879-05-13, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
321111tinerant work in the Transvaal," Mission Field, 1881-03-01, p.123. 
322Bousfield, The Bishop ' s report for the months January to March 1880 ... , p.6. 
323Bousfield, Report for April, May and June 1880 .. . , p . 3. 
324H.B . Bousfield, Letter to R. Rutherford, 1880-04-23, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
325 111tinerant work in the Transvaal," Mission Field, 1881-03-01, p.123. 
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school and work before Adams' advent.326 When 

Adams arrived Sadler returned to Pretoria. 

On his return he again helped the Bishop in the 
parish but always under Bousfield's guidance: "I 

must add that the Bishop most kindly and patiently 
put me through my pacings in the matter of what-

ever I had to do; After remaining in Pretoria 

about three weeks thus occupied, the Bishop took 

me with him as his (acting) chaplain on a three 

weeks' visitation journey. I may say, en passant, 

that for those three weeks I found myself in the 

constant presence of one of the least time wasting, 

the least exacting, and the most unselfish of 

men. The journey embraced the towns of Rusten­

burg, zeerust, Lichtenburg, and Potchefstroom, 

besides other places ... "327 This visit enabled 

the Bishop to get the Zeerust congregation and 

Sadler together to discuss their differences. 

On 1880-08-02 the Bishop sent Sadler to Wakker­

stroom with instructions to itinerate to Utrecht 

and he worked in this area until his death in 
1904.328 

J. Thorne 

By July 1880 the Bishop still had not solved the 

problem of Thorne's holiday. He had hoped to 

send him away for three months and replace him 

with S~dler. In this way the work at Lydenburg 

would continue and Thorne could return refreshed.325 

However this did not happen as the Bishop sent 

Sadler to Wakkerstroom. In August 1880 the 

Bishop had plans for sending a new clergyman, 

G.D. Webster, to Lydenourg when he arrived from 
Britain and had been broken in to the work.330 

326H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Kirsten, 1880-04-26, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

327 11 Itinerant work in the Transvaal," Mission Field, 1881-03-01, p.124. 
328Roberts, Genesis . . . , p.17. 
J29sousfield, Report for April, May and June 1880 ... , p.4-5. 
330H.B . Bousfield, Letter to J. Thorne, 1880-09-27, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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The Bishop wrote sternly to Thorne who felt that 
' 

his wants were being neglected: "You must not 

write to me as if I would not help you. You 

know that but for Law's desertion which has tied 

me here I would have not a man to hold this 

place (& Potchefstroom) & could not even visit 

you .... I never suspect others of personal 

motives, but am sorry to see you writing as if 

'rest & be thankful' were possible this side of 
the grave, ... "331 

C. Spratt 
At Standerton Spratt was able to collect fl95 
towards the new church.332 

F. Dowling and the Thurgoods 
The Bishop had trouble with three of his original 

mission party. Frank Dowling was the son of the 

grocer in Andover and had come to the Transvaal 

as a candidate for ordination. He decided to 

abandon his studies and found secular employment.33~ 

The Thurgoods left the Bousfields employment 

when Mrs Bousfield was ill.334 "My disappointments 

have been very great. One of my Candidates for 

orders has failed me, the two people who came 

(thro' Miss Wigram) as I should have said •serving 

brother & sister' have deserted, a work [?) for 

which they had special powers, and me in my 

deepest trial. My Augustinians have shown more 

care to money than to serve the Bride of Christ, 
but God has not failed yet.•335 

Clergy education 

The Bishop had the idea that a clergyman could 
be self-supporting as a deacon-schoolmaster 

while studying, as Adams was at Middelburg. 

331H.B. Bousfield, Letter to J. Thorne, 1880-10-18, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa . 

332Bousfield , Report for April , May and June 1880 ... , p.5. 
333H.B . Bousfield, Letter to H. Dowling, 1880-07-30, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
334H , B. Bousfield, Letter to Miss Wigram, 1880-01-13, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
335H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Miss Barber, 1880-07-22, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archi~es, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
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He explained his plan in a letter to a prospec­
tive worker: "My original idea was that your 

brother should be stationed in some of our 
districts as Reader and Schoolmaster, in which 

capacity he might (be) qualifying for Holy 

Orders, and that you should be with him, & help 

in forming a school, sharing his stipend 
etc."336 

The Bishop continued with the training of his 
clergy which S.P.G. made a condition of their 

grant: " ... the attainments of the Div inity 
students to be tested by the Preliminary Theo­

logical Examination conducted under the auspices 

of the Theological Faculty of the University of 
Cambridge."337 

The Bishop sent A. Temple a syllabus to work 
through before he could be ordained priest.338 

Bousfield told J.P. Richardson that he would 
only ordain him on the condition that he learnt 

Greek and that he would send him a course.339 

The Bishop did not like the products of St 
Augustine's, Canterbury, describing them thus: 

"The Augustinians are bad eno', oh such conceit! 
such airs! such incompetence & want of go."340 

His two former Augustinian students were Roberts 

and Spratt and one wonders if the Bousfield's 

criticisms applied to one or both of them. 

Clergy roll in December 1880 
when the Bishop went to Capetown for the Epis­

copal Synod at the end of 1880 the diocesan 
Clergy roll was as follows: 

336H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Miss Powell, 1880-11-09, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa. 

337sPG, Grants, 1879-05, D Collection, USPG Archives, London, Britain. 
338H.B. Bous field, Letter to A. Temple, 1880-03-11, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
339H.B. Bous field, Letter to J.P. Richardson, 1880-01-09, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa. 
340H.B . Bousfield, Letter to E. R. Randolph, 1880-02-19, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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H.B. Bo;,1sfield 

A. Roberts 

C.R. Lange 

w. Richardson 
A. Templ~ 

J.P. Richardson 

C.M. Spratt 
J. Thorne 

H. Adams 

H~ Sadler 

bishop ?r~toric 

priest/ Pretori~ 
schoolmaster 

retired priest Pretoria 

priest Potchefstroom 
priest/ Potchefstroom 
missionary 

priest/ Rustenburg 
schoolmaster 

priest Stander ton 
pri~st/ Lydenburg 

schoolmaster 

deacon/ Middelburg 
schoolmaster 

priest Wakkerstroom 

Parochial oraanisation within the diocese 

While Pretocia-bcund through Law's abEen~e the Bi&hop 
set out his ideas on parochial organisation in the 
diocese: "~he work of the Church in Pr~tcri~, £ 

Potchefstroom, should be that of an Engli~~ p~=ish, & 

in the former place I am trying to make it :•'J. In the 
other places it is that of watcher on an 0utpost, 
looking for stray sheep. I want 3 more of i;.hese 

occupied, Heidelberg, Middleburg, Wakr.erstr ~•)Ii, and 
two itineratir.g clergy. At present there i~ no 

opening for the ~hurct, to the heathen, ·t!te ;:;;,.('..; 1 ish 

- are heathen, but it is our duty and the unsp~akable 

comfort it would be to have mirids at home, turning to 
our heathen, prayin~ for them & preparing funds to go 
in when the Lord opens a door."341 

The vast distances made itinerant clergymen a necessity 

to" ••• impart of its life to such separate atoms. 

But if the souls 4re to be saved this is th~ work 
wanted, itinerant~ on horseback from place to place 
constantly at the work."342 

On 1880-03-09 th~ Bishop addressed a pastoral letter 

to the priests, deacons, churchwardens, sidesmen and 

--··------------------------------------
l41H.B. Bousficld, Letter to C. Bury, 1880-02-27, Bousfield Coll~ction, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
J.42Ibid. 
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members of the Church in the diocese of Pretoria.343 
Bousfield explained his actions and how he wanted the 
diocese organised. 

1. Law's departure had stopped his travelling in 
the Diocese. 

2. He explained how he wished the congregations to 
be organised. 

2.1 He wanted 2 Churchwardens and if possible 4 
sidesmen elected at an Easter vestry. The 
Bishop would act as Archdeacon because as 
yet there was none. 

2.2 The Church Councils working efficiently 
could prepare the way for a Synod. The 

Church Committees or Councils would consist 
of the 

Curate 
2 Churchwardens 
4 Sidesmen 

3. 3.1 The laity were to be urged to support the 
Church financially for its maintenance and 
work: "If the Church is to take root and 

flourish among us, it must be an endogen 
and not an exotic maintained from old Eng­
land."344 

3.2 The Bishop explained that educated clergy 
would only be attracted by adequate sala-
ries: "They will not seek wealth and ease, 
but they will need shelter from a harassing 
struggle with dirt, disorder and starvation."34 

3.3 The Bishop felt the best way to raise money 
was through the introduction of the tithe. 

4. S.P.G. had given money to the diocese. The Bishop 
requested that in each congregation a sermon 

343H. B. Bousfield, To the riests, deacons, churchwardens, sidesmen and members 
of the Church in the diocese of Pretoria 1880-03-09, Pretoria: Diocese of Pretoria, 
1880. 

3441bid., p.2. 
3451bid. , p.2 
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be preached and an offertory made for S.P.G. 
before the end of the Church year. 

This pastoral letter set out briefly ho~ the Bishop 
wanted the congregations to be organiscj, his wish 

that the dioc0se should be self-suppcrting and his 
conviction that S.P.G. deserved thei: support. H~ 

was prepared to start from sma'i1 beginnings to get 

the diocese going. None of the points he mentioned 
were bP.7ond ~he capability of each congregation. 

Boundary with the diocese of Zululand 

The Bishop ~as still concerned about the boundary 
between the dioceses of Zululand and Pr~toria. Dous­
field wrote ~o Macrorie asking him tQ tell Ransom to 

send alJ parti~ulars of the wakkerstroQm c~urch work 

to Bous!ield: "On sound ancient principlea both 
Wakkerstr0om & Utrecht should fall to th~ Transv,1ai 
Diocese. Ti·,e principle of divisiort adopted by the 

House of Bishops par ts them, leaving the ·former to 

me, and until they alter it, if yc,•J are et Newcastle 

you can reach {;trecht far easier than I frc-m. W:ikker­
stroom, if yo,1 would keep it under your wing~ but if 
I can send a man to Wakkerstroom the two c~n still go 
together."346 

Jones had second thoughts about Utrecht bei~ry the 
headquarters of t.h~ Zululand Mission c1nd explained 

his doubts to Miss Barber: " ... : • Utrecht has proved 
to be a very unh~a1thy place, dangerous to life and 
Wakkerstroom is probably in Pretoria Diocese. Indeed 

now that the Civil boundaries are defined it may very 
probably be decided by the B[isho]ps in the next 

Synod that it w[oul)d be well to make the boundari e s 

of the Diocese icler.tical with the Political boundaries 
& to bring Utrecht into Pretoria Diocese, a course 

wh[ich] w[ouldj probably be acceptable to the people 
at Utrecht. 11 347 

--···--------------------------------------
346H. B. Bousfield, Letter to W.K. Mac:rorie, 1880-02-13, Bousfielcl Collection, 

CPSh Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 5outh Africa. 
347w.w . Jones, Letter to Miss Barber, 1380-03-19, Collection of the Leccerbooks of 

the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Hits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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From the following extract it seems that the Episcopal 

Synod was to discuss the matter when they gathered to 

consecrate Douglas McKenzie as Bishop of Zululand. 

Jones wrote to Callaway, Bishop of St John's: ~My 

idea was that in October or November the Bishops 

might meet, such as can come, here in Synod, that we 

should appoint, consecrate, & send forth McKenzie as 

Bishop - that we should transact such other business 

as might be practicable, as e.g .... define clearly 
the boundary line of Pretoria Diocese & Zululand ... 0 348 

When Episcopal Synod was held in November 1880 it was 

dee ided: "The boundaries of the Diocese of Pretoria 

having been considered, and maps consulted, & presence 

of the Bishop Elect of Zululand obtained. Resolved 

that 'notwithstanding' the previous resolution to the 

contrary the Diocese of Pretoria do include the whole 

territory within the Civil Boundaries of the Transvaal, 

except Swaziland and the Baralong country should then 

fall within those bound. 11 349 Bousfield, having made 
a mountain out of a molehill, was the winner. 

Church buildings and property 
In the Diocese the Bishop kept a tight hold over the 

church buildings . . At Standerton the Building committee 

had collected funds for their church. The Bishop had 

promised !'100 of diocesan money for jJQO or more 

collected with the diocesan share being paid when the 

building was completed.350 The Bishop described the 

best building committee as" ... one of three members 

with two absent."351 The Standerton Building Committee 

wanted an iron church but the Bishop who did not want 

Spratt saddled with its debt felt that one of well­

plastered green brick would be best.352 The Building 

348w.w . Jones , Letter to H. Callaway, 1880-06-15, Collection of the Letterbooks of 
the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa . 

349w.w. Jones, Resolutions of the Synod of Bishops held Nov . and Dec. 1880, D 
Collection, USPG Archives, London, Britain. 

350H.B . Bousfield, Letter to C.H. Spratt, 1880-01-31, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

351H.B . Bousfield, Letter to C.H. Spratt, 1880-02-13, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
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Committee determined on their original plan,353 but 
it finally came to nothi~g. Spratt even spoke of 

leaving Standerton and the Bishop offered to find him 
an alternative post354 but he did not l~ave. 

In October 1630 Spratt acquired a hou~e which could 

be used for Church purposes. The Bi~bop refus'::'d to 
hand over part of the S.P.C.K. grant as the house had 
to be 

insured 
fr.ee from debt 

transferred to the Diocese 

However the Bishop said he would only ir.sist on the 
last point.355 

Adams - of Middelburg also submitted church rl~ns for 
comment. The Bishop's reply is reproduced to s:~ow 
how meticul'-'usly he considered therr. crno. the o::>mfor t 
of the congregation: "1. The"height of an altar 

must be propc,rtionate to its length ~ tha~ to the 

width of· the ,;hurch. The width of :riy propo~.-~d Church 
being 17/6, 5/3 would be nearly a third f-:-:: the length 
of the altar quite enough y.o_u will see if you can 
plan it out any where S/3 being the length you will 

find you will find 2/11 ample height, ahd 'Juif:e high 
enough to kneel at, & sufficient for standing, 
whereas 4 feet would be out of proportion to length, 

& inconvenient tor kn~eling, take two scale drawings 
& judge by them the proportion & remember 5/3 is the 
length of my desk & 2/11 is nearly 6 inches higher. 

4 feet would be nearly the top of the towers [?] ! 

2. If you try my views I think you will find them 
beautiful for perfection, & if you consider chat your 

congregation are kneeling or sitting while you stand, 
you will find it ample especially in a small church. 

J53H.B. Bousfield, Letter to C.M. Spratt, 1880-03-15, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
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3. I hope tllE:, Committee ha.ve not crowued out kn.eeling, 
which I much fear, or chancel space.«356 

The Bishop wish~~ Church property to be insured. The 
Zeerust congregation was given ¼100 from the S.P.C.K. 
grant to ins~re their Church. The Bi~hop wrote to 

Rutherford telling him sharply that 5ince the rnon~y 

had been paid out to them they had better insure the 
building immediately.357 The Bishop was even able to 
obtain insurance for thatched Churches.358 

In October 1880 the Bishop told J.P. Richardson of 
Rust~nburg t0'find a purchaser for the Jankowitz farm 
at Rustenburg as part of the money ~as to_go tc the 
Churcb.359 

This tight_control over finance and buildi~q was 

char~cte.ristic of aousfield in his su~cessfal efforts 
to keep the Diocese solvent. 

3.8.4.1 Dloces~n Trustees 
Rousfield wanted Church property tc be un6er the 

Diocesan Trustees. To Kirsten of Middelburg he 
explained carefully why the parish cou!d not 

hold th~ title deeds of the land and thal they 
should be held by the Provinc.ial Trust.ees 0r by 
the Bishop of the diocese.360 

Bousfield did exp~ct the British Admi~istration 
to give the C~ur~h grants of land. !n 1880 he 

requested an ~rf for the Church in Middelburg, 
even giving the erf numbers he wantea.361 

Whether the British Administration gave the erf 

is not clear but a site was obtained. The Middel­

burg congregation wanted the parochial synod to 

356tt.B. Bousfield, Letter to H. AJ~ms~ 1880-07-12, Bousfield Collectiun, CPSA 
Ar~h:ves, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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hold the title but Bousfield refused to assent 
to this.362 He told them that t~e title must be 

ves·ted either in the Bishop of Pret.or ia oc in 
the P-rov inci'al Trustees (as was th~ case with 
property in Pretoria, zc~rust an~ Lydenburg, .363 

When the diocese was awarded two erven in Pret~ri~ 
the Bishop asked for eith~r Rrven 661 and 662 or 
662 and 663. The Bishop ~pecified to whom the· 
land chould be conveyed: "Henry Brougham Bous­
field, D.D., Bishop of Pretoria, in trust for 

the Church of the Diocese of Pretoria, in the 
Province of South Africa, or Euglish Ch~rch, or 
cnurch of the Anglican Communion, in the s~id 

diocese of Pretoria, and his Success0rs i~ 
Office."364 

The orjtish Adminsi~ration award~c them erven 
661 and 662. Bousfield asked the Colcnial 

Office for transfer as soon as possible ~r.d for 
' a lowerin~ of tronsfer fees a~ the property was 

for pub) ic benefit. 365 By· October !86C the 

Bishop w.:ote to Sir Owen Lanyon: -:•1 a:n r,:roud to 
find my legal exception supported ·by t.he autho­
rity of th~ Attorney-General."366 He included 

in this lett~r th~ transfer of er£ 662 !or 
Lanyon•s correc~ion. 

The Bishop had pr~blems over Wilkinson's guaran­
tees offered from 1873 to 1875. He explained 

this to Willinm Richardson: "I quite understood 
the arrangements made by Bishop Wilkin~on, but 

like others of his plans, they had all ended in 

words, and no steps were ever taken to carry 

362H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Kirst~n, 1880-11-15, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Arc.:h:.ves, Wits, Johannesburg, South ,'.frica. 
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them out. Reckless, and unreasonable in my 

judgment, at their best, I should have repudi-
ated them all at once. n367 

Wilkinson's Pretoria house 
The confusion over Wilkinson's Pretoria property 

still continued. When Wilkinson and Law had a 
disagreement over the rents for the house Wilkin­
son wrote to Jones and not to Bousfield. Quite 
correctly Jones referred the matter to Bousfield, 
as Law's Bishop: "It seems to me (Jones] purely 

a matter of law for lawyers to settle. If the 
land is yours, conveyed to you personally, & you 
hold the deeds. Mr Law ... can have no possible 

legal claim to take the rents of the property ... 
He [Law] seems rather to imply that it was 
bought with money raised for the good of the 

Church in the Transvaal - but of course if it 
were so, you would never dream of claiming it 
now as yours."368 

Bousfield investigated the case and sent his 
findings to Jones: "We have the B(isho]p's own 
letters promising to carry it, speaking of it as 
Church property etc. so that ... his communi­

cation to me on the case of Pretoria is clear, 
and this is the real case. Mr Law's personal 
claims are a great addition to the strength of 
the case against the Bishop; but the Pretoria 
people have claim for a house announced as to be 
given over to their minister for a residence: 

and the Church of the Transvaal has also a claim 
on a house purchased by the Bishop with money 
raised for her service when he was acting on her 
behalf & pleading her cause."369 

367H.B. Bousfield , Letter to W. Richardson , 1880-01-12, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

368w.w. Jone s , Letter to T. E. Wilkinson, 1879-11-07, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Arc hbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

3G9H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1879-11-25, Collection of the Archbishops 
of Cape Town, CPSA Ar chives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 



- 190 -

The confusion over this house seemed to be caused 

partly by doubts as to whose money had purchased 

it and partly by the question of who owned the 

title deeds. The house had been transferred to 

T.E. Wilkinson but Law had the title deeds. 
Wilkinson had four erven of land but how many of 

these were vacant was not certain. Bousfield 

offered to buy the erven: "As the possession of 
the erven opposite to this house would be a . 
convenience to myself & successors, I shall be 

happy to give the valuation price, ,1105 for the 

unoccupied erf if Bishop Wilkinson will sell to 

me. I shall on the same ground make an offer 

for the parsonage house & erf, but that I feel 

it a painful duty to dispute the Bishop's right 

to dispense of it after his declarations and 

promises on the subject. I sincerely trust the 
Bishop will submit this question to arbitration 

'while Mr Law is in England, & not compel an 

appeal to the High Court here. Should the arbi­

trators or the court decide against the Parishio­

ners of Pretoria I would then gladly take the 
house also a~ a valuation."370 

To Wilkinson the house and land belonged to him 

as his late Chancellor had given him, personally, 

£500 to ·spend as he saw fit. With this money he 
had bought the house and erf in Pretoria.371 

Wilkinson had given Law the title deeds to the 
Parsonage House and said that he would convey it 

legally - to whom is not clear but presumably to 

the new Diocese. When Law left the Transvaal at 

the beginning of 1880 he handed the title deeds 

to Bousfield. Bousfield, after ten months, 

wrote to Wilkinson about the title deeds: "I 

must maintain that you are bound to complete 

this arrangement by giving legal transfer to the 
Church, & unless you do I shall retain the title 

370H.B. Bousfield, Letter to R.W.J. Johnstone, 1880-06-08, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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deeds, resist any attempt at sale, and, if neces­

sary, apply to the court to compel transfer. But 

I do sincerely hope you will not force upon me 

any such unpleasant course, but allow this diocese 
to escape the South African evil of litigation 

between prominent ecclesiastics, and therefore I 

would urge you to agree in a reference of the 

question to an English Bishop."372 Bousfield 

offered, if the arbitrator rules against the 

parish of Pretoria, to hand over the title deeds 

to Wilkinson. He was suspicious of Wilkinson 

and refused to go to arbitration unless Wilkinson 

pledged beforehand to give immediate transfer if 

the arbitrator ruled for the Pretoria Parish.373 

Wilkinson decided at the end of 1880 to sell the 
house and two erven in Pretoria.374 writing to 

tell Jones of his decision, he said that as far 

back as 1877 he had told Bousfield that he would 

not make over his Pretoria property to the Church; 

having raised so much of its endowment, his own 

finances would not allow it. Wilkinson felt 
that Bousfield should also return the title 
deeds to his property.375 

Like Bousfield, Jones felt that a lawsuit should 

be avoided if possible. He summed up his view 

of the conflict in a letter to Wilkinson: " 
as I understand it the property in question was 

bought with mon~y that was intrusted to you to 

use at your discretion, & is therefore your 

private property. The Bishop of Pretoria's 

contention, on the other hand, if I understand 

it aright is that by your own admission that 
money was intrusted you for ·church purposes in 

the Transvaal, that you deliberately used it 

372a.B. Bousfield, Letter to T.E. Wilkinson, 1880-10-08, Bousfield Collection, 
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for the purchase of a house for the cle rgyman at 

Pretoria, & that he holds documents in wh(ich] 

you promise to make it over t o the Diocese. 

Wh [ich] of these two views is the correct one, 
of course I do not know. I am free to 
confess that I was always under the distinct 

impression that the property was to all intents 

& purposes Church property & that, if not actually 

made over to the Church, this was only caused by 

inadvertance or by some small technical hind­
rance."376 

In his reply to Jones' letter Wilkinson reiterated 
that the money had been given to him uncondition­

ally, so the property was his, but he would 
accept Jones' arbitration.377 Jones was puzzled 

that Wilkinson refused to accept Bousfield's 

suggestion of an English bishop as arbitrator. 
In the same letter Jones wrote: "But no doubt 

the question with him [the Bishop of Pretoria} 

will be whether after you had, as he asserts, 

designated to him or to Mr Law the purpose for 
which the property was to be used, you w[oul)d 
be at liberty to change the object even with the 

original donor's assent, & to disendow practically 

the Parish of Preteoria."378 The dispute over 

Wilkinson's hoµse in Pretoria continued after 

the Transvaal reverted to Boer rule. 

Diocesan property in Pretoria 
In June 1879 the diocese bought erf 609 in 
Pretoria.379 

Towards the end of 1879 Bishop's Cote was enlarged. : 

Once the alterations were complete the Bishop 

376w.w. Jones, Letter to T.E . Wilkinson, 1881-01-05, Collection of the Letterbooks 
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valued Bishop's Cote at ~l soo. 381 The Diocesan 
Library .was also housed in Bishop's Cote, the 

books having been donated in England. The parish 

of Catham, near Esher, in Surrey had given 

approximately j' 100 for the purchase of books. 
In the beginning the bookshelves in the library 

had been stacked packing cases cut in half.382 

Once the Bishop had erven 661 and 662 he planned 
a cathedral complex. The diocese owned two 

erven in a square plot for the cathedral, and 

two smaller erven nearby on which he wanted to 

build the diocesan schools and a house or houses 
for the Pretoria clergy.383 

The Bishop's Commissaries in Britain 
Some of Bousfield's problems with recruiting and 

fund-raising in Britain came from the resignation o; 
his Commissary, E.F. Randolph, through ill-health.384 

Bousfield did not have a high opinion of Randolph's 

efficiency as a Commissary anyway.385 He was 

replaced by R.L. Giveen and E. Durnford, as joint 

Commissaries, who had to make a fresh start at 

raising funds, recruiting men and administering the 
Transvaal Prayer Union.386 In early 1880 Randolph 

engaged an H. Read to come to the Transvaal. However, 
as S.P.G. rejected him he did not come.387 

There seems to have been talk of Bousfield returning 
to Britain to recruit men and collect money. S.P.G. 

wrote to Jones to say that they deprecated Bousfield's 

381H.B . Bous field , Letter to Preller and de Villiers, 1880-01-27, Bousfield 
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fund-raising visit to Britain.388 The Bishop wrote 
to Durnford, his Commissary, that he would not go to 

Britain until Advent 1884 or 1885, which is what 

happened.389 

Plans for 1881 
In spite of all his work the Bishop still had time to 

plan for 1881: "I may add my present hope is to 

consecrate the Cathedral, be myself enthroned, instal 
my Canon, & appoint Priest ______ also, not later 

than February 2nd (1881} that so order may spring 

from the then three years of confusion."390 This 

'confusion' came from having to supply an infrastruc­

ture: "Money now is worth far more than double what 

it will be in a few years' time. Wisely spent in 

buildings and land, a good foundation for the tempora­

lities of the Church might readily be raised."391 

3.9 Mission work 

3.9.l Anti mission feeling 
The Bishop attempted only a little mission work. In 

the Transvaal there was an anti-mission feeling among 
the Whites. Spratt wrote to the Sub-Warden of St 

Augustine's, Canterbury about this: "{The colonist] 

is, however, quite against Missions to the heathen, 

looking upon such efforts as corrupting t'he natural 

virtues of the native. I seldom visit a house 

without hearing vigorous denunciations of Christian 

natives and strong expressions of opinion against all 

attempts at Christianizing them. You can imagine how 

such language stirs the spirit of an English Church­

man taught to regard one's duty to the heathen as of 

first importance, ... "392 Spratt, on his monthly 

itineration to Heidelburg and Standerton, was able to 
meet a cross section of rural opinion so his remarks 

should be accepted as accurate. 
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The Bishop, on his journey up country from Durban, 
had learnt a few words of an African language but 

found that he did not have enough time to learn 
more.393 This shows that he did have some interest 
in mission work. Within a few months of arriving in 
Pretoria he wrote to Crisp in the diocese of Bloem­

fontein asking for one more copy of the Sechuana 
Prayer Book for a missionary in the Transvaal. He 
also requested a copy of Crisp's Sechuana Grammar 
when it was published.394 Since the only Anglican 
mission work at this time was at Potchefstroom, the 
Sechuana Prayer Book was presumably for this field. 
The Bishop kept up his own Sechuana studies. He 
thanked Crisp for the Sechuana Grammar but complained 

that as he had so much work he did not have suffi­
cient time for his language studies.395 

The Bishop wrote quite openly towards the end of 1879 
about the lack of diocesan mission work: "We have at 

present no mission work among the natives, which your 
ladies could support directly, and there are great 
difficulties in the present state of colonial 
feelings, & politics in doing the most simple things 
with them."396 

Two missionaries from other diocese were working 
within the Pretoria diocesan boundaries. 

Henry Bevan of Bloemfontein 
The first was Henry Bevan of the diocese of Bloemfon­

tein who worked in the Klerksdorp-Bloemhof area of 
the Western Transvaal. The Bishop was pleased with 
Bevan's work and told him that mission work could be 
started at Zeerust.397 However the Bishop made 
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quite clear to Bevan his views on mission work: " 

so as to t -he importance of directing first efforts to 

the Christians of the land, & especially of our own 
communion. Yet I feel we have a duty to the heathen 

around, and in the midst of us a duty which we cannot 
neglect without spiritual & temporal loss. At present 
my infant Church cannot undertake it, ... 11 398 

J.P. Richardson of Rustenburg asked the Bishop's 
permission to give up his schoolteaching to start 

mission work. The Bishop was against this as he 

wished the congregations to be as self-supporting as 

possible. The clergyman could supplement his income 

from the school fees but mission work would have to 

be funded from the diocese which could not afford 
it.399 

Joel Jackson of Swaziland 

The second outsider to work within Bousfield's diocese 

was Joel Jackson who had started a station on the 

Swaziland border in 1868. Bousfield wrote to Macrorie, 

Bishop of Maritzburg about Jackson whom he felt should 

now be licensed by the Bishop of Pretoria and placed 
under his jurisdiction. Bousfield wanted to have 
whatever funds were collected400 for re-starting 

Jackson's station after the Zulu War but nothing came 
of this suggestion. 

There seems to have been some mission interest in the 
region to the east of the Drakensberg as the Bishop 

asked Macrorie to send him a Zulu testament and 

hymnal.401 Three weeks later he again wrote to 
Macrorie for an American hymna1.402 
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Potchefstroom 

For the start of Anglican mission work in Potchef­

stroom see p.142-143. The Bishop was able to send 

Alexander Temple from the diocese of Grahamstown to 

help William Temple and work as a missionary in 

Potchefstroom. He was able to visit those Africans 
who wished for Anglican instruction, at their kraals.403 

Temple wrote a report for the first Occasional paper 

in which he described a journey, lasting a week, 

during which he visited the kraals surrounding 

Potchefstroom.404 He wrote: "And I must first state 

that this visit was not undertaken of my own accord 

but on the repeated and urgent request of the nativV 

themselves." 405 Temple was accompanied by Jacob 

Tabane, the leader of the African Christians. At 

Kopje Alleen, their first stop, Temple held a service 
I 

in Dutch with Jacob interpreting. Temple was impresse~ 
at the people's desire for Christian teaching. 406 Of 

the other kraals visited, Deel Kraal had the largest 

number of believers. These people desired teaching 

and Temple held his Sunday services there. Temple 
issued an appeal for his Africans, writing that 
whenever they came into Potchefstroom they visited 
him.407 

Since mission work was not a priority of the diocese 
very little else was done for the Potchefstroom 

Africans. 

In Potchefstroom Temple rented a building for his 
African services but by March 1880 he had given this 

up. The Bishop advised him to get another for which 

the diocese would give ts towards the rent. Whether 

this grant was to be monthly, quarterly or annually 

is not clear. He suggested that Temple motivate 

403H.B . Bousfield, "Diocese of Pretoria report for quarter ending 1880-09-12," 
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404A. Temple, "Report," Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 1, 
1881-01, p . 21-24. 

405rbid ., p . 21. 
406rbid . , p.22-23. 
407Ibid. , p.24. 
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his Africans to build on land at the bottom of the 

Potchefstroom parsonage garden.408 

C.R. Lange 
A second clergyman who did mission work in the Pretoria 

diocese was C.R. Lange, an elderly priest from Grahams­
town who settled in Pretoria in July 1880.409 Lange 

was a German who had originally come to South Africa 

with the Berlin Mission and while working on the 

south-west border of Bechuanaland had learnt Tswana 
and Dutch. Later he had gone to Grahamstown and had 

joined the Anglican Church and been ordained priest. 

when his children settled in the Transvaal he joined 

them, living in Pretoria. 

Although over eighty years of age he offered his 

services to Bousfield as a missionary. However, 

through lack of funds, the diocese could not allow 

him to establish a mission congregation. The Bishop 
used him for cathedral work.410 Lange visited Africans 

who were not associated with the neighbouring German 

Mission and through this was able to meet with Africans 

baptised by the CPSA in other diocese. The Bishop 

felt that these people needed supervision and pastoral 
care: "I am striving to make some provision."411 

Lange held a Sunday service in Dutch for the mule 

drivers of the Military Transport Department. These 

services were interrupted when the 58th Regiment was 

transferred to Cape Town, and other troops were sta­

tioned at Pretoria. The coloureds and Africans 

wanted a church building and begged Lange to get a 

place of worship for them.412 Like Temple, Lange 

ended his report to the Bishop with a plea for his 

congregation: "The Church will have to do something. 

408H.B. Bousfield, Letter to A. Temple, 1880-03-11, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

409H.B. Bousfield, "Diocese of Pretoria report for quarter ending 1880-09-12," 
Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 1, 1881-01, p.11. 

410A. Roberts, "The foundation of the Native Mission in Pretoria," TS, p.2, 
Alfred Roberts Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

411H.B. Bousfield, "Diocese of Pretoria Report for quarter ending 1880-09-29," 
Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 1, 1881-01, p.11. 

412c.R. Lange, "Extracts from report of Rev. C.R. Lange," Occasional paper 
of the diocese of Pretoria, number 1, 1881-01, p.25-26 . 
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The field indeed is ripe for the harvest, but where 
are the labourers in this large and populous diocese? 
The net is tearing, and the boat sinking, but where 
are the helpers?"413 

Lange suggested that a farm should be bought for a 
Mission Station. This might become a Mission parish 
and be self-supporting. It was estimated that a farm 
of 6 000 acres would cost fl soo.414 Another of 

Lange's duties was to visit the African jail where 

Sekhukhune was a prisoner at this time. Roberts felt 
that Lange had failed to establish any permanent work 
in Pretoria.415 In any case he died the following 

year (1881). 

Evidently not much mission work was done in the 
Pretoria diocese before the war. If the war had not 
occured more might have been attempted and the slow 
rate of progress been at least maintained. 

3.10 Questions on ritua1416 and services 

Once the diocese of Pretoria had a bishop as its head his 
clergymen sent him questions on Church services and their 
accompanying rubrics.417 The way in which the Bishop answered 
these questions showed that he wished to have a uniform inter­

pretation of services and rubrics in the Diocese. The Prayer 

Book used was the Book of Common Prayer and adminsitration of 
the sacraments and other rites and ceremonies of the Church 

according to the use of the Church of England (B.C.P.], (1662). 

In the Transvaal the Bishop also needed Dutch Prayer Books. At 
the end of 1879 he had to order them from Britain as they were 
unobtainable in South Africa.418 

At the end of 1879 Bishop Jones received the report of the 
Committee on Church services. When he had studied it he sent 

413c.R. Lange, "Extracts from report of Rev. C.R. Lange," Occasional paper of the 
diocese of Pretoria, number 1, 1881-01, p.26. 

414 11A suggestion," Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 1, 1881-01, 
p.28 . 

415Roberts, "The foundation of the Native Mission in Pretoria ... ," p.2. 
416Ritual COD, prescribed order of performing religious etc . rites. 
417Rubric COD, direction for conduct of divine service inserted in liturgical book: 
4188.B. Bousfield, Letter to F. Iliff, 1879-12-12, Bousfield Collection , CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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it in turn to all the CPSA bishops.419 Clearly the South 

African Church realised that it needed additional services to 

those in the B.C.P. 

A rubric in the B.C.P. ordination service states: " 

this prayer is done, the Bishop with the Priests present 
When 

shall 
lay their hands severally upon the head of everyone that 

receiveth the Order of Priesthood; the receivers humbly 

kneeling upon their knees ... ,"420 The rubric presented the 

Bishop with a problem in August 1879 when he wished to ordain 
Thorne as he had only two priests, W. Richardson and Sadler, in 

the diocese. The Bishop invited William Richardson to take 

part in the ordination at Pretoria.421 

The rubrics in the services for the ordaining of deacons and 

priests specify: "Fi~st, the Archdeacon, or his Deputy, shall 

present unto the Bishop such as desire to be ordained oea-

cons, ... "422 and later, "First, the Archdeacon, or, in his 
absence, one appointed in his stead, shall present unto the 

Bishop all them that shall receive the Order of Priesthood that 

day; ... 0 423 For the Christmas ordination of Spratt and Roberts 

the Bishop invited Ransom, of the Zululand Mission, to travel 

to Pretoria to act as Ritual Archdeacon424 but he was unable to 

do so. 

Adams, · the deacon·at Middelburg, asked advice on whether he 

could both baptise an infant and be one of its sponsors. The 

Bishop replied: "You may baptize, & answer for a child, & in 

that case you should answer with the other sponsors. But it is 

awkward & suggests the idea of having favo[u]red the parties by 
dispensing with one sponsor."425 

4l9w.w. Jones {Holmes), Letter to W.K. Macrorie, 1879-11-24, Collection of the 
Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 

420B.C.P., "The form and manner of ordering of priests." 
421tt.B . Bousfield, Letter to W. Richardson, 1879-08-13, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
4228.C .P. , "The form and manner of making of deacons." 
423s.C.P., "The form and manner of ordering of priests." 
424H.B. Bousfield, Letter to R.H. Ransom, 1879-11, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
425H. B. Bousfield, Letter to H. Adams, 1880-06-06, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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Adminis~ering confirmation was also a pcoblem. Th~ Bishop gave 
Spratt a ruling: "Who to confirm - confirmed Lutherans and 

Dutch to receive Church Confirmation that would be my ideal and 

I would point out to such the scriptural 'laying on of hands' 
as by an Apostle, as grounds for pressing it, ... "426 

Thorne of Lydenburg a$~ed the Bishop for 9uidance on whom to 
bury. Thorne's area i~cluded the gold diggings with its 

unsettled population su he was asked to bury people who were 
not regular churchgoer.sat all. The Bishop said that he had 
refused to bury ~n occasion and would only use the burial service 

for reputable Christians. This even included those w~o ~ad had 
no connection du~ing life with the Church (Adaptation) .421 

The B.C.P. has only_9~e burial service which is ~ot for the 

unbaptized, excomir.unic'3i:ed or suicides.428 At the beyinning of 
1880 Bousfield wcot2 cut a burial service which h~ headed: ~An 
order for the burial of the dead in the Diocese of Pr~toria 
when for sufficient cause the service of the Church c~n~ot be 

used."429 Adams asked for guidance on how tc decidf which 
service to use. Bousfield was not helpful: "Your difficulty 

as to the two services tor Burial is the difficalty oi: the 

subject. "430 

On being asked by Adams for a ruling on the burial of ~n unbap­

tized child Bousfield wrot~ ~hat he should us~ the service 
authorized by the Bishop and re~d 1 Sam 12.15-23 as a le5son.431 

At Standerton Bousfield receiv~d into the Church a child baptized 
by the o.R.C. dominee.432 

426H.B. Bousfield, Letter to C.H. Spratt. 1880-04-23, Bousfield Collection, CPS~ 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. • 

427H.B. Bousfield, I,.etter to J. Thorne. 1880-04-27, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Arclliv~s, Wits, Johannesburg, South A.fric.:i. 

428B.C.P., "The order for the buri,d. of the dead." 
429H.B . Bousfield. An order for the burial of the dead in the Dioc~se of Pretoria 

when ior sufficient cause the service of the Church cannot be used. ~SS, Bousfield 
Lctt€r~ook 1879-11 to 1880-09, p . 380, Bousfield Collection. CPSA Arch i ves, Wits , 
Jchd~nesburg, South Africa. 

~30H.B. Bousfield, Letter to H."Adams, l880-04-27, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Arcl,lves. Wits, Johanne5burg, South Africa. 

431n.B. Bousfield, Letter to H. A~ams. 1880-07-12. 8ousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wit s , Johannesburg_, South Africa. 

432H.B. Bousfield, "In the Tr3nsvaal," ~i:ssion Field, 1879-12-01, p.549 . 
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The Bishop was even concerned about minor details. A rubric in 

the service for the Churching of women states: "The Woman 

shall come into the Church decently apparelled, and there shall 

kneel down in some convenient place, as has been accustomed, or 

as the Ordinary shall direct ... "433 Thorne wished to know 

where the "convenient place" should be and the Bishop said the 
chancel steps.434 

An unarithmetical rubric specifies the number of communicants 

required at Holy Communion: "If there be not above 20 persons 
in the Parish of discretion to receive the communion: yet 

there shall be no communion except 4 {or 3 at the least) 

communicate with the Priest. 11 435 Thorne asked how many people 

had to be communicants before a service could be held. The 

Bishop was against the rubric and felt that even if only one 

person communicated the service should be held.436 

The Bishop wished to restore an obsolete canon of the English 

Church which provided that a priest should say Matins before 

celebrating communion.437 

The Bishop wrote a prayer for the Government. He wrote to 
Lanyon: "I am sorry to find a mistake was unwittingly made in 

the description of the Legislative body in the prayer at Church 

on Sundays. As 'Legislative assembly at this time assembled' 

. is tautologous I would propose the sentence 'the Legislative 

assembly under our Governor at this time in session.' I hope 

this will meet Your Excellency's approval, ... 11 438 

433B.C.P., 11The thanksgiving of women after child-birth commonly called the 
churching of women." 

434H.B. Bousfield, Letter to J. Thorne, 1880-04-22, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, J~hannesburg, South Africa. 

435B.C.P., "The order for the administration of the Lord's Supper of Holy 
Communion." 

436H.B. Bousfield, Letter to J. Thorne, 1880-02-07, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

437sousfield, Six years ... , p.49-50. 
438H.B. Bousfield, Letter co Sir Owen Lanyon, 1880-03-16, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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At the Cathedral the Athanasian Creed was used to the disgust 
of Sir Garnet Wolseley: "Church with the men as usual: we had 

that Athanasian creed repeated: it is strange how sensible men 

can go on repeating such a jibberish & slick blasphemous non­

sense." 439 The Prayer Book rubric directs the Athanasian Creed 

should be said on certain Sundays at Morning Prayer instead of 
the Apostles' Creed.440 

In an obituary of Bousfield, Edwin Farmer, a diocesan missionary, 
described the Bishop's beliefs in these words: "As a rector in 

Winchester, he often came in contact with well-known men of the 

Evangelical and Tractarian schools, who left their impression 
on him, but he seems to have readily thrown off all that was 

unreal in either party, and to have adopted and ever after 

firmly held what he considered the strong points of both, with 

the result that High Churchmen considered him as 'Low' and 

Evangelicals could not recognise him as one of themselves. He 

would probably have called himself a High Churchman as far as 

practices were concerned, but·an Evangelical in all its essential 

doctrines. He certainly had what seemed to most of us very 

peculiar views on ritual. vestments, he maintained, were at 

the Reformation retained for the Bishops, but prohibited to the 

rest of the clergy. He looked to old English usages for modern 

ceremonial in the English Church, and had a great horror of 

anything taken from western custom. His strong views on these 

points made him a ritualist, while his deep-rooted objections 

to the ordinary· practices of modern High Churchmen often brought 
him into conflict and put him out of sympathy with many of the 

High Church clergy when he became Bishop. 11 441 

Alexander Temple of Potchefstroom asked to be made a marriage 

officer in Potchefstroom. The Bishop refused as William Richard­
son already held this post and Temple was only a deacon.442 

The Bishop told J.P. Richardson not to publish the banns of 

marriage of Baptists, Dissenters generally and unbaptized people.44 

439Preston, South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley ... , p. 260 . 
440P.C . B., "At Morning Prayer: Quicunque Vult." 
441E. F{armerJ, "Bishop Bousfield, a sketch," Anglican, volume 1, number 4, 

1904-02, p.80-81. 
442H.B. Bousfield, Letter to A. Temple, 1880-03-11, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
443H.B. Bousfield, Letter to J.P. Richardson, 1880-07-27, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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The Bishop maintained his great interest in catechi~ing. To 

his Commissary, Durnford, he.explained his point of view: "Our 

people are baptized heathens, they have notions of religion, & 

religious duty & obligation ... , and they need to he firmly & 

clearly, & yet duly ta11ght the first e}ements of religious 
duty, & doctrine."444 

In the absence of published sermons the following is an example 

of Bousfield's teaching: "I would say (1) I would ask consi­

deration be givRt! (a) to the state of ethnologic~l science, in 

its testimony to the original uraity of the hum.Jn race. (b) the 

evidence afforded to Scripture by the palestine [sic] expl~ration 

fund. (c) the present state of scientific evidence for, or 

against, the universality of the deluge. (2) The ~r.epticism 

of many here is so shallow & superficial that it s~emn t◊ me to 

require most ploir., pithy, pat, statements in short paper:, 

showing the perfect cc,mpatibility of all sound scien':ific con­

clusions with reverence for holy scripture. Some sher~ z{;i~ntiiic 

papers, written f~orn th~ scientific stand point, ~fter t :.e 

fashion of religious tract & hand bills."445 

The Bishop presented a King James Version of the Bib]~ to the 
High Court after he had be-~n told that the one in· •Jse w~s a 
(Roman Catholic) Douay Bible.446 

Bousfield believed in a Spir l t-filled life which gave power and 

love to a Christian. He warned Adams against depending on his 
emotions in being guided by the Holy Spirit.447 

Questions on ritual and the need for adaptation to th~ situation 

in a colony made the Bishop publish: 

Alteration in the services of the Church for use in the 
Diocese fof Pretoria]448 in 1890. 

44~H.B. Bousfield, Letter to E. Durnford, 1880-08-12, Bousfield Cull~~cion, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Af~ica. 

44Sn.B. Bousfield , Letter to the Vict~ria Institute, 1880-03-03, ~ousfield Collec 
tion, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

446H.B. Bousfield, Letter co Sir Owen Lanyon, 1880-05-13, Bousfield Collection, 
CPS!- Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, So•1th Afr i.ca. 

447H.B. Bousfield, Letter to H. Adams, 1880-06-07, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

448Alterations in services of the Church approved by the Bishop o~ Pretoria for 
use in the diocese, Pretoria: Fl~vell, Brown, 1890. 
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A use in matters of ritual for the Diocese oi ~retoria449 

in 1891. 

One of the Bishop's idiosyncracies war. his use of the titles 
rector, parson and curnte. He reverte9 to the O.C.P. use of 

Curate as "he who hath the cure of souls."450 The senior ciorgy­
man of a congregation was thus the curate. 

3.10.1 Need for Constitution and Canon3 
The Bi~hop felt the lack of Canons which would enable 

the diocese to run more smoothly, a~d planned to 
institute a Synod to make canons.451 

Bousfield felt his . efforts were being rew~rced nnd 
the dioc~se was being organised in the way he wanted, 

bringing, _~~ he said, order out of confuEicn.452 Ha 

plann€d to consecr~te the cathedral, be enthron~d and 
instal a eanon by 1881-oi-02, the f~urth ~nniver~ilry 

of his consccration.453 In mi9-l880 he wrote to th~ 
Metro::,oJ.itan asking for a mandate f e r enthronf:'.\:e1~1:. 454 

Bousfield also wrote to the Bishop o f DovPr asking 
him for any f~rms and instructions for g~id~~ce on 
enthro~ement to improve the common CPSA practice.455 

A Parochial Synoj was held in Pretoria on ieeC-08-19 
with plans for a vestry on the agenda,456 

3.11 Personal life 
The Bishop came to the Tran3v~a1 accompanied by his wife and 

their eight children. 

449A use in matters of ritual for the diocese of Pretoria, Pretoria: Flavell, 
B?:own, 1891 . 

1•50u.B. Bousficld, "A Sunday at Pot-:hefstroom," Occasional paper of the dioces~ o 
Pr~,~ria., number 2, 1881-09, p.6-7. 

451H.B. Bousfield, Letter to A. Wood, 1880-07-28, Bousfield Collectio~, CPSA 
Archiv~s , Wits , Johannesburg, South Af~ica. 

452H.B. Bousfield, Letter to A. \oio•.d , 1830-07-29, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
At"chives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
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Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa. 



3.11.1 

3.11.2 

- 206 -

Mrs Bousfield 
Mrs Bousfield was delicate. Sir Garnet wrote of her 

malady: "Paid the Bishop's house a visit to say good 

bye - glad to say he was out, I suppose riding with 
Miss Lamb. Had tea with his wife; a painful occupation 

for in talking to the poor woman one can see that she 

has the greatest difficulty to collect her thoughts 

and talk coherently. She gave me the jumps, and I 
felt as if I should have had delirium tremens had I 

remained long in her society: I believe she goes off 

her head at times. She must have been a very pretty 

woman before she had a host of children."457 

The Bishop wrote quite openly of her emotional state. 
To Miss Wigram he described his wife as" ... unstrung 

by what we have had to endure."458 To Law: "Mrs 

Bousfield [is] better, overstraining herself from 

inability to take things as they must be taken 

here. 11 459 The Bishop wrote to Macrorie that if he 
had realised how hard her life was he would not have 

accepted the post.460 After the war the Bishop told 

Jones: "Mrs B[ousfield] 's condition is the source of 

my most hopeless anxiety, as it does my work much 
harm & seems incapable of cure while I am Bishop of 

Pretoria.461 

Miss Lamb 
The Bishop's name was linked with that of Ellen Lamb. 

How serious the gossip was at this stage is not clear 
but its mention by both Sir Garnet Wolseley462 and 

Godfrey Lagden463 seems to indicate that their friend­

ship was generally known and accepted. 

457Preston, The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley ... , p.265 . 
458H .. B. Bousfield, Letter to Miss Wigram, 1880-01-13, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
459n.B . Bousfield, Letter to A.J. Law, 1880-04-23, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
460n.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.K. Macrorie, 1880-02-18, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
461H . B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-12-05, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
462Preston, The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley . . . , p.265. 
463G.Y. Langden , Diary 1879, 1880-01-06, MSS, Lagden Papers, MSS Af . s 143, Rhodes 

House Library, Oxford, Britain. 
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Depression during 1880 

During 1880 the Bishop suffered from depression as a 

result of his work problems. In February he wrote to 

Bury: "Indeed I feel God has not sent me here for 

nothing, but sometimes my special troubles make me 

fear how I am to do the work for which He sent 
me."464 

By October he had slid further into depression. He 
felt that he had not got the support from Britain 

which he deserved. He wrote to W.H. Grove of S.P.C.K.: 

"I am sometimes near despair, and the anxiety, added 

to my work, is at last telling on my health."465 The 

next day he told Durnford, his Commissary, that he 

was ill from overwork and troubles stemming from 

being ill-equipped with men and rnoney.466 A few days 

later he wrote to Bishop Macrorie's wife: "Want of 

men, & money, with other episcopal cares, & the pas­

toral work depending on me wholly besides have nearly 

broken me, an~ my poor wife has fulfilled the said 

fear I breathed to your husband once, ... "467 S.P.G. 

also had to be told of his troubles: "You will see 
from the underneath how near to despair ..... 468 and he 

then proceeded to enumerate his problems.· 

Bousfield had a tendency to exaggerate. In 1885 
Tucker, secretary of s. P .G., described. him to Bishop· 

McKenzie of Zululand, who had had to rebuild a dio­
cese after the destruction of the Zulu war of 1879: 

"No Bishop has ever in our generation at least, had 

so troublous an episcopate as yours has been, I think 

I rather surprised Bishop Bousfield the other day 

when he was magnifying his troubles, by telling him 

464H.B. Bousfield, Letter to C. Bury, 1880-02-27, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

465H . B. Bousfield, Letter to W.H. Grove, 1880-L0-14, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

466H . B. Bousfield, .Letter to E. Durnford, 1880-10-15, Bousfield Collection , CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

467H.B. Bousfield , Letter to Mrs Macrorie, 1880-10-19., Bousfield Collection , 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa . 

468H.B . Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1880-10-23, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa. 
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that they were nothing compared to yours, & that your 

life had been that of a hunted hare."469 

Personal feelings towards Romanists and Wesleyans 
The Bishop had a recurrent fear that the Romanists 

and wesleyans, the other two denominations working 

among the White non-Boer population, would take over 

the Anglican work: "I add this year [1880) that 

after a fresh year's experience I cannot trust myself 

to write how promising & good I think the opening is, 

nor how galling to be compelled from want of help 

from home to stand by & see Rome, & Wesleyanism, 

stepping in where they would not have found standing 

room had my hands been strengthened, and my voice 
regarded."470 

In 1880 the Transvaal was made a district of the 
Methodist Church with Owen Watkins as its first Chair­

man.471 Watkins met Bousfield whilst riding into 

Pretoria and politely raised his hat and said: 

"Wesleyan Mission, Pretoria Transvaal," but Bousfield 

refused to greet him. Watkins entered in his diary: 

"I think his liver would be out of order for the rest 

of the day."4 7 2 

Bousfield's rudeness about the Catholics was described 

by Father Meyer: "{Bousfield] had been pleased on 

several occasions to run down the Catholic clergy 
whom he styled as rich clergy, particularly behind 

the times and fairly ignorant. This assertion which 
he had made before Sir Garnet Wolseley had earned him 

a biting rebuke from the part of the General, who, 

being an Irishman himself though not a Catholic, had 

had many opportunities of seeing the Irish clergy. He 

affirmed that not only did he find them up to the 

times, but rather in advance of them, and that a 

469H. Tucker of S.P .G., Unofficial letter to D. McKenzie, 1885-06-25, CLS Collec­
tion, USPG Archives, London, Britain. 

4708.B. Bo~sfield, Letter to S. P.G., 1880-11-17, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

471P.B. Hinchliff, The Church in South Africa, London : S.P.C.K., 1968, p.76 . 
4 720. Wack ins, "Diary· of his journey to the Transvaa 1, 11 1880-10-29, as quoted by 

W.A. Venter, "Die geskiedenis en invloed van die Wesleyaanse sending in die Transvaal 
gedurende die negentiende eeu, 11 unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of the Orange 
Free State, 1961, p.385. 
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greedy clergyman of another denomination could take a 

leaf out of the Irish clergyman's book for their own 

personal improvement. Sir Garnet knew his man; he 
was aware that he had to make an impression."473 

"Dr. Bousfield had swallowed wholesale all the slanders 
which ever were printed by a bigoted press against 

the Church of Rome and her priests, without ever 
going to the trouble of challenging such slanders . 

The amount of gullibility in religiously prejudiced 

persons is simply appalling."474 

Anxiety 
The Bishop had financial worries, both personal and 

diocesan . . After a year in South Africa he wrote to 

his commissary setting out his problem: "I am in 

great anxiety about money, having spent all I have, 

and thro' the extreme folly of others, having had to 

anticipate also. If help do not come I must speedily, 

and utterly collapse."475 

S.P.G. put their finger on the problem when they 
advised Bousfield not to attempt too much.476 

Wilkinson had collected most of the money for the 

endowment of the Transvaal bishopric. This money was 

divided, with a third going to the diocesan endowment 

and the other two-thirds to the clergy endowment. 477 

Bousfield had an unrealistic idea of what it would 
have been like had he come to his diocese with suffi­

cient funds and men. He said that the journey to 

Pretoria had used up half his funds and he had to 
start with financial difficulties. In 1883, looking 

back to 1878 - 1879, he saw his problems as stemming 

473Meyer , "Reminiscences of thirty years missiona-ry work in South Africa . . . , 11 

p . 35 . 
474Ibid . , p . 36. 
475H.B. Bousfield, Letter to E.F. Randolph, 1879-11-28, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
476s .P.G., Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1880-10-21, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 

London Britain . 
477s .e . G. , Letter to W.W. Jones , 1879-09-27, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, London, 

Britain . 
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from a lack of money and suitable men; this was too 

simplistic a view of starting a new diocese.478 The 

fact that the majority of his clergy in 1883 had been 

with him since the beginning made his remark about 

his staff tactless. 

Before the Bishop left Britain he opened an account 

for the Pretoria Diocese at the London and Country 

Bank to be paid out to B.H. Dewey. In April 1879 he 

asked Dewey to send any money in the account either 

to F.H. Chalmers or to E.H. Bousfield, the Bishop's 

brother.479 The money would then presumably be used 

by the Pretoria Diocesan Fund. 

An S.P.C.K. grant? 
Soon after the Bishop arrived in Pretoria he wrote to 

S.P.C.K. begging for an educational grant for St 

Birinus and St Etheldreda. The rent for the house 

used by St Etheldreda's was il44 p.a. The Bishop 

wanted to buy a house valued at jl 300 for the school 

so that it could take six to eight boarders. He also 

asked for iS00 for a schoolroom for St Birinus.480 At 

the same time he issued an appeal through the com-
mittee of the Pretoria Diocesan Fund for the schools.481 

Towards the end of 1879 the Bishop also asked S.P.G. 
for money for his schools but this was outside their 

province. They ·were able to issued an appeal through 

Mission Field but referred him to S.P.C.K. who did 

give educational grants.482 From this it appears 

that S.P.C.K. had not answered his appeal of March. 

S.P.G. 
S.P.G. sent out their application forms for grants 

nineteen months in advance. The Bishop therefore 

478"The Church in the Transvaal (from the Cape Times}," Occasional paper of the 
diocese of the Transvaal, number 5, 1883-01, p.53. 

479H.B. Bousfield, Letter to B.H. Dewey, 1879-04-24, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

480H . B. Bousfield, Letter to S .P.C.K . , 1879-03-25, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

481 tbid. 
482s .P.G., Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1879-10-29, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 

London, Britain . 
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had to submit the application for 1880 in December 

1878483 before he had even arrived in his diocese. 

At the end of 1879 Bousfield asked S.P.G. for an 
additional grant and in February 1880 was awarded an 

extra j!Oo.484 At the end of 1880 S.P.G. ruled, in 
answer to a query from Bousfield, that their grant 

could not be used for pensions.485 was this for 

William Richardson? 

The Bishop discovered that in 1876 S.P.G. had set 

aside tl 000 for the proposed Transvaal Bishopric. In 
1880 he inquired about this fund and was told that 

~700 remained but the grant had lapsed at the end of 
1879.486 

During 1880 S.P.G. held lSO for the Bishop to pay any 
bills in Britain. They informed Bousfield that they 

would put it at his disposa!.487 

S.P.G. found a clergyman for ·Pretoria, a deacon 

called T. Bailey who had spent three years in Mada­

gascar. S.P.G. had increased the Pretoria Diocesan 

grant by ~200 and the cost of Bailey's passage and 
outfit would be deducted from this.488 Bailey 

1 

however decided before the end of 1880 not to go to 

the Transvaal.489 S.P.G. sent jlSO to E.H. Bousfield 

for the passage of a clergyman, R.T. Kempthorne, to 

Pretoria: this was deducted from the 1881 S.P.G. 

grant.490 In the end he did not go to the Transvaal 

either. 

483H.B . Bousfield, Letter to S. P .G., 1878-12-13, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

484 S. P.G., Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1880-02-18, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

485 S. P.G . , Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1880-10-21, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain . 

486 S .P.G., Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1880-12-02, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London , Britain . 

487 S. P.G., Letter to H. B. Bousfield, 1879-07-16, CLS Collect ion, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

488 S.P.G., Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1880-09-23, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London , Britain . 

489s.P.G. • Letter to H.B. Bousfield , 1880-12-23, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London , Britain . 

490s.P.G.' Letter to E.H . Bousfield, 1880-12-20, CLS Collect ion, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 
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The Pretoria Diocesan Fund 
The P.D.F. had been set up in Britain to raise funds 
for the diocese of Pretoria. In November 1879 the 

Bishop informed F.H. Chalmers of the P.D.F. that he 
had drawn bills upon him for 5200491 so apparently 

that .P.o.F. sent out additional funds. At the end of 
1879 the Bishop appealed through the P.D.F. for £1 000 
a year for seven years492 from which he could make 
grants for Church and school buildings, and for addi­

tional schemes in congregations which needed a little 
aid from the central authority.493 

The financial condition of the diocese seemed to be 
in a better position in 1880. The Balance Sheet of 

the P.D.F. for the year from 1879-09-29 to 1880-09-29 
showed that at the beginning the balance held by the 
Bishop was t66 4s 7d and at the end of the period 
~590 Os 9d was due to the Bishop. The sale of work 
brought in ~115 lls 6d. 494 

In Britain the P.D.F. organised the fundraising cam­
paign. E.F. Randolph, Bousfield's Commissary collected 
money from friends and travelled around preaching.495 
Randolph even wrote to the Archbishop of Canterbury 
and offered to see him if Tait wished for a meeting.496 

A meeting was held by the P.D.F. at S.P.G. headquar­
ters, 19 Delahay Street, London, on 1880-05-12 to 
discuss how this diocese could be helped. Law attended 

and was able to give a first hand account of conditions 
in the Transvaal. The Archbishop of Canterbury did 
not attend but he did send a contribution.497 

491H.B. Bousfield, Letter to F.H : Chalmers, 1879-11-24, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

492Bousfield, "The Bishop's account of the months October to December 1879 ... ," 
p.7. 

493P.D.F., First year's report and accounts, p.9. 
494H. B. Bousfield, "Diocese of Pretoria report for quarter ending 1880-09-29," 

Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number l, 1881-01, p.12. 
495E .F. Randolph , Letter to A.C. Tait, 1879-01-21 , Tait Collection , Lambeth Palace 

Library, London, Britain . 
4961bid . • 
497 11Pretoria," Mission Field, 1880-06-01, p.185 
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Through Mission Field the P.D.F. appealed for small , 

sums for seven years after which time the Bishop 

expected the diocese to be self-supporting.498 

The Bishop tried to organise some of the appeals for 
the Transvaal in Britain. He encouraged Randolph in 

his fund-raising and made suggestions for possible 

places for him to preach.499 

Sadler asked the Bishop's permission to raise funds 
for zeerust in Britain. The Bishop agreed on condition 

it was only from friends. He was against a public 
appeal as this would prejudice all general appeals 

for the diocese; the diocese could allocate money 

fairly according to the needs of each place.500 

At the beginning of 1880 the Bishop changed his 
policy on reports for periodicals. During 1879 he 

had sent them straight to Mission Life, Mission Field 

and Net but in 1880 he decided to send them to his 
brother who would hand them over ·to the editors. 501 

The Bishop was a tireless writer and certainly kept 

the diocese of Pretoria before the readers of the 

missionary journals. 

In mid-1880 both Randolph, his Commissary, and Law 

resigned, which meant that the Bishop's British 

organisation had broken down.502 

At times the Bishop felt despondent about the small 

sums of money arriving from Britain. He wrote to 

Canon Kenney that he had not intended to travel to 
Britain to beg -until he had been in his diocese for 

six years but he was tempted to go sooner.503 Bous­

field's sister Kate also tried to raise funds for 
him. She told him how she had seen the bishops of 

498"Pretoria,1' Mission Field, 1880-06-01, p.185-186 . 
499H. B. Bousfield, Letter to E.F. Randolph, 1880-01-14, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa. 
SOOH . B. Bousfield, Letter to H. Sadler, 1880-01-16, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
501H.B. Bousfield, Letter to E.F. Randolph, 1880-01-14, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
502 11up hill work in the diocese of Pretoria," Net, 1880-10-01, p.159. 
503H .B. Bousfield, Letter to Canon Kenney, 1880-10-26, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
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Edinburgh anc Lichfield but ~ithout success. This 

dispirited trit: Bishop who felt that ti11:: 13ritish could 

do more for his diocese.504 The Bishop wrote to his 

clerical friends, e.g. Canon Kenney, to ask them to 
hold a collection for his diocese.SOS He wrote to a 

Mr Hutchinson inquiring why his (Bousfield's) Oxford 

friends had forgotteri him and where were their promise~ 
offertories.S06 By the end of 1880 the P.D.F. had 

appointed H.E. Jennings as their Or~anizing Secret~ry. 
He appesled to clergy to concacc him about their 
parishes granting a Collection to the diocese of 
Pretoria.507 

Diocesan s~Jf-sufficiency 

According to the Balance Sheet of the P.D.F~ (local) 

from 1879-01-01 to -12-31 offertories raieed °£63 4s 
Od with donations brir,ging in 115. Itin-z:rat_inc:; in 
the diccese had used i.71 lls ld so the General ?und 

stood at ~6 12s lld which meant that inccm2 had exceeded 

expenditure.SOB The P.D.F. in-England in ~heir Balance 
Sheet ft:0111 1879-09-29 to -12-31 reflected a ha:nnce 
of ;'14 13s ld.509 

The Bishop wanted to make the diocese st=!l f--.suppor cing, 
an admirable aim for a new diocese. In.his p~storal 
letter of March 1B80 the Bishop urged th~ laity to 
aim at making the Church grow from within the Trans­

vaal and not to bP. financially dependant 0!1 outside 

sources.510 The Bishop was aiming at laying a good 
foundation in his aiocese.511 

Clergy stipends 

Bousfield also needed money for his clergy stipends. 

It is not clear if his appeal ~hr~ugh the P.O.F. at 

504H.B. Bousfield, Letter to K. Bou~field, 1880-10-21, Bousficld c~llcction, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

505H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Canon Kc~ncy, 1880-10-26, Bousficld Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, So:ith Africa. 

50iiH.B. Bousficld, Letter to Hutchinscn: 1880-04-30, Bousfield Col)c~tion, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

SD7"rhc Rev. H. E. Jennings .... ,•• Oc~a~ional paper of the diocese nf Pretoria , 
. numi>e·;· 1, 1881-01, p.29. 

506p,o.F. (local), Balance sheet ~879-01-01 to 1879-12-31 . 
• 509Bous field, The Bishop's account of the months October to December 1879 . .. , p. 7. 
510u . B. Bousficld, To the priests, deac?ns, churchwardens, sidesmen end members 

of the Church in the dioiese of Pretoria, 1880-03-09, p.2. 
511 11Prctoria," Mission Field, 1880-09-01, p.'.317. 
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the end of 1879, for £1 000 p.a., was to increase the 

Clergy Endowment or to be paid out in salaries. He 

felt that the Diocese could supply a third of the 

stipends and expenses with the rest coming from 
outside the Diocese.512 

The Bishop used the system of guaranteeing stipends. 
In Standerton, for example, the congregation wanted a 

clergyman. They promised to pay £100 or if possible 

ilS0 by Christmas 1879. This amount would be paid 

into the Diocesan Fund in Pretoria and only then 

could the Bishop guarantee the stipend. Once the 

first amount had been collected the offertories would 

accumulate for the stipend for the following year. 

In this way the money collected would be ahead of the 

out payments and the congregation would not be struggling 
to make up the deficit.513 

Debt on buildings 

The Bishop found on his arrival in the Transvaal that 

the Church buildings were in debt, the church and 

parsonage at Lydenburg being the most burdened. The 

Bishop wished to transfer parochial debts to the 
diocese and then get them paid off.514 The following 

anecdote sent to S.P.G. by Thorne when 6350 was still 

needed to pay off his church debt shows the Bishop's 

tenacity in gathering in promised money: "But 

scarcely a month had passed when I was able to pay 

off sot, by the unexpected receipt of a long-promised 

subscription, which I had given up for lost, and 

which, perhaps would never have been paid were it not 

for the earnest pleading of our Bishop, who, both 'in 

and out of season,' reminded the delinquent of his 

duty. The last dun occurred on the banks of a spruit, 
somewhere between Pretoria and Middelburg, hour, 

towards midnight. The Bishop was spanned out, when 

the post-cart passed, on which was the obdurate gentle­

man who had been so prejudiced that he had withheld 

the amount which really had been offered about two 

512P.D.F . , First year's report and accounts, p.9. 
513 111n the Transvaal," Mission Field, 1879-12-01 , p.549 . 
514Pretoria Diocesan Fund, First year's report and accounts, p.6. 
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years before we commenced to build a church. This 

last effort on the part of the Bishop was successful 

and when the passenger arrived in Lydenburg he 

informed me that as 'constant dropping wore away the 

hardest stone,' so the constant dunning of the Bishop 

had brought him to the conviction that he had better 
•pay up.' "515 

The Bishop was pleased to find that by 1880 the Lyden­
burg and Potchefstroom Churches were free of debt. 

George Reid of Putney had sent ~150 for the debt on 

the Potchefstroom building so reducing it to j75. 
This had been subsequently paid off.516 An unknown 

benefactor to Net sent f250 for the debt on the Lyden­
burg Church, which paid if off.517 

Fund-raising in Pretoria 
In Pretoria itself the congregation did raise money. 

Mrs Bousfield received boxes of work from Andover 

which she sold. She reported to Net that the people 

in particular asked for ready made underclothing.518 

Net helped by advertising for goods for the Pretoria 

diocesan boxes.519 Cato, Bousfield's agent in Durban, 
arranged for their transportation from Durban to 

Pretoria.520 A bazaar for Church funds was held on 

1879-05-21 in the grounds of Bishop's Cote,521 The 

women of Pretoria also made clothing and sold it 

periodically for Church funds.522 Mrs Bousfield 

tried to organise groups of ladies into general 
working associations. On her journey to Wakkerstroom 

she was able to interest women and through them to 
sell work.523 

51511Pretoria, encouragement at Lydenburg," Mission Field, 1880-12-01, p.418. 
516sousfield, Report for April, May and June 1880 . . . , p. l . • 
517Ibid., p . l. 
51811church wants in Pretoria," Net, 1879-10-01, p.147. 
519"Pretoria," Net, 1880-01-01, p.16. 
520H . B. Bousfield, Letter to G. Cato, 1880-08-07, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa . 
52lc.Y. Lagden, Diary 1879 1 1879-05-21, MSS, Lagden Papers, MSS Af . s 143, 

Rhodes House Library , Oxford, Britian. 
522 11The day of small things," Net, 1880-02-01, p.28. 
523c.E. Bous field, "Journals .. ~ Letter to her children, 1879-10-11, p. 4-5. 
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The P.D.F. Balance Sheet from 1878-08-01 to 1879-09-29 
showed that an amount of ~68 9s 6d had been raised 

through sales of work, slightly more than the offer-
r 

tories, which contributed ~61 9s 6d.524 

The Endowment Funds 
When the diocese was formed S.P.G. gave funds to the 

Endowment and for the Bishop.525 In 1878 the Bishop 
had published the extent of the endowment in Mission 

Field: "Through the exertions of Bishop Wilkinson 

and the friends of the Mackenzie Memorial, with grants 

from the S.P.G., the S.P.C.K., and the Colonial Bis­

hoprics' Fund, it now amounts to 5, 304.t. The S. P. C. K. 

have promised another 250l. when the amount has 

reached 7,2SOt., and a further 250 l . when it reached 

9,7soi., which would gave a capital of 10,ooot., and 

so secure the proposed income, and the permanence of 

the Episcopa~e."526 

S.P.G. informed Jones that a third of the endowment 
of the diocese of Pretoria was for the diocese and 

two thirds for the clergy endowment.527 Before Bous­
field left Britain Jones wrote to him suggesting that 
as soon as he arrived in the Transvaal a proper Board 

of Diocesan Trustees should be formed and the whole 

endowment transferred to them for investment:528 

"Until a properly constituted Board of Diocesan Trus­

tees can be founded the management, I suppose, be 

left with the S.P.G. - or it can be invested by the 

Provincial Trustees - but it ought to be invested, 

that, the moment a board of Diocesan Trustees is 

formed, the capital c[oul]d be released & invested as 

they think best."529 

At the end of 1879 S.P.G. wrote to the Bishop that in 

spite of his two letters of mid-1879 they could not 
consent to part with any portion of the Clergy Endowment 

524P.D .F., First year's report and ·accounts, p.15. · 
525c.F. Pascoe , Two hundred years of the S. P.G., London : S. P.G . , 1901, p.765. 
526s.P .G., Letter to W.W . Jones, 1879-07-16, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 

London, Britain. 
52711transvaal," Mission Fi eld, 1880-04-01, p. 183. 
528w.w. Jones , Letter to H.B . Bousfield, 1878-05-22, Collection of the Letter­

books of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South 
Africa . 

, 5l9tbid. 
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Fund530 until a Diocesan Synod had been formed and 
legally recognized as qualified to hold Trust Funds. 

At the beginning of 1880 the Bishop wrote to the 
Attorney-General of the Transvaal about who could 

hold property : "By the laws of this Colony, 1. 
Does a conveyance of land to the 'Bishop of Pretoria, 

and his successors in office' hold good so that land 
so conveyed will pass to the control of His Succes­
sors, ~1thout reconveyance, RS in England where a 

Bishop is 'a C~rporation Sole'? 2. Can 'the Bishop 
of Pretoria and his Successors in ofiice' hold money, 

or Ian~, a ~ Trustees, investing the former 011 mortgage 
or oth-=:rwise, calling in, foreclosing, suei.1g fer 
payment, and r~investing from time to tim{;, c-.s any 
other Trustee?"531 

There was a discussion between Bousfi~ld and Jones 
over the choice of Trustees. Jones wrote to nousfield 

after re&d ing h i3_ proposals: "Your suggest ions seem 

very practical, the only difficulty~ so far ~s I see, 
if the Societies [S.P.G. and S.P.C.K.J ag:e~ t o 
increasing their grants, being that as co the Trustee­

ship of the £3 or,o which you propos~ to-~?.v~ i~vested 
at Pretoria. The difficulty of the Bizho~ b~ing his 
own Trustee seems to be that, in the vacanc::-· c,f the 

See , there would be no Trustee, & I am not sure 

whether the succ~ssion of Bishops would be recognised 
in the Law Courts, ~ut of this lawyers would he 
better judges. It seems right, & more in accordance 
with our Provincial Rules that all monies invested 

for the Endowment of the Bishop-rics should be held 

by the Provincial Truslees - But then our Registrar 
could scarcely re~~ive the interest at this distance. 
Perhaps the Provincial Trustees could hold the funds, 

& entrust the ir.vestmcnt of them to your Diocesan 

Registrar, or to some well-qualified layman in Pretoria . 
... I do hope your appeal will be successful."532 

'"30 ;, S.P.G., Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1879-10-29, CLS Collectio'n, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

531H.B. Bousfield, Le tter to the Attorney-General of the Transva~l, 1880-01-21, 
Bousf i eld Collection, CPSA Arc hives , Wit3, J0hanesburg, South Africa . 

532w.w. Jones, Lette r to ll . B. Bou:;fiel.:1, 1880-02-20, Collection of the· Letterbook: 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, Sou th Africa . 
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The Bishop, who enjoyed a legal conundrum, answered 

Jones' letter promptly: "As to the legal question 

you raise I am advised that the Bishop & His 

Successors can hold property as a corporation in 

England does. If invested in the names of Provincial 

Trustees, they must constitute a body to represent 

them here as by Resolution 9 of 1870. 11 533 Bousfield, 

who had some legal training, proposed to be his own 

Registrar and Chancellor as he relied little on the 
legal profession in Pretoria.534 

The Bishop also discussed with S. P.G. the problem of 
the Provincial Trustees whom he felt were an unsui­

table body for his purpose: "4. I would therefore 

suggest that instead of introducing the Provincial 

Trustees, if the Committee's do not accept the Bishop. 

of Pretoria, as Trustee, they should issue powers of 

Attorney, & let the monies be invested in the names 

of the Trustees of S.P. G. & C.B.F. sending here powers 

of Attorney for the actual investment. 11 535 He sugges­

ted that those men who had signed the certificate 

attached to his memorandum on the income of the 
Pretoria see should advise him on the actual invest­
ment,536 

In April 1880 the Bishop informed the Attorney-General 
that he had conveyed all Diocesan property to himself 

as Bishop and Trustee for the Church of the Oiocese.537 

"Memorandum on the income of the See" 
The Bishop continued to be concerned about money both 

for his family and for the diocese . 538 At the end of 

533H . B. Bousfield, Letter to W. W. Jones, 1880-03-10 , Collection of the Archbishops 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

534rbid . 
535H . B. Bousfield, Letter to S. P.G. , 1880-03-27, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
-536Ibid. 
537H .B. Bousfield, Letter to the Attorney-General of the Transvaal , 1880-04-22, 

Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archives , Wi t s, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
53811rhe 1\ransvaal Mission: Report of a public meeting held at the Mansion House 

London on Monday the 21st May 1883," Occasional paper of th diocese of Pretoria, 
number 7, 1883-11 , p . 35 . 
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1879 the Bishop wrote to Jones, who headed this 

letter: "Bishop Bousfield Poverty & gloom." With 

typical exaggeration Bousfield wrote: uThis is no 

place for wife & children at the best, but to see 

them suffer, & one's work suffer also, is more than I 

can bear. If the Church cannot, or will not, support 

me the work must be surrendered to others if they can 

do it. This is the darkest, save one, of the dark 
clouds which threaten to overwhelm me."539 

In January 1880 the Bishop wrote: "A Memorandum on 
the Income"of the See of Pretoria."540 copies were 

sent to the Metropolitan of the CPSA,541 S.P.G.542 

and the Archbishop of Canterbury.543 In his memorandum 

he threatened to resign unless his salary was increased. 

He outlined a carefully prepared plan for increasing 

his salary from~ 600 p.a. to i900. His salary came 

from the interest (t218 14s Od} on capital of ts 468 

lls 4d held by the Colonial Bishopric's Council with 

the balance being paid by S.P.G. who had guaranteed 

his stipend of i 600. He felt that a salary of .tl 000 

would be sufficient because of the high cost of living 
' 

in the Transvaal. The Bishop wanted the capital to 

be raised to £6 000 with half being invested in the 

Transvaal at 10% p.a. interest and the rest retained 

in England at 31;21 p.a. This would raise an extra 
i415 p.a. S.P.G. should then quarantee him a salary 

of j.900 p.a. 

The Bishop was concerned about his family. He told 
I 

Jones of their circumstances: ~This is no place for 

a man with a family, our sufferings have nearly 
killed my wife and may do even worse yet."544 

539H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1879-11-25, Collection of the Arc hbishops 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

, 540vide Appendix 2. 
S41H. B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1880-01-28, Collection of the Archbishops 

of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
542H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1880-01-28, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa. 
543H . B. Bousfield, Letter to A.C. Tait, 1880-01-21, Tait Collection, Lambeth 

Palace Library, London, Britain. 
544H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1880-01-28 , Collection of the Archbishops 

of Cape Town , CPSA Archives, Wies, Johannesburg , South Africa . 
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The final remark evidently refers to Mrs Bousfield's 

psychological problems. 

The Bishop wrote to the Bishops of Winchester and 
Salisbury545 explaining that his salary was inadequate 

to support his family. These men would be able to 

tell their people of the Bousfields' plight. 

Attached to Bousfield's memorandum was a document 
signed by J. Turton of the Cape Commercial Bank, R. 

Johnston of the Standard Bank of British South Africa, 

R. Green and H. Struben, who had been consulted by 

the Bishop on the investment of the endowment in the 

Transvaal and supported his proposa1.546 

Jones told S.P.G. that he thought Bousfield's proposals 

were practicable and they had his support. If the 

C.B.F. added an extra fS00 to the Pretoria Endowment, 

and so increased the interest by ~100 p.a., Bousfield's 

salary could be raised to ~900.547 Jones explained 

that the cost of living in Pretoria was exorbitant 

and with Bousfield's large family his salary really 

was inadequate. It had taken a number of years to 

fill the vacant bishopric and Jones felt that if 

Bousfield resigned it would be probably just as diffi­

cult to refill it.548 At the same time Jones .sternly 

wrote to Bousfield that the other dioceses were in 

the same financial difficulty.549 

In February 1880 the Standing Committee of S.P.G. 
decided to recommend the transfer of half the Trans­

vaal Clergy Endowment Fund to the Provincial Trustees 

of the CPSA if they would submit a scheme for its 

investment which commended itself to S.P.G.550 The 

545H.B . Bousfield, Letter to the Bishop of Salisbury, 1880-01-JO, Bousfield 
Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

546J. Turton, R.W.J. Johnston, R.C. Green, H.W. Struben, Certificate for W. W. 
Jones, accompanying H.B. Bousfield's Memorandum on the income of the see of 
Pretoria, Collection of the Archbishops of Capetown, CPSA Archives, Wits, 
Johannesburg, South Africa. 

547w.w . Jones, Letter t~ S.P.G., 1880-02-l9, Collection of the Letterbooks of 
the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

548Ibid. 
549w .w. Jones, Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1880-02-20, Collection of the Letterbooks 

of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
550s .P.G., Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1880-02-18, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 

London, Britain. 
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CBC would ad~pt a similar course wi U: t-_he l::ndowrr:ent 

if the Bishop made an application.551 

In May 1880 S.P.G. informed Jones that ~:hey were 
willing to allow half the Transvaal Cicrgy Endowment 
Fund to b~ invested in the Capa in tho name of the 

Provincial Trustees. Bousfield had wanted it to be 
invested in the Transvaal but S.P~G. would not ~anc­

tion this.552 Five months l~ter in a private letter 
t~ Jones S.P.G. said that Bousfield could invest the 

Fretori~ Cl~rgy Endowment Funds in the names of the 
Provincial Trustees in Cape Securitics.553 

In July 1880 Jones_ informed Bousfield that S.P.G. had 
agreec to his request on the investmcot of the Endow­

ment. Although they had not as yet accept~d : the 
Provincial· Trustees wculd accept the tru:;t. a!,d he 

asked if Bousfield ·would submit a sch~me for it~ 
inv~stment.554 Bousfield, in his promp~ reply, told 
Jones that ei~ce S.P.G. refused to allow him to 
invest the Endowment in the Transvaal he wou!d invest 

it in the Cape. He said that according ~o the Manag~r 
of the Standard P.ank in Pretoria a mortgage could be 

obtained for ~2 500 at 101;21 p.a. and _that 12t p.a. 
could be safely got in the Transvaai.555 ~ couple of 

weeks later Bousfield told Jones that he would attend 

the Synoa of Bi::i"lo?s in Capetown and discuss the 
investment of tha endowment in the Cape with ~im.556 

When Jones and Bousfield met in Capetown there seems 
to have been a disagreement between them. Jones 

privately wrote to Tucker of S.P.G.: "I ~ntirely 

551s.P.G., Letter to H.B. BousfielJ, 1880-02-18, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
!.ondon, Britain. 

552s.P.G., Letter to W.W. Jones, 1880-02-18, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

553s.P.G., Private letter to W.W. Jones, 1880-10-28, CLS Collection , USPG Archive 
t.ondcn, Britain. 

S54w.w. Jones, Letter to H.B. Bous~iel_d, 1880-07-23, Collection of the Letterbook 
of t~,e. Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Ar.chives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

515H.ll. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1880-08-03, Collection ~f the Archbishop 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannes~urg, South Africa. 

556H.B. Bousfield, Let~er to W.W. Jones, 1880-08-21, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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agree with you in what you say as to the Bishop of 

Pretoria. At the same time it must certainly not be 

forgotten in justice to him that he has had an excep­

tionally difficult & trying time of it & with a 

delicate wife & a tribe of children together with a 
certainly most inadequate stipend & with great diffi­

culties in securing good clergy and very little 
sympathy from the overwhelming majority of the Trans­

vaal people he has had to endure enough to break a 
stout heart .... His manner is certainly unfortunate 

& his conversation painfully egotistical, but with 
all his faults, he is a brave man, unflinching in the 

assertion of principle & determined to carry out his 

work & to deliver his message. And brave determined 

men are never more wanted than they are now. 11 557 

Jones agreed that Bousfield should have the services 

of his chaplain, Swinney, for six months, after which 
Swinney would go to the diocese of Zululand.558 

In a letter to Sir Bartle Frere Bousfield explained 

the conclusion of his business in Capetown. It was 

decided that the Provincial Trustees would invest 
part of the endowment in the Transvaal but they were 

cautious about obtaining real security.559 Bousfield 

said of Jones: "I did confer wit~ the Metropolitan, 

& hope s9 far convinced him that he did not differ 

from his cotrustees, but very few men are equal to 

Metropolitical functions, if large, & varying dioceses 

are to be in any measure ruled by them. The man who 

fills a Metropolitan see ought first to have served 

the roughest of the Province, & hence an elected 

Primate has many advantages over an established Metro­

politan Chair. 11 560 One wonders what was the cause of 

this tirade? 

557w.w . Jones, Private letter to H. Tucker of S.P.G., 1880-12-13, Collection of 
the Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 

55Brbid. 
559H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Sir Bartle Frere, 1881-01-12, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA .Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
560Ibid. 
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Bousfield's salary 
On various occasions Bousfield threatened to resign. 

In January 1880 he told the Bishop of London that he 

would resign if the income of the see was not 

increased. 561 

Bousfield was also able to increase his salary by 
other means. In February 1880 he thanked Randolph 

for 160 which would help him get through the year 

until something could be done about his income.562 

The Bishop also tried to get a military allowance as 

an acting Chaplain.563 It is unlikely that this was 

awarded to him as he did not mention it again. In 

February 1880 the Standing Committee of S.P.G. voted 

Bousfield an additional il00 from an extra fund held 
by the~. 564 

A donation of! 50 was given to the Pretoria Diocesan 

Fund for the personal use of the Bishop. He puts it 

towards buying a wagonette costing j90S6S: "It is 
just large enough to sleep in, will carry all I want, 

runs light, and will, I hope, be drawn by two mules. 

Two mules means driving myself, and this saves both 

the expense and disagreeableness of a native servant, 

who most undoubtedly do disperse around them a most 

sickening personal odour. This wagonette costs j90, 

and I am now trying to get two mules which may cost 

jS0 or even $60. Towards this I hope to sell the old 

Cape cart, and then I shall be set up, unless mis­

fortune comes again into the stable."566 Of his 

three horses, one had died and the second broken a 

leg but the third was in good condition.567 

56lu.B. Bousfield, Letter to the Bishop of London, 1880-01-29, Bousfield Collectio 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

562u.B. Bousfield, Letter to E.F. Randolph, 1880-02-19, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

563u.B. Bousfield, Letter to Col. Harrison, 1880-01-22, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

564s.P.G., Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1880-02-18, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London , Britain. 

565Bousfield, The Bishop's report for the months January to March 1880 ... , p.3. 
566 b.d 3 I 1. • ' p. . 
567 rbid., p . 3. 
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During the war of Independence Bousfield described 

his feelings about this wrangling over his salary: 

"(The episcopal income] is to me a sickening subject 

for nothing is more unnatural to me (or injurious) 
than seeking my own, and few more painful than seeking 
to do so."568 

If it was such a painful subject why did he constantly 

pursue it? 

568H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Sir Bartle Frere, 1881-01-12, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archiyes, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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CHAPTER FOUR 

THE WAR OF INDEPENDENCE 
1880 - 1881 

4.1 Historical backgroundl 2 

Many Boers had not been happy about the annexation of the Trans­

vaal. Since 1877 a number of grievances against the British 

Administration had surfaced, chief among them the desire to be 

allowed to rule themselves once more.3 Gladstone, whilst 

Opposition Leader in the British Parliament had spoken against 

Prime Minister Disraeli's policy towards the Transvaal, so when 

Gladstone became British Prime Minister in · l880 the Boer leaders 

in the Transvaal felt hopeful of regaining control of their 

country. Their hopes were dashed however when Gladstone made 

it clear that Britain would not change its policy towards the 

Transvaal.4 

During 1880 the Boers were quiet but were preparing themselves 

for war. A meeting was called at Paardekraal on 1881-01-08 at 
which Piet Joubert and Paul Kruger would report back to the 

BoersS on the negotiations with the British. The meeting was 

brought forward to 1880-12-08. Initially under five thousand 

burghers attended but the number rose to approximately ten 

thousand. It was decided on 1880-12-10 that the Zuid Afrikaan­

sche Republiek (Z.A.R.) Government would be re-introduced and 

the Volksraad called as from the next day. Paul Kruger and 

Piet Joubert would resume their previous positions as Vice­

President and Commandant-General respectively.6 A triumvirate 

of Kruger, Joubert and M.W. Pretorius was to run the Z.A.R. and 

Heidelberg was to be the provisional seat of government. Sir 

1c . F.J. Muller, ed .• Five hundred years, 2nd ed . , Pretoria: Academica, 1977, 
p.263-272 . 

2M. Wilson and L. Thompson, ed., The Oxford history of South Africa, 2nd vol., 
Oxford: OUP, 1971, p.296-300. 

3Muller, Five hundred years .. . , p.267-268 . • 
4rbid., p.268 
51bid. 1 p . 269 . 
6Ibid., p. 269 
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Owen Lanyon was informed that war would break out if he did not 

peacefully hand over government to the Triumvirate. As Lanyon 
was unable to accept the terms the 1st Anglo-Boer War started. 

Boer Commandoes were sent to the larger Transvaal towns. In 

Pretoria the people were forced to enter a Laager when the Boer 

forces besieged their town. 7 

When war broke out the clergy of the diocese of Pretoria were 

scattered among the British in the Transvaal towns and shared 

the dangers of war with them. 

The Bishop was returning from the 1880 Episcopal Synod 

held in Capetown. 

Mrs Bousfield and her family, Roberts and his family and 
the staff from the Pretoria schools moved into the Pretoria 

Laager. 

The elderly William Richardson was in Potchchefstroom. 

Alexander Temple had left the diocese. 

Charles Spratt was in Pietermaritzburg with his wife and 
infant and returned to Standerton with the Bishop.a 

J.P. Richardson was in Rustenburg. 

H. Sadler was in Wakkerstroom. 

H. Adams was in Middelburg. 

John Thorne was once more involved in war at Lydenburg. 

4.2 Into the Pretoria Laager9 
col. Bellairs, head of the British Garrison at Pretoria, realised 

that he would have to protect all the civilians in Pretoria. He 

was expecting a column from Lydenburg under Lieut-Col Anstruther 

to reach Pretoria and provide extra troops. Unfortunately for 

Bellairs' plans the Lydenburg column was ambushed and destroyed 

at Bronkhorstspruit on 1880-12-20 by a Boer commando under 
commandant Frans Joubert. Bellairs was left to defend Pretoria 

and its civilians with the help of volunteers. The 3 700 towns­

people were moved from their homes on 21st December to tents in 

7Muller, Five hundred years .. . , p.269. 
8H.B. Bousfield, "An episcopal prisoner," Occasional paper of the diocese of 

Pretoria, .number 2, 1881-09, p . 12. 
9A.M. Davey, "The siege of Pretoria, 11 Archives Yearbook, number 1, 1956, p . 265-31€ 
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·the military camp area. 10 Gathering ell the civilians together 
in this ·way facilitated 

their protection 

the issuing of rations 

their control. 

However if any in the L;.iager were Boer sympathisers they could 
spy and send messages to the besiegers. 

The tents were in three groupsll at 

the Military Camp; 

the Civil or Wagon Laager wher~ many families were flaced; 

Tronk Laager, which enclosed the area between the Loreto 
Convent ana the gaol. 

Mrs Bousfield, th~ six Bousfield d~ughters, Emma 1-!c:!ywood ar,d 

Elizabeth Dowlin~ shared the comparative cornfcrt of a m~rquee 

in which they could stand ~pright. Ellen Lamb lived alc~e 

nearby in an old, small l:.ell tent which let in the r~in.12 She 

had to crawl into it and dress seated so what sh~ ~on in pri­
vacy she lost in comfort. Emma Haywood was ,1bl0 ~o ~,clp Mrs 
Roberts with her new bat::-yl3 so presumably the Rebe.ct::.: fc1mily 
were camped nearby. 

The family and friends of th~ Bishop anxiously awaited news of 
him. 

4.3 The Bishop's journey to Pretoria 

When war broke out the Bishop was in Natal on •his way back to 

the Transvaal from Capetown. He was delayed at Pietermaritzburg 
as the post cart was too overloaded with mail to take him.14 He_ 
was only able to start for Pretoria on Saturday 18th December 

which he disliked as it ~ea~t travelling on a Sunday.IS He 

lOA.M. Davey, "The siege of Pretoria," Archives Yearbook, number l, 1956, p.279. 
llrbid., p.279. 
11sister Juliana, Rosmarine, London: Mowbray, 1913, p.29-30. 
13c.E. Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield's diary (Part l missing)," TS, p.3, Bousfield 

ColJ~~tion, State Library, Pretoria, South Africa. 
i.11n.B. Bousfield, 11An episcopal prisoner," Occasional paper of the diocese of 

Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p.11. 
15Ibid., p.12. 
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was able to hold an evening service at the hotel at Sundays 

River between Pietermaritzburg and Newcastle. When Newcastle 

was reached the next day he heard that the rumours of unrest in 

the Transvaal, which he had at first disbelieved, were true. 

The post cart refused to continue as the two ahead of it on the 

road had been stopped at Heidelberg. The Bishop felt that he 
and Spratt, who was returning to Standerton, were needed at 

their posts so he searched for alternative means of transport. 

He eventually found a spider and horses which he had to break 

himself.16 On Wednesday they heard that the two previous post 

carts had been examined by the Boers at Heidelberg and allowed 

to proceed, the one to Natal and the other to Pretoria. At 
Newcastle the post cart in which Bousfield was travelling· 

decided to continuel7 so the Bishop did not need to travel in 

the spider with the newly broken horses after all. 

The post cart left Newcastle on Wednesday 22nd December bound 

for Standertonl8 where there was a military garrison and prepara­

tions had been made for a siege.19 At Standerton the post cart 

was delayed for a day and a half before the Landdrost would 

allow it to continue.20 In Six years in the Transvaal Bousfield 

claimed that rumours were rife in Standerton and that he persuaded 
the Landdrost to allow the post cart to travel on its way.21 

Spratt was left behind to minister to his congregation and the 

Bishop was determined to reach his own post in Pretoria. He 

described his feelings: " ... for to reach Pretoria I was bent, 

unless stopped by the Boers indeed. And as the boldest course 

appeared the wisest, I had decided to go straight to their 

headquarters, Heidelberg, and demand a passage through." 22 

On reaching Heidelberg the post cart travelled through the 

Laager. Once through the first defences the bishop claimed 

16H.B. Bousfield, "An episcopal prisoner," Occasional paper of the diocese of 
Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p.12. 

17rbid . , p.12. 
18Ibid . , p.12. 
19tt . B. Bousfield, Six years in·the Transval, London: S. P.C.K. , (1886), p.55. 
20H . B. Bous field, "An episcopal prisoner," Occasional paper of the diocese of 

Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p.13. 
21Bousfield, Six years ... , p.55. 
22H.B. Bousfield , "An episcopal prisoner," Occasional paper of the diocese of 

Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p.13. 
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that he ordered the driver to proceed to the Boer headquarters.23 

The Bishop told Jorrisen, the Attorney-General of the Provi­

sional Government, that he wished to travel to Pretoria to be 

in time for the Christmas services the next d~y. After telling 

Jorrisen that he did not have any messages, either verbal or 

written, to the British in Pretoria24 Bousfield was next inter­

viewed by Piet Joubert. The Bishop was sent to Graham's Hotel 

to join some of the British residents of Heidelberg. , They had 

not been molested in any way and their property had been respec­

ted. The day before the Bishop's arrival the prisoners of war 

from the 94th Regiment, ambushed at Bronkhorstspruit25, had 

been brought in.26 

on Christmas Day Jorrisen came to the hotel to tell the Bishop 

that his request for a pass had been refused and that unless he 

went to the orange Free State he would be kept a prisoner in 

Heidelberg.27 Bousfield wrote to the commandant General reite­
rating that he wished to go to Pretoria to resume his spiritual 

duties.28 Permission was granted for him to visit the prisoners 

but was unable to spe~k to them as they were being sent to the 

O.F.s.29 on returning to the hotel he received a letter from 
the Boer leaders explaining that one of the other passes 

granted had been abused. They wanted a declaration from the 
Bishop that he had no military information. This he was able 

to give.30 The Bishop held a service at the hotel and was even 

able to preach a sermon.31 After this Bok, Secretary of the 

z.A.R., sent for the Bishop to sign a declaration32 which 

included a clause that he would not mention anything that he 

23H. B. Bousfield , "An episcopal prisoner," Occasional paper of the d i ocese of 
Pretoria. number 2, 1881-09, p.13. 

241b id . , p. 14. 
25Muller, Five hundred years ... , p.270. 
26H .B. Bous field, "An episcopal prisoner , " Occasional paper of the diocese of 

Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p.14 . 
27 Ibid., p.14 . 
281bid. , p . 15 . 
29Ibid., p . 15 . 
JOibid., p . 15 . 
3l1bid., p .15 . 
321bid., p.16 . 
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had seen or heard.33 The declaration was written on paper with 

a Z.A.R. letterhead so the Bishop refused to sign.34 He felt 

that by signing the document he would be recognising the Z.A.R. 

which he did not. He said that he would sign if the heading 

was changed to "now garrisoned in the name of the South African 

Republic." Once this was done the Bishop signed the declara­

tion.35 T.F. Carter in his Narrative of the Boer war wrote of 

this incident" [Bousfield'sl obstinacy was too much for the 

Boers, so they let him proceed." 36 

With his pass secure the Bishop arranged for a spider and 
horses to carry him to Pretoria as the Boers would not let the 

post cart continue.37 The Bishop travelled on St Stephen's 

Day, the day after Christmas Day, with the post cart driver and 

a small bag of letters.38 Horses were difficult to get along 

the way, as many had been removed from the post cart stations 

but they did get one change. 39 Only once on the journey were 

they asked to show their pass.40 The Bishop, unaware that the 

townspeople had been taken into laager wished to reach Pretoria 

in time for evening service.41 

4. 3 .1 Arrival in Pretoria 
In the afternoon42 the Bishop drove into Pretoria and 
went to Government House as he had letters to deliver 

from Bok and others and wished to obtain Sir Owen 

Lanyon•s permission. 43 On finding the place deserted 

33Bousfield, Six years . .. , p.57 . 
34H.B. Bousfield , 0 An episcopal prisoner," Occasional paper of the d i ocese of 

Pre toria, number 2, 1881-09, p.16. 
35Bousfield, Si x years .. . , p . 57. 
36T.F. Career, A narrative of the Boer War its causes and results ~ London: 

Macqueen, 1896, p.381 . 
37c.E. Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield's diary .. . ," p . 5. 
38H .B. Bousfield , 11An episcopal prisoner," Occasional paper of the diocese of 

Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p . 16. 
39rbid., p.16 . 
40eousfield , Si x years ... , p.58. 
41H.B. Bousfield, "An epis copal prisoner," Occas i onal paper of the diocese of 

Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p . 16 . 
42G.Y. Lagden, Diary 1880 , 1880-12-26, MSS, Lagden Papers , MSS Af. s 144, Rhodes 

House Library, Oxford, Britain .. 
43eousfield , Six years ... , p.58 . 
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he went to Bishop's Cote; on the way a picket told 

him where he could find his family.44 

In Mother Teresa Colahan's diary she wrote on 1880-12-26: 
" ... Or. Bousfield has just arrived, he passed through 

the Boer Camp and was allowed to pass, as the Boers 

have great respect for a predicant [sic) - We trust 

they were equally obliging to our dear little Bishop 

and let him go onto Kimberly [sic] - We never heard 

from him since he left."45 

Mrs Bousfield in her diary for the same day wrote: 

" ... about 5 o'clock I heard voices say 'the Bishop 

is in Pretoria & in the camp' all were out to greet 

him & he was sought by the Governor etc .... It was 

delightful to have him back again and Harry and I 

felt as if a load of responsiblity was off our 

shoulders ... so end[ed] a never to be forgotten week 
& a most strange Xmas day and sunday.»46 

That day the Bishop handed over the bag of letters he 
was carrying to the British authorities. He · also 
spoke to the heads of the departments privately.47 

The Bishop spent the early part of the siege, until 
1881-01-13, sharing Lagden's tent.48 Even though the 

Bishop had reached Pretoria on a Sunday he was unable 

to hold evening service, as he had wished because it 

had been raining heavily all day and the Laager was 

still in confusion.49 

Charles Ou val published a newspaper for the Pretorians 
in Laager known as the News of the Camp, which joked 

about the Bishop eventful journey from Natal: "Bishop 

Bousfield (just arrived) 'Story!' 'God bless you, I 

have none to tell, Sir!' ______ Canning."50 

44H.8. Bousfield, "An episcopal prisoner," Occasion! paper of the diocese of 
Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p.16. 

45Mother M.T. Colahan, Diary kept during the siege of Pretoria 1880-1881, 
1880-12-26, HSS, Colahan Papers, Loreto Convent, Pretoria, South Africa. 

46c.E. Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield's diary ... ," p.5-6. 
4 7 Ibid. , p. 5. 
48G.Y. Lagden, Diary 1881, 1881-01-13, MSS, Lagden Papers, MSS Af. s 145, Rhodes 

House Library, Oxford, Britain. 
49H.8. Bousfield, "An episcopal prisoner," Occasional paper of the diocese of 

Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p. 17. 
SO"Quotational Aproposities , " News of the Camp, number 2, 1880-12-28, p . 3. 
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The Bishop had probably told everyone he met the 

story of his bravery in returning to Pretoria. 

The Catholic Vicar Apostolic of Natal, Bishop Jolivet 
O.M.I., was not as lucky as Bousfield. Mother Teresa 

colahan noted in her diary on 1881-01-05 that news 

had been received that the post cart carrying Jolivet 

had been stopped at Potchefstroom and all its passen­

gers detained.51 After two weeks Jolivet obtained a 

pass from Commandant Cronje which enabled him to 

leave the Transvaal and he went to Bloemfontein.52 

4.4 Life within the Laager 

The Bishop soon got into a routine.53 He would visit the 

hospitals in the mornings. At noon he would visit Bishop's 

Cote to check on his African MOrkers and for a time of quiet, 

either reading or writing, while the sun was at its hottest. 

During the afternoon he would visit his parishioners in the 

Laager until 6.15 p.m. 

4.4.1 Hospital visits 
The Bishop felt that visiting the wounded in hospital 

was an important duty as he was acting Chaplain to 
the army. This occupied him from 10 a.m. to 12 noon 

on most days.54 The Bishop was sickened by the wounds 

inflicted in baitle. On 1881-01-06 the engagement at 

the Zwartkopje took place· in which the British tried 
to test the defences ~f the besiegers.55 Mrs Bousfield 

watched the dead, wounded and prisoners arrive in 

Pretoria. She described the scene: " ... we were 

sitting after dinner looking for the troops return 

and thankful all were no more (sic) were hurt - 16 
wounded & 5 killed. The latter came in on [an] open 

wagon and the others in [an] ambulance the 14 prisoners 

included .... I hear one prisoner died and was 

buried with another who died as he was being brought 

51Mother M.T. Colahan, Diary kept during the 
1881-01-05, MSS, Colahan Papers, Loreto Convent, 

siege of Pretoria 1880-1881 , 
Pretoria, South Africa. 

521oreto in South Africa 1878-1978 , [s . 1 . ]: Institute of the Blessed Virgin 
Mary Loreto Sisters, [s.a.], p.22. 

53H.B. Bous field, "In Laager at Pretoria," Occasionar paper of the diocese of 
Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p.30. 

54Ibid., p.30. 
, 55oavey, "The siege of Pretoria . . . ," p~284. 
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in. These were buried ... from the prison by the 

prison authorities & laid in the Dutch burying place . 

... the Bishop went to see all the wounded & dying 

directly & was shocked at the sad havoc made of the 
poor fellows."56 

The battle of Elandsfontein in which Harry Bousfield, 
the Bishop's eldest son, took part was fought the 
following week on Saturday 21st. The Bishop as before 

visited the hospitals soon after. He described his 

feelings on seeing the wounded: "My work has been 

more melancholy still since then; more funerals; 

four poor fellows, each with one leg off, one of them 

likely to lose both, or life itself. My heart grows 

sick, and my pen fails to tell of their sufferings, 

and my own as 1 visit the beds of the more-than-half 

unconscious sufferers, not knowing at which visit to 

pass on, at which to speak, at which to kneel, and 

softly whisper some short prayer in which perhaps the 

spirit might find relief or might join. I have had 

comfort by the bedsides of some, but never in my 
ministry such anxious sorrows by others."57 

Mrs Bousfield occasionally cut flowers from the 
Bishop's Cote garden and sent them t~ the hospitals.SB 

On Friday 1881-01-21 the Bishop gave each man in the 

hospital a bunch of flowers which included lemon 

plant and heliotrope.59 It would appear that Mrs 
Bousfield also occasionally visited the hospitals 

with her husband. She tells of visiting a patient: 

" ... poor Mr Arber60 is now conscious and smiles with 

pleasure at seeing the Bishop or any of us, he is so 

altered. "61 

56c . E. Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield 's diary ... , 11 p.17-18. 

57H . B. Bousfield, "In Laager at Pretoria," Occasional paper of the diocese of• 
Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p.35. 

S8c . E. Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield's diary .. . ," p.16. 

59rbid., p . 29 . 
60Arber is not mentioned in Davey, "The siege of Pretoria . . . ," p.309-310, 

Annexure A, Casualties [of the Boer and British Armies) during the siege of Pretoria . 
He might however have been a civilian . 

61c.E. Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield's diary .. . ," p.46-47. 
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On 1881-02-12 col. Gildea led a sortie against the 
Boer laager at Roodehuis and on the way his force was 

defeated at Elandsfontein.62 Once again the Bishop 

did the rounds of the wounded. His wife admired him 

for this distressful duty: " ... the return to the 

camp about midday was truly a depressing sight, the 

Col., [Gildea] wounded besides 9 others & all for 

nothing one may say - the Bishop did his best in 

seeing them all & I consider him wonderful in bearing 

up as bravely as he does under the most harassing 
scenes in visiting the Hospitals, I will not name 

them as many would not be of interest and all of us 

can imagine the suffering of a time of war -"63 Mrs 

Bousfield sent flowers and some blancmange to the 

wounded from this engagement.64 News of the Camp 

noted that the commotion caused by the Elandsfontein 

skirmish had robbed the Bishop of his Sunday congre­

gation" ... so he sought one where he knew it was to 

be found, and ministered to the wounded in the 

hospital."65 

some of the wounded from the first engagements of the 
siege were still in hospital at the end of February. 

The Bishop visited the most seriously wounded daily, 

preparing some for death.66 

Camp sick visiting 
From the beginning when Col. Bellairs, the Colonel 
commanding the military67, sent the civilians into 

laager careful attention was paid to hygiene and 

sanitation.68 Hutments had to be kept out clean, 

refuse removal was efficiently carried out and no 

washing was allowed in the sluits near the camp. 

Drinking water was brought in by cart and a well was 

sunk at the Convent as the Fountains supply could 

62navey, "The siege of Pretoria ... , " p . 287 . 

63c . E. Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield's diary . .. ," p.38. 
641bid., p.40. 
6S 11 church News," News of the Camp, number 11, 1881-01-18, p.2. 

66c.E . Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield's diary ... , 11 p.42. 

67oavey, "The siege of Pretoria . .. ," p.270 . 

6 8 Ib i d . , p . 280 . 
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easily be cut off by the Boers. The summer of 1880-

1881 was wet, settling the dust which probably lowered 

the sickness rate. In spite of these precautions 

people did become ill so the district surgeon went on 
his rounds daily.69 Mrs Bousfield described the 

scene. An African ringing a bell called out "Doctor 

wanted"" ... this prevents delays in case of sickness 

and has proved an excellent plan though comical, ... "70 

Two days after his arrival in Pretoria the Bishop 
started his civilian sick visiting.71 The deaths 

soon came. An unfortunate misunderstanding occurred 

when a child came to the Bousfield's on 28th December 

to say that her sister had died and they wanted a 

coffin made. The Bishop explained to her that this 

was not possible and told her they should wrap the 

body in a blanket and he would come later and bring a 

covering for it. The child returned home and told 

her mother that the Bishop had said to wrap the body 

in a blanket, dig a hole in the veld and throw the 

body into it. The Bishop only found out about this 

story when he visited the family with the covering 
and they had just returned from the burial as instruc­
ted by the Bishop.72 

The Bishop described the illnesses suffered by the 
-civilians: "Sickness, ~o~, has mad.e its appearance 
among the civilians, sore eyes, dysentery fever adding 

to the hospital patients: sending some out of 

'laager' to their homes, and more than one to their 

last earthly bed."73 

One of the tragic deaths from dysentery was that of 

the Mother Superior of the Loreto convent, Celine 

Jolivet, sister of the Catholic bishop. She died on 
5th January aged 35 years 74 and was buried two days 

69navey, "The siege of Pretoria ... ," p.280. 
70c.E . Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield's diary .. . , " p. 30 . 
7lrbid., p.6-7. 
72rbid., p .7 . 
73H.B . Bousfield, "In Laager at Pretoria , " Occasional paper of the diocese of 

Pretoria, number 2 , 1881-09, p.30. 
7411neath of the Lady Superior," News of the Camp, number 10, 1881-01-15, p.2. 
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later. Her funeral was well attended,75 the mourners 

including Sir Owen Lanyon, Col. Bellairs and Bishop 

Bousfield. 76 

Death also touched the Anglican staff when on Wednes­
day 1881-02-25 one of the Misses Lorentz died. The 

two spinster sisters had been teachers at the elemen­

tary schoo1.77 

On Friday 1881-02-11 Mrs Bousfield accompanied her 
husband on his visits to the wagon Laager: she felt 

that his visits to the sick and poor were apprecia­

ted.78 Mrs Bousfield, a seasoned priest's wife taught 
her children to be thoughtful of others and to lead 

useful lives, so they also took turns in 9oing to the 

Hospitals and visiting the sick at their homes taking 

gifts.79 

Schools 
When the Pretorians were moved into Laager the schools 

closed but were reopened when it became obvious that 

the siege would not be lifted quickly. 

On 15th January News of the Camp printed the following 
on its front page: "Fathers and mothers will be glad 
to hear that the Rev. Mr Roberts intends opening his 

school in town on Monday next. The young urchins 

will now be kept out of the way, and we hope we shall 

be less ~roubled with their noise in future."80 On 
the next page was an advertisement for St Birinus' 

re-opening at the new school room.81 This had been 
nearing completion when the siege had begun.82 

The other Anglican schools followed St Birinus' exam­
ple. News of the Camp five days later contained 

75"R.l.P. ," News of the Camp, number 11, 1881-01-18, p.3. 
76Mother M.T. Colahan, Diary kept during the siege of Pretoria 1880-1881, 

1881-02-18, p.76, MSS, Colahan Papers, Loreto Convent, Pretoria, South Africa. 

77sister Juliana, Rosmarine ... , p.33. 
7 8 f • l " f. ld ' d • " 35 C. E. Bous 1e d, Mrs Bous 1e s Lary ... , p .. 
79lbid., p. 36. 
8011scholastic, 11 News of the Camp, number 10, 1881-01-15 , p.l. 
81115, Birinus School, 11 News of the Camp, number 10, 1881-01-15, p . 2. 
82H.B. Bousfield, "ln Laager at Pretoria," Occasional papet of the diocese of 

Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p.30. 
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advertisements stating that St Alban's Elementary 
School would open on Monday 24th at 10 a.m. and St 

Etheldreda's on the same day at 9 a.m. at the School 

House.83 For the opening of these schools the Bishop 

had secured an omnibus (an ox-wagon driven by Africans 

and pulled by eight mules) to take the children to 

school in the morning, returning at 1 p.m.84 The 

Catholics opened their school on 31st January.BS 

When Prospect Seminary was re-opened Weavind, its 

Honorary Secretary, arranged for a wagon to leave the 

East Gate of the Camp at 9 a.m. each school morning 
and return the pupils at 12.30 p.m.86 

On 27th January Miss Dowling from St Etheldreda's 

went to nurse a newly delivered mother and baby leaving 

the school short staffed.87 By 8th February she 

still had not returned from her nursing.88 

Clarke, a Government Inspector from Capetown who had 
come to Pretoria just before the siege was also in 

the Laager. As he wished to leave Pretoria as soon 

as the siege was lifted he thought it better to 

continue with his work.89 So on 10th March Clarke 

examined the girls of St Etheldreda's School. The 
younger girls did well and all passea.90 Francis 

Rebekah, the eldest Bousfield daughter and their star 

pupil, did badly which was a great disappointment. 

one of her teachers excused her lack of achievement 
thus: "One can hardly expect a g i r 1 who has gone 

through all the strain of the last ten weeks to be 

ready to shine in such an impromptu examination.n91 

This teacher felt that the Inspector's visit was 

inopportune as the school was disorganised, it had 

83 115 .Alban's Elementary School," and "S. Etheldreda's School," News of the Camp, 
number 12, 1881-01-20, p.4 . 

84sister Juliana, Rosmarine . .. , p. 33 . 
8S 11Adverti sements : Education," News of the Camp, number 14 , 1881-01-25, p.3. 
861bid. 
87sister Juliana, 
88 f' C.E. Bous 1eld, 
89sister Juliana, 
901bid., p.36. 
9 l Ibid . , p. 3 7 . 

Rosmarine . .. , p. 34 . 
"Mrs Bousfield's diary .. . ," p.28. 
Rosmarine .. . , p.36. 
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only half its usual number of pupils and there was no 

afternoon school.92 

Church services 
In spite of being in Laager, denominational church 

services continued to be held. 

Christmas Day 1880 was wet and miserable and the 
people were still learning how to live in tents. Mrs 

Bousfield desciibed her day: " ... , so the day drew 
to a close without any service here as rain totally 

prohibited every effort to hold one out of 4 arranged 

for in various places through the Camp - the only one 

held was at the Convent which is garrisoned by the 

Volunteers - this was well attended Mr Roberts told 
me. tt93 

News of the Camp announced the services for Sunday' 
26th, St Stephen's Day: "Wind, weather, and Boers 

permitting, there will be services of the various 

religious sects now somewhat incongrously mixed 

" together in fort, la ager, and under canvas, in the 
Military Camp, Pretoria, to-morrow morning at seven 

o'clock. This is authoritative, and standing orders 
have been posted, notifying the following arrangements 

for the holding of the services, and the places where 

each will be held as follows:-

Church of England - In the ~quare in front of 
Garrison office .... (Hour for all - 7 a.m.) 11 94 

To the great pleasure of the Anglicans the Bishop 
returned that evening and was able to organise their 

services. On Tuesday 28th December the Bishop, his 

wife and a few others met under the mitrailleuse95 

just outside the rampart. During this service a 

prayer for peace, which the Bishop had drawn up during 

the Zulu war and used subsequently, was read.96 

92sister Juliana, Rosmarine .. . , p.36. 
9Jc.E. Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield's diary ... ," p.4. 

94 11wind, weather, and Boers permitting ... ," News of the Camp, number l, 
1880-12-25, p.l . 

95Mitrailleuse COD many-barrelled breech loading machine-gun discharging small 
missiles simultaneously or in rapid succession. 

96c. E. Bous field, "Mrs Bous field's diary ... , 11 p . 6. 
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The Bishop started regular services and these were 

continued by both the Bishop and Alfred Roberts until 

the siege was lifted. There were five services on 

Sunday and two on weekdays. Most of these services 
were held in the open air.97 The third edition of 

News of the Camp stated that the Bishop was holding 

his two weekday services at the Camp Ground near the 

Headquarters' Bungalow at 7.15 a.m. and 6.30 p.m.98 

Later these services were changed to 7.30 a.m. and 

6.15 p.m.99 The evening service was attended by all 

the Bousfield children.100 The Bishop fell into the 

daily habit of going down to Bishop's Cote before 
returning to the Laager for Morning Prayer. This 

service was usually only attended by Church workers.101 

During the evening the band played in the "Flagstaff 
Square. 11 After that came the evening hymns, 102 "God 

save the Queen 11 and lights out at 8.45 p.m.103 On the 

last day of 1880 Morning Prayer was held at 7 a:m.104 

A midnight service was held by the Bishop to welcome 

in the New Year . 105 On New Year's day the Bishop and 

a few others went down to the Cathedral and cele­

brated Holy Communion.106 The same day the Bishop 

went to the Garrison Adjutant to get him to counter­
sign the times for the five Anglican services for 2nd 

January.107 Sunday 2nd January was the first really 

settled Sabbath in the Laager .. The Bishop attended 

all the services and preached at the Holy Communion 
which was held in a small empty hut. At one of the 

Sunday services three babies were baptised. A number 

of people attended Evening Prayer at 6.30 p.m. in the 

97sousfield, Six years .. . , p.58 . 
9811Divine service is held daily ... ," News of the Camp , number 3, 1880-12-30, p.2. 
99"Beseiged Pretoria , " Occas i onal paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 2; 

1881-09, p.23 . 
100c . E. Bous field, "Mrs Bous field's diary ... , 11 p .10. 

lOlH.B. Bousfield, "In Laager at Pretoria," Occasional paper of the diocese of 
Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p . 29. 

l02rbid., p . 33-34. 
l03 b'd 3·1 1 l . , p. . 

104c.E. Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield's diary ... ," p.10. 
10511we understand that his Lordship, ... , " News of the Camp, number 4 , 1881-01-01, 

p. l. 
106sister Juliana, Rosmarine . .. , p.30 . 
10711official Announ'cements," News of the Camp , number 4, 1881-01-01 , p .4. 
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hut and the Bishop preached again. Just before 

bedtime Mrs Bousfield sat outside and listened to the 

band of the 21st playing "Hark the herald angels 
sing" and "Thy way not mine".108 News of the Camp 

joked about the five Sunday Anglican services: "We 

don't know which to admire most - the enthusiasm or 
physical powers of his Lordship."109 

The British attacked the "wagpos" at Zwartkopje, 

Cockcroft's Farm and Pienaar's River on Thursday 6th 

January.110 The Bishop, his wife and Miss Sarah,111 

at the Cathedral for Communion, heard the firing and 

dynamite explosions. An Italian man was the only 

other member of the congregation.112 

The weather on the next Sunday, 9th January, was so 

wet and miserable that some services were cancelled. 

At the 11 a.m. service held in the Cathedral the 

communicants included four soldiers, one of them a 

Captain in the 21st. The Sunday School had to be 
abandoned because of the weather.113 

The Elandsfontein engagement took place the next 
Sunday, 16th January which meant that congregations 
were small. News of the Camp reported: "Even His 

Lordship, the Bishop, failed to secure the nucleus of 

a congregation, so he sought one where he knew it was 

to be found, and ministered to the wounded in the 

hospital. 11 114 

The Sunday School held by Frances Rebekah Bousfield 
and Miss Lorentz had already started on 30th January 

when a severe thunderstorm interrupted it.115 News 

of the Camp reported that the Church Parade had 

108c.E. Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield's diary .. . ," p.13 . 

10911church Militant," News of the Camp, number 5, 1881-01-04, p.l. 

llOoavey, "The siege of Pretoria . . . ," p.284. 
lllrt is not certain who Miss Sarah was but she was probably a staff member 

or family friend . 

112c.E. Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield's diary .. . ," p.17 . 
113rh id. , p. 19. 
11411church News," News of the Camp, number 11, 1881-01-18, p.2. 

llSc . E . Bousfield , "Mrs Bousfield's diary ... ," p.31. 
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a congregation of four (three NCO's and a trooper.)116 

Evening Prayer had to be abandonea.117 

On 30th January the Garrison Adjutant, Spencer F. 

Chichester, signed a notice giving the times of the 
Church services for the troops, which was published 

for the first time in the next edition of News of the 

Camp. The times were as follows: 

"Church of England at 7 a.m. 
Roman Catholic at 7 a.m. 

Wesleyan at 8.15 a.m. and 

Voluntary Service at 4.30 p.m."118 

On the third anniversary of Bousfield's consecration 
as bishop a special service was held at the Cathedral 

at 10 a.m. with a few attendants, followed by Holy 

Communion. Mrs Bousfield described her feelings in 

her diary: " ... and a deep comfort was it to feel 

that at least our P(rayer] U[nion] members at Home 

were thinking of us & many others also, ... "119 

News of the Camp gleefully reported that only two of 
a Company of volunteers, their officer and a few 
other worshippers attended a service held by the 

Bishop in the Convent Redoubt on the boisterous 

morning 13th February.120 Two days later the jour­

nalists had to retract their report as the service 

had been held by Roberts, not by the Bishop, and they 

printed the following: "We understand that in conse­

quence of the very small number of persons attending 

the services at the convent Redoubt, the Bishop has 

decided on not holding any more there. He has invited 

the people to the Cathedral instead."121 

On Sundays services were held in a shelter of wood 
with an iron roof in the Engineers' Square. At night 

soldiers slept under it and during the day it was used 

ll6 11church Parades, .. News of the Camp, number 17 , 1881-02-01, p.1-2. 
117 C E B f • ld " B f. ld ' d • " 31 . . ous Le , Mrs ous Le s 1ary ... , p. . 
ll811official Announcements," News of the Camp, number 17, 1881-02-01, p.4 . 
119c E B f. ld "M B f. ld' d. " 32 . . ous 1e , rs ous 1e s 1ary . . . , p. . 
120"Every inch an officer-," News of the Camp , number 24, 1881-02-17, p.2. 
121111rreligious," News of the Camp , number 25, 1881-02-19 , p.2. 
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by the women and children. One end was used by the 

Anglicans for services and the other by the wesleyans. 

The Anglican Litany and Holy Communion was at 9 a.m. 

The first part of the service was held outside at the 

usual place for Morning Prayer and the Consecration 

and Communion in the shelter where the Bishop's tem­

porary altar had been set up.122 

The. times and places of Anglican services were as 

follows: 

7 a.m. 

8 a.m. 

9 a.m. 

11 a.m. 

Church Parade for the Regular Garrison in 
the Flagstaff Square. This was shortened 

Morning Prayer. The band played and the 

Canticles and a hymn were sung. 

The Volunteers Church Parade in the Convent 
Redoubt. This was the same service as for 

the Regulars but without music. 

Litany and Holy Communion, held out of 
doors as far as the Offertory, the rest 

under cover. 

Morning Prayer with Litany or Holy Communion 
and sermon, in the Cathedral. 

4.30 p.m. Evening Prayer and sermon in the Convent 
Redoubt . 

6 p.m. . Evening Prayer and sermon on the Parade 
Ground at the Camp.123 

Roberts usually took the Sunday 11 a.m. service of 

Mattins at the Cathedra1.124 

By mid-February the Sunday School had been discontinued 

but Mrs Bousfield still taught her younger daughters 

together with a few other children who had asked 

permission to attend. Mrs Bousfield described her 

duty thus: " ... I am glad to help in any way I can 

to teach the children •to keep the sabbath day 

holy• ... 125 on 20th February she taught her class 

122H.B. Bousfield, "In Laager at Pretoria," Occasional paper of the diocese of 
Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p.31. 

1231bid., p.32. 
124A. Roberts, The genesis of the diocese of Pretoria South Africa, MSS, p.28, 

Alfred Roberts Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
125c.E. Bousfield, "Mrs Bousfield's diary ... ," p.38. 
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for three hours and read them stories from the Old 

Testament. She explained her use of the Bible in 

teaching: "I find the book which was sent to my 

children 'Bible Steps' most helpful as I always like 

using the Bible itself as far as possible which is 
the object of the book." 126 

On Monday, 21st February, a typical Highveld thunder­
storm prevented the Bishop from holding the 4.30 p.m. 

service in the Cathedral and the 6.15 p.m. service at 

the Camp.12? On Ash Wednesday, 2nd March, the Bishop 

advertised services in the Cathedral at 10 a.m. and 5 

p.m. At the one he had a congregation of four and 

none at the other as the result of a storm.128 The 

Cathedral was draped in purple to commemorate the 

beginning of Lent.129 A service was also held in the 

Cathedral on the First Sunday in Lent.130 

The afternoon service in the Laager had to be moved 
to the Cathedral as the congregations were small. The 

Bishop put this down to "the excessive heat and the 

lack of seats," and the absence of people attending 

from the Gaol Laager for which this service was 

held.131 By the end of the siege the Anglicans had 

fallen into the routine of having the services in the 
Cathedral on Wednesday and Sunday evenings.132 

The number of Anglican services caused comment, as 

the Bishop records: "As time went on ... our daily 
prayers were said in secret, for fear the gathering 

of ourselves alone should provoke more smiles than 

reverence, and so do harm."133 The Bishop explained 

126c .E. Bousfield, "Mrs Bousf ield's diary .. . ," p.41. 
127 Ibid. , p.40. 
128H.B. Bousfield, "In Laager at Pretoria," Occasional paper of the diocese of 

Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p. 36. 
129c.E. Bousfield , "Mrs Bousfield's diary . . . ," p.47. 
l30Ibid ., p .47 . 
131H. B. Bousfield, "In Laager at Pretoria," Occasional paper of the diocese of 

Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09 , p.34 . 
132c.E. Bousfield , "Mrs Bousfield's diary . . . ," p.54 . 
133H.B. Bousfield, "In Laager at Pretoria," Occasional paper of the diocese of 

Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09 , p.36. 
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away the small congregations as lack cf interest in 

the people and their sit~ation rather than the number 
of services arid his own pomposity. Aft?r the liftlng 

of the siege the Bishop wrote to Arnold Clarke, an 
ex-parishoner: "There is a hustle about war and a 
siege, which keeps from prayer and worship and sol~mn 

thought and funerals of the wounded and hosp'i tal scenes 
has no spiritual effect."134 

4.5 Concern for the Disho~ 

With the outbreak of wac anxiety was felt about the safety of 

the Bishop and clergy of the diocese of Pretoria. The con­
fusion at the st,rt cf hostilities worried Archbishop Jones as 
he was not sure where the bishops of Pretoria and Zululand 

were.135 Macrorie was able to tell him that Bousfi'e'.!d had 
reached Pretoria but the whereab0uts of Swinney, who had been 

sent to Pretoria for six months to. help Bou sf i.eld before going 
ori to Zululand, was unknown.136 

Mi.ssion Field printed a paragraph on the anxie~y fel_t by S.P.G. 

"No news has been received for some time from the Bish~p of 
Pretoria, who was ceturr,il~g from Capetown at ·the i.:ir..c of ·the 

outbreak of the Boers: :icr since the outbreai< has thE:·Society 
heard anything of its Missionaries shut up in the _Transvaal."137 

In mid-January a concerned ~dwar<l Holroyd Bousfield, the Bis­

hop's brother, wrote to S.P.G.: "I am awfully anxious aoout 
the Bishop - fancy them missing, first, horrors, of being shut 
up in fort with all his family qr worse still."138 

S.P.G. did write to the Bishop despite not knowing his where­

abouts: "We are very anxious to receive ~ome tiding from you, 
your last letter was dated Dec 9: off Port Elizabeth, and we 

cannot but fear that you did not reach Pretoria before the 
outbreak. 0 139 

-----------------------------------------
l3l•H.B. Bousfield, Letter to A. Clarke; 1881-04-16, Bousfield Lett.ars, R. Keel, 

Horsham, Surrey, Britain. 
135w.w. Jones, Letter to W.K. M3crorie, 1881-01-18, Collection of the J.etterbook~ 

of the Archbishops of Cape Tovn, CPf.A ,\.:-ch:.ves, Wits, Johannesburg, 2.;;uth Africa. 
!J61bid. 

!37 11Bloemfontein and the Transvaal," Mission Field, 1880-03-01, p.121. 
l3SE.H. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1881-01-18, D Collection, USPG Archives, 

London, Britain. 
139s.P.G., Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1881-02-2~, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 

London, Britain. 
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However they were eventually able to establish contact with 
him. In May, after the siege had ended, Tucker of S.P.G. wrote: 
"I am very glad to be able to resume correspondence with you: 

you were much in our thoughts during the siege."140 

After the war had ended the Bishop wrote to Durnford, his 
Commissary in Britain, requesting him to allay the fears of 
those in England if they did not hear from him and/or if their 

letters were unanswered as the land and postal service were in 
confusion.141 This Durnford did by publishing the letter in 

the next copy of the Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria. 

4.6 The siege is lifted 
On 1881-03-29 the siege was lifted when the Boers entered 

Pretoria.142 The Bishop graphically described his feelings at 
this event in a letter to a friend: "A disgraceful compact 
with the Boers has raised the siege today .... May England's 

eyes be opened to the way she has treated her legal children 
here!"l43 To S.P.G. he wrote: "This morning our siege was 
raised, and publication has been made among us of the disgrace­
ful compact to which we owe the relief."144 The writer of the 

diary printed in Rosmarine wrote: "March 29 - Martial law is 
over, Peace has been signed. 
has lasted one hundred days. 

But at what a price! The siege 
The effigy of the Prime Minister 

(W.E. Gladstone) was burnt in the square. It means ruin to us. 

Many rich men say they are not worth 6d."145 

That day, 29th March, the Bishop left the camp and returned to 
sleep in Bishop's Cote. The house was re-arranged and by 

Sunday, 3rd April, all the family were once more there. 

140s . P.G . , Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1881-05-25, CLS Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain . 

141H.B. Bousfield, "Letter to E. Durnford, 1881-05-08," Occasional paper of 
the diocese of Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p.5. 

142oavey, "The siege of Pretoria .. . ," p . 301. 
143H.B. Bousfield, Letter to H.E. Jennings, 1881-03-29, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johanesburg, South Africa. 
144H. B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1881-03-29, D Collection, USPG Archives , 

London, Britain. 
145sister Juliana, Rosmarine . . . , p.37. 
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The Bishop remained in Pretoria until 12th July follow{ng his 

usual pursuits of services, visiting, studying, letter writing 

and gardening as well as the new task of teaching geometry and 
arithmetic in the schools.146 

4.7 After the war 

4.7.1 Historical background 
The battle of Amajuba, which ended the war, was 
fought on 18~1-02-27147 and resul·ted in a victory for 

the Bqers and the British General and Governor of 
Natal, George Colley, being killed. Only two and a 

half weeks later, on 15th March, the news of. an 
armistice conclude~ reached Pretoria.148 Seon after 

the siege h~d been lifted Sir Owen Lanyon had left 

Pretoria and been replaced as Administrator by 
Bellairs who had been promoted to Bri~adier.149 

A Royal Comnission was a~pointed by ~he Britiah 
Government to ccnduct the peace negotiati·<-':-tS wit!-. the 

Boer Triumvirate. The members of th~ Ccm:,,is::;ion were , 

Sir Hercules KObinson, Governor of the Cape; IL de 

Villiers, Chi~f Justice of the Cape; and Sir Evelyn 
Wood.150 The Bof:'r delegates were P,1ul J(:.--.:.1ger, 
Commandant-General Piet Joubert and M.H. Pre~orius.151 

Brand, President of the Orange Free Sca~e, attended 
the meetings as an advisor. Six months later, on 

1881-08-03, the Pr~toria Convention was signed making 
the Transvaal selt-qoverning under the suzerainty of 
the British Gover nmen,t .152 The Convention al so defined 
the Transvaal bou~daries. A British Resident was to 

live in Pretoria, with power o~er the Afric~n pcpu­

lation.153 The Boers ~ere once more ruling themselves 
but the Transvaal burghers disliked the Pretoria 
convention. 

l4f,H.B. Bousfield, "The Bishop's raport , " Occasional paper of the rli.:>cese 
of rrctoria, number 3 , 1882-02, p.10. . 

l4 7Muller, Five hundred years .. . , p.271. 
148 11 h • f • 11 301 • Oavey, Te siege o Pretoria ... , p. . 
l 49lbid., p. 302. 

iS~uller, Five hundred years . .. , ?,271. 
1511bid., p . 271. 

l521bid . , p . 271. 

l531./ilson ana Thompson, The Oi:ford his~ of South Africa ... , p. 300. 
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Negotiations were re-opened and the· Lt.:>ndon Conventio11 , 
signed on 188~-02-27, provided that the Transvaal 

could once more use its old name of the iuid-Afrikaansch 
Republiek and ~~s ~no longer under British suzerainty. 
By the London Convention the Transvaal regained her 
independence.154 

The Bishop's attitude to the retrocession 
With the end of the war and the resu~ption of Boer 

rule in the Transvaal the Bishop hac to decide on his 

future . He was faced with a nun1ber of alternatives: 

1. How could he carry on as Dishop of Pretoria? 

1~1 Should he remain in the Transvaal? 

1.2 Should he resign and return to Britain? 

1.3 ·Could he remDin within the CPS~ ~nd ccnt!ol 
the diocese of Pretoria yet reside in a 
British colony? 

2. What should he do about his f~mily? • 

2.1 Should they be sent back to Brit~in? 

2. 2 Sho1.1ld they cema in with him? 

3. Could the wcrk of the diocese of Pre~nria be 
continued and if so, how could he ·get the neces­

sary money? If insufficient English p~oµle 

remained the diocese could be changed int~ a 

mission-orier.tated diocese. 

Bousfield's search :or an answer was not mad~ easier 
by the fact that the l:3ritish did not know how the 

victorious Boers would treat them. Ever since 1879 
Bousfield had threatened to resig~, he had been 

depressed in October 1880 and the retroces3ion made 

him slide deeper into depression. 

The Grahamstown - Cape town plan 
In May 1881 Bousfield came up with a compromise plan 
as an alte rnative to his leaving South Africa. Could 

he not work from the Cape Colony, living in either 

the diocese of Graharnstown or the diocese c f Capetown? 
Bousfield wrote to Bishop Merriman of Grahamstown: 

154Muller, Five hundred years ... , p.271. 
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"If I am forced away I shall fall back on your diocese 

for safety, & such employment as may allow of my 

still visiting this diocese & walking its ruins till 

a better day, which will not return for many days, 

beyond my time, so please consider if you [can] use 

me, if neither you nor Capetown can, I shall have to 

rjturn whence I came."155 

On the same day he wrote to Bishop Jones of Capetown 
putting forward a variant plan by which he would 

spend eight months in the Cape. He wrote: "Should 
these worst things happen so that I am fairly driven 

out I shall fall back upon Port Elizabeth, & then the 

Cape, seeking a resting place for my family, and a 

post of usefulness for myself from which I may watch 

over the ruins here until a better day returns which 

will never b'e in the time of my activity, if it be of 

my life and so you must consider 1st whether such a 

retreat requires your permission under Canon 7, and 

if so send me a permit at once, for my security if 

needed; & 2ndly whether you can partially employ me 
so as to allow of my visiting this diocese every year 

for some four months, which is all it will then be 

capable of. If the Church of this province has no 

use for me, I must return whence I came, but I hope 

this sad sorrow will not be forced on me."156 Jones 

has headed this letter: "Bishop Bousfield. State of 

the Transvaal ominous for the English. Proposes to 

live in the Capital for 8 months in the year."157 

Before he committed himself Jones asked the advice of 

Macrorie who was against Bousfield's plan.158 More­

over Macrorie felt that the Church in the Transvaal 

would win through its difficulties. Macrorie told 

Jones: " I sh[oul)d feel very strongly against it as 

certain to damage the Church's prospects in the Trans­

vaal, while the advantage to you w[oul)d be very 

l55tt . B. Bousfield, Letter to N.J. Merriman, 1881-05-10, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, S~uth Africa . 

l56H.B . Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-05-10, Collection of the Archbishops 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

l57rbid. 
l58w.w. Jones, Letters to W.K. Macrorie , 1881-05-28 and 1881-06-01, these are 

probably not extant . 
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( 
doubtfui. I think that the Bishop's leaving the \ • 
country w,[oul Id most ef fe(~t i vel y prevent clergy f rem 

going to work there, & it is dif:ficult ~nough'already. 
He ought to ~iay ~here, if it be possible to live 

there, & fight through all difficulties. I feel much 
for him,, know ther~ must be a struggle before hi~, 

but I don't b,~l ieve it to be a harder one than the 
Church in the Free State had to en~ounter, so we may 
take courage from that example."159 

On 7th June Bou~field once more wrote to Jones, this 
time hinting ~t resignation: "In either case it 

seems tom~ that the wise course will be to fall back 
to Grahamstcwn or Port Elizabeth, & tak~ up ~y abode 

there where there ought to be work for me, 3part froro 
any episcopal help I could give the Bish~p, which 

would allow 0f my still administering this dioc~se 

and visiting it until some clear course wade the 
appointment of a successor possible."160 This Jetter 
Jones headed: "Bishop Bou sf ield St.:.t.e df Trnn::wai:i.l 

full of uncert~inty. Possible work in Ca.pe Colony."161 

It was only a t tt.e beginning of July th~t .J'one-s 
replied sternly ~nd unsympathetically t9 3ousfield's 
letters: "I hav~ been thinking most anxiously over 

your idea of leaving the Transvaal to o·trie\r ht:ids 

than yours, & the !nore earnestly do I deprJ1_cat.e it. 
I cannot think that your position in Pret0ria 
Diocese, painful & ~istressing as it must be, can be 

more difficult & harassing than was that of the 

B[isho]p of Bloem~ontein on succeeding B[isho]p 
Twells, or that of the B[isho]p of Maritzburg in 
h~ving year after year to face th~ rival forces of 

Colenso. Of cours~, as I said before, if your life 
is in danger, I cannot doubt but that it w[oul]d be 
your duty to esca~e, till the tyranny be overpast: 

but I honestly do not think that anything chert of 

139w.K. Macroric, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881- 06-26, Collection of the Archbishop:. 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

l 60it. B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jon(!s. 1881-06-07, Collection of the Archbishopf 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

lHrbid. 
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this ought to lead you to think of a permanent 

absence from your Diocese. It is not as though you 

were broken down in health, nor as though, even 
supposing our own countrymen sh[oul]d leave almost to 

a man, there were no other souls to be won to Christ. 

In that case it m(igh]t become more decidedly a 

Missionary Diocese, but that m[igh]t be our strength, 

... , our duty as a Church seems all the more distinct, 

to preach among the myriads of natives the Gospel of 

our Master. I do therefore hope that you will abandon 

the idea of quitting the work. You say 'So far as I 

can see, my own ministry here is at an end.' Surely 

to say this is premature. Who can tell what good & 

blessed work you may have yet in store for you in the 

Transvaal extend~ng among the native tribes the King­

dom of our Lord & Master? I say, 'Solid good & enlarged 

usefulness may in time come out of all.' Why sh]ould]d 

you by coming to the conclusion that your work is 

done deprive yourself of the blessedness of being 

God's instrument in fathering in the goodly harvest 

of souls?~l62 This letter has been quoted in full to 

show the attitude of the CPSA to Bousfield leaving 

his diocese. Bousfield apparently had little concept 

of the difficulties of the other bishops of the 

Province, e.g. 

The problems Webb encountered on coming into the 

Free State to re-organise the diocese of Bloem­

fontein after the sudpen departure of Twells in 

the wake of a homosexual scandal. 

Macrorie's life in Pietermaritzburg whilst Colenso 

lived there and Macrorie's attempt to draw the 

colenso party back to the CPSA. 

Douglas McKenzie had to re-organise the diocese 

of Zululand after the Zulu War during which most 

mission-buildings had been destroyed and congre­

gations disrupted. 
! 

162w.w. Jones, Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1881-07-06, Collection of the Letterbooks I 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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Bousfield wrcte to Webb of Dloemfonteinl63 who puzzled, 

asked Jones for clarification and suggested his own. 

solution to the problem: "Certainly the line taken 

by the Bishop of Pretoria is most disappointing. r. do 

not understand what he refers to in saying that the 

Bishops of the Province do not support his plans. Is 

it the idea he had at one time of livi~g in thE 

Grahamstown Diocese and [direcU.ngJ the Diocese from 

there? I have thought whether it could be brought 
about that B[isho]p Bousfielu ehould be Coadjutor of 

Grahamstown [and] Bishop Wilkinson can go to Pretoria? 

It would seem from an earthly human point of view a 
convenient disposition of forces - but! fear it 

could scarcely bear the test of Divine adjustm~nt of 

responsibility · and providential order with wh[ich] 

for weal er woe as long as it is anywa? possible the 

Bishop ou~ht to hold on to his see: ... but Id~ 

not see how you or the BI isho) ps of the Provir:ce arc 

in any way responsible for the Ecclesiasci~al <liffi­

cultie3 [of Bousfield): some of whic~, it is only 

fair to say I kr~ow are owing to the Sishcp•~ 01;:n way 

of dealing with his clergy & people."164 
. . 

Jones notified Bousfield that his Graha~sto~n - Cape-
town plan was net feasible.165 Bousfield, i~ typical 

fashion, blamed tte Metropolitan for miaund~rstanding 

him and referred tc" your unavoid~ble inability 

to conceive the state cf things herc."166 Bousfield 

wrote that he woul~ try to travel to Capetown to 

explain the whole situation persor.ally.167 

Bousfield also wrote to Canon Wilson in Britain asking 
• for his advice.168 Bousfield replied to Wilson•s 

suggestion: "Your notion of Suffrtganl69 of Capetown· 

l63This letter is not extant. 

l64A.B. Webb, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-09-21, Collection of the Archbishops 
oi Cnpe Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

165This letter is not extant. 
lo6H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.\:. Jones, 1881-12-05, Collection of the Archbisho~~ 

of ,;ape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
167Ibid. 
l68This letter is not extant. 
169There is no Canon in the 1876 Constitution and Canons of the CI'SA on Suffrag~r. 

Bishops. In Britain, Suffr~gans are ~ssistants to the diocesan bishop, U$ualiy with 
responsibility for a particular area o( the diocese. 
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or better to my mind Coadjutorl70 of Grahamstown, 

administering Pretoria till its future was plain, be 

as from the first mom~nt of our disaster appeared to 

me the true solution both for the Diocese and 

myself, ..... 171 Thus the suggestion of living in the 

Cape Colony and administering the diocese of Pretoria 

from there came to nothing. 

The Bishop's letters to friends in Britain 
The Bishop wrote exaggerated letters to Britain des­

cribing the situation in the Transvaal, not realising 

that they might get published and getting upset when 

they were. 

4.7.4.1 To C. Watkins 
A letter appealing for financial help to C. 

Watkins, a former curate of Bousfield's, was 

published both in Britainl72 and in the Transvaal, 

with Watkins also sending a copy to the Archbishop 

of Canterbury. The sections which did the most 

harm were: "The poor wife does the work of a 

housemaid, [F~ancis) Rebekah is cook, & the 

little one's waiting etc. . .. The political 

horizon is most alarming, the nation, the army, 

disgraced and departed. The Dutch so {ill]­

treating the Kaffirs that an outbreak is almost 

certain."173 In his covering letter to Archbishop 

Tait of Canterbury, Watkins explained that as he· 

only earned !90 p.a. and had ten children he was 

unable to help Bousfield himself and so was 

referring the case to the Archbishop.174 At the 

top of this letter has been written in pencil: 

"to SPG what can be done."175 

170canon 6 of the 1876 Constitution and Canons of the CPSA dealt with this. A 
Coadjutor Bishop had to be elected by the Metropolitan and all the CPSA bishops, 
to help a diocesan bishop and he had automatic succession to the see when it fell 
vacant. 

l71H.8. Bousfield, Letter to Canon Wilson, 1881-12-17, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

172Evening Standard, undated, Guardian, 1881-10-19, p.1467. 
l73H.B. Bousfield, Letter to C. Watkins, 1881-09-03, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
174c . Watkins, Letter to A. C. Tait, 1881-10-14, Tait Collection, Lambeth Palace 

Library, London, Britain. 
175Ibid. 
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was Bousfield's condition as critical as he had made 

out? After Tucker had read Bousfield's letter to 

Watkins he replied confidentially to the Archbishop 
of Canterbury: "The Bishop of Pretoria has been 

exposed to very great anxieties & I am afraid that 

under the stress of these cares he rather exaggerates 

his difficulties: in this opinion I am confirmed by 
letters from other correspondents in Africa. He ought 

not to be in any great pecuniary strait. The Society 

has guaranteed that his income shall not fall below 

i700 p.a.; he has also a good house free; a special 

Organization, which has been working for him in 

England. I very much fear that the Bishop's real 

difficulties are not such as the Society can help for 

I understand that he has invested his own small for­

tune, together with other monies given to him for the 
benefit of his work, in lands & houses in the Transvaal 

& when the Country ceased to be a Colony and became 

again a Dutch Republic, the value of these investments 

fell very low indeed."176 

Bousfield was annoyed and wrote to Watkins: "It is 
hard to rebuke over one who has caused 'a regular 

riot in England' when he did it from personal kindness 
to oneself, & with the best motives, but the publication 

of your letter in England must do me much service if 

it is to make up for its disservice here."177 

When the first letter to Watkins was published in the 

Transvaal the remarks on the ill-treatment of Africans 

by the Boers earned the Bishop a letter from the 

Attorney-Genera1.178 Bousfield explained this state­

ment to Jones: " ... which may lead to a discussion 

on the truth of my statement 'that the Boers were 
illtreating the Kaffirs,• which of course I am quite 

able to prove, if I could tell all I knew. He may be 

wise eno' to let the matter drop, but I fear an 
awkward & perhaps injurious result is possible which 

176H. Tucker, Confidential letter to A.C. Tait, 1881-10-18, Tait Collection, 
Lambeth Palace Library, London, Britain. 

177H.B. Bousfield, Letter to C. Watkins, 1881-12-01, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, Sou~~ Africa. 

178This letter is probably not extant. 
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is a pity as I hear often that I am very popular 
among the Boe:s, why I know not."179 To Watkins he 

was not so sanguine. He wrote: "[The letter] 

has b~~ught me a communication from t~e Attorney­
General chat it is 'calculated to offend the feelings 

of the government & people of this state and moreover 

altogether untrue.' This latte~ statement, of course, 
I controvertedl80, but as I cannot in most cases give 
up my authorities, I may be in an awkward position."181 
To a friend, Miss Mary May, Bou sf ielci wrote: "I 

hasten to reply to one point in your letter the 
anxieties, & misunderstandings created by poor dear 

Watkins' kind cruelty in making my anxieties public, 
11182 

Letters from Bousfield to W.W. Jones 
To the Metropolitan Bousfield wrote a s~ries of queru­

lous lett~rs describing the state of the Transvaal as 
he saw it. Jones annotated some of thP. lett~r~ ~s 

they ca~e in so that h~ knew their contents. ?he 
headings of the letters from Bousfie1a ar~ as fellows: 

1881-05-10 "State of the Transvaal ominou2 for the 
English."183 

1881-06-07 "State of [the] Transvaal full of uncer­
tainty."184 

1881-07-05. No hcbding but Bousfield wrote: »1n the 
present state of this province, and especially of 

this Diocese & Zululcai1d no new work should b~ under­
taken. 11185 

1881-07-25 "Bishop Boucfield - a Manifesto.• This 
letter includes the following: n . the only replies 

179H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. J~nes, 1881-12-05, Collection of the Arch­
bisi:opn of Cape Town, CPSA Archive3, Wi Ls 1 Johannesburg, South Africa. 

180controvert COD dispute about, ,!iscuss; dispute, deny. 
lSLH.B. Bousfield, L~tter to C. Watkins, 1881-12-10, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA t.rchives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
1~2H.B. Bousfield, Letter to M. May, 1681-12-10, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archivas, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

l63H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. J~nes, 1881-05-10, Collection of the Arch­
bishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, ~its, johannesburg, South Africa. 

184H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jo11cs, 1881-06-07, Collection cf the Arch­
bishops of C.1pc Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

185H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Joi-,es, 1881-07-05, Collection of the Arch­
bishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South AFrica. 
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I have received ... exhort me not to abandon my 

post - which I never dreamt of doing so long as I 

could hold on to it ... ; and if the Bishops of the 
Province do not so trust me as to support my plans as 

they arise, the muddle ecclesiastical will be as 

great as the other two (political & military]: perhaps 
greater, for I shall not willingly be any longer 

scapegoat for other men's mistakes, but shall not 

hesitate to abandon my post, if thro' lack of support 

of the Bishops of the Province made [it) (as it will 

be) utterly untenable."186 

1881-08-08 "A lament." In this letter Bousfield 
wrote: "A greater (trial) than I have by day and 

night to keep the mere shreds of a diocese together 
with heart and mind, and_body failing, thro' ceaseless 

trials, indefensible desertions, and failures of 

support, every trial caused by other men's mistakes, 

in defiance of all your caution, and expressed ~ore­

boding? ... and you will have the more [sympathy] for 

me when I too vacate, (without I trust surrender, or 

desertion) my post: from which an hour in Pretoria 
might have sent me at the first."187 

By this stage Bousfield had resumed his travelling 
throughout his diocese, re-organising it so he was 

not planning to leave immediately. The deterioration 

in his mental state can be detected from these letters. 

1881-10-14 "Reproaches." Bousfield felt that his lot 
and, especially, that of his wife and family were 

bad. They had endured much and deserved better.188 

1881-12-05 Jones has not headed this letter but in it 
Bousfield accuses Jones of rmisunderstanding him and 

the Transvaal situation.189 

186H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-07-25 , Collection of the Archbishops 
Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, Sou th Africa . 
187H. B. Bousfield , Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-08-08, Collection of the Archbishops 

Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
188H. B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-11-14 , Collection of the Archbishops 

Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
189H.B. Bousfie ld, Letter co W.W. Jones, 1881-12-05, Collection of the Archbishops 

Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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To resign, to be recalled, or to stay 

Bousfield had threatened to resign at the beginning 

of 1880 over his inadequate salary. When the Bishop 

applied for the renewal of the S.P.G. grant for 1881 
he said that unless "he be not better supported, and 

his own income made sufficient (ll 000), he will 

resign.»190 This was acknowledged by the Standing 

Committee. 

As soon as the siege ended he wrote to the S.P.G. 
explaining the confused situation in the Transvaal. 

In a letter written on the day the siege ended he 
wrote: "This disgraceful business may seriously 

affect in the future my own relation to this diocese 

and province, and I reserve to myself full liberty of 

personal action at any time hereafter now my business 

will be, as its Bishop, to strive to build the Church 

of God, among the ruins & confusion, and the question 

of most importance to me is this, will the Church of 

England, & its tried handmaid, the dear old Society, 

help & support me1 11 191 

In mid-1881 Jones told S.P.G. that he had tried his 
utmost to persuade Bousfield to remain in the Trans­

vaa1192 so apparently he was concerned about Bousfield 

leaving his post. Jones, however, refused to give 

Bousfield any guidance about h~s leaving until the 

Transvaal situation was more fully developed, but he 

hoped that Bousfield would remain as long as possible. 
Jones guided Bousfield's mind to mission work.193 In 

September 1881 Bousfield curtly reminded Jones to 
mind his own business about any missionary work in 

the Transvaal. Jones told Tucker about this letter 

and enclosed a copy of his (Jones) last letter to 

Bousfield. Jones wrote privately to Tucker: "Today I 

have a somewhat indignant letter from the B[isho]p 

l90s.P.G., Standing CoDDDittee meeting, 1881-01-13, p.72 , SC Collection, USPG 
Archives, London, Britain. 

l91H.B . Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1881-03-29, D Collection , USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

l92w .w. Jones, Letter to S.P.G., l88l-06-l4, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain . 

l93w .w. Jones, Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1881-06-17, Collection of the 
Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 
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of Pretoria in answer to mine, in wh[ich] I had simply 
urged him to hold to his post wh(ich) he had hinted 
he might abandon, I had reminded him that there was 
any am{oun J t of missionary work to be done even 

supposing very few English sh[ould)d remain. He says 

'I cannot see with you my duty to remain as head of a 
Missionary as distinguished from a Colonial Diocese. 
Such a post I did not accept & sh[oul)d not have 

accepted, knowing my own unfitness for it.' The 
whole tone of his letter to me was most painful."194 

In his letter to Bousfield Jones apologised for 
upsetting him but felt he had shown sympathy for 
Bousfield's plight and confidence in him. Jones 
challenged Bousfield about his resignation: "You had 
spoken in previous letters & you have since spoken of 
your resignation as more than probable, of placing • 
the people in my hands: of the improbability, humanly 
speaking, of your remaining in Pretoria with your 
young family: of y{ou]r not resigning till the crisis 
is over, & so forth. I can see nothing inconsistent 
... in praying you to remain."195 Bousfield seemed to 
find it difficult to accept what he, himself, had 
written. In his letters to Jones, the Metropolitan 
was at fault for being unsympathetic and not showing 

confidence in him. 

In August 1881 Bousfield wrote to the Rev. J. Burnett 
that fears for the personal safety of his wife and 
family might necessitate their removal from the Trans­

vaal to Britain. He said that as soon as he could he 
would escort them to safety.196 

In a dramatic letter to his Commissary, Durnford, he 
wrote: "If there is any force in a Kaffit's threats 
we shall have a bloody assault by Kaffirs. Had I the 
means I would send away wife and children at once to 

194w.w. Jones, Private letter co H. Tucker of S.P .G., 1881-09-19 , Collection of 
the Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape TotJn , CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 

195w.w. Jones, Letter to H.B. Bous field, 1881-09-07, extract quoted after private 
letter co H. Tucker of S. P.G., 1881-09-19, Collection of the Letcerbooks of the 
Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives , Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa . 

196H.B. Bousfield, Letter to J. Burnett, 1881-08-09, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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the Cape Colony or England, though doing so would be 
a final removal of them to be followed by my own. I 
would stay myself till the breakers are past, tho• I 

do not think my own life safe. I know too much and 
must live and speak at times for truth and honesty 

among a people who know neither."197 What he knew too 

much abou t which endangered his life is not clear. 
Durnford sent a copy of this letter to Archbishop 
Tait.198 A lack of money prevented Bousfield sending 
his wife and family away.199 The retrocession of the 

Transvaal to the Boers had lost him l300 p.a. of his 
private income.200 

Durnford asked Tait for advice on Bousfield's situation: 
"I imagine that it would be a disastrous thing for 

the Bishop of Pretoria to come home now in this extre­
mity but of course your Grace is able to form a far 
better opinion on this point than I am. Were we to 
advise him t o do so, he probably would return.201 
Edward Bousfield, who had been wor king for his brother, 

wrote to Tait: "I ought not to expect His Grace to 
suggest a way out of the difficulty."202 A week 
later he decided to ask Tait's advice and wrote to 
Davidson, Tait's secretary: "I do trust something 
may be devised to extricate the Bishop from his sad 
position. Sir Bartle Frere says he ought to be 
recalled: Sir Owen Lanyon goes further and says no 
Bishop is [so insulted?). I am urging his immediate 
return, that he may come back to make the land re-echo 
with the story of his wrongs, and the Church's dis­

grace."203 Durnford on the other hand was more hopeful. 

197H.B. Bousfield, Letter to E. Durnford, 1881-09-03, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives , Wies, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

198E. Durnford , Letter to A. C. Tait, 1881-10-18, copy attached of H. B. Bousfield, 
Letter to E. Durnford, 1881-09-03, Tait Collection, Lambeth Palace Library, London, 
Britain . 

199H.B . Bousfield, Letter to E. Durnford, 1881-09-03, Bousf i eld Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

20011statements and appeals," Occasional paper of t he diocese of Pretoria, number 7 
1883-11, p.42. 

201E. Durnford, Letter to A.C . Tait, 1881-10-18, Tait Collection, Lambeth Palace 
Library, London, Britain . 

202E . H. Bousfield , Letter to A.C. Tait, 1881-10-22, Tait Collection, Lambeth 
Palace Library, London, Britain. 

203E . H. Bousfield , Letter to A.C. Tait, 1881-10-29 , Tait Collection, Lambeth 
Palace Library, London , Britain. 
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He also wrote to Davidson on the same day as Edward 
Bousfield. He said that the English Church would 

contribute to financing the continuation of the diocese 

of Pretoria" ... and that if only Bishop Bousfield 
can remain at his post, material help will be given 
to him and his work."204 

Sergeant of Winchester College was in charge of col-
lecting money in Britain for the 
of Mrs Bousfield and her family. 
through the Guardian. This fund 

travelling expenses 
He issued an appeal 

would be separate 
from the general Pretoria Diocesan Fund. Sergeant 

_promised to repay the subscribers if the Bousfield 
family remained in the TransvaaI.205 

The Standing committee of S.P.G. discussed the situ­
ation in the Transvaal at its meeting held on 1881-11-03. 

The minutes read: "Read letters from the Bishop of 
Pretoria, dated July 6 and August 4 and 20, on the 
difficulty of maintaining his position without addi­
tional help and speaking of his possible resignation. 

Also letters on the same subject from the Rev. E. 
Durnford and the Bishop of Pretoria addressed to the 
Archbishop of Canterbury which his Grace had referred 
to the Society."206 The following resolution was 

passed and a copy sent to the Archbishop of Canter­
bury:207 "Agreed that the Standing Committee recognize 
to the full the trials and difficulties to which the 
Bishop of Pretoria has been exposed since his arrival 
in South Africa, owing to the exceptional state of 
the Transvaal during the period. At the same time 
the Committee can offer no encouragement to resign 
his See; and if the Bishop take that step the Standing 
Committee feel that so far as they are concerned they 

, 

must leave the responsibility to himself alone. They 

204E . Durnford, Letter to A.C . Tait, 1881-10-29, Tait Collection, Lambeth 
Palace Library, London, Britain. 

205E . W. Sergeant,'' Letter to the Guardian, 1881-10-20," Guardian, 1881-11-02, 
p.1570. 

206standing Committee of S.P.G . , 1881-11-03, p.245-246, SC Collection, USPG 
Archives, London, Britain . 

207s.P.G. Resolution on the Bishop of Pretoria, 1881-11-03, Tait Collection, 
Lambeth Palace Library, London, Britain. 
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think it right, however, to inform the Bishop that if 

he do resign the Society will on no account abandon 

the mission which has already borne promising fruit, 

but will take steps for the immediate appointment of 
a successor in the See."208 

Tait replied to Ournford's request for advice for the 
Bishop of Pretoria. He wrote: "It is evident that 

the difficulties which the Bishop [of Pretoria} has 

had to encounter have been of this greatest kind and 

also that they have not been of such a character as 

he had any reason to anticipate when he was conse­
crated to the see of Pretoria in 1878 .... As regards 

the prospects of the work - apart from the personal 

difficulties of B[isho]p Bousfield - I am informed 

that we have no cause for special discouragement, ... 

Under the circumstances it seems to me that the 

responsibility for the course which he knew [?} it 

right to adopt must be left with Bishop Bousfield, 

who is alone able rightly to estimate the personal & 

domestic d if f icul ties· which undoubtedly surround him 

in the present state of the Transvaal."209 

How did Bousfield feel about S.P.G. resolution and 
Tait's letter? In a minute published by the Pretoria 

Diocesan Fund Bousfield wrote: "I And first, the 

Archbishop's letter, dated November 4th, is just such 

as might be expected of His Grace. For the kind and 

sympathizing discernment with which he sets out my 

difficulties and responsiblities, I heartily thank 

him. Such sensible sympathy is a support .... II 

The Resolution of the S.P.G., on the other hand, 

dated November 3rd, seems to me so different, and so 

like a vote of censure, or, at least, of want of 

confidence, that I shall only venture to suggest in 

reply that before the Committee take steps which 

might be 'in the dark' from their unavoidable ignorance 

of the state of things here, it might not be amiss to 

208s.P.G., Standing Committee resolution on the Bishop of Pretoria, 1881-11-03, 
p.253-254, SC Collection, USPG Archives, London, Britain. 

209A.C. Tait, Letter to E. Durnford, 1881-11-04, Tait Collection, Lambeth 
Palace Library, London, Britain. 
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seek a little information from, nay! I am bold enough 
even to suggest the necessity of a little conference 
with, the one who knows t hem best."210 

At the end of November Edward Bousfield once more 
wrote to Tait saying: "Nothing is mere calcu)ated to 

induce him to remain than the support and sympath1 of 
those in authority at home:- and nothing more calcu­
lated to bring him back than the ~eceipt of the hard 
and unsympattictic resolution of Mr Tucker's Standing 
Committ~e; holding the rod in harrasment over a 

noble man, of high spirit, like my brcther, as that 
resolution does, in the language I have often ~1e~rd 
from t-1::- Tucker, is· a mistake: and it would ·be 11ery 

gratifying and encoura.g ing to him to realise that 
though tiis _Gr.ace cannot recall him, ye'.:. tnat he 

sympathises p:actiqally with his sufferings and tri­
bulatione.«211 It would .seem that the future of the 

dioces~ of Pretoria was discus~ed among thc~e inte­
rested in it. In the third Occasional oaner of the ------------··- - ·--
diocese of Pretoria the following pa~agrarh r.ppcared. 

"In spite of the severe shock given ~o t~e Diocese by 
the Boer war, and the consequent uncertcinty whether 
the existence .;;>f the Diocese would continue ... "212 

By mid-December uousfield was still undecici~d whether 
or not to send awa~ his family. In e lett~~ to Durn­

ford he said: "Th& question of ~ending my family 
home is one of grea t difficulty & not to be hastily 
decided. If any actual danger arose, one would regret 

not having done it, and in the state of anx i ety, I 

should be glad of the money for their removal, & the 
possession of a suitable waggon ·& .span of oY.en, or 

mules .... But at present they ar~ in no danger, & 
none may arise, they are well, happy & getting on at 
school, ... 213 

210H.B . Bousfield, Minute by Bisho~ of. Pretoria in response to re3olution of 
Comm1ttee of the Pretoria Diocesan Funrj, p . l. 
--~1E.H. Bousfield, Le tter to A.C. Tait, 1881-11-27, Tait Collection , Lambeth 
Pala.:P.. Library, London, Britain . 

• ·n 211Report of the Committee," Occasional paper of the diocese of Pre·toria, 
numter 3, 1882-01, p.3. 

213H.B. Bousfield, Letter to E. Durnf.ord, 1881-12-17, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
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Bousfield wrote to Sergeant the day after he had 

received the Guardian of 2nd November to thank him 

for his appeal. The Bishop was upset at the furore 
caused by Watkins' letter. "I have turned sick at my 

own name in print, lest it should expose me to the 

animadversions214 of those who know neither me nor my 
circumstances, past; present, or in prospect; make 

the world weary of me and my diocese, & so eliminate 

from the latter the sympathy which I would claim for 

it from all, to the uttermost. 11 215 In the same letter 

the Bishop said that he did not want to allow his 

wife and family to leave the Transvaal until he had 

decided on his own future. At the retrocession when 

there were fears of an African uprising he had 
approached the ladies who worked for the diocese and 

his ~ife with a view to their _leaving but they 
refused to go until it was unavoidable.216 

At the end of 1881 he wrote in the minute published 

by the P.O.F.: "But, whatever comes of the country 

or of my family, my own idea of duty is - if properly 
supported - to stick to this tried church until the 

crisis is over and the breakers passed. Another 

three years will have decided its future, and though 

I will not undertake to refuse any other post during 

that time which might afford a solution of all diffi­

culties, I shall not take a step to secure one, nor, 
compelled, abandon the crumbling walls of this deso­

lated Zion. 11 217 

Bishop Jones sent Bousfield a small contribution to 
the travel fund. He hoped that if the Bousfield 

family travelled through Capetown he could be of some 

help to them.218 Bousfield had written to him about 

his wife's illness: "I am sorry to say - to you 

alone - Mrs Bousfield's condition is the source of my 
most hopeless anxiety, as it does my work much harm 

214animadversions COD pass criticism or censure on ( conduct, fault, etc). 
215H.B. Bousfield, Letter to E.W. Sergeant, 1881-12-23, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wies , Johannesburg, South Africa. 
216rbid. 
21 7H.B. Bousfield, Min~te by Bishop of Pretoria in response to resolution of 

committee of the Pretoria Diocesan Fund, p. 2 . 
218w.w. Jones, Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1882-01-13, Collection of the Letterbooks 

of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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& seems incapable of cure while I am Bishop of Pre­

toria."219 This seems to indicate that Mrs Bousfield 

had had a relapse. Jones was sympathetic, realising 

that the sufferings she had endured had caused her 
illness.220 

In a letter to his brother Edward, Bousfield explained 

why he did not resign: "Sometimes I feel the quiet, 

inner hope & confidence that all will come out well, 
& I shall be allowed even in troublous times to build 

a Church which shall bear fruit with God. At others, 

all seems so hopeless as to this place as a home for 

the children, Charlotte's accepting & fulfilling a 

position in which she is as important as I, the 

income of the Bishopric keeping us going especially 

after my losses by the war, that I feel must not 

hope, but must come home, tho' no trial would be so 
great to me as to see my name at the bottom of a list 

of retired Bishops, and having given up all for the 

Colonial Church & being still in as good heart as 

ever to live or die for it, to be •returned empty' 

because other men could not see how to place men, but 

must put a square man in a round hole and a strong 
man where a weak would be better."221 Later it was 

counted to the Bishop's credit that in spite of all 

the difficulties he had not deserted his post.222 

What emerges from all the correspondence over Sous­

fields resignation is that if someone in authority, 

e.g. Tait, Tucker, Jones, or Lord Kimberley, had 

advised him to leave he would have done so and been 

able to lay the blame on them for the failure of his 

episcopacy. 

4.7.7 Disruption of the work 
4.7.7.1. English leave 

Roberts in later years described the situation 

thus: "The English inhabitants felt the Transvaal 

219H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-12-05, Bousfield Coll~ction, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

220w . w. Jones, Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1882-01-13, Collection of· the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

221H .B. Bousfield, Letter to E.H. Bousfield, 1882-04-15, copy of letter attached 
to E.H. Bousfield, Letter to A.C. Tait, 1882-05-26, Tait Collection Lambeth Palace 
Library, London, Britain . 

222"The Brighton meeting, 11 Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 6, 
1883-05, p.18. 
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no place for them. They sold out by hundreds at 

great sacrifice, & the next month saw the roads 

crowded with families trekking to Natal & Kim­

berley. Our Churches became empty, and those 
who remained were nigh hopeless. Even our opti­

mistic Bishop was almost in dispair [sic). There 

were clergy without congregations as at Middel­
burg, and Churches without clergy as at Lydenburg . 

... Yet at the bottom there was in those that 

remained the feeling of Faith."223 

As far as numbers were concerned the diocese of 

Pretoria did not recover until the discovery of 
the Main Reef in 1886. The English were more 

scattered than before and numbers in the villages 

decreased.224 The Pretoria newspaper De Volksstem 

said that those who were leaving were "principally 
speculators, landjobbers, tradesmen, so called 

professional men and officials, whose personal 

or political qualifications unfit them for con­

tinuing in office under a Dutch Boer Republic."225 

The British did not understand that the Boers 
were not vindictive. Mrs Bousfield, whilst in 

Laager, had a conversation with Mrs Sarah Heck­

ford,226 an Anglican who had worked as governess 

to the Jenkins family of Nooitgedacht. "[Mrs 

Sarah Heckford) knows the Transvaal ·well, she 

knows the Dutch well & can converse with them. 

One of the leaders told her quietly that the 
English were hated, all they wanted was their 

land back again, ... "227 

There was alarmist rumours of an African uprising 

after the Pretoria Convention had been ratified. 

The Guardian printed this paragraph from the 

Daily News correspondent: "One despatch says:-

223Roberts, Genesis . . . , p.30. 
224wilson and Thompson , Oxford history of South Africa . . . , p.308 . 
225oe Volksstem, 1881-06-18, reproduced in Davey, "The siege of Pretoria ... , 11 

p.303. 
226v. Allen, Lady Trader: A Biography of Mrs Sarah Heckford, London: Collins, 

1979. 
22 7 B f' ld 110· " 4 C.E. ous ie , iary ... , p .. 
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It is believed that the Boers will eventually 
ratify the Convention, but with no intention to 

act upon it. There is great disunion amongst 

the Boers themselves. Reports from the native 
districts are still of a warlike complexion."228 

The Guardian later printed that the Boers were 
trying to force the English to leave by boycotting 

English traders and settlers.229 The Times was 
more objective. In a report which was reprinted 

in the Guardian they said: "The condition of 

the Transvaal is not so bad as it is represented 

to be. Though money is most scarce, prices keep 

up, and business is brisk .... English visitors 

are well received at Boer houses."230 

When the Bishop filled in the S.P.G. returns for 
the parish of Pretoria to the end of 1881 he 

stated231: 

Before the war the congregation was commonly 
270 of whom 80 were communicants. After 

the war the communicants had fallen to 30. 

Two persons· had been confirmed and 49 infants 

or adults baptised. 

There had been 30 funerals which included 

military funerals. 

The dec~ine in the numbers of the Pretoria parish 
was approximately 75%. 

In the confusion of war families lost touch with 

their members. The Bishop wrote to Col. le 

Mesurier about a young man, Stockwell, from Bath 

whose family were trying to trace him, asking if 
he could give him any clue as to his whereabouts.23~ 

As bishop, Bousfield could arrange for protection 

22811south Africa," Guardian, 1881-10-19, p .1467. 
22911From the Transvaal. .. ," Guardian, 1881-12-07, p. 1735. 
23011The Times advice ... ," Guardian, 1882-01-04, p . 3. 
231H.B. Bousfield, SPG returns to S.P.G., 1881-11-26, D Collection, USPG 

Archives, London, Britain. 
232H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Col. le Mesurier, 1881-10-15, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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for those who were leaving. In April the Bishop 

asked Whittington to look after a woman and her 

children who were leaving the Transvaa1.233 

Fu.nds needed 
The Bishop now tried to put a good face on the 

situation. He wrote to Durnford: "co not let 

friends be discouraged, some good may come out 

of it all; by throwing us on our 'beam ends,' 

we shall be tested to the very bottom, and may 

make a fresh start, more solid, sound, reliable, 

wise, and true.• "234 Money was needed as the 

Bishop was responsible for Church debts, " ... , 

no[t) one of them originally incurred by me, but 

into which I was drawn to save those who, with 

good intentions and less practical wisdom had 
incurred them originally."235 The fun~-raising 

appeals of the Pretoria Diocesan Fund in Britain 
intimated that the Bishop and his clergy would 

remain: "The praises of the Church, both in the 

Transvaal and at home, are due to Almighty God 

for these benefits; for, owing to the health and 

confidence of the Missionary party, the coura­

geous course whic h was so much desired has been 
adopted. It would have been a grievous disaster 

had the Bishop, Clergy, or lay helpers of the 

diocese been compelled to return home broken in 

health and dispirited by failure. The Bishop 

mentions no sign of fainthardedness anywhere. 

All the officers of the Church are firmly at 

their posts, in spite of altered circumstances, 

and the depression attendant upon the last few 

months of anxiety and tension. Alluding to his 

own prospects the Bishop writes:- 'Unless driven 

out, which I do not expect, my own course is plain. 

233H . 8 . Bousfield, Letter co Whittington , 1881-04-16, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wies , Johannesburg, South Africa . 

234H. B. Bousfield, "Letter co E. Durnford, 1881-05-03," Occasional paper of the 
diocese of Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09 , p.5 . 

235sousfield , Six years .. . , p . 62. 
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I shall Jabour to tuild the Chutch; and shall 
hold on till she is firmly established, and 

endeavour to promote quietness, peace, and love 
among all people. May the labour not be in 
vain! H~lp by unceasing prayer.' "236 

If the diocese was abandoned th~ mission work 
already started would fail.237 In a letter to 

Jennings the Bishop wrote: "Hitherto I have h3d 

too few men for the cryi11g calls of the English, 
and could not look out as I shoula have liked 
upon the heathen world. ... let the Church 
weather the storm, and she will be rea~v to 
enter doors G6d may hereafter ope~ ~mo~g the 
hP.athen. 11 238 

The Bishop pleaded for funds and wrote to a 
friend: "I m•an to stick to the last hope for 
the Church, and tru~t the home Church will uphold 

me i~ eoing sO. 11 239 To his Commissa~y ti8 Eishop 

stated th~t he would not leave unless forced. 
"Hereaft:~: the political chang~ mciy co111p1?l my 

removal frorr: the land, as a father; b•.H.: until 
that time comes I have only to do ~y duty as 
Bishop, ~nd that is [to] strive to boi1a the 
Church, and in this prospect ~he p~esaing question, 
Will the Chur.:h at home support mP.., i!~ lending 

her scatter~c so~s, & those who will sti~k here 
to her? or ~ill she forsake them as the nation 
has done?tt240 To J.P. Richardson the Bishop 
wrote: "I hope to be able to-hold on, even if I 

have to remove :ny family, and to see true & more 

solid Churchmanship i.e. Christianity ~ntire, 
come from this unsettlement."241 

236 11The following appeal. .. , 11 ::•c:-a~ional paper of the diocese of Pretllria, 
numbc:- 2, 1881-09, p. 39-l•O. 

2-37 Ibid., p.l.2. 
238H.B. Bousfield, Letter to H.E. Jennings, 1881-09-03, Occasional paper of the 

diccese of Pretoria, number 3, 188:~-07., p. !+2-43. 
--2.39H. B. Bous field, "Letter, 1881-05-31, 11 Occasional paper of the ciocese of 
Pretoria, number 3, 1882-02, p.41. 
--·i40H. B. Bousfield, Letter to E. Durnford, 1881-03-29, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, Scuth Africa. 

241H.B. Bousfield, Letter to J.P. Ri=hardson, 1881-06-07, Bousfi~ld Collection, 
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The Bishop also tried to raise funds in the 

Cape. On the same day he wrote to both or. 
Wirgman, a clergyman of Port Elizabeth242 and 

Bishop Merriman of Grahamstown,243 for their 

help in raising money, in particular from Port 

Elizabeth merchants. 

Once the siege of Pretoria had been l1fted the Bishop 

tried to find out where his staff were but because 

his horses had been requisitioned by the British Army 

he was unable to move out of Pretoria. The Bishop 

discovered that three of his clergy, Spratt, Temple 

and Thorne, had left the Transvaal. 

4.7.8.1 C.M. Spratt had removed his delicate wife and 
baby to Pietermaritzburg and wrote to Bousfield 

asking for permission to remain in the diocese 
of Maritzburg244 for six months.245 Bousfield 

refused, commanded Spratt to return and wrote to 

Macrorie requesting him to see that Spratt was 
delivered back to his diocese. "As this is his 

second desertion, & probably will lead to Stan­

derton passing to the Wesleyans, I cannot pass 

it over, and I have written to him to return to 

his post & to consider his licence suspended 

until he do. I do not want to be too severe, & 

so write to you privately about this but if he 

does not return at once, I shall formally notify 

his suspension to the Province."246 Bousfield 

felt that Spratt's leaving his post without 

permission was inexcusable. Spratt had left his 
post before war and had been brought back by 

Bousfield only to leave again once peace had been 

242H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Wirgman, 1881-05-10, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

243H.B. Bousfield, Letter to N.J . Merriman, 1881-05-10, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

244c.M. Spratt is not mentioned 1n Vineyard, the magazine of the diocese of 
Maritzburg. 

245rhis letter is not extant. 
246H.B. Bousfie ld, Private letter to W. K. Macrorie, 1881-04-19, Bousfield 

Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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proclaimed. Spratt had obtained a post in 

Pietermaritzburg as Chaplain to the Troops and 

refused to return to Standerton. Bousfield told 

Bishop Jones that as the work at Standerton was 
damaged irreparably by Spratt's action he had 

decided to place Spratt elsewhere.247 At the 

end of June 1881 Bousfield revoked Spratt's 

license and gave notice to the bishops of the 

Province that this was done because of his con­
tinued absence from his post and his refusal to 

return when commanded.248 

After a great number of letters and threats, 
Spratt returned to Standerton in August 1881 and 

the Bishop instructed him to wind up the affairs 
of the church.249 The next month the Bishop 

offered Spratt a post at Potchefstroom and the 

offer was accepted.250 In November the Spratt's 

and their baby moved to Potchefstroom.251 Baus­

field added a note under the revocation of 

Spratt's license: "The same C.M. Spratt having 
returned to his post at Standerton, was allowed 

to officiate there by the said Bishop, & by him 
removed to Potchefstroom in November 1881 to 

which cure he would have been duly Licensed, but 

it pleased God to remove him by death on the 

27th December in the same year."252 In his .copy 
of Six years in ·the Transvaal Roberts wrote 

against Spratt"s death: "Poor Spratt had left 

his wife and newborn child {both delicate) with 

friends in Maritzburg, & had heard nothing of 

them during the war. No wonder he did not wait. 

Had the B[isho]p put himself in his place he would 

247H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W . Jones, 1881-08-04, Collection of the Archbishops 
of Cape Town, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

248H.B. Bousfield, Acta Book, MSS, p.9, Bousfield Collection, CPSA Archives, 
Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

249H.B. Bousfield, Letter to C.M. Spratt, 1881-08-08, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

2SOH.B. Bousfield, Letter to C.M . Spratt, 1881-09-03, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

25ltt.B. Bousfield, ·Letter to Mrs Spratt, 1882-02-16, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

252sousfield, Acta Book~ . . , p.9. 
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have done the same. I never forgave the B[isho]p 

for this, and blame him for poor Spratt's death. 

AR"253 A few years later Bousfield was accused 

of the murder of Spratt. Clulee, the missionary 
C. 

of the diocese, wrote to the Metropolitan in 

1884: "The article of murder rests upon the 
Bishop's harsh treatment of Mr Spratt at Potchef­

stroom. 11 254 When he heard of Spratt's death, 
the Bishop wrote to Kewley who had given Spratt 

a reference: "Had had just reached Potchefstroom, 

and was as usual (for he was always liked at 

first) commencing work with much acceptance, 

with a good field before him, & an income on 

which he might have done well, when he took 

fever, and ... passed away."255 The Bishop 

wrote to Durnford: "All the circumstances of 

Spratt's death were painful, save the manifes­

tations of his own piety, & the popularity which 

his fortnight's ministry had secured."256 
, 

After the death of her husband Mrs Spratt returned 
to Natai.257 From there she asked Bousfield to 

investigate whether she could claim an S.P.G. 
pension as the widow of an S.P.G. missionary. 

The Bishop had to tell her that this was not 
possible.258 

The Bishop's treatment of J. Thorne· was more 
compassionate. In April, 1881 Thorne wrote to 

Bousfield that he was leaving immediately for 

Natai.259 eousfield told Bishop Macrorie of his 

diocese to let Thorne go: "He has suffered & 

done so much that I desire to act tenderly with 

253A. Roberts, Annotated copy of Bousfield, Six years ... , p.60. 
254c, Clulee , Letter co W.W. Jones, 1884-04-24, Collection of the Archbishops of 

Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
255H.B. Bousfield, Letter co Kewley, 1882-01-02, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
256H.B. Bousfield, Letter to E. Durnford, 1882-04-22, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
257H.B. Bousfield, Letter to H. Adams, 1882-01-26, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
258H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Mrs Spratt, 1882-04-26, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
259This letter is not extant. 
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him; but is it not bad to run aw~y at a crisjs 

and that on plea of needing rest, when some time 

ago, I offered him the leave of abstnce he really 

needed when I could provide for his work, & he 
declined it. 0 260 

Thorne wrote to Bishop Jones ju,:;t before he left 
Lydenbcrg asking if he had a post for him.261 

Bousfield was proud of his lenient treatment of 
Thorne's desertion.262 Thorne also wrote to the 

S.P.G. from Pietermaritzburg explaining why he 

had left Lydenburg and that he was seeking work 

in the Cape Colony.263 The reasons he gav~ were: 

"The first & formost has referEnce to my health 

which hus long been overtaxed by the strain of a 

ruo&t peculiar work. Mine was a most remote 

station ~itua~ed among a population which wa~ 

ah,a.ys fluctuating ~ with little sy1r.pathy with 

thl' Ch:.:rch. Two Kafir [sic] wars h';!l~ed t.o 

scatter the people who might othEr~i~e h~ve 

settled dcwn & helped to deve 1 ope [ si,:· j the 

country. ·rhe ir numbers we re af te.rw~rd~, ni,:,.de up 

by the military who were stationed tt~re. 

Then the 3oer War came in December l~~t. we 

were left in an almost entirely unpr~tected 

state ... ex,csed for three ~onths not only to 

the exactions of the boers (sic], but to the 

fire of the camp, which scarcely ceased day or 

night for nearly 90 days. When the pea~c came 

it was of sour.satisfactory a kind that neither 

Dutch nor English believed in its continuance. 

Taking all the circumstances into account I 

judged that the moment [to leave] had been indi­

cated."264 r~ June 1881 the Bishop said to 

Thorne that he would not oppose him getting 

employment in the Cape and offered him a testi-

--·-------------------------------------
260H. B. Bousfield, Letter to W.K. Ma-:rorie, 1881-04-19, Bousfield Colh:ction, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
261J. Thorne, Letter to W.W . Jones, 1661-04-11, Collection of the Archbishops 

of C~pe Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
262H. R. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-08-04, Collection of the Archbishops 

of C~pe Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
l63J. Thorne, Letter to S.P.G., 1681 ··05-25, D Collection, USPG Archives, London, 

Brit.1in. 
264Ibid. 
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monial.265 However Jones had to ask twice for 

Thorne's testimonials before Bousfield sent 
them.266 

Bousfield gave Jones his side of his disagreement 
with Thorne: "Now for Mr Thorne. He ought not 

to have deserted his post, he has left it to the 

Romanists, and you·must all stand by me in refu­

sing my deserters admission to your dioceses 

without a pass and reference to me. Temple, & 

above all Spratt, are utterly inexcusable, & so 

is Thorne properly, but as he has done good 

work, & suffered much, and had really better go 

I shall make no difficulty as to his acceptance 

elsewhere. He is very unpopular, a man I think, 

of most real, but unattractive piety, broken & 
soured in spirit, of Wesleyan antecedents, bur­

dened with a wife who is credited with 3/4ths of 

his blame, and looks as if she deserved it. A 

change altogether would do him good, and might 
allow his doing good also."267 

Thorne wrote to Jones twice during July 1881 
denying B~usfield's accusation of desertion. In 

the first letter he said that he was leaving 

because he had lived through three wars in the 

61/2 years he had spent in Lydenburg.268 In the 

second letter Thorne claimed that he had simply 

taken the leave of absence offered him by Sous­

field before the war. After the war he informed 

his Bishop that he was taking this leave of 

absence and if a Boer Government came to power 
he would never return. He waited three weeks 

for a reply from Bousfield before he left Lyden­

burg. The journey to.Newcastle had taken a 

265H.B. Bousfield, LetteT to J. Thorne, 1881-06-15, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

266w.w. Jones, Letters to H.B. Bousfield, 1881-06-17 and 1881-07-19, Collection 
of the Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town , CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , 
South Africa. , 

267H. B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-06-07, Collection of the Archbishops 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

268J. Thorne, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-07-11, Collection of the Archbishops 
of Cape Town, Abl.l, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
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further five weeks. During thjs period Bousfield 
had had ample time to write to him but had not 

done so.269 

The last time Bousfield wrote to Thorne was in 

December 1883 when he sent him a cheque for,ilO 

from the Lydenburg people who had bought goods 
from Thorne.270 

A. Temple, who was stationed at Potchefstroom, 
had left his post for the Cape Colony before the 

siege.271 Bousfield was forced to use the same 

tactics as he had with Spratt to get him to 

return to the Transvaal. In April 1881 the 

Bishop wrote to Temple informing him that his 

licence would be revoked unless he returned to 

Potchefstroom.272 Two days later the Bishop 

wrote tow. Richardson instructing him not to 
allow Temple to continue any ministry at Potchef­

stroom if he should return as his licence had 

been withdrawn.273 

Temple had apparently gone to the diocese of 

Grahamstown but had not made a good impression. 
Bishop Merriman wrote to Jones: "I don•t want 
another man like Temple who I hope does better 

under B[isho]p Bousfield than he did in my 

Diocese."274 Jones said to Bousfield: "I am 

not surprised at Temple's action. I know him of 
old & never had the slightest confidence in 

him."275 By June 1881 Temple had returned to 

Potchefstroom and the Bishop was able to offer 

him zeerust which he accepted.276 Within months 

269J . Thorne, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-07-16, Collection of the Archbishops of 
Cape Town, Abl . l , CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa. 

270H . B. Bousfield, Letter to J. Thorne, 1883-12-29, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

27leousfield, Six years . .. , p.61. 
272H.B. Bousfield , Letter to A. Temple, 1881-04-19, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa . 
273H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W. Richardson , 1881-04-21 , Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa . 
274N.J . Merriman, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-06-22, Collection of the Archbishops 

of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
275w.w. Jones, Letter to H.B . Bousfield, 1882-01-13, Collection of the Letterbooks 

of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
276H . B. Bousfield, Letter to J . Thorne, 1881-07-01, Collection of the Archbishops 

of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa. 
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Temple reverted to his usual unreliability. He 

wrote to the Bishop telling him that he was 

unable to proceed to zeerust as he had accepted 

a post in Aliwal in the diocese of Grahamstown. 

Bousfield wrote to Merriman asking him to 

prevent Temple taking up this post and refusing 
to sign any testimonials for Temple.277 Bous­

field then had the task of telling the congre­
gation at zeerust that Temple would not be 
coming.278 

G. Swinney had been chaplain to W.W. Jones: 

During the Episcopal Synod of December 1880 

Swinney had been lent to Bousfield for six 
months after which he was to join the staff of 

the diocese of Zululand.279 At the outbreak of 

war in the Transvaal Jones was concerned for the 
whereabouts of Bousfield and swinney.280 Douglas 

McKenzie wrote to Jones: "Swinney could do 

nothing of course for Pretoria. He could not 

even hear from the Bishop & was stuck at Est­
court. So I resumed possession of him & 

instructed him to make his way to Isandhlwana. I 
was the more glad as I found Ransom bent on 

going home at once - and by this time sw1nney is 

fully in charge."281 McKenzie was pleased that 

he had not had to wait the six months for 

Swinney as he was needed in the diocese of 

zululand.282 

277H.B . Bousfield, Letter to N.J . Herriman, 1881-12-03, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wies, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

278H.B. Bousfield , Letter to J.T . Fountain, 1881-12-17, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wit s , Johannesburg, South Africa . 

2790. McKenzie, Letter to S.P.G., 1880-12-25, 0 Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain . 

280w.w. Jon~s, •Le tter to W.K. Hacrorie, 1881-01-18 , Collection of the 
Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa. 

2810. McKenz i e, Letter co W.W . Jones, 1881-01-20, Collection of the 
Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

2820. McKenzie, Letter co W. W. Jones, 1881-02-16, Coll~ction of the 
Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wies, Johannesburg, South Africa . 



4.7.8.5 

- 278 -

Bousfield on the other hand was not pleased that 

Swinney had gone straight to Zululand instead of 

via the diocese of Pretoria. Bishop McKenzie 

ruefully wrote to Jones: "Have I aggravated the 
malady by running away with Swinney?"283 Bec~use 

of the war Bousfield had lost the services of 

Swinney and this aggravated his staffing problems. 

During 1881 
The staffing situation was bad in the diocese of 

Pretoria. As the Bishop told Macrorie: " ... I 

have now two Churches, & 41;2 posts vacated. 

21;2 by sheer cowardice & want of right sense of 
duty by the Clergy."284 

Adams at Middelburg, Sadler at Wakkerstroom and 

J.P. Richardson at Rustenburg had remained at 
their posts in spite of the dangers. William 

Richardson was . too old to consider fleeing from 

Potchefstroom. The war had made the Bishop's 

staffing problems even more difficult and the 

uncertainty which followed had caused clergy 

engaged in Britain e.g. A. Law, T. Bailey285 and 

R.T. Kempthorne286 to cancel their appointments. 

Soon afterwards both C. Lange, missionary at 

Pretoria, and W. Richardson died so aousfield's 

staffing problems worsened. Lange had been 

ailing from the time of the war.287 In April 

1881 the Bishop instructed Lange to go to Potchef­

stroom to help William Richardson in any way he 

could but if he could not he was to go on to 

Zeerust.288 

2B3o. McKenzie, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-05-17, Collection of the Archbishops 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

284H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.K. Macrorie, 1881-04-19, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

285H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S.P.G., 1881-04-07, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. . . 

286R.T. Kempthorne, Letter to S.P.G., 1881-06-14, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

287H.B. Bousfield, Letter to C.R. Lange, 1881-07-02, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

288H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W. Richardson, 1881-04-21, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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In October 1881289 he was injured while on his 

way to his son's farm by mule wagon and died 

soon after at Bloemhof.290 William Richardson 

had been helped from the beginning of 1882 by C. 
Page-wood. He died on 1882-03-25.291 After his 

death the Bishop wrote to Edward Bousfield: 

"Old Mr Richardson of Potchefstroom is dead, & 

so we are free from his pension.»292 

After the confusion of the war had cleared the 

clerical staff of the diocese of Pretoria con­

sisted of: 

H.B. Bousfield Bishop Pretoria 

A. Roberts priest Pretoria 

C.R. Lange (died priest Western Transvaal 
1881-10) 

w. Richardson priest Potchefstroom 
(died 1882-03) 

C.M. Spratt (died priest Potchefstroom 
1881-12) 

J.P. Richardson priest Rustenburg 

H. Adams deacon Middelburg 

H. Sadler priest Wakkerstroom 

Military cemeteries 
The Bishop was concerned about the unconsecrated 

graveyards where British military dead had been 

buried . 

on 1881-08-10 the Bishop journeyed on horseback to 

the Bronkhorstspruit battlefield accompanied by a 

small party. The next day, dressed in his full 

ecclesiastical robes, he went from grave to grave 

reading a psalm over each and then blessing the 

grave. Th~ officers' graves were visited first. A 
party of the 94th had already been sent to Bronk-

289H . B. Bousfield , Letter to E.J . Smith, 1881-10-15, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

290A . Roberts, "The foundation of the Native Mission in Pretoria," TS, _p.2, Alfred 
Roberts Papers, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

291c. Page-Wood, "Potchefstroom," Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, 
number 4, 1882-12, p . 7. 

292H.B. Bousfield, Letter to E.H. Bousfield, 1882-04-15, Bousfield Collection , 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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horstspruit so the graves had been tidied up and 
headstones erected. A mass grave containing sixty 

bodies was also blessed. Further down the road were 
three other mass graves.293 The Bishop blessed rather 
than consecrated294 these graves in the presence of 
the officers and men of the 94th.295 Major F. Campbell, 

2nd Battalion Connaught Rangers (late 94th), published 
a letter in The Times to the families and friends of 
those who fell at Bronkhorstspruit. Part of this 
letter read: "A party of 2nd Connaught Rangers (late 

94th Regiment) have been there and headstones have 
been erected on each grave, solid walls to protect 
the graves have been built, trees and flowers have 
been planted, and the Bishop of Pretoria went out and 
consecrated [sic] each grave."296 

On an unexpected visit to Potchefstroom in September 
1881 the Bishop was able to visit the graves outside 

the little ruined fort. At 5 p.m. he read the burial 
service and "adding the prayer put forth sometime 

since by his Lordship for the benediction of graves29 7 

in our common and unconsecrated cemeteries and another 
for the land."298 As well as blessing the graves 
outside the fort the Bishop also said prayers over 
two others some distance away and over that of a 
child buried in the garden of the hote1.299 

The Bishop was asked by the family of Captain Elliot, 
94th Regiment, who was buried in the military section 
of the Pretoria Cemetery300, to erect a tombstone 

293"Bronkhurst Spruit", Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 3, 
1882-02, p . 59-60 . 

294An area of ground is consecrated for use as a cemetery . If graves are not in 
consecrated ground (or ground that can be set apart as a cemetery) then the indivi­
dual graves are blessed. 

2958.B. Bousfield, "The Bishop's return," Occasional paper of the diocese of 
Pretoria, number 3, 1882-02, p.11. 

296F . Campbell, Letter, The Times, 1881-09-21, reprinted "Bronkhurst spruit," 
Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 3, 1882-02, p.59. 

297rn 1895 the diocese of Pretoria issued a pamphlet entitled, "The order for the 
benediction of a cemetery in the Diocese of Pretoria." 

29811south Africa," Guardian, 1881-11-02, p.1544. 
299tt.B. Bousfield, "The Bishop's report," Occasional paper of the diocese of 

Pretoria, number 3, 1882-02, p.12. 
30011The death of Captain Elliott (sic]," News of the Camp, number 36, 1881-03-26, 

p.2-3. 
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over the grave. The Bishop arranged for a stone 

cross to be made301 and erected. The inscription on 

the base of the cross read: "Until He come. In 

loving memory of John Mitchell Elliot aged 37. Capt 

and Paymaster 94th Regiment who was killed for Queen 

and country while crossing the river vaal on the 

night of 29th December 1880. Deeply deplor~d by his 
brother officers and all who knew him. Fear not for 

I have redeemed thee Thou art mine. When Thou passest 

through the waters I will be with thee."302 The 
Bishop wrote to both Capt Jones303 and Capt Hutton304 

friends of the late Capt Elliot, to tell of the erec­

tion of the tombstone. At the request of Captain 

Jones a set of twelve photographs of the cross was 

sent to Elliot's sister, Mrs Edleman.305 

4.8 The Adelaide scheme 
In Britain there was concern for Henry Bousfield and the continu­

ation of the Anglican diocese in the Transvaal. Edward Holroyd 

Bousfield was particularly concerned about his brother306 and 

S.P.G. about the work being abandoned which they felt was 

unwise.307 

Edward Bousfield was so distressed over his brother's situation 

that he wrote to the Archbishop of Canterbury about translating 

his brother to Adelaide, Australia.308 Appendix 1 ·contains the 

four extant letters of this correspondence. E.H. Bousfield 
probably raised the matter of the bishopric of Adelaide (which 

3o1H.B. Bousfield, Letter co J . Smith (stonemasons), 1882-04-06, Bousfield 
Collection, CPSA Archives , Wies, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

302rnscription taken from the actual tombstone in the Old Cemetery, Pretoria. 
303H . B. Bousfield, Letter to Captain Jones, 1882-04-09, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
304H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Capt Hutton, 1882-04-09, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
305H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Mrs Edelman, 1882-04-08 1 Bousfield 

Collection, CPSA Archives, Wits, J ohannesburg, South Africa. 
306E.H. Bousfield, Letter co A. C. Tait, 1881-07-25, Tait Collection, Lambeth 

Palace Library, London, Britain . 
307H. Tucker, Letter to A.C. Tait, 1881-07-25 , Tait Collection, Lambeth Palace 

Library, London, Britain. 
308E.H . Bousfield, Letter to A.C. Tait , 1881-07-25, Tait Collection, Lambeth 

Palace Library, London, Britain. 
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was soon to fall vacant) with S.P.G. before writing to Tait 
asking for an interview to discuss the proposed translation. By 

the end of July 1881 when E.H. Bousfield again wrote to Tait, 

he [Edward Bousfield] had sent the Bousfield letters to Lord 

Kimberley, the Secretary of State for the Colonies, and had 

also had an interview with Tucker of S.P.G.309 

In October 1881, Dr Short, Bishop of Adelaide resigned because 

of ill health and frailty.310 The Anglican Synod of South 

Australia decided to waive its right to elect the new Bishop. 

Tucker wrote privately to Davidson about his interview with 

E.H. Bousfield. Tucker knew that the abandonment of Anglican 

work in the Transvaal would be a personal failure for H.B. 

Bousfield and would damage the Anglican Church in South Africa. 

He felt that Bousfield's translation to Adelaide would solve 

the problem.311 

Tait wrote to the Colonial Office about the election of H.B. 

Bousfield312 to the Adelaide diocese but did not feel he had 

much influence as he had no direct say in the election of the 

bishop. Davidson, Tait's secretary, bluntly reminded E.H. 
Bousfield that the choice for Adelaide would be the best man. 313 

From the surviving correspondence, it seems unlikely that H.B. 

Bousfield knew of these efforts to get him translated to 

Adelaide. The South Australian Advertiser of 1882-03-08 noted 

that the Anglican Synod had waived its canonical right to elect 

its bishop and had asked the Archbishop of Canterbury to appoint 

someone, with the help of the Bishops of Winchester, Durham, 

Truro and Bedfo;a.314 In July 1882 Tait asked G.W. Kennion of 

309E.H. Bousfield, Letter to A. C. Tait, 1881-07-25, Tait Collection, Lambeth 
Palace Library. London, Britain. 

310south Australia letters, Tait Collection, Lambeth Palace Library, London, 
Britain. 

311H. Tucker, Private letter co A. Davidson, 1881-07-25, Tait Collection, 
Lambeth Palace Library, London, Britain. 

312Note at top of letter E.H. Bousfield, Letter to A.C. Tait, 1881-07-25, Tait 
Collection, Lambeth Palace Library, London, Britain. 

313A. Davidson, Letter to E.H. Bousfield, 1881-07-29, Tait Collection, Lambeth 
Palace Library, London, Britain . 

31411synod," South Australian Advertiser, 1882-03-08, p.6 and 10. 
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Bradford to accept the post315 which he did the following month,316 

At no time in the correspondence for a new bishop of Adelaide 

was H.B. Bousfield's name mentioned. 

This attempt to remove H.B. Bousfield with honour failed and he, 

was left as bishop of Pretoria. 

4.9 The Royal Commission 
The Royal Commission was appointed in 1881317 to conduct peace 

negotiations with the Boers. Just after the lifting of the 

siege of Pretoria the Bishop presented Sir Evelyn wood with a 

memorandum of the Chur c h's projected losses in the Transvaal as 

well as his likely personal losses318 and asked whether he 

could bring these subjects before the Commission.319 The memo­

randum, dated 1881-04-07, was "as to the loss of the Church in 

his Diocese, and to himself, thro' the proposed arrangements 

for the settlement of the Trnasvaal. 11 320 Under the Church's 

losses he listed pecuniary losses, impoverishment of the congre­

gations which were attaining self-sufficiency and clergy who 

had been engaged and would not come out for reasons of safety. 

The Bishop estimated that the loss to the Church would be between 
~5 000 and ilO ooo.321 The Bishop personally would also suffer 

pecuniary loss.322 

4.9.l The Colonial Office inquiry 
Fred Chalmers, joint Treasurer with E.H. Bousfield, 

of the Pretoria Diocesan Fund, contacted A.H. Brown, 

M.P. concerning H.B. Bousfield's position in the 

Transvaal and Anglican Church property. "The Committee 

(of the P.O.F.] are very desirous and the Treasurers 

especially feel that they are in honour bound to do 

all in their powers to see that the church property 

3ISA.C. Tait, Letter to Kennion, 1882-07, Tait Collection , Lambeth Palace 
Library, London, Britain. 

316Kennion, Letter to A.C . Tait, 1882-08, Tait Collection, Lambeth Palace 
Library, London, Bri t ain. 

317vide p.249. 
318see Appendix 2. 
319H . B. Bousfield , Letter to Sir E. Wood, 1881-04-07, Bousf i eld Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa. 
320H.B. Bou s field, "Memorandum as to the loss of the Church in his Diocese, and 

to himself, thro ' the proposed arrangements for the settlement of the Transvaal , " 
D Collection , USPG Archives, London, Bri t a i n . 

32llbid. 
322 Ibid. 
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acquired by purchase with the money raised by contri­

butions from the public in this country shall be 

cared for in the resettlement of the Transvaal, and 

they have deputed me to a[s]certain what can be done 

to further this end. About 'it.7 500 has been invested 

in church buildings, land, schools etc which was all 

given in England for this purpose. The legal ownership 

of this property would be according to English law 

vested in the Bishop for the time being ex officio, 

and may be so under the resettlement, if it be provided 

from the outset .... but we suppose that so far as 

his private affairs are concerned he must take his 

chance with other British subjects in the Transvaal, 

unless the Government, in consideration that he is 

less free to move away than others, can see their way 

to stipulate for his protection . . . [Does] Lord 

Kimberley think that the mission should be abandoned 

and the Bishop should resign his office and come 

home? ... If you [Brown] would kindly ask the Secre­

tary of State for the colonies ... what in his opinion 

the Committee [of the P.D.F.] and the Bishop ought to 
do."323 Brown agreed to place H.B. Bousfield's case 
before Lord Kimberley and send the letter he had 

received from Chalmers to the Colonial Office.324 

The Colonial office duly investigated.325 

Chalmers felt that the Church property ·held by Bou·sfield 
as Bishop of Pretoria was subject to British Law. The 

Colonial Office ruled this as incorrect as the property 

was held under Transvaal Law which the Royal Commission 

would not alter.326 As to the position of Bishop 

Bousfield and his future conduct the Colonial Office 

wrote in a memorandum initialled E. F[airfield] June 

1[1881): "We had really nothing to do with creating 

323F. Chalmers, Letter to A.H. Brown, 1881-05-28, C. 0 . 9900, ff.249-250, Colonial 
Office Collection, Transvaal Papers, C.0.291/14, Public Record Office, Kew, London, 
Britain. 

324Ibid . 
325Transvaal C.0 . 9900 , The Bishop of Pretoria, 1881-05-30, ff.246-253, Colonial 

Office Collection, Transvaal Papers, C0291/14, Public Record Office, Kew, London, 
Britain. 

326Memo, C.0.9900, ff.247-248, Colonial Office Coliection, Transvaal Papers, 
C.0.291/14, Public Record Office, Kew, London, Britain. 
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the Bishopric 1 and are in no way respo~sible for the 

Bishop."327 A footnote to the memorandum, signed K 
(presumably Lord Kimberley} stated: "I think Mr 

Brown should have an answer that I cannot undertake 
to advise th~ Bishop as to his future conduct but 

that I have written to the Ccmmissioiiers in terms of 
this draft. (The Bishop seems to think the Boers 

will ill treat his wife and children!) K. June 
1/81 11 328 

A lett~c about the Bishop and the lands held by him 
was promptly sent to Sir Hercules Robinson. The: Royal 
CommissioP was asked to obtain assurances f,:om the 

Boer leaders that these properties would be r~spected 
and that the Bishop should "not be interf~~ed with in 
the pehceful exercise of his functions shoul~ he 

remain in the Transvaal."329 A letter of reassuran~e 
was sent to A.H. Brown.330 The second a~c~sional 

paper of the diocese of Pretoria mace: th~ s c~t Lo be a 
great victory: "It is most gratifyi.!'lg :-.c k:,ow that 

Her Majesty's Government does not recoramend the retire­
ment of the nishop from the Trans·-1.:.~l, end thQt. his 

person and the Church's little propE:::ty w:.11 be res­
pected." 331 

Bishop Jones spoke to Sir Hercules Robfns~n who recom­
mended that Bousfi~ld should retire from th~ Transvaal 

as so many English families had left: " ... his estimate 
of the B[isho]p talliEs with the B[isho}p's estimate 
in this respect that ~e is utterly unsuited for Mission 

work. It is a most awkward complication out of wh[ich] 
I can see no satisfactory outlet. 11 332 

J27Memo, C.0.9900, f.248, Colonial Office Collection, Transvaal P~pers, 
~.0.~91/14, Public Record Office, Kew, London, Britain. 

328Memo, C.0.9900, f.248, Colonial Office Collection, Transvaal Papers, 
C.O.J.91/14, Public Record Office, Kew, London, Britain. 

329colonial Office, Letter to Sir~- Hobinson, 1881-06-02, C.0.9900, ff.251-2S2, 
Colo~ial Office Collection, Transvcal P~pers, C.0.291/14, Public RecoTd Office, Kew, 
Londr.r., Britain. • 

3JOcolonial Office, Letter to A.H. Brown, 1881-06-02, C.0.9900, ff.252-253, 
Coloni~l Office Collection, Transvaal P~per~, C.0.291/14, Public Record Office, 
Ke~! London, Britain. 

331R.H. Meade, "Letter to [A.H.] Bro~," Occasional paper of the diocese of 
Pretoria, number 2, 1881-09, p.43. 

332w .w. Jones, Letter co A.B. Webb, 1881-10-31, Collection of th~ Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSh Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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In September 1881 Bousfield wrote to Jennings about 

the Royal Commission: "Some instructions touching 

Church affairs were received by the commission here, 

and mentioned to me by Sir Hercules Robinson, though 

no one else seems to have known anything of them. All 

my claims for compensation were put aside as 'indirect' 

I have no fear of avowed or open opposition, but 
every secret hindrance will certainly be offered. 11 333 

A group in the Transvaal calling themselves the "Loyal 

Inhabitants" and led by C.K. White petitioned the 

British Prime Minister, Gladstone, for compensation 

for losses incurred in the war. "Mr Gladstone's 

reply ... spoke of compensation for direct losses 

incurred during the war, but specifically excluded 

'any general claim for compensation in respect of 

depreciation of property arising from the change of 
policy involved in the new arrangement. 1 334 11 335 

Ellen Lamb looking back with hindsight on the years she had 

spent in the Transvaal wrote in 1883: "So for the first two 
years, I think I may say that everything connected with our 

mission was doing well, - well, I mean, when one considers the 

tremendous difficulties to be overcome - want of money, want of 

schools, want of clergy; ... The Bishop was indefatigable in 
(l 

itinerating and holding services in far distant parts of the 

diocese, And now comes the dark side of the story, so 

dark, so sad, that I hardly like to speak about it .... I want 

you to understand the almost utter ruin [the retrocession) has 

brought, not only on the Church, not only on the mission, but 

on the length and breadth of the land, on trade, on agriculture, 

on private individuals, on everything and everybody .... And 

now, you will say, in what position has this left our Church 

and our Mission? Shall I tell you they are utterly ruined - God 

forbid! but the difficulties with which the Bishop has to 

contend are sevenfold more than they were before: ... I only 

333H.B . Bousfield, "Letter to H.E. Jennings, 1881-09-31," Occasional paper of 
the diocese of Pretoria, number 3, 1882-02, p.42. 

334colonial Office Collection, Transvaal Papers, C-2950 No . 57, p. 171-172: 
C. K. White's petition to Gladstone constitutes No.I in No.49, p. 152-153 (quoted 
Davey, "The siege of Pretoria ... ," p.303 , footnote 32). 

335navey, "The siege of Pretoria .. . ," p. 302-303. 

C7' 
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tell you of the dark cloud to make you understand how greatly 

the Bishop needs your [financial! help to tide him over his 

present difficulties, which no one could have foreseen, and no 
power of his could avert."336 

The honeymoon period was over. The Bishop, coming to a country 

ruled by the British, had in the beginning magnified his problems. 

After the war, however, when the country was ruled by the Boers, 
his problems before the war seemed minor by comparison. He had 

to turn his abilities to running his diocese with reduced congre­

gations, less money and persistent staffing problems. Once 

Bousfield had decided to remain in the Transvaal he settled 

down to his task. 

336E. Lamb, "The Church in the Transvaal," Occasional paper of the diocese of 
Pretoria, number 5, 1883-01, p . 30-34. 
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CHAPTER FIVE 

AN ASSESSMENT OF BOUSFIELD AS 
BISHOP OF PRETORIA 

In attempting to assess Bousfield's success or failure as Bishop of 

Pretoria two questions need to be asked. 

5.1 was Bousfield the right person for the task in the first place? 

5.5 would it have been better, both for himself and for the diocese, 
if Bousfield had resigned after the war of Independence? 

5.1 was Bousfield the right person for the task in the first place? 

5.1.1 The Bishop's home life 
The Bishop had a difficult home life. He had accepted 
the post as bishop of a new diocese on an inadequate 
salary,! with a delicate wife and eight children, six 
of whom were daughters so would need to be supported 
until marriage. In fact ~he eldest daughter, Frances 
Rebekah, did not marry until 1886. Tucker of S.P.G. 
said to Tait of Bousfield: "He ought never have gone 
to Pretoria with 8 Children but he was determined to 

be a Bishop & this weakness was generally known."2 
Mrs Bousfield was delicate. Sir Garnet Wolseley said 
of her: "She gave me the jumps, ... : I believe she 
goes off her head at times."3 Her psychological 
problem had probably started in Britain for in a 
letter to Mrs Macrorie, wife of Bishop Macrorie, 
Bousfield wrote: " ... and my poor wife has fulfilled 
the said fear I breathed to your husband once, ... "4 

Since the only time Bousfield had been with Macrorie 

1H. B. Bousfield, Letter to W.T. Bullock, 1877-06-06, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa. 

2H . Tucker, Private letter to R. Davidson, 1881-07-25, Tait Collection, Lambeth 
Palace Library, London, Britain. 

3A . Preston , ed., The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley, Cape Town: 
Balkema, 1973, p.265 . 

4H. B. Bousfield, Letter to Mrs Macrorie, 1880-10-19, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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was on the voyage out to South Africa and at Pieter­

maritzburg on the journey to Pretoria he must have 

told him then. 

In his book Six years in the Transvaal he said that 
he had not married until foreign mission work seemed 
unlikely and before marriage he stipulated that his 

wife should be prepared to go with him if he became a 

clergyman of a Colonial Diocese if necessary.5 However 

after years of marriage he should have accepted the 

fact that his wife was not strong enough for life 

outside of Britain and so not have accepted the post. 

Temperament and inability to get on with people 
This long anecdote, written by Father J.N. Meyer, 

O.M.I. shows Bousfield as others saw him. During the 

siege of Pretoria Meyer had a room in the hospital. 

One day whilst he was studying privately he was inter­

rupted by the Bishop who was sick-visiting. "His eyes 

travelled from one volume to another, from one sheet 

of paper to another until they finally rested on my 

own. 'May I make so bold,' said he, 'to inquire what 

you are working at.' I was but too delighted to 
oblige his Lordship. He had been pleased on several 
occasions, particularly on one, to run down the 

Catholic clergy whom he styled as rich clergy, parti­

cularly behind the times and fairly ignorant. This 
assertion which he had made before Sir Garnet Wolseley 

had earned him a biting rebuke from the part of the 

General who, being an Irishman himself though not a 

Catholic, had had many opportunities of seeing the 

Irish clergy. He affirmed that not only did he find 

them up to the times, but rather in advance of them, 

and that a greedy clergyman of another denomination 

could take a leaf out of the Irish clergyman's book 

for their own personal improvement. Sir Garnet knew 

his man; he was aware that he had made an impression. 

I showed him my papers which were written mostly in 

Latin. There was also a good spattering of German, 

French and even Greek according to the commentators 

5H.B. Bousfield, Six years in the Transvaal, London: SPCK, (1886), p.6. 
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I had consultEd ... I explained him th~ ~lan of the 

work, the proyress I had made with it ~p to this 

present, and what I intended doing with it l~ter on, 

'So it is not for publication,' he said in sheer 

astonishment! 'Why the~ do you go to such trouble if 

you do not intend publishing it?' I :nade him to 

understand that we Catholic priests do not care much 

for public applause; that we are n0t in the habit of 

cack!in? for every trifle that we may do, but that we 

study the Scriptures with the best commentators, 

weighing their reasons and so forming our own opinions, 

for our own congregation. He was astonished, and 

told me so. Th~re ·was no need however for him to 

tell me, as I could re.:id it plainly on his f.ace. Dr. 

Bousfield had ~wallowed wholesale all thP slanders 

which ever were pr i.nte~ by a bigoted press .::gainst 

the Chu::-ch of Rome and h~r priests, without e~,er y0.inc; 

to the trcutle of challenging ~uch slander E. , •• 

There was a sple;)did opportunity for His ·.,ords>:ip to 

let off all his cracker!:. He did n~t mis~ it. Ht:! 

wanted to knew why we Catholic priests de net get 

married. . .. But, said he, St. Paul co1,'.marh~S the 

bishops to marry and as I showed great astcmisi1ment 

and said, 'Ah,' he trotted the famous t~xt t0 Timothy: 

RThe Bishop must be the husband of one wife. etc". 

How he flourished ~hat text, e~plaining it in all its 

bearings and grinding me against the wall. I let him 

talk to his heart's content, and when he was done, 

asked him if St. Paui was a bishop - to be sure he 
was - why then, I pressed on, did not he give good 

example and marry? This was a damper which settled 

his must for St. Paul expressly confesses that he was. 

single and extols virginity in clear and lofty expres­

sions above matri~ony. I had my innings and made use 

of them. Pickir,g up some papers which were- on the floor 

I soon found the text in question. The oou~y Version, 

I told him, does not use the word must for very good 

reasons, the first of which is the one already mentione~ 

It says, 'it behoveth a Bishop to be blameless, the 

husband of one wife, etc.' which gives the meaning of 

St. Paul more accurately. This nQw is not my interpre­

tation, but the interpretation of all the doctors and 
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commentators for the last 1 800 yrs .... He confessed 

that his Greek was rather rusty. I therefore 

tried Carriere, but he did not understand French, and 

so I had to fall back on Allioh? whose German commen­
taries I had in front of me. He had never . studied 

German/ I was about to ask him if he had ever studied 
anything at all, but remembered that he was my visitor. 

And this is the man, I thought within myself, who 

reviled the Catholic clergy and taxes us with ignorance! 

... "The only remaining meaning possible is this, that 

no Bishop or priest should be chosen from among those 

who had been married twice or who still lives in that 
second wedlock as this would give him a suspicion of 

lascivity which cannot be tolerated in the priesthood" 

[Allioli]. or. Bousfield found the atmosphere of 

the room rather close, and rose to depart. I accom­

panied him to the door, where, after the last bow, I 

retired to my room sat down and had a good hearty 

laugh. I trust His Lordship will be a little more 

careful in future when he talks about the Romish 

clergy and their ignorance in Scripture. I did not 

do him the slightest good and did not expect it. His 
Lordship was his own commentator and his way of inter­

preting was the way. His ooxy was orthodoxy and 
everyone else's ooxy was necessarily heterodoxy. He 

took in my explanations so nicely that when Mrs Sous­

field No.l died, he took himself Miss Lamb, a former 

teacher in his school, and made her Mrs Bousfield 

No.2."6 

In the following montage of how others perceived the 
Bishop mos.t references have already been used in the 

text. 

"... [Bousf ield] is a man of untiring zeal - ... he 
is perhaps a little too egotistical. 11 7 [Owen] 

" ... but he was determined to be a Bishop & this 
weakness was generally known"8 [Tucker) 

6J . N. Meyer, "Reminiscences of thirty years missionary work in South Africa," 
TS, p . 34-38, [R. C.] Archdiocesan Archives, Durban, South Africa. 

70wen, Letter to A.C. Tait, 1876-04-24, Tait Collection, Lambeth Palace Library, 
London, Britain. 

8H. Tucker, Private letter to R. Davidson, 1881-07-25, Tait Collection, Lambeth 
Palace Library, London, Britain . 
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" under the stress of these cares he rather exagge-

rates his difficulties."9 [Tucker] 

"The Bishop, who was always somewhat hasty, was never 

noted for tact even among whites ... "10 [Roberts) 

" ... for I liked the Bishop, because of the human 
side of him. (The Bishop was] rather autocratic 

in his method of administering the affairs of his 

diocese, and at times somewhat overbearing towards 
his clergy. He lacked the tact that is born of 

common sense. 11 11 (Judge Kotze] 

" ... this inflated wind-bag of a Bishop ... 12 [The 
Bishop] is full of bumptiousness & ready to argue on 

any subject, no matter what it may be,· and although 

it may be one regarding which he has no means of 

knowing anything."13 [Sir Garnet Wolseley) 

"I think [the Bishop's) liver would be out of order · 

for the rest of the day"l~ [O. Watkins] 

"The B[isho]p was very thoughtless of us (his young 

clergymen I . . . . I know I worked far harder than he 

did ... [with] very little appreciation from him.15 

... Don't leave me out. I worked my best, made harder 
by the B(isho)p, who chiefly did the talking.16 

I never forgave the B[isho]p for this, and blame him 

for poor Spratt's death."17 (Alfred Rober.ts] 

" ... for those three weeks, I found myself in the 
constant presence of one of the most methodical, 

9H. Tucker, Confidential letter to A. C. Tait, 1881-10-18, Tait Collection, 
Lambeth Palace Library, London, Britain . 

lOA. Roberts, "The foundation of the Native Mission in Pretoria," TS, p.4, Alfred 
Roberts Collection, CPSA Archives, Wies, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

llJ _ Kotze, Biog;aphical memoirs and reminiscences, Cape Town: Maskew Miller, 
{s.a . ], p. 555 . 

12Preston, The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley ... , p.254. 
131bid., p . 193 
14o.watkins, Diary of his journey to the Transvaal, 1880-10-29, quoted in W.A. 

Venter, Die geskiedenis en invloed van die Wesleyaanse sending i~ die Transvaal 
gedurende die negentiende eeu," Ph .D thes is, University of the Orange Free Seate, 
1961 , p . 385. 

15A. Roberts, annotated copy of Bousfield, Six years . .. , p.27. 
16rbid. , p . 49 
17rbid., p.60 
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the least time-wasting, the least exacting, and the 

most unselfish of men.••18 (Sadler) 

" some [of the Bishop's ecclesiastical difficu~tiesJ, 

it is only fair to say I know are owing to the Bishop's 

own way of dealing with his clergy & people. 11 19 [Webb] 

II a man of honor [sic] and spirit. 11 20 [E.H. Bousfield] 

"His manner is certainly unfortunate & his conversation 

painfully egotistical, but with all his faults, he is 

a brave man, unflinching in the assertion of principle 

& determined to carry out his work & to deliver his 

message. And brave determined men are never more 

wanted than they are now. 11 21 [Jones] 

" ... his Lordship should have understood that no good 
comes out of stuffing a reluctant defenceless patient 

with whole chapters of St. John. Syrup is all right 

when thinly spread a slice of bread, but taken in 
jarfuls it is too much of a good thing.22 ... I 

accompanied [the Bis~op] to the door, where, after 

the last bow, I retired to my room, sat down and had 

a good hearty laugh. 11 23 (Meyer] 

The Bishop is portrayed as hard working, tactless, 
pompous and egotistical. whose behaviour sometimes 

provoked laughter. 

Most of the above references are from people· who had 

met the Bishop in the Transvaal and yet age does not 

change a personality but reinforces it. 

Salary 
In the first letters which Bishop Jones wrote to his 

co-delegates about choosing a bishop ~or the Transvaal 

he mentioned finance. To Bishop Cotterill of Edinburgh 

he wrote that the man chosen would have to have some 

l8111tinerant work in the Transvaal," Mission Field, 1881-03-01, p.124. 
l9A.B. Webb, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-09-21, Collection AB867, Ab5.2, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
20E.H. Bousfield, Letter to A.C. Tait, 1881-10-03, Tait Collection, Lambeth 

Palace Library, London, Britain. 
21w.w. Jones, Private letter to H. Tucker, 1880-12-13, Collection of the Letterbool 

of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
22Meyer, "Reminiscences ... ," TS, p.26. 
23rbid., p.37. 
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private means and that this would exclude a number of 

suitable men.24 To Bullock of S.P.G. he wrote that 

the salary offered for the bishop was inadequate 

considering the cost of living in the Transvaal, as 

well as the cost of travelling over its vast distances. 

In addition he said: "Of one thing I am certain, 

that ~600 a year will be the least that a Bishop will 

be able to do with, so that it is necessary either to 
find a man who will be equal for the work & willing 
to accept it who has private means, or some additional 

funds must be raised for his support.u25 

The man they found, H.B. Bousfield, was married with 

a large family. In Andover his salary was S.700 p.a. 

and he was offered by S.P.G. i600 p.a. and a house.26 

This drop in salary would necessitate a lowering of 

his family's standard of living. When Bishop Webb of 

Bloemfontein heard that Bousfield had accepted the 

post he wrote to Jones: "I do . not think we could 

have a better man for the Transvaal than Mr Bousfield . 

... I did not think that there was much chance of his 

being able to accept the post through want of private 
means and the burden of a large family. 0 27 

When Bousfield arrived in the Transvaal he found that 
because of the exorbitant cost of living his salary 

was totally inadequate for the needs of his family 

and for his travelling expenses. 

Organising ability and energy 
When Jones wrote to Cotterill asking him to be a 

delegate in a committee of three to choose the new 
bishop of the Transvaal he listed the qualities the 

man needed. This man should be hardworking, active 

24w.w. Jones, Letter to H. Cotterill, 1876-03-13, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

25w.w. Jones, Letter tow. Bullock of S.P.G., 1876-02-23, Collection of the 
Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, 
South Africa. • 

26sousfield, Six years ... , p.7. 
27A.B. Webb, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1877-03-22, Collection of the Archbishops of 

Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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and a good Churchman.28 In Bousfield they found such 

a man. 

Bousfield was a talented organiser. In 1876 when 

Owen wrote to the Archbishop of Canterbury mentioning 

Bousfield for the vacant diocese of Melbourne he 
wrote: "[Bousfield] is a man of untiring zeal - a 

perfect marvel for work and system - as clearheaded 

as a man can well be - ... he is perhaps a little too 

egotistical."29 

In the two years before the war he had organised the 
diocese according to his master plan.30 With the war 

much of this organisation had been destroyed and he 

was faced with the task of building it up from the 
foundations again, but the foundations were there 

this time. S.P.G. felt that after the English 

speaking people had left the Transvaal that the 
Bishop should concentrate on mission work.31 Tucker 

appreciated the gifts Bousfield had of organisation 

and of delivering speeches and felt that these could 

be utilized elsewhere.32 Bishop Webb realised that 
Bousfield was unsuited to be a missionary bishop but 

could not see a way out of this problem.33 After the 

war the Bishop again tried to implement the plan. 

Cong reg at ions were re-organised, e.g. J.P. Richardson 

was moved from Rustenburg to zeerust which had a 

larger congregation and a schoo1.34 As soon as possi­

ble after the war the Bishop began his travels to all 

the Church centres in the Transvaal. These journeys 

were spaced over nine months.35 The schools were 
kept open where possible. The Bishop saw the mission 

28w.w. Jones, Letter to H. Cotterill, 1876-03-13, Collection of the Letterbooks 
of the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

290wen, Letter to A.C. Tai·t, 1876-04-24, Tait Collection, Lambeth Palace Library, 
London, Britain. 

30vide p.117. 
3la. Tucker, Confidential letter to R. Davidson, 1881-07-25, Tait Collection, 

Lambeth Palace Library, London, Britain. 
32rbid. 
33w.w. Jones, Letter to A.B. Webb, 1881-10-31, Collection of the Letterbooks of 

the Archbishops o·f Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wies, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
34oiocese of Pretoria, Diocesan Calendar 1883, p.5-6. 
35E. Lamb, "The Church in the Transvaal," Occasional paper of the diocese of 

Pretoria, number 5, 1883-01, p .31. 



5 .1. 5 

- 296 -

work among the Deel Kraal Africans under Jacob Tabane 
as" ... a real opening for our struggling Church 

among the heathen, and God's blessing shall be the 

more assured to her if she is thus missionary in her 

days of weakness. 0 36 The Bishop still had his plans 

for opening a hospital. Just after the war he wrote 
to Lagden: "You bid me put on paper the plans I 

mentioned to you for starting a small hospital here. 

I will try to make them clear.«37 

After the war he was once more complaining bitterly38 

about his inadequate salary, large family, lack of 

money for church work, ungrateful clergy, and the 

difficulty of getting suitable staff. 

Bousfield's plans for the diocese39 

Were these plans practical or were they too elaborate 

for a newly founded Colonial Diocese? As an aim 
towards which the diocese could progress they were 

practical but Bousfield wished to implement them as 

soon as possible. This was one of the reasons for 

his financial difficulties. In a letter to the Bishop 
just before the War of Independence S.P.G. advised 

him not to attempt too much.40 In a letter to Tait's 
secretary, Tucker of S.P.G. expressed his true feelings: 

"Mr [E.H.] Bousfield, as an Auctioneer, is accustomed 

to deal with things on a larger scale & knows nothing 

of the way in wh[ich] Colonial Churches creep up from 

small beginnings . • The brother - the Bishop - has 

rather a large idea of things and from the first he 

has gone on in a way few Colonial Bishops affect."41 

36H.B. Bousfield , "The Bishop 1 s report, 1881-12-09," Occasional paper of the 
diocese of Pretoria, number 3, 1882-02, p.13 . 

37H.B . Bousfield, Letter to G.Y . Lagden , 1881-06-07 , Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

38H.B. Bousfield, Letter to S. P. G. , 1881-12-03, D Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

39vide p . 117. 
40s.P.G., Letter to H. B. Bousfield , 1880-10-21, CLS Collection, CPSA Archives, 

Wits , Johanne sburg , South Africa. 
41H. Tucker, Private letter to R. Davidson, 1881-07-25, Tait Collection, 

Lambeth Palace Library, London, Britain. 
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Bousfield seemed to wish to create a centuries old 

English diocese in the Transvaal as soon as possible. 

His plans for the diocese should thus be seen as 

impractical and the cause of some of the conflict he 

had within the diocese and outside of it. 

Conclusion 
was Bousfield the right person for the task in the 

first place? 

Tucker of S.P.G. felt that he should never have accep­
ted the post with such a large family . 42 For financial 

reasons he should have realised that the post should 

have gone to a wealthier clergyman. 

To remove his delicate unstable wife from the fami­
liarity of Britain and to subject her to the stress 

of the Transvaal was cruel. In 1886 he excused this 
action by saying that before they married in 1861 she 

had agreed" ... to go to the earth's end if (he was] 

called."43 From Sir Garnet Wolseley's remark: "I 

believe she goes off her head at times,"44 it would 

appear that she had become the object of thoughtless 

gossip. In placing his job before the welfare of his 

wife and so accepting a Colonial Bishopric I feel 

t~at he was at fault. This is the main reason he 

should not have considered leaving England. 

Once Bousfield was in the Tran~vaal his gifts of 

organisation were soon apparent. On reading the 

reports of his work one is amazed at the amount of 

work he got through. However he was periodically 

threatening to resign so it seems that he was not 

satisfied with his task in the Transvaal. The bout 

of depression he had in October 1aao45 was a bad sign 

for him. 

Bousfield was a talented man and it was inevitable 
that he should have been approached about a Colonial 

42H. Tucker, Private letter to R. Davidson , 1881-07-25, Tait Collect i on , Lambeth 
Palace Li brary, London, Britain . 

43Bousfield, Six years ... , p .6. 
·44Preston, The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley ... , p.265. 
45vide p. 207. 
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Bishopric. when Tucker broached Archbishop Tait of 
Canterbury about having Bousfield translated to 

Adelaide he listed them as his exceptional ability at 

organization and his power of speech. These talents 

should be used by the Church.46 

In conclusion after weighing up the evidence I feel 
that Bousfield in spite of his talents of organisation 

should not have accepted the post. He had an unrealis­
tic concept of a Colonial Bishopric. He had an unfor­

tunate manner in dealing with people which caused 

conflict situations to arise. His lack of private 

means meant that his salary had to be adequate to 

support his family and it was not. The main reason 

however was his wife's health which should have come 
first. In spite of this he did accept the post and he 

went to the Transvaal as the first bishop of Pretoria. 

5.2 Would it have been better, both for himself and for the diocese, 
if Bousfield had resigned after the War of Independence? 

After the war new difficulties faced the diocese. 

5.2.l Political changes 
The Transvaal was no longer under British control and 

the Anglican Church was no longer the denomination of 

the rulers, a status it had enjoyed under the British. 

When he was asked in 1876 to accept the proposed 

diocese in the Transvaal he had refused because the 
Transvaal was not under British rule. It was only 

the following year after the annexation that he did 

accept to be nominated as bishop.47 

Under the British Administration Bousfield occupied a 
privileged position. Soon after he arrived in the 

Transvaal he was able to ask Sir Owen Lanyon for a 
personal grant of land. He wrote to Lanyon: "Having 

placed my case before you, I leave it in your hands, 

& will be content with whatever your kindly wisdom 

may think best: but I confess I should have been glad 

46H. Tucker, Private letter to R. Davidson, 1881-07-25, Tait Collection, 
Lambeth Palace Library, London, Britain . 

47Bousfield , Six years ... , p.6-7. 
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if the question of my own grant could nave been 

decided by you alone, as being so much of a peep intc 

my private affairs, I woul~ rather have you, & SiL 

Bartle Frere, than let a whole body of men consider 
them. There is one point yo~ have not mentio~ed, 
which I hope your not doing so does ~ot mean is 

permanently settled against the Church, viz. the 
Heidelberg ~ite. If this reaches ycu before you pass 
thro' H~idelberg on your return journey, I would ask 

you to look at the site with your own eyes, & see 
whethe~ it be not too good fer a jail, and just the 

thing for a Church."48 The Bishop could only ha~e 
writter. a letter of this sort to a Governor he knew 
persor.ally. 

On another·occasi.on when he wrote to Lanyon be :-3aid: 
"I hope this [prayer] will meet with your Excellcncy•3 

approval, and shall be glad in this, and all ot~er 

matters, so to know your wishes that the ~hurch ~ay 
in all ways possible comply with them.~Sl . 

In May 1880 Lanyon sent the Bishop a copy of the 
Education Bill with which the Bishop ag~ee~ on ~11 

points except that of Article 2: "Does. it singling 
[?) out for report the case of Clergymen, or preachers 

acting as schoolwast~rs, imply the de~ire to -~void as 
much as possible their employment? I do net wish to 
discuss the que~tion 35 I think I understand its 

pro's for the Chur~h, and con's for the state: tho' 
perhaps in the pr~sent state o°f both the plan might 

act for a few years well. My object . is to know your 
mind that I may conform my early plans to it."50 

Bousfield wished tc use deacon-schoolmasters in the 

smaller towns whcse salaries could· be suppl~mented by 
the school fees e.g. Adams at Middelburg.51 

The Bishop askec Lanyon for a copy of the 9ill of 
Native Law before the Assembly had seen it: " 

li611 . B. Bousfield, Letter to Sir 0;-,c:n Lanyon, 1879-0S-21, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

4911.B. Bousfield, Letter to Sir Ow2n Lanyon, 1880-03-15, Bousfielc Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, So·.1th Africa. 

50H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Sir Owen LHnyon, 1880-0S-12~ Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

5lrbid. 
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as this may touch [and] impinge on my province, I 

should like to know its provisions."52 

In August 1880 the Administration granted an erf in 
Wakkerstroom to the diocese of Pretoria. The Bishop 

could select the site which would be transferred to 

the diocese after the start of building.53 

When the Boers took over the Transvaal these good 
relations had to cease. In 1883 the Bishop wrote to 

the President of the Z.A.R.: "For I can assure Your 

Honour, no man in this State desires more Sincerely 

its true and lasting prosperity."54 This letter 

would have been unnecessary under the British Adminis­

tration. 

Problems caused by the departure of the British 

5.2.2.1 Congregations decrease 
Many English speaking people left the Transvaal 

which became depopulated. This meant that much 

of the painstaking work of establishing congre­

gations was set back. Sir Hercules Robinson, a 

member of the Royal Commission, who had first 

hand experience of the situation in the Transvaal 

after the war recommended that the Bishop retire 
"as he [Sir H. Robinson] does not believe 20 

English families will remain in the country.~55 

The congregation at Rustenburg wa• so reduced 
that it was not sufficient to support a clergyman. 

The Bishop explained why he was forced to remove 

J.P. Richardson: "There still was hope [after 

the war}, and I encouraged Mr Richardson to hold 

up on his way and stick to his post, in hope 

that we might ride out the storm. But soon came 

other news: of the little flock one and another 

family was forced to leave, the school was dwind-

52H.B. Bousfield, Letter to Sir Owen Lanyon, 1880-05-13, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

53c. Hudson, Colonial Secretary, Letter to H.B. Bousfield, 1880-08-23, Collection 
AB419, CPSA Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa. 

54H. B. Bousfield, Letter to P. Kruger, 1883-05-17, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

55w.w. Jones, Letter co A.B. Webb, 1881-10-31, Collection of the Letterbooks of 
the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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ling, the congregation dying out, and zeerust 

needing much a priest, much against my will, 

I was forced to consent to the shepherd leaving 

the deserted fold and the remnant of his little 

flock."56 A year after the war the Bishop asked 

Henry Gosling if he would "take a service in now 

deserted Rustenburg?"S7 

This diminution of Anglican congregations occurred 

throughout the Transvaal. 

Education 
The schools lost many pupils as a result of the 

English exodus from the Transvaal. The schools 

in Pretoria continued. Both Miss Dowling and 

Miss Lamb were voluntary teachers so did not 

receive salaries. Miss Dowling in particular 
was frugal. The Bishop complimented her on this 

to Durnford: "But my young men are all too 

wanting in self denial & sense, & wanting too 

much, the Ladies beat them hollow. Miss Dowling's 
share of Board & Lodgings costs ·140 a year only ... 59 

Maybe they had learnt this from their Bishop? 

St Etheldreda's continued. In July 1881 the 
Bishop asked Durnford to find replacements for 

Miss Lorentz and Miss Lamb.59 Roberts still ran 

St Birinus. In June 1881 Godfrey-Lagden examined 

the boys in history, geography and Euclia.60 

Roberts in his report at the end of 1881 said 

that the school had an average enrolment of 21 

or 22 but that fees were irregularly paid: 

"Besides this the Government no longer renders 

us any assistance, and there seems very little 

56H.B. Bous.field, "Rustenburg as it was and is," Occasional paper of the diocese 
of Pretoria, number 5, 1883-01, p.41. 

578.B . Bous.field, Letter to H. Gosling, 1882-03-04, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

58H.B. Bousfield, Letter to E. Durnford, 1881-01-02, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 

59H.B. Bousfield, Letter ' to E. Durnford, 1881-06-30, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

60c .Y. Lagden, Diary 1881 , 1881-06-28, MSS, Lagden Papers, HSS Af.s 145, Rhodes 
House Library, Oxford, Britain. 
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prospect of their doing so, at least to us. They 
indeed promise great help to education, but one 

of their chief provisos is that all subjects 

must be taught in the Dutch language, which is 

impossible with us, for all our pupils are 

English and speak English better than outch."61 

St Alban's Elementary School was also able to 

remain open.62 After the war it can be deduced 

that English speaking schools lost their Govern­

ment grants for education. 

5.2.3 Finance 

5.2.3.1 Parishes 
The Bishop had financial problems. He had been 

aiming at making the congregations self-supporting 

by appointing deacon-schoolmasters to the towns63 

and having an itinerating priest visiting the 

congregations for communion.64 The Bishop himself 

travelled extensively to confirm and also to 

celebrate the Communion.65 The Bishop knew that 

a clergyman would find living off the school 
fees and offertories difficult so he guaranteed 

stipends i.e. to raise a salary to a level on 

which the man could live.66 When J.P . Richardson 

of Rustenburg who disliked teaching asked per­

mission to give up his school to concentrate on 

mission the Bishop refused. The fees generated 

by the school were needed . He wrote: • ... and as 

Bishop in the present low state of Diocesan 

funds I cannot offer to set you free from the 
school work."67 

It was only in 1882 that a parish did become 

financially self-sufficient. This was Pilgrim's 

61A . Roberts, "Report to the Bishop on S. Birinus' Boys' School, 1881-12-05," 
Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, number 3, 1882-02, p.50. 

62H.B . Bousfield, "The Bishop's report, 1881-12-09," Occasional paper of the 
diocese of Pretoria, number 3, 1882-02, p . 26. 

63H .B. Bousfield, First year's report ... , p.7. 
64sousfield, Six years ... , p.46-47. 
65vide p.117. 
66111n the Transvaal , " Mission Field, 1879-12-01, p . 546 . 
67H .B. Bousfield , Letter to J.P. Richardson, 1880-01-09, Bousfield Collection, 

CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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Rest, which being a mining area, h2d ~ larger 

congregation68 as people had employment there. 
The Bishop wrote to F. Dowling of ~ilgrim's 

Rest: "It seems you will be in i:hP- happy posi-
tion of being supported by your people, & your 
own efforts as a Teacher. Your offertories, one 

especi~lly, are very good. 11 69 The deacon-school­
master system could not functi0n with small 

congreg~tions. This is the reason the Bishop was 
forced to remove J.P. Richardson from Rustenburg.70 

After the w~r there was an economic depression71 
S? mcne~, was difficult to find. The F.:~toria 
Diocesan Fund started a special fund to aid the 
diocese in its financial crisis. Tho P.O.F 

i!;sucd a fund-raising pamphlet at t~:e -~n.d ,)f 

1881. rart of it read: "Diocese of Preto:ia -
The Committee [of the P.D.F.] is desitous cf 
promptly raising fl 000 to tide the Bishop 0v1r 
the pressing difficulties occasioned by th~ 

recent trcubles in the Transveal, and t0 en~ble 
him to deal ~ith the emergencies cons~~uent upon 
the cesE;ion of the country to the B~_er':S in any 
way he may find necessary. Recent lEt.t.ers show 
him to be still struggling ag~inst· the ',1:cst 

adverse circumstances, and endepvouring t~ hold 

his own in•~h~ vast Diocese committed to his 
charge - fer this great work funds are much 
needed from home, as the diocese is so impove­

rished tbat but little aid can come from within. 11 72 

In October 1881 F. Chalmers published .an appeal 
through the §tandard explaining the need for an 

68H . B. Bousfield, Letter to F. Dowling, 1882-03-22, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Af-.icG. 

69s .B. Bousfield, Letter to F . Dow line, 1882-04-14, Bousfield CoUection, CPa.t 
Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Afri:a. 

70H. B. Bousfield, "Rustenburg as it was and is," Occasional paper of the diocese 
of Pr&toria, number 5, 1883-01, p.•1. 

7li::. Lamb, "The Church in the Tral!~1rnal," Occasional paper of the diocese of 
Pret~ria, number 5, 1883-01, p.32. 

i'2 11oiocese of Pretoria," copy enclosed R.L. Civeen, Letter· to A.C. Tait, 
1881-12-26, Tait Collecti.on, Lambeth Pal.lee Librc1ry, London, Britain. 
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additional fund: "The Bishop's relatives and 
some of his private friends have known the hard­

ships and troubles which have attended him ever 

since he entered upon the tha~kless and well-nigh 

hopeless task of founding a Church in the Trans­
vaal. They have done, and are doing, all that 

lies in their power to help him; it is 

proposed to appeal to [the public) to raise a 

sum of!. 1 000 (apart from contributions to the 

Diocesan Fund) to tide him over the pressing 

difficulties of the moment (occasioned, unfor­

tunately, by the action of the powers that be), 

• • • II 7 3 

The Archbishop of Canterbury was asked to lend 

his name to this special fund but he refused to 

do so as he felt that the P.O.F. and Bousfield's 

Commissaries were raising funds for the diocese 

of Pretoria as was S.P.G. A third fund would 

unnecessarily complicate matters.74 

S.P.G. felt that Bousfield had exaggerated his 
problems and that he should not be in the finan­

cial straits that he said he was in. In a confi­

dential letter to Tait Tucker wrote: "The Bishop 

of Pretoria has been exposed to very great 

anxieties & I am afraid that under the stress of 

these cares he rather exaggerates his difficulties; 

in this opinion I am confirmed by letters from 

other correspondents in Africa. He ought not to 
be in any great pecuniary strait. The Society 

has guaranteed that his income shall not fall 

below i700 p.a.: he has also a good house free: 

a special Organisation, which has been working 
for him in England, has sent him, as I am informed 

by the Secretary, about £700 during the last few 

months, which would be absolutely at his disposal, 

although I do not suppose that he would spend 

much of it on himself. . . . I very_ much fear that 

73F. Chalmers, Letter 1881-10-26, Standard, published date unknown. 
74R.T . Davidson (for A.C. Tait], Letter to E.H. Bousfield, 1881-12-09, Tait 

Collection, Lambeth Palace Library, London, Britain . 
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the Bishop's real difficulties are not such as o 
Society ~an help for I understund that he has 
invested hi~ own small fortune, together with 
other mo~ies given (?) to him for the benefit of 

hiz work, in lands & houses in the Transvaal & 

when the Country ceased to be a Colony and beGam~ . 

again a Dutch Republic, the value of these invest­
ments f2ll very low inc~ed. 11 75 

Thus it ·can be seen that some of the financial 
problems of the diocese were c~used by the 

diminution of the English speakir.g population 
whose offcrtoFies h~d helped it. External help 
had to be increased to make up for the internal 
·:: i nanc ic.:l loss . 

. EnJowment 
The Bishop had invested part of 1:.he Endowment ai: 

the Cape. In.January 1881 the Standi~g Committee 
-Of S.P.G. agreed to recommend the whole 0f the 

Pretoria Clergy Endowment Fund ~e inve stGd ~n 
first mortgages in the Cape Cc.lony. ~cusfield 
had requested that part of thi~ be inv~sted in 

the Transva~l but this request was r~f,rred to 
the Coloni~l Bishoprics' Counci1J6 Both W.W. . , 

Jones77 and 9ousfield78 were informed of the 

investment in the Cape Banks. This w~s duly 
done.79 80 

The Bishop wrot~ to Jones about · the payrneP.t of 
the ~ividends on the Clergy Endowment: "Can you 

kindly find out for me whether the Capital with­
drawn from England on a[ccoup]t of Clergy Endow-

iSH. Tucker, Confidential letter co A.C. Tait, 1881-10-18, Tait Co.11,:iction, 
1,amlJet'!l Palace Library, Lonc!on, Britain. 

76standing Committee of S. P.G., lSSl-01-13, p. 70-71, SC Collectio,-1, USPG 
Archi·:es, London, Britain . .. ., 

' · S.P.G . , Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-01-22, SC Collection, USPG Archives , 
London, Britain. 

-s . '·S .P .G. , Letter to H. B. Bous f i elu, 1881-01-22, SC Collection, USPG Archives, 
Lo ndon, Britain. 

79s . P.G., Letter to H. B. Bous field, 1881-05-25, SC Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

SOstanding Committee ·of S.P.G., 1881-06-16, p.180, SC Collection : USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 
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ment Fund has been invested? and if so when 

will a dividend be payable? The supplies from 

England have failed, and none from Capetown, as 

yet, taken their place."81 In October 1881 the 

Bishop requested from Jones a statement of the 

amount invested and the actual income to be 

derived from the Clergy Endowment and he wanted 

to know whether the Bishopric Endowment had been 

transferred from Britain.82 

When S.P.G. sold the investments in Britain of 

the Clergy Endowment Fund of the diocese of 

Pretoria a profit of S289 9s 2d was realised. 

This was sent to Bishop Jones to invest for the 

diocese of Pretoria.83 Jones told S.P.G. in 

December that he had been unable to invest the 

Pretoria Bishopric Endowment. This is why Bous­

field had received no interest on the endowment.84 

From this it can be deduced that the diocese of 

Pretoria, which was going through a financial 

crisis as a result of the war, had not received 
the dividends it should have from the Endowment 

Funds. 

Personal 
The Bishop had a small private income which he 

had invested in the property in the Transvaal. 

With the retrocession the value of property had 

fallen sharply.85 An attempt had been made to 

get Bousfield's private property made a special 

case for the Royal Commission to discuss with 

the Boers but this had been rejected.86 

81H.B. Bousfield, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-08-08, Collection of the Arch­
bi shops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

82H.B . Bousfield, Letter co W.W. Jones, 1881-10-14, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 
Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

83s.P.G . , Letter to W.W. Jones, 1881-11-02, SC Collection, USPG Archives, 
London, Britain. 

84w.w. Jones, Letter to S.P.G., 1881-12-05, Collection of the Letterbooks of 
the Archbishops of Cape Town, CPSA Archives , Wits, Johannesburg, South Afr i ca. 

8SH. Tucker , Confidential letter to A.C. Tait, 1881-10-18, Tait Collection, 
Lambeth Palace Library, London, Britain. 

86Transvaal C.0.990O, The Bishop of Pretoria, 1881-05-30, ff.246-253, Colonial 
Office Collection, Transvaal Papers, CO291/14, Public Record Office, Kew, London, 
Britain. 
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Staffing 
A number of clergymen who had been employed for the 

diocese refused to come to the dioce se ~fter the 
war.87 

Bousfield was tactless in his handling of some of his 

scaff88 for example ~is vindictive behaviour towards 
Spratt whose death might have been avoided if he had 

not been so harshly 'treated and been forced to mov?. 
to Potc~efst~oom.89 

Perso~al pr obl ~ms 

5.2.5.l Effects of the retrocession on the Bish~,,. 

87vide p . 278. 

The Bishop had been depressed in October 1680.90 

To Mrs l-:acrorie he had said that thi ~ had b~en 
brought at:out by an inadequate st.:tff, insuffi·· 
cient money as well as other epis;::opa.l cares and 
the c,verwork· caused by acting a:; priest lo the 
Pretoria parish.91 

Hinchliff feels that the retrocessio~ ~a~~~d 
Bousfield to be p~ssimistic about th~ ~uture of 

his diocese.92 Farmer, a misEionary in tbe 

diocese, in his obituary of the Di~ho~ wrote of 
the retrocef;sion: "He had set out · full cf hope, 
with a wifF &nd large family, thinking t e was 

coming to a ~isinc; British colony. Th,: .i:esult 

of the Boer ~i.;r was utter depr~ssion, a cUinini­
shing British population, and the sadness of 
reaction aftc:· promise. 11 93 

After the retrocession the Bishop magnified his 
problems. An example of the many pessim.istic 
letters he wrote after the war is the one to C. 

Watkins94 which was subsequently publi~hed in 

8BA. B. Webb, Le tter to W.W. Jones, lSel-09-21 1 Collection of the Archbishops 
of Ca~e Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

69vide p.270-273. 
90vide p.207-208. 
nH . B. Bousfield, Letter to Mrs t-lacrori,?, 1880-10-19, Bous field Collec!:ion , 

CPSA Archives, Wi ts, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
92P. B. Hinchliff, The Anglican Church io South Africa, London: Darton, Longman 

& Todd, 1963, p.155 . 
93E.· F[<1rmcr], "Bishop Bousfield, 11 Anglican, volume 1, number 4, 1904-02, p . 81. 
94H.B . Bousfield, Letter to C. Watkins , 1881-09-03, Bousfie ld Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
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the Daily Telegraph and the Guardian.95 It 

starts: "As cold water to a thirsty soul so 

your kind letter is to mine: many thanks for 

your efforts. The case is pressing. Will Eng­

land cast off those whom the nation has ruined 
to a more lasting ruin in the days to come? I 

will try to stick to my post, but how can I hold 

up my head against debts justly·incurred which 

suddenly, thro' this revolution press for payment 

because the securities are w~rth nothing."96 

The letter continued in this vein. When Watkins 

published the letter the Bishop rebuked him for 

making known his problems.97 

was the Bishop justified in his pessimism after 
the war? He lost people and clergy yet no 

buildings were destroyed and the diocese was 

able to function once the routine of life had 

been re-established. 

Ellen Lamb 
Ellen Lamb was a close family friend and godmother 

to the youngest Bousfield daughter,Esther Beat­

rice.98 In 1884 the gossip about the relationship 

between the Bishop and Miss Lamb was such that 
they were accused of adultery. · Clulee, the 

missionary of the . diocese, wrote to Bishop Jones: 

"As to the charge of Adultery. Graham, the 

keeper of the hotel at Heidelberg, a respectable 

& educated man, told him [Dr. Bodley] that he 

saw the Bishop go into Miss L(amb] 's bedroom at 

night, & come out the next morning, with his 

upper clothes over his arm .... Graham might be 

reluctant to write openly on a matter which 

might imply that he was in the habit of watching 

his guests."99 Ellen Lamb left the Transvaal in 

95Guardian, 1881-10-19 , p.1467 . • 
96H.B. Bousfield, Letter co C. Watkins, 1881-09-03, Bousfield Collection, CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 
97H . B. Bousfield, Letter to C. Watkins, 1881-12-01, Bousfield Collection , CPSA 

Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa . 
98Bousfield family Bible, kept by the family. 
99c. Clulee, Letter co W. W. Jones, 1884-12-03, Collection of the Archbishops 

of Cape Town , CPSA Archives, Wits , Johannesburg, South Africa . 
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July 1882100 and was escorted to Durban by the 

Bishop. The date of the above incident is 

obscure. From which period the gossip about the 

Bishop and Miss Lamb started is also not clear 

but in a conversation to c. Clulee in November 
1883 Bousfield said that he had been accused of 

murder, lying, fraud, drunkenness and adultery,101 

so it was in the open by the end of 1883 and had 

probably started before she left the Transvaal. 

The Bishop's close friendship with Ellen Lamb 
was cause for gossip. Whether or not this friend­
ship was adulterous is immaterial; if the people 

believed it to bel02 it was destructive to his 

episcopacy. 

A delicate, unstable wife, a probable mistress 
and eight children in a small gossip ridden town 

did make the Bishop's home circumstances difficult. 

Conclusion 
Did Bousfield have the strength of character to rise 

to these new challenges? Tucker of S.P.G. felt" 

a man with fewer children & not soured by disappointment 

would do better."103 The translation to Adelaide as 

Tucker realised would have solved the problem of how 

to remove Bousfield. 

If aousfield had left a more missionary orientated 
bishop could have been foundl04 but Bousfield was not 

translated. If Bousfield had obtained the advice 

from someone in authority whether it be Tait, S.P.G. 

or Lord Kimberley to be recalled he could have left 

lOOH.B. Bousfield, Letter to H. Robins , 1882-07-31, Bousfield Collection, 
CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg , South Africa. 

101c. Clulee, Letter to H. B. Bousfield , 1883-12-26 , D Collection, USPG 
Archives, London, Britain. 

102c. Clulee, Letter to W.W. Jones, 1884-12-03, Collection of the Archbishops 
of Cape Town, CPSA Archives, Wits, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

103H. Tucker, Private letter to R. Davidson, 1881-07-25, Tait Collection, 
Lambeth Palace Library, London, Britain . 

l041bid. 
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without losing face. However these people refused to 

be manipulated and left the decision to him. His 

hatred" ... to see my name at the bottom of the list 

of retired Bishops, 0 105 made him remain in his diocese. 

It is more difficult to come to a decision on this 

question. To find men willing to be Colonial Bishops 

was difficult. For example when in 1883 A.B. Webb 

was translated to Grahamstown it was two years before 

G.W.H. Knight-Bruce accepted the post. Wilkinson 

resigned as bishop of Zululand and the CPSA bishops 

refused to nominate him as bishop of the new Transvaal 
diocese as he had shown instability of purpose and 

might do the same in the Transvaal when the going was 

tough.106 If Bousfield could have resigned knowing 

that a more missionary orientated man would have 

replaced him he should have done so. However there 
was never any suggestion that such a man existed. In 

that case it might have been years before his post 

was filled and he would have laid himself open to 

accusations of having deserted his post. In remaining 
he put the future of the diocese first and settled 

down to work. 

5.3 The Future? 

One will _only be able to decide if Bousfield's decision to stay 
was a case of pride coming before a fall or ·was the correct one 

after research has been done into the rest of his long episco­

pacyl07 which ended with his death during the Boer War in 1902. 

lOSH.B. Bousfield, Letter to E.H. Bousfield, 1882-04-15, Tait Collection, 
Lambeth Palace Library, London, Britain. 

l06vide p.44-53. 
107c. Lewis and G.E. Edwards, Historical records of the Church of the Province 

of South Africa, London: SPCK, 1934, p.5~0-594. 
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APPENDICES 

Abbreviations 

Lambeth Palace Library, London . LPL 

USPG United Society for the Propagation of the Gospel Library, 

London . 

Wits Church of the Province of Southern Africa Archives, 

University of the Witwatersrand Library, Johannesburg. 

As near as possible, letters in the Appendices are direct copies 

of the originals. 

APPENDIX l Adelaide letters 

1.1 E.H. Bousfield to Tait, Archbishop of Canterbury, 1881-07-01 

(LPL, Tait, vol. 279, ff. 181-182.) 

The Bishop of Pretoria's Special Fund FOR AIDING CHURCH WORK IN 

THE TRANSVAAL, SOtrrH AFRICA. 

My Lord ArchBishop 

If may I ask your Grace to be good enough to peruse the 

enclosed letters from the Bishop of Pretoria: they are those 

only received by the last mails: the former ones (since 

the part was repeated) are much more melancholy. 

For the sake of the church at home, and for the t of ---
the Colonial Church, something should be done for this influence . 

The Bishop of Adelaide is about to resign:- Dr. Bousfield 

would be the man for that Diocese, an ia:mense gain to the Church 

there, and a fit sphere for his great talents and power ___ : 

Will your Grace grant me an interview? - I should, more for 

the Church's sake, than my brother's, like co see what can be 

done for him - something must. 



- 312 -

I have the honour to be My Lord ArchBishop 

Your Grace's most obed[ient) servant 

E.H. Bousfield 

99 Gresham Street EC 

July 16, 1881 

The Right Revd His Grace 

The ArchBishop of Canterbury. 

1.2 E.H. Bousfield to Tait, Archbishop of Canterbury, 1881-07-25 

(LPL, Tait, vol. 279, ff. 183-184.) 

July 25th 1881 

To His Grace the Archbishop of Canterbury 

etc etc 

My Lord Archbishop 

I have the honour to report to your Grace that I only handed 

to Mr Herbert today the Bishop of Pretoria's letters upon which 

he promised to confer with Lord Kimberley, and write me if anything 

could be done. He quite thought it expedient for the Bishop to 

get away from Pretoria, and• did not consider there would be any 

Episcopal work in the Transvaal and therefore suggested that the 

Bishop should be removed elsewhere, a point which I told him I 

had already brought under the notice of your Grace. I subsequently 

saw Mr Tucker, of the S.P.G., and he remarked spontaneously that 

the solution of the difficulty would be to translate the Bishop 

to Adelaide. It would be a great gain to the Church and some 

recognition of the Bishop's sufferings and self-sacrifice if this 

were accomplished. 

E.H. Bousfield 

I have the honour to be 

My Lord ArchBishop 

Your Grace's obedient Servant 

99 Gresham Street EC 
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I have the honour to be My Lord ArchBishop 

Your Grace's most obed(ient) servant 

E.H. Bousfield 

99 Gresham Street EC 

July 16, 1881 

The Right Revd His Grace 

The ArchBishop of Canterbury. 

1.2 E.H. Bousfield to Tait, Archbishop of Canterbury, 1881-07-25 

(LPL, Tait, vol . 279, ff. 183-184.) 

July 25th 1881 

To His Grace the Archbishop of Canterbury 

etc etc 

My Lord Archbishop 

I have the honour to report to your Grace that I only handed 

to Hr Herbert today the Bishop of Pretoria's letters upon which 

he promised to confer with Lord Kimberley, and write me if anything 

could be done. He quite thought it expedient for the Bishop to 

get away from Pretoria, and-did not consider there would be any 

Episcopal work in the Transvaal and therefore suggested that the 

Bishop should be removed elsewhere, a point which I told him I 

had already brought under the notice of your Grace. I subsequently 

saw Hr Tucker, of the S.P.G., and he remarked spontaneously chat 

the solution of the difficulty would be co translate the Bishop 

to Adelaide . It would be a great gain to the Church and some 

recognition of the Bishop's sufferings and self-sacrifice if this 

were accomplished. 

E.H. Bousfield 

I have the honour to be 

My Lord ArchBishop 

Your Grace's obedient Servant 

99 Gresham Street EC 
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1.3 Tucker (SPG) to Davidson, private secretary to Tait, Archbishop 

of Canterbury (LPL, Tait, vol. 279, f. 185.) 

25th July, 1881 

Private 

My dear Davidson 

I have been a little concerned this morning in a long interview 

with Mr Bousfield to find that he is bent on bringing his brother 

home from Pretoria. 

___ you ultimately but in the first instance to raise 

money. The latter he certainly wiU not do if it be known that 

the former is among his plans. Mr Bousfield, as an Auctioneer, 

is accustomed to deal with things on a larger scale & knows nothing 

of the way in wh[ich) Colonial Churches creep up from small begin-

nings. The brother - the Bishop - has rather a large idea of 

things and from the first he has gone on 1n a way few Colonial 

Bishops affect. He ought never to have gone to Pretoria with 8 

children, but he was determined to be a Bishop & this weakness 

was generally known. His return will be & disgrace to 
> 

himself & put damage on the cause. The fact of the Transvaal not 

being a Colony is nothing to the point. There are half a million 

Native heathen in the Diocese - but I think a ·man with fewer 

children & not soured by disappointment would do better. Meanwhile 

he has gre~t gifts of organisation - of power of speech - of 

sympathy & of influence and so I venture to impart to you what 

has occurred to myself some weeks ago that if he could be trans­

lated to Adelaide it would be a good thing all round. Forgive my 

suggesting this to you & believe me always. 

Y[ou)rs 

H. Tucker 
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1.4 E.H . Bousfield to Davidson, priv~te secretary to Tait, 

Archbishop of Canterbury, 1881-07-29 (LPL, Tait, vol. 279, ff . 

188-189 . ) 

RDl 

wait for Col[oni~l) Office reply . 2 

Ar[ch]b[isho]p no ro?.ase>ns to suppose he will 

be consulted about Adcl£ide. 

THE BISHOP OF ?RETORIA '3 SPECIAL FUND FOR All>ING CHvP.C}I. WORK IN 

THE TRANSVAAL, SOUTH AFRICA 

The Revd DavidsQn 

etc, 

Lambeth Pt,lctce 

Revd & Dea r Sir 

Will you do me the favo~r to r2port to his Gr"c2, the. ~=ch&iehop, 

that I have seen Canon F~r7er, & Canon Fleming, but have r.ot 

heard anything further fr~~ C3non Wilkinson. 

Canon Farrer can do not.~ing at St Margaret's but will ~ez ~ 

get something done at the A°:>~-ey. -

Canon Fleming can do noth:i.ng with his congregati.:>n, - h.::caus.-:? 

they are dis persed, - but will try ls do something at York whith"?r 

he goes into residence next w~et. -

From the Colonial office, I have not yet heard. -

I scraped up ~90 last week & sent it to the bishop - "~ ~rop 

in the bucket" 

1R. Davidson, private ~~~reta~y to Archbishop Tait. 
2Pubiic Record Office, Ke1..,, London, holds the Colonial 

Office records . Since this question is to do with the Bish~p 
of Pretoria, the letter from t ne Archbis hop of Canterbury sh~uld 
be under the Transvaal papers but it is not there. (Public 
Record Office, Colonial Office P£pars, Transvaal, 00291/14 .) 
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Mean while what can be done? do devise something for his 

relief if any idea can come to mind . -

And may I beg you to remind his Grace of what I am sure he 

will hear on all hands, the suitability of the man for Adelaide 

and Adelaide fo r the man. -

The present relief of the bishop should be accomplished, and 

for the Church's sake , his future provided for -

I am 

With best respects 

Revd & Dear Sirs 

Y[ou]rs faithfully 

E.H. Bousfield 

99 Gresham Street EC 

J uly 29, 1881 
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APPENDIX 2 Memoranda from the Bishop of Pretoria 

2.1 H.B. Bousfield, Memorandum on the income of the see of Pretoria, 

1880-01-21 (LPL, Tait, vol.266, ff.206-208) and (Wits, AB867, 

Ab 1. 1) 

Diocese of Pretoria 

Memorandum on Income of the See 

I It is with much regret that I am compelled so early to call 

~ttention to the Income of my See, and to urge the Council 

of the Colonial Bishoprics' Fund, and the Society for the 

Propagation of the Gospel, to consider it and take some 

steps for its augmentation, but the absolute necessity of 

increasing it, or of my imnediate resignation, compels me to 

do so. I cannot see my wife and children sicken from want 

of proper food, and I cannot and will not get into debt, one 

of these I must do unless the income is increased, from the 

year 1881. 

II The income is now £600 per annum, made up of the sums {l) 

£218.,14.,0, - the interest on ;i546811 l1 114 (at my last account) 

capital in the hands of the Trustees of the Colonial Bishop­

rics Fund, and (2) .%381 116 110 a grant from the S.P.G. 

III This income was fixed, and I was induced to accept it as 

sufficient, upon the following grounds. 

1. The income of the Clergy was, where possible, made up 

to i300, & therefore double was considered proper for the 

Bishop. {l Tim. V.17.) 

2. The salaries of some of the higher officials of Govern­

ment such as the state secretaries etc were the then existing 

government from i600 to ~800 per annum, & therefore it was 

concluded sufficient for the Bishop . 
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3. The reported ?rices of provisions in Pretori~ led to 

the belief that living would not prove expensive. 

IV But expcriehce has utterly upse t these foundations. 

1. The clergy i~crease their incomes by keeping school and 

acting as Chaplains to the troops, ancl then c;,i,:, scarcely 

manage, or else U.·,•e in most painful anJ degra1ing poverty 

and disord~r.. I am now offering iSOO for a Clergy,nan for 

Pretoria. 

2. The st~p~n~s of all Government, & Public officers ~~ve 

been incre~9ed, within the last year, from neces~ity, to 

meet the cos t of livfng, and this yet leaves them in !:t.:.:.its 

to find ccrn~etent men. 

3. The price of articles formerly quoted, has doul:l~d and 

trebled within the last few years , and must cor.tinJ~ so, n~t 

only thro:Jgh the p:-eseut politi.:al state· of t~e Cour,t'..·,-, but 

perm.1nently until railway comrn~nication is open~:!, wh~cli 

must be a work of y~ars, 

Pretoria is 400 miles from Durban, the port of N; c~l, 

700 from Port Elizab~th 1 and 1000 from Cape Town botli° ic tt.e 

Cape Colony . In eve~y C3se the difficulties ~f tr~n~pr,r;. 

are great, and the rate :; ha\'~ t-een 70/- per cwt, tha t ·,:, t;d 

per lb. They are now V'!rr low but still 25 / - per cwt .:,·r 3c.l 

per lb, and during the w~nter half of the year will te double 

this at least . This cost ~i transport has to be added to 

cus toms, & freight from Engtanrl or elsewhere, making impor­

tant articles enormous: while the lack of supply, and 

political troubles make home grown articles almost equaUy 

so. 

Take as specimcr.s. oread 15 6d per lb, best flot.r 1/-

per lb, sugar 1/- for the coarsest brown, salt 1/- soda 1/- . 

Milk lS 1/- a pint, in ~intt:r 2/-. Butter 5/- to 9/ - !! lb. 

Beef & mutton ed, whi le manr things accounted neces sariP.s in 

England are not to be had. 

The outside value nf i l LS 13/4d, which makes ~-600 = 

1,400 at the most. 
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V Twelve months experience has shown me that £1000 a year is 

the very least on which a Bishop c an live here and do his 

work . Others say il500 , and to the judgment of many of 

these I am the more inclined t o bow becau se they have proved 

right, when other advisers were wrong on this very subject . 

VI I know we ll the claims on the Church at home, made by her 

Colonial children, and those on the Colonial Bishoprics 

Fund, but it would be a pity for me to res ign. (1) because 

of the evil precedent and public general reasons which I 

need not enter on (2) because though overwhelmed with diffi­

culties I am not daunted yet, and the task will I fear daunt 

others especially if I were to resign (3) because so far as 

I can judge of and for myself I am "the right man in the 

right place" and (4) if I resigned, it would be impossible 

to get any decently qualified man to come here if he knew 

what coming meant (5) it would be a great disaster if the 

Bishopric remained vacant. There is much most trying work 

to be done and none but a Bishop can do it . 

VII I must therefore urge upon the Council of the fund to make a 

fresh grant for raising the endowment of the Bishopric, and 

therefore the Income, and the Society for Propagation of the 

Gospel to increase their grant until the endowment can be 

made sufficient. 

VIII The income might be greatly inc reased by investing one half 

of the Capital in the Colony. The diocese is not yet ripe 

for a SynodJ and cannot be for some years, so scattered are 

the people , so hard their struggle for a living, & so careless 

are they about religion, but I have taken counsel with compe­

tent men, on this subject, and now enclose a certificate of 

four of the most competent and worthy, shewing that part of 

the Capital might be safely invested in the Colony at 10 

pcent . This could be done in the name of the Bishop and his 

successors or of the Provincial Trustees (though this last 

is open to practical difficulties) until a Synod could other­

wise arrange. 
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IX To put my proposals into a brief and definite foTill, I would 

ask. 

1. That if possible the Capital be raised to i6000. 

2. That one half of the amount is invested in the Colony . 

This would produce an income, thus:-

~3000 invested at 10 pcent (in Colony) 

£3000 at (say 31/2 pcent (at Home) 

,f415 

3. That S.P.G. increase their grant by jlOO, if required, 

so as to make i900 for the next seven years, when, if God 

continue my life and usefulness, l will hope to see England 

once more for a year at least and would make work to raise 

sufficient endowment. 

X I am aware this may seem very selfish, and a narrow view of 

other claims, but only to be superficial. It is not selfish 

to strive to put the main spring in order tho' that main 

spring may affect oneself, and in all the Colonial Church, 

which l know fairly well, l know no parallel to my own task 

& condition, a task from which I do not shrink if only the 

condition be made tolerable for those dearer far than the 

life I gladly give to the Church's call and work. 

All this I submit to the consideration of the Council 

and Society 1n the earnest hope that they may be able so 

effectually to aid , as to allow of my continuing at my post. 

and in my work for the next six years at least, without 

returning home, & to beg. 

H.B. Pretoria 

January 21, 1880 
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2.2 J. Turton, R. W.J . Johnston , R.C . Green, H. W. Struben, Certificate 

on the memorandum on the income of the see of Pretoria, 1881-01-20, 

(Wits, AB867, Abl.l) 

Copy 

We the undersigned, having been consulted by the Bishop of Pretoria 

as to the Investment in the Colony of certain endowments of the 

Bishop & clergy of this diocese certify with perfect confidence 

to the Trustees of the several Funds. 

1. That money is ordinarily invested Ln this Colony at 10% 

which is the Bank rate of Discount. 

2. That as much as 20% can be readily & safely made by investment 

in land & buildings. 

3. That we could invest a sum of from i:6000 to il0.000 at this 

time on first mortgages of valuable land at ten per cent per 

annum & that without the smallest risk, and this last is the 

method of investment that we would recormnend. 

(Signed) John Turton 

General Manager 

Transvaal Branches of the 

Cape Commercial Bank. 

R.W.J. Johnston. Manager 

Standard Bank of British 

South Africa . Limited. 

Pretoria 

Transvaal. 

20 Jan[uary) 1880 

Robt C. Green . 

H.W. Struben . 
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2.3 H. B. Bousfield, Memorandum by the Bishop of Pretoria as to 

the loss to the Church of his diocese, and to himself , thro' the 

proposed arrangements for the settlement of the Transvaal (USPG, 

D57 , 1881 , Africa, unnumbered but between H. B. Bousfield, Letter 

to H. Tucker, 1881-04-07, and H.B . Bousfield, Letter to H. Tucker, 

1881-04-25) 

I The Church's loss -

Since my consecration (Feb 2nd 1878) nearly 51500, of Church 

money has been spent in the outfits & passages of those who have 

come out to this diocese in her service, most, perhaps all of 

these, may now be compelled to abandon their posts , whereby this 

outlay will be thrown away. 

2. The property of the Church at the time of annexation improved 

in value, & under improved prospects justified and demanded consi­

derable outlay - Within the three years of my episcopate about 

~7500 has been spent on these improvements and on Churches, Schools, 

& houses of residence for the Clergy - The Churches will now be 

left with greatly diminished, and in some cases, no congregations, 

the Schools without pupils and the houses without residents and 

the property be valuele s s in the market -

3 . The disturbanc·e and impoverishment of the people, who have 

hitherto done well in supporting the Church & Clergy will involve 

the latter in more or less distress, and may compel them to abandon 

their posts -

4. Arrangements have been made with at least one Cl ergyman who 

has resigned, I fear, a living in England , in order co come co 

Pretoria, on a guaranteed income of J400 a year, with house rent 

up to tlOO. This gentleman[']s loss I cannot fully estimate, and 

it may be my own, if I be held responsible for it 

S. Arrangements have also been entered into and pecuniary 

engagements made, for which the Church property under my own 

control, would have stood if necessary, a sufficient guarantee, 

while every ground existed for expecting to fulfil them from 

extraneous assistance - This aid cannot now be expected, and the 

property would not sell for sufficient co meet the claims if 

pressed, (which the necessities of the claimants may compel them 



to do) - So that the Church may lose much of what she still holds, 

and a balance against her remain for which I should be personally 

and immediately responsible -

6. The change in the condition of Pr-etoria, as to safety, security 

and convenience may compel a change of Diocesan Head Quarters, 

Cathedral, & Bishop[')s abode, ect [sic] involving very heavy 

loss -

7. The Church's dead loss cannot be set at less than tSOOO, and 

may more probably reach fl0,000, or even more . 

II My private risks and losses, througti this revolution, can 

only I think be expressed by one word, utter ruin -

1. Immediate, through the responsiblity referred to in sections 

4 & 5 above -

2. Prospective, thro 1 (1) depreciation of my little private 

property in the Transvaal & (2) of all that I hold officially 1n 

lieu of the much better which I gave up in England - (3) the loss 

of all spent in the change of position, (4) the irreparable injury 

to my wife & children by the serious changes which will be made 

1n Pretoria (5) possibly the removal to a more safe & convenient 

place of residence - My private loss cannot be reckoned at less 

than !2500 besides much which no money can repay -

H.B. Pretoria 

April 7-1881 -



- 323 -

BIBLIOGRAPHY 

Page 

l. PRIMARY SOURCES 324 

1.1 Manuscript and typescript material 324 

1. 2 Printed manuscripts and pamphlets 326 

2. SECONDARY SOURCES 327 

2.1 General 327 

2.2 Newspapers and periodicals 330 

2. 2 .1 Articles 330 

2.3 .Unpublished theses 334 

2.4 Reference 334 



- 324 -

l . PRIMARY SOURCES 

1.1 Manuscript and typescript material 

This material is arranged according to the Archives researched at 

1.1.1 Church of the Province of Southern Africa Archives , University of the 

Witwatersrand Library, Johannesburg, South Africa. 

The majority of manuscript material on this topic is to be found here. 

AB 383 Bousfield Papers 1861 - 1902. 

included within this collection is 

Bousfield, H.B. Acta Book 1878 - 1899. MSS. 

---------- Bousfield correspondence etc. MSS. 

---------- Letterbooks 1861 - 1887 , 9 vols. MSS. 

Selected records of the Archbishops of Cape Town . 

Diocese of Pretoria 1876 - 1905. (Aa2.l; Aa2.2) 

Diocese of Zululand 1875 - 1889 

Diocese of Bloemfontein 1860-1945 (Aa6.l; Aa6.2; Aa6.J) 

Diocese of Pretoria 1876 - 1888. (Abl. l; Abl. 2) 

AB 867 

Aa2 

Aa5 

Aa6 

Abl 

AbJ 

Ab5 

Diocese of Zululand 1869 - 1890 . (Ab3.l; Ab3 . 4; Ab3.5; AbJ.8) 

Diocese of Bloemfontein 1863 - 1890. (Ab5.5) 

AB 890 Bousfield Collection: Photograph Albums and Scrapbook 1869 - 1907. 

AB 1162 Letterbooks of the Archbishops of Cape Town . 

Gray, R. Letterbook, MSS, AB1162/Al0. 

Jones, W.W . Letterbooks. 3 vols. HSS, AB1162 / Al3 to AB1162 / Al5. 

AB 1449 Alfred Roberts Papers. 

Roberts, A. "Early memories of Pilgrim's Rest Parish. II TS. 22pp. 

---------- "The foundation of the Native Mission in Pretoria. 11 TS . 8pp. 

---------- The genesis of the diocese of Pretoria, South Africa. MSS. 

---------- "Memories of a quarter of a century in the Transvaal, 1878 - 1904. 11 

TS. JOpp. 

---------- "Rustenburg Parish." TS. 3pp . 

---------- "Sermon to commemorate 50 years jubilee of ordination." TS. 5pp. 

---------- "Transvaal : Notes compiled in 1906 on only visit to England 1906, 
commentary to lantern slides." TS. 38pp. 

---------- Annotated copy of Bousfield, H.B. Six years in the Transvaal. 
London: S.P.C.K., (1886). 
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1.1. 2 State Library, Pretoria, South Africa. 

Bousfield•Collection including 

Bousfield, C.E. "Journals from Mrs Bousfield. 11 TS. 42pp. 

"Mrs Bousfield's diary (Part 1 missing)." TS. 54pp. 

---------- "Mrs Bousfield's narrative of a journey from Pietermaritzburg 
to Pretoria." TS. 12pp. 

Sketches of the Laager during the siege of Pretoria. 

Bousfield 1 F.R. "Diary describing voyage on the Danube to Durban 187.8." 
MSS, TS. 5pp. 

1.1. 3 Loreto Convent, Pretoria, South Africa . 

Colahan, Mother M.T. Diary kept during the siege of Pretoria 1880 -1881. MSS. 

1.1.4 Roman Catholic Archdiocesan Archives, Durban, South Africa. 

Meyer, J.N. "Reminiscences of thirty years missionary work in South Africa." TS. 
pages unknown. 

1. 1.5 CPSA, Diocese of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa. 

Title deeds of property. 

1.1. 6 Macrorie House Museum, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa. 

Macrorie Collection. 

1. 1. 7 United Society for the Propagation of the Gospel, London, Britain. 

This has the second largest amount of manuscript material on the topic. 

SPG MSS, Copies of Letters Sent Collection, CLS South Africa 3; CLS South Africa 4. 

SPG MSS, D Collection, D37; D38; DA1875 - DA1877; D1878 Africa etc.; D57 Africa; 
D69 Africa; D73 Africa. 

SPG MSS, Standing Committee Collection, 1880-11 to 1882-07; 1884-02 to 1885-07. 

Macrorie Collection. 

1. 1.8 Lambeth Palace Library, London, Britain. 

Tait, A.C. Papers . vol.266, ff.233-234 
vol.234, ff.111-117 
vol.257, ff.90-115 
vol.266, ff.204-209 
vol.279, ff . 181-291 
vol.288, ff.97-100 
Archbishop Tait's Register, ff.390-392 . 
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1.1. 9 Public Record Of fice, Kew, London, Britain. 

Colonial Office Collection; Transvaal Papers; C0291 / 14, No . 9900 , ff.246-253. 

1. 1.10 Rhodes House Library, Oxford, Britain 

Lagden , G.Y . Diaries 1878 - 1881. MSS . Lagden Papers, Afr s 143-145; Afr s 148. 

l.l.ll Hove Public Library, Hove, Britain . 

Wolseley, G. I . Wolseley MSS, SAl, South Africa 1879 - 1880 Semi Official Civil 
vol . l Private Letters. 

1. 1. 12 

Wolseley MSS, SA2 , South Africa 1879 - 1880 Military Private Letterbook. 

Wolseley MSS, W/ P , letters between Lord and Lady Wolseley. 

R. Keel , Horsham, Surrey, Britain. 

Bousfield, H. B. Letters to Arnold Clarke (4 lette rs) , 1879 - 1880. 

1.2 Printed manuscripts and pamphlets 

Bousfield, H. B. Be in them : A sermon preached at the ordination of the Lord Bishop 
of Winchester in the Parish Church, Andover , Se tember 24 1876. Andover 
Browne, [ s. a. . 

---------- The Bishop's account of the months October to December 1879. London 
R. Clay & Taylor, 1880. 

---------- The Bishop's report for the months January to March 1880 . London : 
R. Clay & Taylor , 1880 . 

---------- Minute b of Pretoria in res onse to resolution of the Committee 
of the Pre toria Diocesan Fund, 1881-11-11 . Pretoria: Diocese of Pretoria, 
1881. 

Pretoria Diocese, report for April, May and June, 1880 . [s . l . ] : [s.n.J, 
1880 . 

---------- To the riests , deacons churchwardens, sidesmen and members of the 
Church in the Diocese of Pretoria, 1880-03-09. Pre toria: Diocese of 
Pretoria, 1880 . 

---------- Zion's builders : A sermon on church defence preached in the parish 
church of S. Mary, Andover on Sunday, November 8 , 1874. London: Simpkin & 
Marshall, [s . a.] . 

Mackenzie Memorial Mission . Reply of the administrators o f the Mackenzie Memorial 
Mission Fund to the Bishop of Capetown, 1876-08-26. London: Mackenzie 
Memorial Mission: 1876 . 

Hac rorie, W.K . To my fellow-Christians dwelling within the colony of Natal, 1881-01. 
Pietennarit%burg : Diocese of Maritzburg , 1881. 

Orde r of ceremonial of the consecration of the Rev. Henry Brougham Bousfield as the 
Bisho of Pretoria in S. Paul ' s Cathedral, Purification of S. Mar the Vir in, 
1878-02-02 . [s . l.J : s.n. , [1878]. 

Potche f stroom, St Mary' s . S. Mary's Church Potchefstroom: Resolutions of 
Easter Vestry, 1870-04-19. Potchefstroom: S. Mary's Potchefstroom , 1870 . 
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Precis of i nformation concerning the Transvaa l Territory : Prepared in the intelli­
gence branch of the Quartermaster-General's Department, Horse Guards, War 
Office , corrected to November 1880. London: HMSO, 1881. 

Pretoria, Dioce se of. Alterations in services of the Church approved by the Bishop 
of Pretoria in the present circumstances of the Diocese . Pretoria: J. Keith, 
1883. 

Pretoria, Diocese of. Alterations in services of the Church approved by the Bishop 
of Pretoria for use in the Diocese. Pretoria: Flavell, Brown, 1890. 

Pretoria, Dioce se of. Diocesan calendar 1883. [Pretoria] : [s.n.], [1883) . 

Pretoria, Dioce se of. The order for the benediction of a cemetery in the diocese 
of Pretoria. [Pretoria) : Diocese of Pretoria, (1895] . 

Pretoria Diocesan-Fund. 

Pretoria Diocesan Fund . 
1880. 

Balance sheet, to 1878-07-31. [s . l.]: [s.n.J, 1878. 

First year's report and accounts, 1879. [s.l. ]: [s . n.], 

Pretoria Diocesan Fund, Local. Balance sheet , 1879-01-01 to 1879-12-31. Pretoria: 
Pretoria Diocesan Fund, 1880. 

Transvaal Prayer Union. Manual of prayers for the use of.the Transvaal Prayer 
Union with the rules of the Union, 1878. (s.l.): [s.n.], 1878. 

Union Steamship Company. List of passengers per Royal Mail Steamer "Danube" 1878. 
London: Union Steamship Company, 1878 . 

Zeerust, Parish of . An appeal from Zeerust . Zeerust: Parish of Zeerust, {1878}. 

2. SECONDARY SOURCES 

2.1 General 

Addison , B. Daughters of the King: The story of St. Mary's Diocesan School for 
Girls, Pretoria, 1879 - 1979. Pretoria: Gov. Body of St. Mary's DSG, 1979 . 

Agar-Hamilton , J.A.I. A Transvaal jubilee: Being a history of the Church of South 
Africa in the Transvaal. London: SPCK, 1928. 

Allen, V. Lady trader: A short biography of Mrs Sarah Heckford. London : Collins, 
1979. 

Allen, W.O.B. 1 and E. McClure. Two hundred years: The history of the S.P.C.K . 
1698 - 1898. London : SPCK, 1898. 

Arthur, G., ed. The letters of Lord and Lady Wolseley, 1870 - 1911. London: Heine-
mann, 1922 . 

Baynes, A.H. South Africa. London: Mowbray, 1908 . 

Becker, C.J. Guide to the Transvaal. Dublin: Dollard, 1878. 

Bede, A history of the English Church and people, trans. L. Sherley-~rice , rev . 
R.E. Latham, London: Penguin Books, 1968. 

Bellairs, Lady, ed. The Transvaal War, 1880 - 1881. Edinburgh, 1885: rpt. Cape 
Town: Struik , 1972 . 

The Book of Co111111on Prayer and administration of the sacraments and other rites and 
ceremonies of the Church according to the use of the Church of England . 
Cambridge: CUP, [s . a . ] . 

Bousfield, H.B. Notes for public catechising: Chiefly on the Church Catechism. 
London : SPCK, 1872. 

---------- Six years in the Transvaal: Notes on the founding of the Church there. 
London : SPCK, (1886) . 
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Brackenbury, H. Some memories of my spare time. Edinburgh: Blackwood, 1909. 

Callwell, C.E., ed. The memoirs of Major-General Sir Hugh MacCalmont K.C.B. C.V.O .. 
London: Hutchinson, 1924. 

Carter, T.F. A narrative of the Boer War its causes and results. London: Macqueen, 
1896 

Centenary Album: Pretoria's first century in illustration. Pretoria, City Council 
of Pretoria, 1952. 

Church of the Province of South Africa. The constitution and canons of the CPSA 
as revised, amended and confirmed by the Provincial Synod held at Capetown 
A.D.1876, with other acts of the Provincial Synods, 1870 and 1876. Capetown: 
William Foster Printers, 1876. 

Classified digest of the records of the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel 
in Foreign Parts. London: SPG, 1893. 

Crisp, W. Some account of the diocese of Bloemfor,tein in the Province of South 
Africa from 1863 to 1894. Oxford: Parker, 1895. 

Davey, A.H. "Bousfield, Henry Brougham." South African Standard Encylopedia. 

Du Plessis, J. A history of Christian missions in South Africa. London: Longmans, 
Green, 1911. 

Du Val, C. With a show through Southern Africa and personal reminiscences of the 
Transvaal War. 2 vols. London: Tinsley, 1882. 

Gordon, R.E. Shepstone: The 
1820 - 1900. Cape Town: 

role of the family in the 
Ba lkema, 1968. 

history of South Africa, 

Groves, C.P. 
1955. 

The planting of Christianity in Africa. Vol. 3. London: Lutterworth, 

The planting of Christianity Ln Africa. Vol.4. London: Lutterworth> 
1958. 

Haggard, H. R. 
Zululand, 

Cetywayo and his white neighbours or remarks on recent events in 
Natal, and the Transvaal. London: Triibner, 1882. 

---------- The last Boer War. London: Kegan Paul, Trench, Trubner, 1900. 

Harris, R. Bob's book: The lines along which the Church runs. Pretoria: [s.n.l, 
[ s. a. l. 

Heckford, S. A lady trader in the Transvaal. London: Sampson Low, 1882. 

Herrick, G. The pilgrim diggers of the seventies: A short history of Pilgrim's 
Rest, 1873 - 1881, with a note on the Voortrekkers. [s.l.]: Transvaal Gold 
Mining Estates, 1949. 

Hinchliff, P.B. The Anglican Church in South Africa. London: Darton, Longman & 
Todd, 1963. 

The Ch~rch in South Africa. London: SPCK, 1968. 

Jeppe, C. The kaleidoscopic Transvaal. Cape Town: Juta, 1906. 
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St. Etheldreda's School, Pretoria. London: Mowbray, 1913 . .::..:..:_====:..::..::;....;:;....;:...:..=.::..:.-'-:..::==.=c 

Kotze, J. Biographical memoirs and reminiscences. Cape Town: Maskew Miller, 
[ s. a. l. 

Kruger, D.W. "First Anglo Boer War." South African Standard Encylopedia. 

Latourette, K.S. 
1914. Vol.3 

The great century in the Americas, Austral-asia and Africa, 
of The expansion of Christianity. New York: Harper, 1943. 

1800 -

Lewis, C. and G.E. Edwards. 
South Africa. London: 

Historical records of the Church of the Province of 
SPCK, 1934. 
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Loreto in South Africa, 1878 - 1978. [s.l.]: Institute of the Blessed Virgin 
Mary Loreto Sisters, [s.a.]. 

Macmorran, K.M. A handbook for churchwardens and parochial church councillors. 
London: Mowbray, 1922. 

Moore, H. The land of good hope. London: SPG, 1918. 

Muller, C.F.J., ed. Five hundred years 
Pretoria: Academica, 1977. 

A history of South Africa. 2nd ed. 

Nunns, T. The land of storms and hope : A short history of the English Church in 
South Africa. Wynberg: Rustics Press, 1921. 

Page, B.T. The harvest of good hope : An account of the expansion of the Church 
of the Province of South Africa. London: SPCK, 1947. 

Pascoe, C.F. Two hundred years of the S.P.G.: An historical account of the Society 
for the Propagation of the Gospel in Foreign Parts, 1701 - 1900 : Based on a 
digest of the Society's records. London: SPG, 1901. 

Pierce-Jones, A. Procession of witness. [s.l.]: [s.n.], [s.a.]. 

Preston, A. ed. The South African journal of Sir Garnet Wolseley. Cape Town: 
Ba lkema, 1973. 

Pretoria, 1855 - 1955 : A history of the city of Pretoria. Pretoria: City Council 
of Pretoria, 1955. 

Pretoria 1913: Lockhead's guide handbook and directory. Pretoria: Transvaal 
Reliable Agency, 1912. 

Pretoria diocesan centenary, 1878 - 1978, souvenir album. Pretoria: Diocese of 
Pretoria, [s.a.]. 

Pretoria: Historical sketches. Westminster: SPG, [s.a.]. 

Roberts, N. Lest we forget: The story of Marica. Lichtenburg: Noel Roberts, 
1934. 

Sanders, M.H. Glimpses of the past. [s.l.]: [s.n.], [s.a.]. 

The spiritual expansion of the Empire : A sketch of 2 centuries of work done for the 
Church and nation by the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel 1n Foreign 
Parts. 2nd ed. London: SPG, 1900. 

Stone, I.M. and H. Clayton. Sketches. [s.l.]: Danker, 1976. 

Trollope, A. South Africa. 1878. rpt. Cape Town: Balkema, 1973. 

Venn, J.A. comp. Alumni Cantabrigienses: A biographical list of all known student 
graduates and holders of office at the University of Cambridge, from the 
earliest times to 1900. Part II 1752 - 1900. Vol.l. Cambridge: CUP, 1940. 

Victor, 0. The salient of South Africa. London: SPCK, 1938.· 

Wilkinson, Mrs. A lady's life and travels in Zululand and the Transvaal during 
Cetewayo's reign. London: J.T. Hayes, 1882. 

Wilson, M. and L. Thompson, ed. The Oxford history of South Africa, 2 vols. 
Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1969 and 1971. 

Wirgman, A.T. The history of the English Church and people in South Africa. 1895. 
rpt. New York: Negro Universities Press, 1965. 

Wood, M.H.W. A father in God: The episcopate of William West Jones D.D. London: 
MacMillan, 1913. 
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2.2 Newspapers and periodicals 

Secs of the following are co be found in the Univers ity of the Witwaters rand Library, 

J ohannesburg . 

Church News . 1867-03-25 (O . S. ) co 1883~03 (N.S . ) . 

Du Val, C. and C. Deecker., ed . News of the Camp, No.l (1880-12-25) to No .40 
(1881-04-09). 

Mission Field: A monthly record of the proceedings of the SPG at home and abroad. 
1872-09 to 1882-02 . 

Net case in many waters: Sketches from the life of missionaries . Mackenzie Memorial 
Mission . 1873 to 1882 . 

Occasional papers of the diocese of Pretoria, No.l (1881-01) to No.11 (1885-04). 

2.2.1 Articles 

"Advertisements : Education . " News of the Camp, No . 14, 1881-01-25, p.3. 

"The arrival of the Bishops of Maricz.burg and Pretoria etc." Church News, No.132, 
1878-10, pp.3-5. 

"The badge on the cover ... " Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, No.2 
(1881-09), pp .44-45 . 

"The balance sheet." Nee, 1878-03-01, pp.33-37. 

"Beseiged Pretoria." Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, No.2 (1881-09), 
pp.18-26. 

"The Bishop of Capetown . " Church News , No.122, 1877-12-01, p. 8, col.1. 

"The Bishop of Pretoria . " Church News, No.133, 1878-11, pp. 3-4. 

"The Bishop of Pretoria. II ~. 1879-01-01, p.16. 

"Bishop Wilkinson said:-." Mission Field, 1877-01-01, p.30. 

"Bishop Wilkinson's resignation of the diocese of Zululand." Net, 1875-10-01, 
pp.145-147. 

"Bloemfontein and the Transvaal." Mission Field, 1881-03-01, pp.121-123 . 

Bousfield, H.B . "The Bishop's report, December 9th 1881. 11 Occasional paper of 
the diocese of Pretoria, No.3 (1882-02), pp . 7-26. 

---------- "A charge delivered co the Synod of the Diocese of Pretoria, November 
16th 1884." Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, No.10 {1885-04), 
pp . l-12 . 

---------- "Diocese of Pretoria: Report for Quarter ending September 29 1880. 11 

Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, No . l (1881-01), pp.7-12. 

---------- "En route for Pretoria." Net, 1878-12-01, pp.190-192. 

---------- "En route to Pretoria . '' Mission Field, 1879-06-02, pp.259-269. 

---------- "An episcopal prisoner . " Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, 
No . 2 (1881-09), pp . 11-17 . 

---------- "Five weeks on the trek." Mission Field, 1880-03-01, pp.89-97. 

---------- "In Laager at Pretoria . " Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, 
No.2 (1881-09) , pp.27-38. 

---------- "Letter to E. H. Bousfield, 1880-12-01." Occasional paper of the 
diocese of Pretoria, No.l {1881-01) pp.30-31. 
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Bousfield, H.B. "Letter to E. Durnford, 1881-05-03 . " Occasional paper of the 
diocese of Pretoria , No .2 (1881-09) , pp.5 . 

---------- "Letter to Jennings, 1881-09-03." Occasional paper of the diocese 
of Pretoria, No . 3 (1882-02), pp .42-43. 

---------- "Letter 1881-05-31. 11 Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, 
No . 3 (1882-02), p .41. 

---------- "Rustenburg as it was and is." Occasional paper of the diocese of 
Pretoria, no . 5 (1883-01) , pp.39-41 . 

---------- "Statements and appeals . " Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, 
No.7 (1883-11), pp.40-43. 

---------- "A Sunday in Potchef stroom . " Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, 
No . 2 (1881-09), pp . 6-10 . 

---------- "To the Gold Fields." Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, 
No .8 (1884-04), pp . 3-8 . 

"Bronkhurst Spruit . " Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, No. 3 (1882-02). 
pp . 59-60. 

Chalmers, F. "Letter 1881-10-26." Standard, published date unknown . 

"The Church in the Free State . " Church Nevs, No . 53, 1872-02-01, pp.3-4. 

"The Church in the Transvaal." Church News, No.47, 1870-06-01, p .4, col.2. 

"The Church in the Transvaal." Church News, No. 79 ,· 1874-04-01, pp.5-6. 

"The Church in the Transvaal." Church News, No. 119, 1877-09-01, p.l, col. l. 

"The Church in the Transvaal." Church News, No. 120, 1877-10-01, p.l , col. l. 

"The Church in the Transvaal (from the Cape Times)." Occasional paper of the diocese 
of Pretoria, No.6 (1883-05), pp.51-55 . 

"Church Militant." News of the Camp, No.5, 1881-01-04, p . l. 

"Church News." Nevs of the Camp, No . 11, 1881-01-18, p . 2. 

"Church Parades." News of the Camp , No . 17, 1881-02-01, pp.1-2. 

"Church Services." News of the Camp, No .4, 1881-01-01, p.4. 

"Church wants in Pretoria ." Net, 1879-10-01, pp . 145-147. 

"Colonial Bishoprics' Fund." Church News, No . 64, 1873-01-01, pp.7-8. 

"Communion plate for the Church at Pretoria ."~. 1879-12-01, p.192. 

Davey , A.M. "The siege of Pretoria." Archives Year Book, No.l (1956), pp.265-316. 

"The day of intercession . " Net, 1873-12-01, pp . 177-180. 

"The day of small things." Net, 1880-02-01, pp.27-30. 

"The death of Captain Elliott [sic]." News of the Camp, No.36, 1881-03-26, pp.2-3 . 

"Death of the Lady Superior . " News of the Camp, No . 10, 1881-01-15, p.2. 

"Diocese of Pretoria." Net, 1881-08-01, pp . 120-123. 

"Divine service is held daily .. . . " Nevs of the Camp, No.3, 1880-12-30, p.2. 

"Every inch an Officer-." News of the Camp, No . 24, 1881-02-17, p. 2. 

F{~nner], E. "Bishop Bousfield: A sketch." Anglican, Vol.l, No.4 (1904-02) , 
pp. 80-81. 

"First impressions of Pretoria . " Net, 1879-04-01, p.60. 

"The following appeal. ... " Occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, No . 2 
(1881-0"9), pp . 39-42. 

"From the Transvaal .... " Guardian, 1881-12-07, p.1735 . 
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Greenstock, W. "Mr Greenstock's notes of travel: Pretoria: Journey through the 
bush, Eerstelling." Mission Field, 1876-06-01, pp.182-189. 

---------- 11Mr Greenstock's notes of travel: Kaffirs: Dutch: Eerstelling." 
Mission Field, 1876-07-01, pp.209-212. 

---------- "Mr Greenstock's notes of travel: Eerstelling." Mission •Field, 
1876-08-01, pp.242-247. 

---------- "Mr Greenstock's notes of travel: Woodbush and Lydenburg." Mission 
Field, 1876-09-01, pp.279-285. 

---------- "Mr Greenstock's notes of travel: The Gold Fields." Mission Field, 
1876-10-02, pp.311-318. 

---------- "Mr Greenstock's notes of travel: Needs of English Diggers in the Gold 
Fields." Mission Field, 1876-11-01, pp.338-345. 

---------- "Mr Greenstock's notes of travel: From Lydenburg to Pretoria. 11 Mission 
Field, 1877-02-01, pp.48-52. 

---------- "Mr Greenstock's notes of travel: Pretoria. 11 Mission Field, 
1877-04-02, pp.115-118. 

''In the Transvaal.'' Mission Field, 1879-12-01, pp.539-554. 

"Irreligious." News of the Camp, No.25, 1881-02-19, p.2. 

"Itinerant work in the Transvaal." Mission Field, 1881-03-01, pp.123-129. 

Lamb, E. "The Church in the Transvaal." Occasional paper of the diocese of 
Pretoria, No.5' (1883-01), pp.30-34. 

---------- "Miss Lamb's report to the Education Department." Occasional paper of 
the diocese of Pretoria, No.l (1881-01), p.27. 

Lange, C.R. "Extracts from report of Rev. C.R. Lange." Occasional paper of the 
diocese of Pretoria, No.l (1881-01), pp.25-26. 

"Latest accounts from Bishop Wilkinson." Net, 1874-10-01, p.160. 

"Lydenburg Church, Pretoria Diocese." Net, 1880-06-01, p.95. 

Mawby, A. "The Right Rev. Dr Henry Brougham Bousfield, first (Anglican) Bishop of 
Pretoria: The first phase in the Transvaal, 1879 - 1886." Historia, June 
1963, pp.81-87. 

Meade, R.H. "Letter to [A.H.) Brown." Occasional paper of the diocese of 
Pretoria, No.2 (1881-09), p.43. 

"The needs of the Transvaal.". Net, 1874-02-01, pp.21-26. 

"New ground for the Mackenzie Memorial Mission." Net, 1880-02-01, p. 17. 

"New work at Eerstelling." Mission Field, 1875-ll-01, pp.335-336. 

"Notes of the month." Mission Field, 1881-ll, p.414. 

"Official Announcements." News of the Camp, No.17, 1881-02-01, p.4. 

"On the road to Pretoria." Net, 1878-05-01, pp.65-68. 

"On tramp for Pretoria." Net, 1878-08-01, pp.113-ll4. 

"Openings in the African Diamond Fields and the Transvaal Republic." Mission 
Field, 1872-09-02, pp.273-274. 

Page-Wood, C. "Potchefstroom." ·occasional paper of the diocese of Pretoria, 
No.4 (1882-07), pp.4-8. 

"Pray for the peace of Jerusalem." Mission Field, 1881-02-01, pp.57-60. 

"Pretoria. " Mission Field, 1878-07-01, pp.326-327. 

"Pretoria. 11 Mission Field, 1879-09-01, pp.405-408. 
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